
NOTICE

THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR IS AVAILABLE ONLY TO INVESTORS WHO ARE EITHER (1) QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL 

BUYERS WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED 

(THE “SECURITIES ACT”) OR (2) PERSONS WHO ARE NOT U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S UNDER THE 

SECURITIES ACT) AND WHO ARE OUTSIDE OF THE UNITED STATES IN ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATION S UNDER 

THE SECURITIES ACT (AND, IF INVESTORS ARE RESIDENT IN A MEMBER STATE OF THE EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AREA 

OR THE UNITED KINGDOM, A QUALIFIED INVESTOR). 

IMPORTANT: You must read the following before continuing. The following applies to the offering circular following this notice, 

whether received by e-mail or otherwise received as a result of electronic communication. You are advised to read this disclaimer carefully 

before reading, accessing or making any other use of the offering circular. In accessing the offering circular, you agree to be bound by the 

following terms and conditions, including any modifications to them, each time you receive any information from us as a result of such 

access. 

NOTHING IN THIS ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION CONSTITUTES AN OFFER OF SECURITIES FOR SALE IN ANY 

JURISDICTION WHERE IT IS UNLAWFUL TO DO SO. THE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN, AND WILL NOT BE, REGISTERED 

UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES OR OTHER 

JURISDICTION AND THE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES EXCEPT 

PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS 

OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE OR LOCAL SECURITIES LAWS. THE FOLLOWING OFFERING 

CIRCULAR MAY NOT BE FORWARDED OR DISTRIBUTED TO ANY OTHER PERSON AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN 

ANY MANNER WHATSOEVER. ANY FORWARDING, DISTRIBUTION OR REPRODUCTION OF THIS DOCUMENT IN WHOLE 

OR IN PART IS UNAUTHORISED. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS DIRECTIVE MAY RESULT IN A VIOLATION OF THE 

SECURITIES ACT OR THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS. 

Confirmation of your representation: In order to be eligible to view the offering circular or make an investment decision with respect to 

the notes, investors must be either (1) qualified institutional buyers within the meaning of Rule 144A under the Securities Act (“QIBs”) or 

(2) persons who are not U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act) and who are outside of the United States in 

offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act; provided that investors resident in a (i) Member State of the 

European Economic Area must be a qualified investor (within the meaning of Regulation 2017/1129 (the “Prospectus Regulation”) and (ii) 

the United Kingdom (the “UK”) must be a qualified investor (within the meaning of Regulation 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law 

by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (“EUWA”) (the “UK Prospectus Regulation”). The offering circular is being sent 

at your request. By accepting this e-mail and by accessing the offering circular, you shall be deemed to have represented to us and the initial 

purchasers set forth in the attached offering circular (collectively, the “Initial Purchasers”) that: (1) you consent to delivery of such offering 

circular by electronic transmission; and (2) either you and any customers you represent are: (a) QIBs; or (b) outside the United States. 

Prospective purchasers that are QIBs are hereby notified that the seller of the notes offered under the offering circular may be relying on 

the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A under the Securities Act. 

You are reminded that the offering circular has been delivered to you on the basis that you are a person into whose possession the offering 

circular may be lawfully delivered in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which you are located and you may not, nor are you 

authorised to, deliver the offering circular to any other person. Under no circumstances shall the offering circular constitute an offer to sell 

or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of these securities in any jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or 

sale would be unlawful. If a jurisdiction requires that the offering be made by a licensed broker or dealer and any initial purchaser of the 

notes offered under the offering circular or any affiliate of any such initial purchaser is a licensed broker or dealer in that jurisdiction, the 

offering shall be deemed to be made by such an initial purchaser or affiliate on behalf of the issuer in such jurisdiction. 

The offering circular has not been approved by an authorised person in the United Kingdom. The notes may not be offered or sold other 

than to persons whose ordinary activities involve these persons in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal 

or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as 

principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses where the issue of the notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of Section 

19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA”) by us. In addition, no person may communicate or cause to be 

communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of Section 21 of the FSMA) received by 

it in connection with the issue or sale of the notes other than in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to us. 

MiFID II Product Governance / Professional investors and eligible counterparties only target market - Solely for the purposes of each 

manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target 

market for the notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID 

II”); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person 

subsequently offering, selling or recommending the notes (a “distributor”) should take into consideration the manufacturers’ target market 

assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the 

notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturers’ target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels. 



UK MiFIR Product Governance/ Professional investors and eligible counterparties only target market – Solely for the purposes of each 

manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target 

market for the notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook (“COBS”), and 

professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (“UK MiFIR”); 

and (ii) all channels for distribution of the notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently 

offering, selling or recommending the notes (a “distributor”) should take into consideration the manufacturers’ target market assessment; 

however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the “UK MiFIR Product 

Governance Rules”) is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the notes (by either adopting or refining 

the manufacturers’ target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.  

PRIIPs Regulation / Prohibition of sales to EEA - The notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should 

not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (the “EEA”). For these purposes, a 

retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; (ii) a customer 

within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the “Insurance Distribution Directive”), where that customer would not qualify as a 

professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus 

Regulation. Consequently, no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the “PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering 

or selling the notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling 

the notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation. 

UK PRIIPs Regulation / Prohibition of sales to UK retail investors – The notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made 

available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the UK. For these purposes, a retail investor 

means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms 

part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations 

made under the FSMA to implement the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, 

as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not 

a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of the UK Prospectus Regulation. Consequently, no key information document required by 

Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the “UK PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or 

selling the notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the 

notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation. 

No Key Information Document in Switzerland – In accordance with article 59 para. 1 of the Swiss Financial Services Act (“FinSA”), no 

key information document according to the FinSA or any equivalent document under the FinSA needs to be prepared for Notes which do 

not have a derivative character within the meaning of article 86 para. 3 of the Swiss Financial Services Ordinance (“FinSO”). For Notes 

with a derivative character within the meaning of article 86 para. 2 of the FinSO, a key information document according to the FinSA or 

an equivalent document will be required if the Notes are offered to “retail clients” in the sense of the FinSA in Switzerland, unless an 

exemption applies. No such key information document has been prepared for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them 

available to “retail clients” in the sense of the FinSA in Switzerland and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them 

available to any “retail clients” in the sense of the FinSA in Switzerland may be unlawful under the FinSA. 

The offering circular has been sent to you in an electronic form. You are reminded that documents transmitted via this medium may be 

altered or changed during the process of electronic transmission and consequently none of the Initial Purchasers, any person who controls 

any joint lead manager, or any of their respective directors, officers, employees or agents accepts any liability or responsibility whatsoever 

in respect of any difference between the offering circular distributed to you in electronic format and the hard copy version available to you 

from the Initial Purchasers upon your request. 
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Glencore Funding LLC
(Incorporated with limited liability under the laws of Delaware) 

U.S.$800,000,000 5.338 per cent. Notes due 2027
Issue price: 100.000 per cent.

U.S.$1,100,000,000 5.371 per cent. Notes due 2029
Issue price: 100.000 per cent.

U.S.$1,250,000,000 5.634 per cent. Notes due 2034
Issue price: 100.000 per cent.

U.S.$500,000,000 5.893 per cent. Notes due 2054
Issue price: 100.000 per cent.

U.S.$350,000,000 Floating Rate Notes due 2027
Issue price: 100.000 per cent.

Fully and unconditionally guaranteed as to payment of principal and interest by  

Glencore plc, Glencore International AG and Glencore (Schweiz) AG 

The 5.338 per cent. Notes due 2027 (the “2027 Notes”),  the 5.371 per cent. Notes due 2029 (the “2029 Notes”), the 5.634 per cent. Notes due 

2034 (the “2034 Notes”) and the 5.893 per cent. Notes due 2054 (the “2054 Notes” and, together with the 2027 Notes, the 2029 Notes and the 

2034 Notes, the “Fixed Rate Notes”) and the Floating Rate Notes due 2027 (the “Floating Rate Notes” and, together with the Fixed Rate Notes, 

the “Notes”) are being offered by Glencore Funding LLC (the “Issuer”). Upon issue, payment of the principal and interest on the Notes will, 

subject to the limitations described in “Risk Factors” and “Description of the Notes and Guarantees”, be fully and unconditionally guaranteed on 

a senior, unsecured, and joint and several basis by Glencore plc (the “Company” or “Glencore”), Glencore International AG (“GIAG”) and 

Glencore (Schweiz) AG (“Glencore Schweiz” and, together with the Company and GIAG, the “Guarantors”) pursuant to the guarantees relating 

to the Notes (the “Guarantees”) as set forth in the indenture under which the Notes will be issued (the “Indenture”). The Notes and the Guarantees 

will rank pari passu with all other direct, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations (except for certain limited exceptions and those obligations 

preferred by statute or operation of law) of the Issuer and the Guarantors, respectively.  

The Issuer will pay interest on the 2027 Notes semi-annually in arrear on 4 April and 4 October of each year, commencing on 4 October 2024. 

The Issuer will pay interest on the 2029 Notes semi-annually in arrear on 4 April and 4 October of each year, commencing on 4 October 2024. 

The Issuer will pay interest on the 2034 Notes semi-annually in arrear on 4 April and 4 October of each year, commencing on 4 October 2024. 

The Issuer will pay interest on the 2054 Notes semi-annually in arrear on 4 April and 4 October of each year, commencing on 4 October 2024. 

The Issuer will pay interest on the Floating Rate Notes quarterly in arrear on 4 January, 4 April, 4 July and 4 October of each year, commencing 

on 4 July 2024. The Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a floating rate, reset quarterly, equal to Compounded SOFR (as defined below), plus 

1.060 per cent. The Fixed Rate Notes are redeemable in whole or in part at any time at the option of the Issuer or the Guarantors at a redemption 

price equal to the make-whole amounts described in “Description of the Notes and Guarantees”. In addition, the Notes are redeemable in whole 

but not in part at the option of the Issuer upon the occurrence of certain changes in taxation at their principal amount with accrued and unpaid 

interest to the date of redemption. 

The Notes will be issued initially in fully registered form as beneficial interests in one or more Global Notes (as defined in this offering circular 

(the “Offering Circular”)). Except as set forth in this Offering Circular, Global Notes will not be exchangeable for Definitive Notes (as defined in 

this Offering Circular). 

Investing in the Notes involves certain risks. For a discussion of certain factors that should be considered in connection with an investment 

in the Notes, see “Risk Factors”. 

The Notes and the Guarantees have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities 

Act”), or any State securities laws and are being offered and sold within the United States only to persons reasonably believed to be “qualified 

institutional buyers” (“QIBs”) as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act (“Rule 144A”) and outside the United States to, or for the account 

or benefit of, persons other than U.S. persons (within the meaning given in Regulation S under the Securities Act (“U.S. persons”)) in reliance on 

Regulation S under the Securities Act (“Regulation S”). For further details about eligible offerees, deemed representations and transfer and resale 

restrictions, please see “Plan of Distribution” and “Transfer Restrictions”. 
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The Notes are being offered subject to various conditions and are expected to be delivered on or about 4 April 2024 through the facilities of The 

Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) and its participants, including Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking S.A. 

(“Clearstream, Luxembourg”).

Joint Book-Running Managers 

BBVA J.P. Morgan Mizuho Morgan Stanley SMBC Nikko

COMMERZBANK ING Standard Chartered Bank UBS Investment Bank 



No dealer, salesperson or other person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation 

not contained in this Offering Circular and, if given or made, any such information or representation must not 

be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or the Guarantors, any of their respective affiliates or the 

Initial Purchasers. This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer of any securities other than those to which 

it relates or an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to buy, to any person in any jurisdiction where such an 

offer or solicitation would be unlawful. Neither the delivery of this Offering Circular nor any sale made under 

it shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer 

or the Guarantors since the date of this Offering Circular or that there has been no adverse change in the 

consolidated statement of financial position of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively the 

“Group”) since the date hereof or that the information contained in this Offering Circular is correct as of any 

time subsequent to its date.

This Offering Circular is being provided on a confidential basis to certain prospective holders of Notes inside 

and outside the United States (together the “Noteholders”) for use solely in connection with the offer and sale 

of the Notes (the “Offering”). Its use for any other purpose is not authorised. This Offering Circular may not be 

copied or reproduced in whole or in part, nor may it be distributed nor may any of its contents be disclosed to 

any person other than the prospective Noteholders to whom it is being provided. You agree to the foregoing by 

accepting delivery of this Offering Circular.

In making an investment decision, prospective Noteholders must rely on their own examination of the Issuer 

and the Guarantors and their respective affiliates, the terms of the Notes and the financial information contained 

in this Offering Circular and their own assessment of the merits and risks involved.

Prospective Noteholders acknowledge that they have not relied, and will not rely, on the Initial Purchasers in 

connection with their investigation of the accuracy of any information or their decision to invest in the Notes. 

The contents of this Offering Circular are not to be considered as legal, business, financial, investment or tax 

advice. Prospective Noteholders should consult their own counsel, accountants and other advisers as to legal, 

tax, business, financial, investment and related aspects of a purchase of the Notes.

The laws of certain jurisdictions may restrict the distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer and sale of 

the Notes. You should inform yourself about and observe any applicable restrictions. This Offering Circular 

does not constitute, and may not be used in connection with, an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy 

Notes in any jurisdiction in which the offer or solicitation is not authorised or in which the person making the 

offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so, and it does not constitute, and may not be used in connection with, 

an offer to sell Notes to, or a solicitation of an offer to buy Notes from, any person to whom it is unlawful to 

make the offer or solicitation. For a further description of certain restrictions on the Offering and sale of the 

Notes and the distribution of this Offering Circular, prospective Noteholders should read “Plan of Distribution” 

and “Transfer Restrictions”.

This Offering Circular has been prepared on the basis that any offer of Notes in any Member State of the 

European Economic Area will be made pursuant to an exemption under Regulation 2017/1129 (the “Prospectus 

Regulation”) from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly, any person making 

or intending to make an offer in that Member State of the European Economic Area of Notes which are the 

subject of the Offering contemplated in this Offering Circular may only do so in circumstances in which no 

obligation arises for the Issuer or any of the Joint Book-Running Managers to publish a prospectus pursuant to 

Article 3 of the Prospectus Regulation, in each case, in relation to such offer. Neither the Issuer nor the Initial 

Purchasers have authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in circumstances in which 

an obligation arises for the Issuer or the Initial Purchasers to publish a prospectus for such offer. 

This Offering Circular has been prepared on the basis that any offer of Notes in the United Kingdom (the “UK”) 

will be made pursuant to an exemption under section 86 the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the 



“FSMA”) from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly, any person making or 

intending to make an offer in the UK which are the subject of the Offering contemplated in this Offering Circular 

may only do so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any of the Joint Book-Running 

Managers to publish a prospectus pursuant to section 85 of the FSMA, in each case, in relation to such offer. 

Neither the Issuer nor the Initial Purchasers have authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of 

Notes in circumstances in which an obligation arises for the Issuer or the Initial Purchasers to publish a 

prospectus for such offer.

The Notes will be issued in fully registered form and only in minimum denominations of U.S.$2,000 and 

integral multiples of U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof. The Notes that are to be offered and sold initially to persons 

reasonably believed to be QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A will be represented by one or more global notes in 

registered form without interest coupons attached (collectively the “Rule 144A Global Notes”), and the Notes 

that are to be offered and sold initially to, or for the account or benefit of, persons other than U.S. persons in 

reliance on Regulation S will be represented by one or more global notes in registered form without interest 

coupons attached (collectively the “Regulation S Global Notes”).

The Rule 144A Global Notes will be deposited with a custodian for DTC, and registered in the name of Cede 

& Co., as nominee for DTC. The Regulation S Global Notes will also be deposited with a custodian for DTC, 

and registered in the name of, Cede & Co. as nominee for DTC, for credit to the respective accounts of beneficial 

owners of such Notes (or to such other accounts as they may direct) at DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, 

Luxembourg. The Rule 144A Global Notes and the Regulation S Global Notes together comprise the “Global 

Notes”. For further information, prospective Noteholders should read “Book-Entry, Delivery and Form”.

CERTAIN U.S. MATTERS

This Offering is being made in reliance upon an exemption from registration under the Securities Act for offers 

and sales of securities that do not involve a public offering. By purchasing the Notes, investors are deemed to 

have made the acknowledgements, representations, warranties and agreements set forth under “Transfer 

Restrictions”.

Neither the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) nor any State securities 

commission has approved or disapproved of the Notes and the Guarantees or passed upon the accuracy or 

adequacy of this Offering Circular or any supplement thereto. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal 

offence in the United States. The Notes may only be offered and sold in the United States to persons reasonably 

believed to be QIBs within the meaning of and in reliance on Rule 144A and outside the United States to persons 

other than U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S.

The Notes and the Guarantees have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act. Subject to 

certain exceptions, the Notes and the Guarantees may not be offered or sold in the United States. For further 

information, prospective Noteholders should read “Plan of Distribution” and “Transfer Restrictions”. 

Prospective Noteholders should be aware that they may be required to bear the financial risks of their investment 

in the Notes for an indefinite period of time. Prospective Noteholders are hereby notified that the seller of any 

Note may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 

144A.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, potential purchasers may disclose to any and all persons, 

without limitation of any kind, the U.S. federal or state income tax treatment and tax structure of the Offering 

and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) that are provided to the investors relating 

to such tax treatment and tax structure. However, any information relating to the U.S. federal income tax 

treatment or tax structure shall remain confidential (and the foregoing sentence shall not apply) to the extent 

reasonably necessary to enable any person to comply with applicable securities laws. For this purpose, “tax 



structure” means any facts relevant to the U.S. federal or state income tax treatment of the Offering but does 

not include information relating to the identity of the issuer of the securities, the issuer of any assets underlying 

the securities, or any of their respective affiliates that are offering the securities.

MiFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS AND ELIGIBLE 

COUNTERPARTIES ONLY TARGET MARKET

Solely for the purposes of each manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect 

of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and 

professional clients only, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID II”); and (ii) all 

channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any 

person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a “distributor”) should take into 

consideration the manufacturers' target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is 

responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or 

refining the manufacturers' target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

UK MiFIR PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS AND ELIGIBLE 

COUNTERPARTIES ONLY TARGET MARKET 

Solely for the purposes of each manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect 

of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is only eligible counterparties, as 

defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook (“COBS”), and professional clients, as defined 

in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA ("UK MiFIR"); and 

(ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. 

Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a “distributor”) should take into 

consideration the manufacturers’ target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook 

Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the “UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules”) is 

responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or 

refining the manufacturers’ target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

PRIIPs REGULATION / PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold 

or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (“EEA”). For these purposes, 

a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) 

of MiFID II; (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the “Insurance Distribution 

Directive”), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 

4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation. Consequently, no key 

information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the “PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or 

selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and 

therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may 

be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

UK PRIIPs REGULATION / PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS 

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold 

or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom (“UK”). For these purposes, a retail 

investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of 

Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; (ii) a customer within 



the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement 

the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined 

in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the 

EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of the UK Prospectus Regulation. Consequently, 

no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by 

virtue of the EUWA (the “UK PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them 

available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise 

making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

NO KEY INFORMATION DOCUMENT IN SWITZERLAND

No Key Information Document in Switzerland – In accordance with article 59 para. 1 FinSA, no key 

information document according to the FinSA or any equivalent document under the FinSA needs to be prepared 

for Notes which do not have a derivative character within the meaning of article 86 para. 3 FinSO. For Notes 

with a derivative character within the meaning of article 86 para. 2 of the FinSO, a key information document 

according to the FinSA or an equivalent document will be required if the Notes are offered to “retail clients” in 

the sense of the FinSA in Switzerland, unless an exemption applies. No such key information document has 

been prepared for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to “retail clients” in the 

sense of the FinSA in Switzerland and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available 

to any “retail clients” in the sense of the FinSA in Switzerland may be unlawful under the FinSA.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

The Company has agreed that, so long as any Notes are “restricted securities” within the meaning of Rule 

144(a)(3) under the Securities Act, it will, during any period in which it is neither subject to Section 13 or 15(d) 

of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), nor exempt from 

reporting under the Exchange Act pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) thereunder, make available to any holder or 

beneficial owner of any such restricted securities, or to any prospective purchaser of such restricted securities 

designated by such holder or beneficial owner, the information required to be delivered pursuant to Rule 

144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Offering Circular (including the information incorporated by reference into this Offering Circular) contains 

statements which are, or may be deemed to be, “forward looking statements” which are prospective in nature. 

All statements other than statements of historical fact are forward looking statements. They are based on current 

expectations and projections about future events, and are therefore subject to risks and uncertainties which 

could cause actual results to differ materially from the future results expressed or implied by the forward-

looking statements. Often, but not always, forward looking statements can be identified by the use of forward 

looking words such as “plans”, “expects”, “is expected”, “is subject to”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, 

“forecasts”, “intends”, “anticipates”, “believes”, “targets”, “aims”, “projects” or words or terms of similar 

substance or the negative thereof, as well as variations of such words and phrases or statements that certain 

actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “should”, “would”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. 

Such statements are qualified in their entirety by the inherent risks and uncertainties surrounding future 

expectations. Forward looking statements include statements relating to the following: (i) future capital 

expenditures, expenses, revenues, earnings, synergies, economic performance, indebtedness, financial 

condition, dividend policy, losses and future prospects; (ii) business and management strategies and the 

expansion and growth of the Group’s operations; and (iii) the effects of global economic conditions on the 

Group’s business.

Such forward looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could significantly 

affect expected results and are based on certain key assumptions. Many factors may cause the actual results, 

performance or achievements of the Group to be materially different from any future results, performance or 

achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual 

results, performance or achievements of the Group to differ materially from the expectations of the Group 

include, among other things, general business and economic conditions globally, commodity price volatility, 

industry trends, competition, changes in government and other regulations, including in relation to the 

environment, health and safety and taxation, labour relations and work stoppages, changes in political and 

economic stability, disruptions in business operations due to reorganisation activities, interest rate and currency 

fluctuations, the Group’s ability to integrate new businesses and recover its reserves or develop new reserves 

and changes in business strategy or development plans and other risks, including those described in “Risk 

Factors”. Such forward looking statements should therefore be construed in light of such factors.

Neither the Company nor any of its associates or Directors, officers or advisers provides any representation, 

assurance or guarantee that the occurrence of the events expressed or implied in any forward-looking statements 

in this document will actually occur. These forward-looking statements speak only as at the date of this 

document.

Investors should specifically consider the factors identified in this document which could cause actual results 

to differ before making an investment decision. Such risks, uncertainties and other factors are set out more fully 

in the section headed “Risk Factors”. To the extent required by the Disclosure and Transparency Rules or 

applicable law, the Company will update or revise the information in this document. Otherwise, the Company 

expressly disclaims any obligations or undertakings to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-

looking statements contained in this document to reflect any change in the expectations of the Group with regard 

thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

No statement in this document or incorporated by reference into this document is intended to constitute a profit 

forecast or profit estimate for any period, nor should any statement be interpreted to mean that earnings or 

earnings per share will necessarily be greater or lesser than those for the preceding financial periods.
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ENFORCEABILITY OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

The Issuer is a company incorporated in Delaware, United States. The Company is a holding company organised 

as a public limited company incorporated in Jersey with business operations conducted through various 

subsidiaries. The other Guarantors are companies incorporated in Switzerland. The assets of the Issuer and the 

Guarantors are located in various jurisdictions and substantially all of these assets are and will be located in 

jurisdictions outside the United States.

The directors and key managers of the Issuer and the Guarantors are citizens of various countries, and most are 

not citizens of the United States. All or a substantial portion of the assets of such persons are located outside 

the United States. As a result, it may not be possible for investors in the Notes to effect service of process in 

jurisdictions outside the United States against the Issuer, the Guarantors or their respective directors or to 

enforce in such jurisdictions the judgment of a court outside such jurisdictions. It may be difficult for investors 

in the Notes to enforce, in original actions or in actions for enforcement brought in jurisdictions located outside 

the United States, judgments of U.S. courts or civil liabilities predicated upon U.S. federal securities laws. 

Furthermore, it may be difficult for investors in the Notes to enforce judgments of this nature in many of 

jurisdictions in which the Group operates and in which its assets are situated and in the countries of which most 

of the directors and key managers of the Issuer and the Guarantors are citizens.
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PRESENTATION OF INFORMATION AND INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

Presentation of financial information

Unless otherwise specified, all financial information contained in this Offering Circular is historical and based 

upon the consolidated financial statements of Glencore plc, which together with its subsidiaries is referred to 

herein as the “Group”.

Information incorporated by reference

The following documents are incorporated by reference into this Offering Circular:

 Audited consolidated financial statements, including the notes thereto, of the Group as at and for the 

year ended 31 December 2023 (which contains 2022 comparatives), prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the United Kingdom, and International 

Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and 

audited in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) by Deloitte LLP, 

an independent auditor, together with the audit report in respect thereof (the “2023 Financial 

Statements”), which appear on pages 165 to 281 of the Group’s 2023 Annual Report.

 Audited consolidated financial statements, including the notes thereto, of the Group as at and for the 

year ended 31 December 2022 (which contains 2021 comparatives), prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the United Kingdom, and International 

Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB and audited in accordance with ISAs (UK) by 

Deloitte LLP, an independent auditor, together with the audit report in respect thereof (the “2022 

Financial Statements” and, together with the 2023 Financial Statements, the “Financial Statements”), 

which appear on pages 141 to 259 of the Group’s 2022 Annual Report. 

 The Group Production Report for the 12 months ended 31 December 2023.

 The Group Resources and Reserves as at 31 December 2023.

All of these documents may be accessed from http://www.glencore.com. The other content of the Company’s 

website does not form part of this Offering Circular.

The information incorporated by reference is an important part of this Offering Circular.

Historical financial information

Unless otherwise indicated, financial information presented in this Offering Circular relating to the Group as at 

and for the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at and for the year ended 31 December 2022 has been extracted 

without material adjustment from the 2023 Financial Statements other than the presentation of expected credit 

losses disaggregated from cost of goods sold, as further discussed below. The financial information presented 

in this Offering Circular relating to the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2021 has been extracted 

without material adjustment from the 2022 Financial Statements. 

Adoption of new and revised standards

Financial information for the period ended 31 December 2023 reflects the adoption of the following new and 

revised accounting pronouncements, as discussed in Note 1 to the 2023 Financial Statements:

 Amendments to IAS 12 – Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction;

 Amendments to IAS 8 – Definition of Accounting Estimates;

 Amendments to IAS 1 – Materiality of Accounting Policy Disclosure;

http://www/
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 IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts and Amendments to IFRS 17.

Restatement of consolidated statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2022 

In the year ended 31 December 2023, net expected credit losses on financial assets at amortised cost were 

disaggregated from cost of goods sold. The prior period balances for the year ended 31 December 2022 have 

been restated to conform with current period presentation, noting that there is no effect on consolidated earnings. 

Balances for the year ended 31 December 2021 have not been restated to conform with current period 

presentation on the basis of materiality.

Viterra merger with Bunge

The Viterra Ltd (formerly Glencore Agri) (“Viterra”) joint venture is a stand-alone group with a fully 

independent capital structure, governance and credit profile, supporting a global business, across many 

geographies, products and activities. On 13 June 2023, the Company announced that the Company, the Canada 

Pension Plan Investment Board and British Columbia Investment Management Corporation, the shareholders 

of Viterra, concluded an agreement with Bunge Limited (“Bunge”) to merge Bunge and Viterra in a cash and 

stock transaction. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company will receive approximately U.S.$3.1 billion 

in Bunge stock (based on Bunge’s stock price at 30 June 2023) and U.S.$1.0 billion in cash for its approximately 

50 per cent. stake in Viterra resulting in Glencore then holding approximately 15 per cent. in the combined 

group. The merger, subject to satisfaction of customary closing conditions, including receipt of regulatory 

approvals and approval by Bunge shareholders, is expected to close in mid-2024. The carrying amount of the 

49.9% investment in Viterra as at 31 December 2023 is classified as held for sale and, while having this 

classification, the Group no longer accounts for its share of Viterra’s income. However, for segmental reporting 

purposes, and for internal reporting, Viterra continues to be accounted for as an equity accounted associate and 

reconciled accordingly to the Group’s statutory disclosures.

Non-IFRS measures

Certain of the Group’s results are presented on an “adjusted” basis, using alternative performance measures 

(“APMs”) which are not defined or specified under the requirements of IFRS, but are derived from the financial 

statements, prepared in accordance with IFRS, reflecting how the Group’s management assess the performance 

of the Group. The APMs are used to improve the comparability of information between reporting periods and 

segments and to aid in the understanding of the activities taking place across the Group by adjusting for 

significant items and aggregating or disaggregating certain IFRS measures (notably in the case of relevant 

material associates and joint ventures accounted for on an equity basis under IFRS). APMs are also used to 

approximate the underlying operating cash flow generation of the operations. 

In November 2017, the Group completed the acquisition of additional shares in Volcan Compania Minera S.A.A 

(“Volcan”), thereby increasing its total economic interest from 7.7 per cent. to 23.3 per cent. (compared to its 

63.0 per cent. voting interest). This voting interest and certain governance provisions bring Volcan within the 

scope of consolidation, notwithstanding the 23.3 per cent. economic interest. As the Group holds the majority 

of the voting shares, providing it the ability to appoint a controlling number of directors to the board, the Group 

is required to account for Volcan using the full consolidation method in accordance with IFRS 10. However, 

for internal reporting and analysis, management evaluates the performance of Volcan under the equity method, 

due to the relatively low economic interest held by the Group. The impact is that the Group reflects 23.3 per 

cent. (as at 31 December 2023) of Volcan’s net income in the Group’s Adjusted EBIT/EBITDA (as defined 

below), rather than Volcan’s consolidated Adjusted EBIT/EBITDA, the difference between such being Volcan’s 

interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and the share of earnings attributable to non-controlling interests. 

Volcan’s results are excluded from all other adjusted performance measures including production data. In late 

2022, the Group commenced a process to dispose of its 23.3 per cent. economic interest in Volcan, which is 

ongoing. As a result, the carrying amounts of Volcan assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2023 are classified 
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as held for sale. Nevertheless, Volcan will continue to be evaluated under the equity method for internal 

reporting and analysis until and unless such sale is completed.

APMs used by the Group may not be comparable with similarly titled measures and disclosures by other 

companies. APMs have limitations as an analytical tool, and a user of the financial statements should not 

consider these measures in isolation from, or as a substitute for, analysis of the Group’s results of operations; 

and they may not be indicative of the Group’s historical operating results, nor are they meant to be a projection 

or forecast of its future results.

Listed below are the definitions of the various APMs used by the Group.

Adjusted EBIT

Adjusted EBIT is the net result of revenue less cost of goods sold, net credit losses on financial assets and 

selling and administrative expenses, plus share of income from associates and joint ventures, dividend income 

and the attributable share of Adjusted EBIT of relevant material associates and joint ventures, which are 

accounted for internally by means of proportionate consolidation, excluding significant items. Significant items 

are items of income and expense which, due to their variable financial impact or the expected infrequency of 

the events giving rise to them, are separated for internal reporting and analysis of the Group’s results, including 

inter alia impairment charges, the movement in the Group’s provision for inter-segment profit elimination and 

the Group’s share of significant items embedded in equity accounted associates (as outlined under “Operating 

and Financial Review—Key factors affecting results of operations and financial condition—Significant items”). 

The relevant material associates and joint ventures are the Antamina associate (34 per cent. interest as at 31 

December 2023) and the Collahuasi joint venture (44 per cent. interest as at 31 December 2023), which are 

accounted for under the equity method of accounting under IFRS but are accounted for internally by means of 

proportionate consolidation.

In January 2022, the Group completed the acquisition of the remaining 66.67 per cent. interest in the Cerrejón 

coal mine that it did not previously own, increasing the Group’s ownership to 100 per cent. and providing it 

with the ability to exercise control and fully consolidate Cerrejón. For the year ended 31 December 2023, 

Adjusted EBIT reflects Cerrejón’s financial results as fully consolidated with no proportionate adjustments 

necessary. Prior to the transaction, the Group evaluated the performance of its 33.33 per cent. interest in 

Cerrejón under the proportionate consolidation method, such that for all periods presented up to 31 December 

2021, segment comparatives reflect the Group’s proportionate share of the revenues, expenses, assets and 

liabilities of the investment.

Although Volcan is fully consolidated for IFRS purposes, in calculating Adjusted EBIT the Group eliminates 

Volcan’s Adjusted EBIT and instead includes only the Group’s proportionate stake (23.3 per cent. as at 31 

December 2023) of Volcan’s post-acquisition net income (excluding significant items) as if Volcan was 

accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

Although Adjusted EBIT is not typically a measure of operating income, operating performance or liquidity 

under IFRS, it is presented in this Offering Circular because the Group believes it is used by some investors to 

determine a company’s ability to service indebtedness and fund ongoing capital expenditure and dividends. 

Adjusted EBIT should not, however, be considered in isolation or as a substitute for income from operations as 

determined in accordance with IFRS, or for cash flows from operating activities as determined in accordance 

with IFRS, or as an indicator of operating performance.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA consists of Adjusted EBIT (as defined above) plus depreciation and amortisation, including 

depreciation and amortisation relating to the Group’s share of material associates’ and joint ventures’ 
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depreciation, but excluding depreciation relating to Volcan. Although Adjusted EBITDA is not typically a 

measure of operating income, operating performance or liquidity under IFRS, it is presented in this Offering 

Circular as the Group believes that it is used by some investors to determine a company’s ability to service 

indebtedness and fund ongoing capital expenditure and dividends.

Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and an investor should not consider these measures in 

isolation from, or as a substitute for, analysis of the Group’s results of operations. Some of the limitations of 

Adjusted EBITDA are that:

 it does not reflect the Group’s cash expenditures or future requirements for capital expenditure or 

contractual commitments;

 it does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, the Group’s working capital needs (as applicable);

 it does not reflect the significant interest expense or the cash requirements necessary to service interest 

or principal payments in respect of any borrowings;

 although depreciation and amortisation are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortised 

will often have to be replaced in the future, and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements 

for such replacements; and

 other companies in the Group’s industry may calculate these measures differently than the Group, 

limiting their usefulness as a comparative measure.

Adjusted EBIT and Adjusted EBITDA may not be indicative of the Group’s historical operating results, nor are 

they meant to be a projection or forecast of its future results.

The following table reconciles the key line items on the face of the consolidated statement of income/(loss) that 

comprise Adjusted EBIT and reconciles Adjusted EBIT to the income/(loss) for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Revenue............................................................................  203,751 255,984 217,829

Cost of goods sold(1) .........................................................  (191,370) (228,467) (207,046)

Net expected credit losses(1) .............................................  (256) 21

Selling and administrative expenses ................................  (2,115) (2,430) (2,105)

Share of income from associates and joint ventures ........  2,618 2,300 1,337

Dividend income ..............................................................  23 45 6

Significant items relevant to Adjusted EBIT(2) .................  560 (1,167) 18

Net finance, impairment and income tax expense impact 

of presenting certain associates and joint ventures on a 

proportionate basis ...........................................................  1,207 710 554

Net finance, income tax and non-controlling interests 

impact of presenting Volcan under equity method 

accounting ........................................................................ (179) (62) (222)

Adjusted EBIT .................................................................  14,495 26,657 10,392



7

Year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Depreciation and amortisation .........................................  6,335 6,987 5,981

Proportionate share of certain associates and joint 

ventures depreciation .......................................................  687 641 729

Less: depreciation impact of presenting Volcan under 

equity method accounting ................................................  (194) (225) —

Adjusted EBITDA ............................................................  21,323 34,060 17,102

Deduct:

Depreciation and amortisation .........................................  (6,335) (6,987) (5,981)

Impact of presenting certain associates and joint 

ventures on a proportionate consolidation basis. ..............  (1,894) (1,351) (1,283)

Impact of presenting Volcan under equity method 

accounting. .......................................................................  373 287 222

Significant items excluded above .....................................  (560) 1,167 (18)

Interest expense – net .......................................................  (1,140) (1,336) (1,900)

Gain/(loss) on acquisitions and disposals of non-current 

assets ................................................................................  (607) 1,287 850

Other income ....................................................................  186 365 176

Other expense ...................................................................  (2,133) (1,276) (1,267)

(Impairments)/reversal of impairments of non-current 

assets ................................................................................ (1,905) (3,285) (2,264)

(Impairments)/reversal of impairments of financial 

assets ................................................................................  67 (52) (220)

Income tax (expense)/credit .............................................  (3,026) (6,368) (2,207)

Income/(loss) for the period .............................................  4,349 16,511 3,210

Notes: 

(1) In the year ended 31 December 2023, net expected credit losses on financial assets at amortised cost were 

disaggregated from cost of goods sold. The prior period balances for the year ended 31 December 2022 have been 

restated to conform with current period presentation, noting that there is no effect on consolidated earnings. Balances 

for the year ended 31 December 2021 have not been restated to conform with current period presentation on the basis 

of materiality. 

(2) Significant items excluded above include:  
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Year ended 31 December 

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions) 

Share of associates’ significant items ......................................... (11) (9) (90) 

Movement in unrealised inter-segment (profit)/loss  

elimination .................................................................................. (549) 1,176 258 

Viterra share in earnings post held for sale classification(i) ......... — — (186) 

Significant items relevant to Adjusted EBIT .............................. (560) 1,167 (18) 

(i) At 31 December 2023, the Group’s investment in Viterra was carried at U.S.$3,711 million and was classified as 

an asset held for sale. See “Business – Viterra.” 

Net funding and net debt

The Group defines net funding as total current and non-current borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and 

marketable securities and net debt as net funding less readily marketable inventory. Readily marketable 

inventory comprises the core inventories that underpin and facilitate the Group’s marketing activities, and 

represents inventories, that in management’s assessment, are readily convertible into cash in the short term due 

to their liquid nature, widely available markets and the fact that any associated price risk is primarily covered 

either by a forward physical sale or hedge transaction. This includes, for example, LME approved inventory 

(such as copper or aluminium) held at LME warehouses. Given the liquid nature of these inventories and 

associated funding, which represents a significant share of current assets and liabilities, the Group believes it is 

appropriate to consider them as cash equivalents. Net funding and net debt exclude net funding related to Volcan 

and include net funding related to the Antamina associate and Collahuasi joint venture. For a reconciliation of 

net funding and net debt to total borrowings, see “Description of Indebtedness—Indebtedness and capital 

resources”.

Rounding

Percentages and certain amounts included in this Offering Circular have been rounded for ease of presentation. 

Accordingly, figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be the precise sum of the figures that precede 

them.

Currencies

In this Offering Circular: references to “pounds sterling”, “£”, “GBP”, “pence” or “p” are to the lawful currency 

of the United Kingdom; references to “U.S. dollars”, “dollars”, “U.S.$”, “USD” or “cents” are to the lawful 

currency of the United States; references to “euros”, “€” or “EUR” are to the currency introduced at the start of 

the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty establishing the European 

Community, as amended; references to “Swiss francs” or “CHF” are to the lawful currency of Switzerland; 

references to “South African rand” or “ZAR” are to the lawful currency of South Africa; references to 

“Australian dollars”, “A$” or “AUD” are to the lawful currency of Australia; references to “Canadian dollars”, 

“C$” or “CAD” are to the lawful currency of Canada; references to “Colombian pesos” or “COP” are to the 

lawful currency of Colombia; references to “Kazakhstani tenge” or “KZT” are to the lawful currency of 

Kazakhstan; and references to “Japanese yen” or “JPY” are to the lawful currency of Japan.

The Group prepares its financial statements in U.S. dollars. The basis of translation of foreign currency for the 

purpose of inclusion of the financial information is set out in the notes to the Financial Statements of the Group. 

Information derived from the Financial Statements has been translated on the same basis.
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Unless otherwise indicated, the financial information relating to the Group contained in this document has been 

expressed in U.S. dollars and indicative exchange rates comprising the average rate used for income statement 

information and the period end rate used for balance sheet information are shown below: 

Year ended 31 December 

2021 2022 2023 

Average 

rate

Period 

end rate

Average 

rate

Period 

end rate

Average 

rate

Period 

end rate

AUD:USD ............................................  0.75 0.72 0.69 0.68 0.66 0.68 

USD:CAD ............................................  1.25 1.26 1.30 1.36 1.35 1.32 

USD:CHF .............................................  0.91 0.91 0.95 0.92 0.90 0.84 

EUR:USD .............................................  1.18 1.14 1.05 1.08 1.08 1.10 

GBP:USD .............................................  1.37 1.35 1.23 1.20 1.24 1.27 

USD:KZT .............................................  427 435 461 463 457 456 

USD:ZAR .............................................  14.79 15.94 16.37 17.04 18.46 18.36 

Presentation of ore reserves and mineral resources information

Ore reserves and mineral resources information contained in and incorporated by reference into this Offering 

Circular has been compiled in accordance with internationally recognised mineral standards (including the 

JORC Code, SAMREC, the CIM Definition Standards and the CIM Estimation Guidelines) based on 

information compiled by Competent Persons (as defined by the JORC Code, SAMREC and the CIM Definition 

Standards, as applicable).

Mineral resources are based on mineral occurrences quantified on the basis of geological data and an assumed 

cut-off grade, and are divided into “measured”, “indicated” and “inferred” categories reflecting decreasing 

confidence in geological and/or grade continuity. No allowances are included for dilution and losses during 

mining, but the reporting of resource estimates is explicitly on the basis that there are reasonable prospects for 

eventual economic exploitation. Measured and indicated resources may therefore be viewed as the estimation 

stage prior to the application of more stringent economic criteria for the reserve definition, such as a rigorously 

defined cut-off grade and mine design outlines, along with allowances for dilution and losses during mining. It 

is common practice, for example, for companies to include in the resources category material with a reasonable 

expectation of being converted to reserves, but for which either the detailed mine planning work has not been 

undertaken or for which an improvement in economic conditions or exploitation efficiencies would be required 

to enable the company to exploit the resources economically. An inferred resource is that part of a mineral 

resource for which tonnage, grade and mineral content can be estimated with a low level of confidence. This 

categorisation is inferred from geological evidence and assumed but not verified, geological and/or grade 

continuity. It is based on information gathered through appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, 

trenches, pits, workings and drill holes which may be limited or of uncertain quality and reliability. Mineral 

reserves are designated as “proved” and “probable” and are derived from the corresponding measured and 

indicated resource estimates by including allowances for dilution and losses during mining. It is an explicitly 

stated further requirement that other modifying economic, mining, metallurgical, marketing, legal, 

environmental, social and governmental factors must also be taken into account. The measured and indicated 

mineral resources can be reported as either being inclusive of those mineral resources modified to produce the 

ore reserves or additional to the ore reserves. Unless otherwise indicated in this Offering Circular, in relation to 

the Group’s assets, measured and indicated resources are stated inclusive of reserves but with no allowance for 

ore loss or dilution, and inferred resources are stated on an exclusive basis. 
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Oil and gas reserves and resources information

Oil and gas reserves and resources information contained in and incorporated by reference into this Offering 

Circular relating to the Group’s oil and gas assets has been compiled in accordance with the definitions and 

guidelines set forth in the 2007/SPE/AAPG/WPC/SPEE Petroleum Resource Management System (the 

“PRMS”), which is approved by the Society of Petroleum Engineers as the standard for classification and 

reporting. As set out in the PRMS, “reserves” are “those quantities of petroleum anticipated to be commercially 

recoverable by application of development projects to known accumulations from a given date forward under 

defined conditions”. Reserves must further satisfy four criteria: they must be (i) discovered; (ii) recoverable; 

(iii) commercial; and (iv) remaining (as of the evaluation date) based on the development project(s) applied. 

Reserves are further categorised in accordance with a level of certainty associated with the estimates and may 

be sub-classified based on project maturity and/or characterised by development and production status. 

“Contingent resources” are defined by the PRMS as “those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given 

date, to be potentially recoverable from known accumulations, but the applied project(s) are not yet considered 

mature enough for commercial development due to one or more contingencies”. Contingent resources may 

include, for example, projects for which there are currently no viable markets, or where commercial recovery 

is dependent on technology under development, or where evaluation of the accumulation is insufficient to 

clearly assess commerciality. Contingent resources are further categorised in accordance with the level of 

certainty associated with the estimates and may be sub-classified based on project maturity and /or characterised 

by their economic status. “Prospective resources” are defined by the PRMS as “those quantities of petroleum 

estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from undiscovered accumulations by application of 

future development projects”. Prospective resources have both an associated chance of discovery and a chance 

of development. Prospective resources are further subdivided in accordance with the level of certainty 

associated with recoverable estimates assuming their discovery and development and may be sub-classified 

based on project maturity. 

Metric/imperial conversion table

The imperial equivalents of the metric units of measurement used in this Offering Circular are as follows:

Metric unit Metric symbol Imperial equivalent Imperial symbol

Tonne t 1.102311 tons ton

Kilogram kg 2.20462 pounds lbs

Gram g 0.032151 troy ounces oz

Metre m 3.2808 feet ft

Cubic metre m3 35.315 cubic feet ft3

Kilometre km 0.6214 miles —

Hectare ha 2.4711 acres —

No profit forecast

No statement in this Offering Circular is intended as a profit forecast or a profit estimate, and no statement in 

this Offering Circular should be interpreted to mean that earnings per ordinary share for the current or future 

financial years would necessarily match or exceed the historical published earnings per ordinary share.

Sources of information

Unless the source is otherwise stated and except as described above in relation to other third-party information:

 the industry and market data in this Offering Circular have been extracted without material amendment 

from the management records of the Group;
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 the non-financial operating data included in this Offering Circular have been extracted without material 

amendment from the Group’s 2023, 2022 and 2021 Annual Reports; and

 the historical financial information included in this Offering Circular in respect of the Group as at and 

for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 has been extracted without material adjustment from 

the 2023 Financial Statements, other than the presentation of expected credit losses disaggregated from 

cost of goods sold. The historical financial information included in this Offering Circular in respect of 

the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2021 has been extracted without material adjustment 

from the 2022 Financial Statements.

Definitions

Certain terms used in this Offering Circular, including capitalised terms, are defined and explained in 

“Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms”.
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SUMMARY

Any decision to purchase the Notes should be based on consideration by the prospective Noteholder of this 

Offering Circular, and the information incorporated by reference into this Offering Circular, as a whole.

Overview of the Group

The Group is a leading integrated producer and marketer of commodities, with worldwide activities in the 

marketing of metals and minerals, energy products and agricultural products and the production, refinement, 

processing, storage and transport of those products. The Group operates globally, marketing and distributing 

physical commodities sourced from third-party producers and its own production to industrial consumers, such 

as those in the automotive, steel, power generation, battery manufacturing and oil industries. The Group also 

provides financing, logistics and other services to producers and consumers of commodities.

The Group benefits from its scale and diversity. The Group’s portfolio of diversified industrial assets comprises 

66 mining, metallurgical and oil production assets. The Group’s growth prospects are underpinned by a 

significant industrial base, which, in turn, enhances marketing opportunities. The Group produces and markets 

a diverse range of metals and minerals, including copper, cobalt, zinc, nickel and ferroalloys, and also markets 

aluminium/alumina and iron ore from third parties. With regard to energy products, the Group is a large producer 

and marketer of coal, with mines in Australia, South Africa and Colombia, while its oil business is one of the 

leading marketers of crude oil, refined products and natural gas.

Over a period of many years, the Group has built a strong market reputation as a reliable supplier of quality 

products on a timely basis. In doing so, the Group has extensive market knowledge and insight, as well as the 

full logistics capabilities required to generate value-added margins and seek arbitrage potential throughout the 

physical commodity supply chain. The Group’s presence at each stage of the commodity chain provides it with 

superior market insight and access to opportunities. The Group is able to capture value at each stage of the 

commodity chain, including extraction, processing, freight, logistics, technology, storage, marketing, risk 

management and financing.

Historically, the Group has grown both organically and through acquisitions. The Group continues to evaluate 

opportunities on an ongoing basis in relation to its business, including, among others, mergers, acquisitions, 

disposals, joint ventures and off-take arrangements. For instance, on 14 November 2023, the Company 

announced that it has entered into a binding agreement with Teck Resources Limited (“Teck”) for the acquisition 

of a 77 per cent. effective interest in the entirety of Teck’s steelmaking coal business, Elk Valley Resources 

(“EVR”), for U.S.$6.93 billion in cash, on a cash-free debt-free basis, subject to a normalised level of working 

capital. For further details, see “Operating and Financial Review – Recent Developments – Acquisition of the 

steelmaking coal business of Teck”.

The Group’s consolidated revenue for the years ended 31 December 2023, 2022 and 2021 was U.S.$217,829 

million, U.S.$255,984 million and U.S.$203,751million, respectively. Its income for the years ended 31 

December 2023, 2022 and 2021 was U.S.$3,210 million, U.S.$16,511 million and U.S.$4,349 million, 

respectively. The Group’s total assets were U.S.$123,869 million, U.S.$132,583 million and U.S.$127,510 

million as at 31 December 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The Company’s ordinary shares are traded on the London Stock Exchange and the Johannesburg Stock 

Exchange. The Company is a member of the FTSE 100.

The Group’s industrial and marketing investment activities are supported by a global network of offices located 

in over 30 countries throughout Europe, North, Central and South America, Asia, Australia, Africa and the 

Middle East. The Group’s main offices include Baar (Switzerland), New York, London, Beijing, Moscow, 
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Toronto, Johannesburg, Sydney and Singapore. This network provides the Group with significant worldwide 

investment origination and sourcing and distribution capabilities.

The Group’s two business segments, industrial activities (reporting to the Head of Industrial Assets) and 

marketing activities (reporting to the Head of Marketing, being the Group’s CEO), focus on the following 

activities, for both metals and minerals and energy products:

 The industrial activities business segment focuses on controlled and non-controlled industrial assets, 

overall business diversification and investment opportunities, as well as providing a source of physical 

commodities for the Group’s marketing activities business segment. 

 The marketing activities business segment focuses on sourcing a diversified range of physical 

commodities from third-party suppliers and from industrial assets in which the Group has full or part 

ownership interests. These commodities are sold, often with value-added services such as freight, 

insurance, financing and/or storage, to a broad range of consumers and industrial commodity end-users, 

many of whom are long-term customers. 

Each of the industrial activities and marketing activities business segments covers the Group’s main commodity 

divisions: metals and minerals and energy products. The metals and minerals division produces and markets a 

diverse range of metals and minerals, including copper, cobalt, zinc, nickel and ferroalloys, and also markets 

aluminium/alumina and iron ore from third parties. The Group’s activities are underpinned by ownership 

interests in controlled and non-controlled industrial assets such as mining, smelting, refining and warehousing 

operations. The Group’s energy products are primarily coal and oil, and the Group has extensive ownership 

interests in controlled and non-controlled coal mining and oil production operations as well as investments in 

strategic handling, storage and freight equipment and facilities. The Group’s activities related to agricultural 

products are operated through Viterra (formerly Glencore Agri), a joint venture in which the Group had a 49.9 

per cent. ownership interest as at 31 December 2023, and which has been reported through the marketing 

activities business segment within “corporate and other” activities. In June 2023, the Company agreed to dispose 

of its interest in Viterra in a cash-and-shares transaction with Bunge. See “Business – Viterra.”

The Group benefits from enhanced scale and diversity. It is a major producer and marketer of over 90 

commodities. Specifically, the Group is:

 a global leader in export thermal coal, ferrochrome and integrated zinc production;

 a leading producer of copper and cobalt; and

 a leading producer of nickel.
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The condensed structure chart below shows the position of the Issuer and Guarantors within the Group.

Competitive strengths

The Group believes that its success has been built upon a unique combination of competitive strengths that have 

enabled it to grow into one of the world’s largest diversified and vertically integrated producers, processors and 

marketers of natural resources. The Group’s key competitive strengths include:

 being a major supplier of energy and transition metals and solutions that support the pathway to net zero 

industrial emissions;

 a portfolio containing large, long-life and low-carbon advantaged commodities;

 vertical integration providing a unique capability to supply sustainable commodities of the future; and

 a highly resilient and cash generative business model.

Strategy

The Group’s strategy is to maintain and build upon its position as one of the world’s largest diversified natural 

resources companies. The Group’s key strategic priorities are:

 responsible and ethical production and supply;

 responsible portfolio management; and

 responsible product use.
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History

Glencore’s business commenced in 1974 (previously known as Marc Rich + Co AG) and initially focused on 

the physical marketing of ferrous and non-ferrous metals and minerals and crude oil, and shortly thereafter 

expanded into oil products, later adding coal.

Glencore developed from a purely commodity marketing company into a diversified natural resources group 

through key acquisitions in mining, smelting, refining and processing. Glencore made its first equity investment 

in an industrial asset in 1987, when it acquired 27 per cent. of the Mt. Holly aluminium smelter in the United 

States and acquired its first controlling interest in an industrial asset in 1988, when it acquired a 66.7 per cent. 

interest in a zinc/lead mine in Peru. In 1994, the founder of Glencore sold his stake by way of a management 

buyout. The Company’s shares were listed on the Official List of the FCA, admitted to trading on the London 

Stock Exchange’s market for listed securities and admitted to listing on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in May 

2011. On 2 May 2013, Glencore completed the acquisition of Xstrata.

The Company’s shares were admitted to trading on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange in November 2013. Due 

to low trading volumes, the Company chose to delist its shares from the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in January 

2018.

Summary financial information on the Group

The summary financial data presented below as at and for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 has 

been extracted without material adjustment from the 2023 Financial Statements. The summary financial data 

presented below for the year ended 31 December 2021 has been extracted without material adjustment from the 

2022 Financial Statements. 

The following table sets out the Group’s consolidated statement of income for the years ended 31 December 

2021, 2022 and 2023:

Year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Revenue ............................................................................  203,751 255,984 217,829

Cost of goods sold(1) .........................................................  (191,370) (228,467) (207,046)

Net expected credit losses(1) .............................................  (256) 21

Selling and administrative expenses.................................  (2,115) (2,430) (2,105)

Share of income from associates and joint ventures.........  2,618 2,300 1,337

Gain/(Loss) on acquisitions and disposals of non-current 

assets ................................................................................ (607) 1,287 850

Other income ....................................................................  186 365 176

Other expense ...................................................................  (2,133) (1,276) (1,267)

Impairments of non-current assets ...................................  (1,905) (3,285) (2,264)

(Impairments)/reversal of impairments of financial 

assets ................................................................................  67 (52) (220)

Dividend income ..............................................................  23 45 6
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Year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Interest income .................................................................  208 435 615

Interest expense ................................................................  (1,348) (1,771) (2,515)

Income before income taxes...........................................  7,375 22,879 5,417

Income tax expense ..........................................................  (3,026) (6,368) (2,207)

Income for the period .....................................................  4,349 16,511 3,210

Attributable to:

Non-controlling interests ..................................................  (625) (809) (1,070)

Equity holders ..................................................................  4,974 17,320 4,280

Note: 

(1) In the year ended 31 December 2023, net expected credit losses on financial assets at amortised cost were 

disaggregated from cost of goods sold. The prior period balances for the year ended 31 December 2022 have been 

restated to conform with current period presentation, noting that there is no effect on consolidated earnings. Balances 

for the years ended 31 December 2021 have not been restated to conform with current period presentation on the 

basis of materiality. 

The following table summarises the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows for the years ended 31 

December 2021, 2022 and 2023: 

Year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Net cash generated by operating activities .......................  8,860 13,659 11,036

Net cash used by investing activities ................................  (541) (1,719) (3,555)

Net cash used by financing activities ...............................  (6,520) (13,200) (7,486)

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents ............  1,799 (1,260) (5)

The following table sets out the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, 

2022 and 2023:

As at 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Non-current assets ............................................................  69,734 63,360 59,827

Current assets ...................................................................  56,455 66,783 58,612
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As at 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Assets held for sale ...........................................................  1,321 2,440 5,430

Total assets ......................................................................  127,510 132,583 123,869

Total equity .....................................................................  36,917 45,219 38,237

Non-current liabilities ......................................................  41,134 33,944 36,154

Current liabilities ..............................................................  48,671 51,679 47,928

Liabilities held for sale .....................................................  788 1,741 1,550

Total equity and liabilities .............................................  127,510 132,583 123,869
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The Offering

For a more complete description of the terms of the Notes, see “Description of the Notes and Guarantees”.

Issuer ...................................................... Glencore Funding LLC, a company incorporated as a limited 

liability company in Delaware.

Guarantors ............................................. Glencore plc, Glencore International AG, Glencore (Schweiz) 

AG.

Notes .......................................................  U.S.$800,000,000 5.338 per cent. Notes due 2027.

U.S.$1,100,000,000 5.371 per cent. Notes due 2029.

U.S.$1,250,000,000 5.634 per cent. Notes due 2034.

U.S.$500,000,000 5.893 per cent. Notes due 2054.

U.S.$350,000,000 Floating Rate Notes due 2027.

Ratings .................................................... As of the date of this Offering Circular, the expected ratings of 

the Notes are BBB+ by S&P and Baa1 by Moody’s. A credit 

rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities 

and may be subject to revisions, suspension or withdrawal at 

any time by the relevant rating organisation.

Issue Date ............................................... 4 April 2024.

Issue Price .............................................. 2027 Notes: 100.000 per cent. 

2029 Notes: 100.000 per cent.

2034 Notes: 100.000 per cent.

2054 Notes: 100.000 per cent.

Floating Rate Notes: 100.000 per cent.

Guarantees ............................................. Upon issue, the obligations of the Issuer under the Notes will, 

subject to the limitations described in “Risk Factors” and 

“Description of the Notes and Guarantees”, be unconditionally 

and irrevocably guaranteed on a senior, unsecured and joint and 

several basis by the Guarantors pursuant to the Guarantees.

Ranking .................................................. The Notes will rank as direct, unsecured and unsubordinated 

indebtedness of the Issuer. The Guarantees are unconditional 

and the obligations of the Guarantors under the Guarantees will 

rank equally with all present and future direct, unsecured and 

unsubordinated obligations (except for certain limited 

exceptions and those obligations preferred by statute or 

operation of law) of the Guarantors.

Maturity Dates ....................................... Unless previously purchased or redeemed in accordance with 

the Indenture, the principal amount of the Notes will mature 

and become due and payable as follows, with accrued and 

unpaid interest at such date.

2027 Notes: 4 April 2027.

2029 Notes: 4 April 2029.

2034 Notes: 4 April 2034.
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2054 Notes: 4 April 2054.

Floating Rate Notes: 4 April 2027.

Interest Rates ......................................... 2027 Notes: 5.338 per cent.

2029 Notes: 5.371 per cent.

2034 Notes: 5.634 per cent.

2054 Notes: 5.893 per cent.

Floating Rate Notes: Interest on the Floating Rate Notes will 

accrue at a floating rate (reset quarterly on each Floating Rate 

Interest Payment Date (as defined below)) equal to 

Compounded SOFR (as defined below), plus 1.060 per cent., 

as described in “Description of the Notes and Guarantees— 

Interest on the Floating Rate Notes”. 

Interest Payment Dates ......................... 2027 Notes: Semi-annually in arrear on 4 April and 4 October 

of each year, commencing on 4 April 2024.

2029 Notes: Semi-annually in arrear on 4 April and 4 October 

of each year, commencing on 4 April 2024.

2034 Notes: Semi-annually in arrear on 4 April and 4 October 

of each year, commencing on 4 April 2024.

2054 Notes: Semi-annually in arrear on 4 April and 4 October 

of each year, commencing on 4 April 2024.

Floating Rate Notes: Quarterly in arrear on 4 January, 4 April, 

4 July and 4 October of each year, commencing on 4 July 2024.

Form and denomination ........................ The Notes will be in registered form in principal amounts of 

U.S.$2,000 and integral multiples of U.S.$1,000 in excess 

thereof.

The Notes will be issued in the form of Global Notes in 

registered form and may be exchanged into Definitive Notes 

only under the circumstances described in the Global Notes.

The Notes sold to QIBs in the United States in reliance on Rule 

144A will be represented by the Rule 144A Global Notes. The 

Rule 144A Global Notes will be deposited with a custodian for 

DTC, and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee 

for DTC.

The Notes sold outside the United States to persons other than 

U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S will be represented by 

the Regulation S Global Notes. The Regulation S Global Notes 

will also be deposited with a custodian for DTC, and registered 

in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC, for credit to 

the respective accounts of beneficial owners of such Notes (or 

to such other accounts as they may direct) at DTC, Euroclear 

and Clearstream, Luxembourg.
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Investors will hold beneficial interests in the Notes through 

DTC and its participants, including Euroclear and Clearstream, 

Luxembourg. See “Book-Entry, Delivery and Form”.

Further issues ......................................... The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the 

Noteholders issue further securities having identical terms and 

conditions as any series of Notes so that any further issue is 

consolidated and forms a single series of securities with such 

Notes.

Redemption at the option of the

Issuer ...................................................... 

The Fixed Rate Notes are redeemable in whole or in part at any 

time prior to the applicable Par Call Date, as defined herein, at 

the option of the Issuer or the Guarantors at a redemption price 

equal to the make-whole amounts described in “Description of 

the Notes and Guarantees”.

The Fixed Rate Notes are also redeemable in whole or in part 

at any time on or after the applicable Par Call Date at the option 

of the Issuer at a redemption price equal to 100 per cent. of the 

principal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes to be redeemed, plus 

accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on the principal amount of 

the Fixed Rate Notes to be redeemed to, but excluding, the date 

of redemption.

Redemption for tax reasons .................. The Issuer may redeem all but not part of the Notes outstanding 

at their principal amount with accrued and unpaid interest to 

the date of redemption if the Issuer or a Guarantor is required 

to pay Additional Amounts upon the occurrence of certain 

changes in taxation in the jurisdiction of the Issuer or the 

jurisdiction of such Guarantor.

Repurchase on Change of Control ....... Unless the Notes are otherwise subject to redemption as 

described under “Description of the Notes and Guarantees—

Optional redemption” and “Description of the Notes and 

Guarantees—Redemption for tax reasons” and the Issuer has 

elected to exercise its right to redeem the Notes, if a Change of 

Control Repurchase Event occurs, the Issuer will make an offer 

to each Noteholder to repurchase the Notes as described under 

“Description of the Notes and Guarantees—Repurchase on 

Change of Control Repurchase Event”.

Taxation .................................................. All payments in respect of Notes by the Issuer or the relevant 

Guarantor will be made without withholding or deduction for, 

or on account of, tax of the jurisdiction of tax residence and the 

jurisdiction of incorporation of the Issuer or relevant Guarantor, 

unless required by law. In that event, the Issuer or relevant 

Guarantor will, subject to certain exceptions, pay such 

additional amounts as will result, after the withholding or 

deduction of such tax, in the payment of the amounts which 

would have been payable had no such withholding or deduction 

been required, as described in “Description of the Notes and 

Guarantees”. Also see “Taxation”.
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Transfer restrictions .............................. The Notes and the Guarantees have not been and will not be 

registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or 

sold, except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction 

not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities 

Act and in compliance with all applicable laws. The Notes are 

subject to certain restrictions on transfer. See “Transfer 

Restrictions”.

Use of proceeds ...................................... The Group will use the net proceeds of the Offering for general 

corporate purposes. See “Use of Proceeds”.

Governing law ........................................ The Notes and the Indenture governing the Notes will be 

governed by the laws of the State of New York. The Guarantee 

provided by the Company will be governed by English law. The 

Guarantees provided by GIAG and Glencore Schweiz will be 

governed by Swiss law.

Security Codes ....................................... 

2027 Notes .............................................. Rule 144A Global Note Regulation S Global Note

CUSIP: 378272BR8 CUSIP: U37818BM9  

ISIN: US378272BR82 ISIN: USU37818BM91 

2029 Notes .............................................. Rule 144A Global Note Regulation S Global Note

CUSIP: 378272BS6 CUSIP: U37818BN7 

ISIN: US378272BS65 ISIN: USU37818BN74 

2034 Notes .............................................. Rule 144A Global Note Regulation S Global Note

CUSIP: 378272BU1 CUSIP: U37818BQ0 

ISIN: US378272BU12 ISIN: USU37818BQ06 

2054 Notes .............................................. Rule 144A Global Note Regulation S Global Note

CUSIP: 378272BV9 CUSIP: U37818BR8 

ISIN: US378272BV94 ISIN: USU37818BR88 

Floating Rate Notes ............................... Rule 144A Global Note Regulation S Global Note

CUSIP: 378272BW7 CUSIP: U37818BS6 

ISIN: US378272BW77 ISIN: USU37818BS61 

Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) ................ Issuer: 213800STG1QDNBY87K49
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RISK FACTORS

Any investment in the Notes is subject to a number of risks. Accordingly, investors and prospective investors 

should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described below and all of the other information set out 

in this Offering Circular and incorporated by reference herein before making an investment decision. The 

Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and/or prospects could be materially and adversely 

affected by any of these risks. The market price of the Notes may decline due to any of these risks or other 

factors, and investors may lose all or part of their investment.

The risks described below are not the only ones which the Group faces. The risks described below are those 

that the Group currently believes may materially affect it and the Notes. These risks should not be regarded as 

a complete and comprehensive statement of all potential risks and uncertainties. Additional risks and 

uncertainties that are not currently known to the Group, or those that it currently deems to be immaterial, may 

become material and adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition, prospects 

and/or the value of the Notes. This Offering Circular also contains estimates and projections that involve risks 

and uncertainties. The Group’s results may differ significantly from those previously projected as a result of 

certain factors, including the risks which it faces, as described below and in other sections of this Offering 

Circular.

The information given is as of the date of this Offering Circular and, except as required by legal or regulatory 

obligation, including the Disclosure and Transparency Rules, will not be updated. Any forward-looking 

statements are made subject to the reservations specified in the section headed “Forward-Looking Statements”.

External risks relating to the Group 

The Group is exposed to fluctuations in the expected volumes of supply and demand for commodities.

The expected volumes of supply and demand for the commodities in which the Group is active vary over time, 

based on competitor supply, changes in resource availability, government policies and regulation, costs of 

production, global and regional economic and political conditions, demand in end markets for products in which 

the commodities are used, technological developments, including commodity substitutions, fluctuations in 

global production capacity, geopolitical events, global and regional weather conditions, natural disasters and 

diseases, all of which impact global markets and demand for commodities. Taking into consideration the 

transition to a low carbon economy, future demand for certain commodities might decline (e.g. fossil fuels), 

whereas others might increase (e.g. copper, cobalt and nickel). Furthermore, changes in expected supply and 

demand conditions impact the expected future prices (and thus the price curve) of each commodity.

Fluctuations in the volume of each commodity produced or marketed by the Group could materially impact the 

business, results of operations and earnings of the Group. These fluctuations could result in a reduction in the 

income generated in respect of the volumes handled by the Group’s marketing activities, or a reduction in the 

volume and/or margin in respect of commodities produced by the Group’s industrial assets.

The Group is exposed to fluctuations in commodity prices and to deterioration in economic and 

financial conditions.

The revenue and earnings of substantial parts of the Group’s industrial asset activities and, to a lesser extent, 

the Group’s marketing activities are dependent upon prevailing commodity prices. Commodity prices are 

influenced by several external factors, including the supply of and demand for commodities, speculative 

activities by market participants, global political and economic conditions and related industry cycles and 

production costs in major producing countries. Fluctuations in the price of commodities produced or marketed 

by the Group could materially impact the Group’s business, results of operations and earnings.
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A significant downturn in the price of commodities generally results in a decline in the Group’s profitability 

during such a period and could potentially result in a devaluation of inventories and impairments. Although the 

impact of a downturn in commodity prices affects the Group’s industrial and marketing activities differently, 

the negative impact on its industrial activities is generally greater, as the profitability of the industrial activities 

is more directly exposed to price risk due to its higher level of fixed costs, while the Group’s marketing activities 

are ordinarily substantially hedged in respect of price risk and principally operate a service-like, margin-based 

model. The Group does not typically engage in meaningful hedging against declines in commodity prices 

related to industrial production and, as a result, volatility in commodity prices directly impacts its results of 

operations. If the Group does not engage in meaningful hedging against declines in commodity prices, its 

business and results of operations could be impacted by volatility in commodity prices.

The significant fluctuations in commodity prices experienced over the last several years and the considerable 

downside risks with respect to the global economic outlook make fluctuations in commodity prices a 

particularly material risk for the Group. Significant falls in the prices of certain commodities (for example, 

copper, coal, zinc and cobalt) can have a material impact on the Group’s financial performance and could lead 

to concerns by external stakeholders as to the strength of the Group’s financial position. Any negative 

developments, particularly impacting China and fast-growing developing countries, could lead to reductions in 

demand for and, consequently, prices of the Group’s commodities, with particular risk to commodities used in 

steelmaking such as iron ore, metallurgical coal and zinc. For example, the Russia/Ukraine conflict and the 

COVID-19 pandemic have led to substantial disruptions in global economic activity which have and may 

continue to reduce demand for the commodities supplied by the Group. 

In addition, an actual or perceived decline in economic and financial conditions globally or in a specific country, 

region or sector may have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations or earnings of the 

Group. For example, although most commodities’ fixed pricing periods are relatively short, a significant 

reduction or increase in commodity prices could result in customers or suppliers, as the case may be, being 

unwilling or unable to honour their contractual commitments to purchase or sell commodities on pre-agreed 

pricing terms. In addition, a tightening of available credit, such as occurred in the first quarter of 2023 when 

several financial institutions in major markets experienced significant difficulties that led to market-wide 

volatility, may make it more difficult to obtain, or may increase the cost of obtaining, financing for the Group’s 

marketing activities and capital expenditures at the Group’s industrial assets. Changing production levels in 

response to current price levels or estimates of future price levels imposes costs, and, if mistimed, could 

adversely affect the results of the Group’s operations or financial condition. 

The Russia/Ukraine conflict has resulted in a humanitarian crisis and significant disruption to 

financial and commodity markets.

In February 2022, the Russian government commenced a war against the people of Ukraine, resulting in a 

humanitarian crisis and significant disruption to financial and commodity markets. A number of countries, 

including the United States of America, members of the European Union, Switzerland and United Kingdom 

imposed a series of sanctions against the Russian government, various companies, and certain individuals. 

Given the importance of Russian/Ukrainian supply to a number of key commodities, including oil, natural gas, 

coal, grain, aluminium and nickel, price volatilities in all of these commodities spiked. Applicable sanctions are 

also significantly impacting traditional commodity trade flows. Global commodity trade flows needed to adjust 

for Russian/Ukrainian supply being unavailable, whether due to infrastructure damage, sanctions or ethical 

concerns. Uncertainty regarding global supply of commodities due to the Russia/Ukraine conflict has disrupted 

global trade flows, most notably in the energy complex and agricultural products, and placed significant 

upwards pressure on commodity prices and input costs as seen in 2022 and 2023. Challenges for market 

participants may include availability of funding to ensure access to raw materials, ability to finance margin 

payments related to higher commodity prices and heightened risk of contractual non-performance. 
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The Group has announced that it will not enter into any new trading business in respect of Russian origin 

commodities unless directed by relevant government authorities. The Group has no material operational 

footprint in Russia and its trading exposure to Russia is not material. The Group has reviewed its business 

activities in Russia including its equity stakes in EN+ and Rosneft (10.6 per cent. and 0.57 per cent., 

respectively, as at 31 December 2023) and is unable to ascribe probabilities to possible outcomes of any 

potential exit process in the current environment. Both equity interests were written down to U.S.$ nil in 2022, 

with a corresponding negative mark-to-market adjustment in other comprehensive income.

Accordingly, the Russia/Ukraine conflict may have significant negative impacts in the medium and long-term, 

including on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group is exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange and interest rates.

The vast majority of transactions undertaken by the Group’s industrial and marketing activities are denominated 

in U.S. dollars. However, the Group is exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates through its industrial 

activities, because a large proportion of the operating costs of these assets are denominated in the currency of 

the country in which each asset is located, including, among others, the Canadian dollar, Australian dollar, Euro, 

Kazakhstani tenge, Colombian peso and South African rand. The Group is also exposed to fluctuations in 

currency exchange rates through its global office network given that costs are denominated largely in the 

currency of the country in which each office is located, the largest of such currency exposures being to the 

Swiss franc and the pound sterling. The Group is also exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates 

through its marketing activities, although only a small minority of purchase or sale transactions are denominated 

in currencies other than U.S. dollars.

Foreign exchange rates have seen significant fluctuation in recent years. A depreciation in the value of the U.S. 

dollar against one or more of the currencies in which the Group incurs significant costs will, to the extent it has 

not been hedged, result in an increase in the cost of these operations in U.S. dollar terms and could adversely 

affect the Group’s results of operations.

In respect of commodity purchase and sale transactions denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars, the 

Group’s policy is to hedge the specific future commitment through a forward exchange contract. From time to 

time, the Group may hedge a portion of its currency exposures and requirements in an attempt to limit any 

adverse effect of exchange rate fluctuations on its results of operations, but there can be no assurance that such 

hedging will eliminate the potential material adverse effect of such fluctuations. In addition, to the extent that 

any currency exposures are unhedged or unmatched as a consequence of political risk, such exposure could 

adversely affect the Group’s results of operations.

The reporting currency and the functional currency of the majority of the Group’s operations is the U.S. dollar, 

as this is assessed to be the principal currency of the economic environment in which the Group operates. For 

financial reporting purposes, transactions in foreign currencies are converted into the functional currency of 

each entity using the exchange rate prevailing at the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities outstanding 

at year end are converted at year-end rates. The resulting exchange differences are recorded in the consolidated 

statement of income/(loss). The exchange rates between relevant local currencies and the U.S. dollar have 

historically fluctuated, and the translation effect of such fluctuations may have a material adverse effect on 

Group members’ individual and the Group’s consolidated results of operations or financial condition.

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates results from investing and borrowing activities undertaken to 

manage its liquidity and capital requirements. The majority of the Group’s borrowings, other than a portion of 

long-term, fixed-rate bonds, bear interest at floating rates. An increase in interest rates would therefore result in 

a relatively immediate increase in the cost of servicing the Group’s indebtedness and could adversely affect its 

results of operations. Faced with the current inflationary environment, most major central banks aggressively 

increased interest rates between 2022 and 2023. Although borrowing costs are taken into account when setting 
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marketing transaction terms, there is no assurance that increased financing costs can be passed on to customers 

and/or suppliers. The Group may elect in the future to enter into interest rate swaps to convert some or all of its 

floating-rate debt to fixed-rate debt or enter into fixed-rate to floating-rate swaps. There can be no assurance 

that the Group will not be materially adversely affected by interest rate changes in the future.

The Group is exposed to significant geopolitical risk. 

The Group operates and owns assets in a large number of geographic regions and countries, some of which are 

categorised as developing or challenging or which have unstable political or social climates or uncertain legal 

systems. As a result, the Group is exposed to a wide range of political, economic, regulatory, social and tax 

environments. These environments are subject to change in a manner that may be materially adverse for the 

Group, including changes to government policies and regulations governing industrial production, foreign 

investment, price controls, import and export controls, tariffs, subsidies, income and other forms of taxation 

(including policies relating to the granting of advance rulings on taxation matters), nationalisation or 

expropriation of property, repatriation of income, royalties, the environment, labour and health and safety.

The need for supply chain security and other factors in recent years have resulted in increased resource 

nationalism in some countries, with governments repudiating or renegotiating contracts with, and expropriating 

assets from, companies that are producing in such countries. Many of the commodities that the Group produces 

and markets are considered strategic resources for particular countries. Governments in these countries may 

decide not to recognise previous arrangements if they regard them as no longer being in the national interest. 

Governments may also implement export controls on commodities regarded by them as strategic (such as oil or 

wheat) or place restrictions on foreign ownership of industrial assets. Renegotiation or nullification of existing 

agreements, leases, permits or tax rulings, changes in fiscal policies (including new or increased taxes or royalty 

rates or the implementation of windfall taxes which have been seen in several jurisdictions in which the Group 

has industrial assets) and currency restrictions imposed by the governments of countries in which the Group 

operates could all have a material adverse effect on the Group.

Following the global financial crisis, some governments faced increased debt and funding obligations and 

sought additional sources of revenue by increasing rates of taxation, royalties or resource rent taxes. In recent 

years, the Group has been subject to significant changes in fiscal policy from countries around the world as the 

global geopolitical climate has evolved, partly affected by falls in some commodity prices. This has included, 

among other things, increased scrutiny by governments and tax authorities in pursuit of perceived aggressive 

tax structuring by multinational companies which has elevated potential tax exposures for the Group. In 

addition, governments have sought, and may continue to seek, additional sources of revenue by increasing rates 

of taxation, royalties or resource rent taxes and increased sustainability obligations. Continued changes may 

negatively impact the financial results of existing assets and projects and reduce anticipated future returns and 

overall level of prospective investment in those countries. In addition, there may be uncertainty around changes 

in and the enforcement of such tax regimes, which can make planning of future investments challenging. 

The Group transacts business in locations where it is exposed to a greater-than-average risk of overt or effective 

expropriation or nationalisation, including in countries where the government has previously expropriated 

assets of other companies held within the jurisdiction or where members of the government have publicly 

proposed that such action be taken. In addition, title to the Group’s mining and hydrocarbon rights may be 

challenged or impugned, and title insurance may not generally be available. In many cases, the government of 

the country in which a particular asset is located is the sole authority able to grant such rights and, in some 

cases, may have limited infrastructure and limited resources which may severely constrain the Group’s ability 

to ensure that it has obtained secure title to individual exploration licences or extraction rights. A successful 

challenge to the Group’s mining and/or hydrocarbon extraction rights may result in the Group being unable to 

proceed with the development or continued operation of a mine or project.
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The Group’s operations may also be affected by political and economic instability in the countries in which it 

operates. Such instability could be caused by, among other things, terrorism, war, guerrilla activities, military 

repression, civil disorder, social unrest, violent crime, workforce instability, change in government policy or 

the ruling party, economic or other sanctions imposed by other countries, extreme fluctuations in currency 

exchange rates or high inflation.

The geopolitical risks associated with operating in a large number of regions and countries, if realised, could 

affect the Group’s ability to manage or retain interests in its industrial activities and could have a material 

adverse effect on the profitability, ability to finance or, in extreme cases, viability of one or more of its industrial 

assets. Disruptions in certain of its industrial operations at any given time could have a material adverse effect 

on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Group.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a negative impact on worldwide economic activity and the Group’s 

operations, and it or another pandemic could have a material impact on the Group’s business. 

The rapid, global spread of COVID-19 adversely affected the global economy and resulted in significant 

volatility in financial markets and the prices of and the demand for the commodities that the Group produces 

and trades. Operationally, business continuity planning was a challenge in many countries and supply chains 

were strained. Almost all industrial operations were impacted by changed protocols or working practises, while 

many were required to fully suspend production for a period of time. As a result, the COVID-19 pandemic 

materially impacted the Group’s industrial activities, and impacted absenteeism rates at certain of the Group’s 

assets.

Future spread of a pandemic such as COVID-19 or its variants or low vaccination rates, including in areas 

where the Group’s industrial assets are located, may result in greater risk of exposure to employees, and the 

Group may respond by curtailing, rescheduling or suspending operations, construction or development at these 

assets or be required to do so by the relevant authorities. 

Accordingly, a future pandemic or the resurgence of the COVID-19 could have significant negative impacts in 

the medium and long-term, including on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Legal and regulatory risks relating to the Group

The Group is exposed to and subject to a significant number of laws and regulations.

The activities of the Group are exposed to and subject to extensive laws and regulations governing various 

matters. These include laws and regulations relating to bribery and corruption, sanctions, taxation, antitrust, 

financial and commodity markets regulation, environmental protection, use of hazardous substances, product 

safety and dangerous goods regulations, post-closure reclamation, the employment of expatriates, labour and 

occupational health and safety standards, and historical and cultural preservation. In addition, there are high 

expectations regarding the need to act ethically in the Group’s business and the Group is exposed to the risk 

that unethical business practices may, by themselves, harm its ability to engage with certain business partners, 

and/or give rise to questions whether the Group is committed to complying with applicable laws. Policies, laws 

and regulations in the countries in which the Group does business may change in a manner that adversely affects 

the Group. The terms attaching to any permit or licence to operate may be onerous. Additionally, in many of 

the developing countries where the Group operates, the legal systems may not be mature and legal practice may 

not be developed, such that, in certain cases, there may be significant uncertainty as to the correct legal position, 

as well as the possibility of laws changing or new laws and regulations being enacted, which has the potential 

to render the Group unable to enforce its understanding of title, permits or other rights, as well as to increase 

compliance costs.
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The costs associated with compliance with these laws and regulations, including the costs of regulatory permits, 

are substantial and increasing. Any changes to these laws or regulations or more stringent enforcement or 

restrictive interpretation of current laws and regulations by governmental authorities or rulings or clearances 

obtained from such governmental authorities could cause additional expenditure (including in the Group’s 

marketing business) to be incurred or impose restrictions on, or suspensions of, the Group’s operations and 

delays in the development of its properties. Failure to obtain or renew a necessary permit could mean that the 

Group would be unable to proceed with the development or continued operation of an industrial asset and/or 

impede the Group’s ability to develop new industrial assets. The suspension or loss of the Group’s permits or 

licenses to operate could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s operations and could preclude it from 

participating in bids and tenders for future business and projects, thereby affecting the Group’s long-term 

prospects. In addition, certain of the Group’s industrial assets are located in countries where title to land and 

rights and permits in respect of land and resources (including indigenous title) has not been and may not always 

be clear, creating the potential for disputes over resource development. Disputes relating to an industrial asset 

could disrupt or delay extraction, processing or other projects and/or impede the Group’s ability to develop new 

industrial assets.

The Group’s subsidiaries and the companies in which it holds investments are generally required, under 

applicable laws and regulations, to seek governmental licences, permits, authorisations, concessions and other 

approvals in connection with their activities. Obtaining the necessary governmental permits can be a particularly 

complex and time-consuming process and may involve costly undertakings. The duration and success of permit 

applications are contingent on many factors, including those outside the Group’s control.

In addition, the enactment of new laws and regulations and changes to existing laws and regulations (including, 

but not restricted to, environmental laws, the imposition of higher licence fees, mining and hydrocarbon 

royalties or taxes), compliance with which could be expensive or onerous, could also have a material adverse 

impact on the ability of the Group to operate its businesses and/or the profitability of its industrial investments. 

Furthermore, the Group does business in jurisdictions and with counterparties who have, in the past, and may 

in the future, become the targets of sanctions. See “Business—Legal and Regulatory”. These sanctions can be 

imposed or altered with little or no advance notice. The Group is committed to complying with all applicable 

sanctions in its business and taking all necessary measures in order to manage the impacts on its business as a 

result of the imposition of or changes in applicable sanctions regimes. However, there can be no assurance that 

the Group’s compliance procedures will protect it against sanctions breaches. 

The Group is exposed to risks associated with regulatory actions and enforcement proceedings. 

The numerous laws and regulations to which the Group is subject allow governmental and other authorities to 

commence investigations and/or make inquiries or requests for information regarding the Group’s operations 

and allow governmental authorities or private parties to bring lawsuits or other enforcement proceedings based 

on suspected or alleged violations of applicable law and regulation.

The Group is currently subject to certain investigations by enforcement authorities. The Office of the Attorney 

General (the “OAG”) of Switzerland is investigating Glencore International AG for failure to have the 

organisational measures in place to prevent alleged corruption. The Dutch authorities are conducting a criminal 

investigation into Glencore International AG related to potential corruption pertaining to the Democratic 

Republic of the Congo (the “DRC”). The scope of the Dutch investigation is similar to that of the OAG 

investigation. The Dutch authorities are coordinating their investigation with the OAG of Switzerland and the 

Group would expect any possible resolution to avoid duplicative penalties for the same conduct. The timing 

and outcome of the OAG and Dutch investigations remain uncertain. The Group is continuing to cooperate with 

these authorities. 
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On 24 May 2022, the Company announced that it had resolved previously disclosed investigations by authorities 

in the United States, the United Kingdom and Brazil into past activities in certain Group businesses related to 

bribery, and separate U.S. investigations related to market manipulation. The Company cooperated with these 

investigations. 

Under the terms of the U.S. resolutions, the Company agreed to pay net penalties of U.S.$444,047,409 to resolve 

bribery investigations and U.S.$242,819,442 to resolve market manipulation investigations by the United States 

Department of Justice (the “DOJ”). In addition, the Group agreed to pay net penalties of U.S.$333,548,040 to 

resolve market manipulation investigations by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the “CFTC”). 

During 2022, the Group has further agreed to pay U.S.$40 million under a resolution signed with the Brazilian 

Federal Prosecutor’s Office (the “FPO”) in connection with its bribery investigation into the Group. 

On 21 June 2022, Glencore Energy UK Limited pled guilty to charges brought by the UK Serious Fraud Office 

(the “SFO”) in respect of its bribery investigation and on 3 November 2022, it was sentenced to pay a financial 

penalty and costs of £281 million. The Group has settled the amounts due to the CFTC, the DOJ and the UK 

SFO and expects to settle the amounts due to the Brazilian FPO in the first half of 2024. 

In December 2022, the Company announced that it had reached an agreement with the DRC relating to past 

conduct. This includes activities in certain Group businesses that have been the subject of various investigations 

by, amongst others, the DOJ and the DRC’s National Financial Intelligence Unit and Ministry of Justice. Under 

the agreement, Glencore International AG, on behalf of its Congolese-associated companies, paid the DRC 

U.S.$180 million and will continue to implement in the DRC the Ethics and Compliance Programme the 

Company committed to continue to implement in its resolution with the DOJ. The agreement is governed by 

Congolese law and the only admissions made are in respect of the conduct already acknowledged in Glencore’s 

resolution with the DOJ.

As provided for in the plea agreements entered into by Glencore International AG and Glencore Ltd. with the 

DOJ, the Company appointed independent compliance monitors for a period of three years to assess and monitor 

the Company’s compliance with the agreements and evaluate the effectiveness of its compliance programme 

and internal controls.

The cost of cooperating with investigations and/or defending proceedings can be substantial. Investigations or 

proceedings can lead to reputational damage, the imposition of material fines, penalties, redress or other 

restitution requirements, or other civil or criminal sanctions on the Group (and/or on individual employees of 

the Group), the curtailment or cessation of operations, orders to pay compensation, orders to remedy the effects 

of violations and/or orders to take preventative steps against possible future violations. The impact of any 

monetary fines, penalties, redress or other restitution requirements and the reputational damage that could be 

associated with them as a result of investigations or proceedings that are decided adversely to the Group could 

be material. It is also possible that other authorities may open investigations into the Group in connection with 

the matters that are the subject of the various resolved and ongoing investigations. The Group has been 

contacted by certain government authorities in the jurisdictions that were in scope of the resolved investigations, 

as well as certain private parties that claim they were harmed by the conduct identified in the investigations, 

which could result in further investigations or proceedings.

In addition, the Group may be the subject of legal claims brought by private parties in connection with alleged 

non-compliance with these laws, including class, group, collective or representative action suits in connection 

with governmental and other investigations and proceedings or lawsuits based upon damages resulting from the 

Group’s operations. For example, in October 2023, two individuals (the “Horne Plaintiffs”) filed a Motion for 

Authorization of a Class Action and to Obtain the Status of Representatives against the Group and the Attorney 

General of Québec, as representative of the Government of the Province of Québec (the “Québec Government”) 

(together, the “Horne Defendants”) regarding the Group’s Horne Smelter situated in the city of Rouyn-Noranda, 



29

in the Province of Québec, Canada. The Horne Plaintiffs allege that the Group caused prejudice to the proposed 

class by releasing contaminants into the environment, while fully aware of the risks and dangers to public health. 

The Horne Plaintiffs also allege that the Québec Government committed a fault and caused prejudice to the 

proposed class in that it tolerated and authorised these emissions. The claims are at an early stage. Taking into 

account all available evidence, the Company does not consider it probable that a present obligation existed as 

at 31 December 2023 in relation to this claim, and the amount of any financial effects, which could be material, 

is not currently possible to predict or estimate. Any successful claims brought against the Group could result in 

material damages being awarded against the Group, the cessation of operations, orders to pay compensation or 

remedial and/or preventative orders.

Due to the nature of its business and operations, the Group is exposed to the risks of fraud, corruption, 

sanctions breaches and other unlawful activities. 

As a diversified sourcing, marketing and distribution company conducting complex transactions globally, the 

Group is exposed to the risks of fraud, corruption, sanctions breaches and other unlawful activities both 

internally and externally. Certain of the Group’s existing industrial and marketing activities are in countries that 

are categorised as developing or as having challenging political or social climates or where the legal system is 

uncertain, and/or where corruption is generally understood to exist. The Group’s marketing operations are large 

in scale, which may make fraud, corruption, sanctions breaches or other unlawful activities difficult to detect. 

In addition, some of the Group’s counterparties have in the past, and may in the future, become the targets of 

sanctions. See “Business—Legal and Regulatory”. Corruption and sanctions risks remain highly relevant for 

businesses operating in international markets, as shown by recent regulatory enforcement actions both inside 

and outside the resources sector. 

The Group has implemented a Group-wide compliance programme that includes a range of policies, procedures, 

guidelines, training and awareness, monitoring, raising concerns and investigations. However, there can be no 

assurance that this programme will adequately protect the Group against fraud, corruption, sanctions breaches 

or other unlawful activity and such activity could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, 

reputation, results of operations or financial condition.

The Group is subject to emissions and climate change regulations. 

The Group’s global presence exposes it to a number of jurisdictions in which regulations or laws have been or 

are being considered to limit or reduce emissions. The likely effect of these changes will be to increase the cost 

for fossil fuels, impose levies for emissions in excess of certain permitted levels and increase administrative 

costs for monitoring and reporting. Third parties, including potential or actual investors or debt providers, have 

also introduced policies and may introduce further policies that are materially adverse to the Group due to its 

activities in fossil fuels. Increasingly, major global investors are demanding transition plans from power and 

utility companies consistent with the goals of the Paris Agreement under the UN Framework Convention on 

Climate Change, including explicit timelines and commitments for the rapid elimination of coal use by utilities. 

Over time, it is reasonable to assume that it will become increasingly difficult to access capital for the Group’s 

coal business and that this may impact the ability of institutional shareholders and lenders to hold equity in or 

provide capital to the Group.

The transition to a low-carbon economy and its associated public policy and regulatory developments may lead 

to:

 the imposition of new regulations and climate change related policies on fossil fuels by actual or 

potential investors, customers and banks, potentially impacting the Group’s reputation, access to (and 

cost of) capital and financial performance;
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 import duties and carbon taxes in the Group’s customers’ markets which may potentially affect the 

Group’s access to those markets as well as commodities delivery costs;

 increased costs for energy and for other resources which may impact associated costs and the economic 

competitiveness of the Group’s industrial assets;

 the imposition of levies related to greenhouse gas emissions;

 increased costs for monitoring and reporting related to the Group’s emissions;

 reduced demand for the Group’s fossil fuel products;

 impacts on the development or maintenance of the Group’s assets due to restrictions in operating 

permits, licenses or similar authorisations; or

 divesting or closing of coal assets and consequent loss of investment.

Increasing regulation of greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions, including the progressive introduction of carbon 

emissions trading mechanisms and tighter emission reduction targets in numerous jurisdictions in which the 

Group operates, is likely to raise production, operating, transportation and administrative costs and reduce 

demand growth. This includes countries where the Group has assets such as Australia, Canada, Chile and South 

Africa, as well as customer markets such as China, South Korea, Japan, United States and Europe. Many 

developed countries are pledging to stop using fossil fuels (specifically coal) in power generation. This is 

particularly relevant for the Group as the world’s largest producer of seaborne thermal coal and a significant 

marketer of fossil fuels. As a result of these factors, there is the risk that many fossil fuel assets, including those 

of the Group, could become no longer economically viable. Furthermore, some may choose not to invest in or 

transact with the Group due to its fossil fuel operations. Socio-economic concerns associated with the transition 

to a low-carbon economy may increase expectations of the Group’s closure plans and increase its closure 

liabilities. 

On 14 November 2023, the Company announced that it has entered into a binding agreement with Teck for the 

acquisition of a 77 per cent. effective interest in the entirety of Teck’s steelmaking coal business, EVR, for 

U.S.$6.93 billion in cash, on a cash-free debt-free basis, subject to a normalised level of working capital. The 

transaction is subject to mandatory regulatory approvals and, while closing could occur earlier, it is expected 

no later than the third quarter of 2024. The acquisition of EVR would unlock the potential, subject to shareholder 

approval, for a value-accretive demerger of the combined coal and carbon steel materials business, once the 

Company has sufficiently delevered towards a revised U.S.$5 billion net debt cap, which is expected to occur 

within 24 months from close of the acquisition. The Company will undertake a shareholder consultation process 

following the close of the acquisition to assess views on a potential subsequent demerger. The Company intends 

for the demerged company to continue to oversee the responsible decline of its thermal coal operations in line 

with the Company’s current targets and ambition to achieve net zero by 2050, subject to a supportive policy 

environment, and to adopt a climate transition strategy for the EVR business that will be developed and 

implemented pursuant to the Company’s Investment Canada Act (“ICA”) commitments. For further details, 

including on the conditions to the acquisition, see “Operating and Financial Review – Recent Developments – 

Acquisition of the steelmaking coal business of Teck”. 

In addition, climate change may increase physical risks to the Group’s assets and related infrastructure, largely 

driven from extreme weather events and water related risks such as flooding or water scarcity. There has been 

a significant increase in litigation (including class actions), in which climate change and its impacts are a 

contributing or key consideration, including administrative law cases, tortious cases and claims brought by 

investors. In particular, a number of lawsuits have been brought against companies with fossil fuel operations 

in various jurisdictions seeking damages related to climate change. In addition, a number of regulators have 
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increased their scrutiny of companies’ actions in respect of climate change, including through investigating 

claims related to inaccurate or misleading disclosure and/or “greenwashing”. Any such developments may have 

a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition. 

The Group’s operations are subject to health, safety and environmental regulations and legislation.

The processes and chemicals used in the Group’s extraction and production methods, as well as transport and 

storage, may pose environmental hazards at the Group’s industrial assets. A serious failure in these areas could 

lead to an emergency or catastrophe at one of the Group’s assets. In addition, new or amended environmental, 

health and safety legislation or regulations may result in increased operating costs or, in the event of non-

compliance or accidents or incidents causing personal injury or death or property or environmental damage at 

or to the Group’s mines, smelters, refineries, concentrators, drill rigs, processing plants or related facilities (such 

as logistics or storage facilities) or surrounding areas, may result in significant losses, interruptions in 

production, expensive litigation, imposition of penalties and sanctions or suspension or revocation of permits 

and licences.

The Group may be liable for losses associated with environmental hazards, may have its licences and permits 

withdrawn or suspended or may be forced to undertake extensive remedial clean-up action or to pay for 

government ordered remedial clean-up actions, even in cases where such hazards have been caused by previous 

or subsequent owners or operators of the property, by past or present owners of adjacent properties, by 

independent third party contractors providing services to the Group or by acts of vandalism by trespassers. Any 

such losses, withdrawals, suspensions, actions or payments may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 

business, results of operations and financial condition.

The Group is subject to risks relating to product safety and dangerous goods regulations.

Products sold by the Group are in many cases covered by national and international product safety and 

dangerous goods regulations. In some instances, product safety regulations (for example, the EU’s Chemical 

Control Act, Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals, REACH) oblige 

manufacturers and importers to register their products and to regularly monitor and evaluate the risks and 

hazards of substances to protect humans and the environment from harm during handling, storage and use. Any 

failure in complying with these obligations could result in a delay of the Group’s product delivery, a loss of 

insurance coverage, business interruption on the customer side, administrative or criminal sanctions and, in the 

extreme, being banned (temporarily) from a marketplace. Such events could have a material impact on local or 

global demand, reducing the Group’s marketing opportunities for such a product, or at least increase the 

handling costs while shipping and placing the product in the market, all of which could have a material adverse 

effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Group.

Financial risks relating to the Group’s business activities

Liquidity risk could limit the Group’s ability to engage in desired activities and grow its business.

Liquidity, or ready access to funds, is essential to the Group’s businesses. A lack of liquidity may mean that the 

Group will not have funds available to maintain or increase its industrial and marketing activities, both of which 

employ substantial amounts of capital.

The Group’s marketing activities employ significant amounts of working capital to fund purchases of 

commodities for future delivery to its end customers, to meet margin requirements under derivative contracts 

and to fund the acquisition and maintenance of certain transport and storage assets which complement its 

marketing activities.

The Group’s industrial activities are capital intensive and the continued funding of such activities is critical to 

maintain its ownership interests in its industrial assets, to maintain production levels in periods when net 
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operating cash flow is negative or insufficient to cover capital expenditures, to increase production levels in the 

future in accordance with its business plans and to grow its industrial activities through the acquisition of new 

assets.

While the Group adjusts its minimum internal liquidity targets in response to changes in market conditions (as 

was the case in 2022, due to extreme levels of market volatility, particularly in energy markets, impacting daily 

margining requirements in respect of its hedging derivatives portfolio), these minimum internal liquidity targets 

may be breached due to circumstances that the Group is unable to control, such as general market disruptions, 

sharp increases or decreases in the prices of commodities or an operational problem that affects its suppliers or 

customers or the Group, which may require the Group to take remedial action that may have an adverse effect 

on business, results of operations or earnings.

The Group has significant outstanding liabilities.

The Group has a significant amount of outstanding indebtedness and other liabilities, which may impair its 

operating and financial flexibility and could adversely affect its business and financial position. A high level of 

indebtedness and other liabilities could cause the Group to dedicate a substantial portion of cash flow from 

operations to payments to service or settle debt and liabilities, which could reduce the funds available for 

working capital, capital expenditure, acquisitions, distributions to shareholders and other general corporate 

purposes and could limit its ability to borrow additional funds and its flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, 

changes in technology, customer demand, competitive pressures and the industries in which it operates, placing 

the Group at a competitive disadvantage compared to its competitors which are less leveraged than it is. In 

addition, a high level of indebtedness and liabilities together with future debt financing, if accessible, may 

increase the Group’s vulnerability to both general and industry specific adverse economic conditions.

In addition to maintaining a cash position, the Group relies on two other principal sources of liquidity: 

borrowings under various short-term and long-term bank and asset-backed facilities and issuance of notes in 

the debt capital markets. An inability to refinance or increase existing facilities in the debt markets may mean 

that the Group will not have funds available to maintain or increase its industrial and marketing activities, which 

could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s results of operations and earnings. The Group’s access to 

debt in amounts adequate to finance its activities could be impaired by factors that affect the Group itself or the 

industries or geographies in which it operates. There can be no assurance that additional credit or funding will 

be made available on acceptable terms in the future. 

A reduction in its credit ratings could adversely affect the Group.

The Group’s borrowing costs and access to the debt capital markets, and thus its liquidity, depend significantly 

on its public credit ratings. These ratings are assigned by rating agencies, which may reduce or withdraw their 

ratings or place the Group on “credit watch”, which could have negative implications. A deterioration of the 

Group’s credit ratings could increase its borrowing costs and limit its access to the capital markets, which, in 

turn, could reduce its earnings.

The Group’s counterparties, including customers, suppliers and financial institutions, are also sensitive to the 

risk of a ratings downgrade and may be less likely to engage in transactions with the Group, or may only engage 

at a substantially higher cost or on increased credit enhancement terms (for example, letters of credit, additional 

guarantees or other credit support) which carry increased costs, if the Group’s ratings were downgraded to 

below investment grade. If such an event were to occur, it could have a material adverse effect on its business, 

results of operations, financial condition or prospects.
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Other risks relating to the Group’s business activities

The Group is subject to counterparty credit and performance risk, in particular via its marketing 

activities.

Non-performance by the Group’s suppliers, customers and hedging counterparties may occur and cause losses 

in a range of situations, such as:

 a significant increase in commodity prices could result in suppliers being unwilling to honour their 

contractual commitments to sell commodities to the Group at pre-agreed prices;

 a significant reduction in commodity prices could result in customers being unwilling or unable to 

honour their contractual commitments to purchase commodities from the Group at pre-agreed prices;

 suppliers may take payment in advance from the Group and then find themselves unable to honour their 

delivery obligations due to financial distress or other reasons; and

 hedging counterparties may find themselves unable to honour their contractual commitment due to 

financial distress or other reasons.

In addition, financial assets consisting principally of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, 

receivables and advances, derivative instruments and long-term advances and loans could potentially expose 

the Group to concentrations of credit risk.

The Group is reliant on third parties to source the majority of the commodities purchased by its marketing 

operations. Any disruptions in the supply of product, which may be caused by factors outside the Group’s 

control (such as COVID-19 or the Russia/Ukraine conflict), could adversely affect the Group’s margins. The 

Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely impacted if it is 

unable to continue to source required volumes of commodities from its suppliers on reasonable terms or at all.

The Group seeks to reduce the risk of customer non-performance by requiring credit support from creditworthy 

financial institutions, including making extensive use of credit enhancement products, such as letters of credit, 

bank guarantees or insurance policies, where appropriate, and by imposing limits on open accounts. Whilst 

these limits are believed appropriate based on current levels of perceived risk, there is a possibility that a 

protracted difficult economic environment could negatively impact the quality of these exposures. In addition, 

mark-to-market exposures in relation to hedging contracts are regularly and substantially collateralised 

(primarily with cash) pursuant to margining arrangements in place with such hedge counterparties. However, 

no assurance can be given that the Group’s attempts to reduce the risk of customer non-performance will be 

successful in every instance or that its results of operations will not be adversely affected by the failure of a 

counterparty or counterparties to fulfil their contractual obligations in the future. Such failure could have an 

adverse impact on the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition, including by creating an 

unintended, unmatched commodity price exposure.

The Group’s industrial activities involve a number of development and operating risks and hazards, 

many of which are outside the Group’s control.

The Group’s business is subject to numerous development and operating risks and hazards normally associated 

with natural resource projects, many of which are beyond the Group’s control. These development and operating 

risks and hazards include variations in grade and structure as well as other geological and hydrological problems 

(so that anticipated or stated reserves, resources or mineralised potential may not conform to expectations and 

in particular, may not reflect the reserves and resources which the Group reports), seismic activity, climatic 

conditions such as flooding or drought, metallurgical and other processing problems, IT and technical failures, 

supply chain-related risks, including the risk of unavailability of materials and equipment, interruptions to 

power supplies, industrial actions or disputes, industrial accidents, labour force insufficiencies, disputes or 
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disruptions, unanticipated logistical and transportation constraints, tribal action or political protests, epidemics 

or health emergencies, force majeure factors, sabotage, cost overruns, environmental hazards, fire, explosions, 

vandalism and crime. These risks and hazards could result in damage to, or destruction of, properties or 

production facilities, cause production to be reduced or to cease at those properties or production facilities, 

result in a decrease in the quality of the products, increased costs or delayed supplies, personal injury or death, 

environmental damage, business interruption and legal liability and in actual production differing from 

estimates of production.

The Group’s industrial assets are subject to environmental hazards as a result of the processes and chemicals 

used in traditional extraction, production, storage, disposal and transportation methods. Environmental hazards 

may exist on the Group’s owned or leased properties or at those of the industrial activities in which it holds an 

interest or may be encountered while its products are in transit. The storage of tailings at the Group’s industrial 

assets may present a risk to the environment, property and persons where there remains a risk of leakage from 

or failure of the Group’s tailings dams, as well as theft and vandalism during the operating life of the assets or 

after closure. In addition, the Group conducts oil exploration and drilling activities and also stores and transports 

crude oil and oil products around the world. Damage to exploration or drilling equipment, a vessel carrying oil 

or a facility where it is stored could lead to a spill, causing environmental damage with significant clean-up or 

remediation costs.

The realisation of such operating risks and hazards and the costs associated with them could materially 

adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition, including by requiring 

significant capital and operating expenditures to abate the risk or hazard, restore the Group’s or third-party 

property, compensate third parties for any loss and/or pay fines or damages.

The Group’s industrial activities are exposed to an increase in production costs, including as a result 

of increased energy costs or shortages of equipment, spare parts and labour.

As commodity prices are outside the Group’s control, the competitiveness and sustainable long-term 

profitability of the Group depends significantly on its ability to reduce costs and maintain a broad spectrum of 

low-cost, efficient operations. The high level of fixed costs in its industrial activities makes it difficult for the 

Group to respond quickly to price fluctuations. Because the Group cannot always pass increases in production 

costs on to customers, any increases in input costs will adversely affect the business, results of operations and 

financial condition of the Group.

Costs associated with the operation of the Group’s industrial assets can be broadly categorised into labour costs 

and other operating and infrastructure costs, including power and equipment costs. Production costs are heavily 

influenced by the extent of on-going development required, resource grades, site planning, processing 

technology, logistics, energy and supply costs and the impact of exchange rate fluctuations on costs of 

operations. Over time, resources even at the same asset tend to become more difficult and costly to extract, as 

challenges including working at depth, increasing haulage distances and working with inconsistent or 

chemically complex ores are faced. All of the Group’s industrial assets are, to varying degrees, affected by 

increases in costs for labour and fuel. Unit production costs are also significantly affected by production 

volumes and, therefore, production levels are frequently a key factor in determining the overall cost 

competitiveness of the Group’s industrial activities. In addition, if certain industrial inputs are unavailable at 

any price, the Group may find its production of certain commodities to be involuntarily curtailed, which would 

result in lost revenue and profits, which would adversely affect the results of operations and financial condition 

of the Group.
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The Group’s stated mineral, coal and hydrocarbon reserves, resources and mineralised potential are 

only estimates and the anticipated volumes or grades may not be achieved.

The estimated reserves and resources of the Group should not be interpreted as a statement of the commercial 

viability, potential or profitability of any future operations. No assurance can be given that the anticipated 

quantities and grades will be achieved, that the indicated level of recovery will be realised or that mineral, coal 

and hydrocarbon reserves, resources and mineralised potential can be extracted or processed profitably. Actual 

reserves, resources or mineralised potential may not conform to geological, metallurgical or other expectations, 

and the volume and grade of ore or product recovered may be below the estimated levels. Lower market prices, 

increased production costs, reduced recovery rates and other factors may render the Group’s reserves, resources 

or mineralised potential uneconomical to exploit and may result in a revision of its reserve estimates from time 

to time. Reserve data are not indicative of future results of operations. The Group’s future success depends upon 

conducting successful exploration and development activities or acquiring properties containing economically 

recoverable reserves. If the Group’s actual mineral, coal and hydrocarbon reserves and resources are less than 

current estimates, or if the Group fails to develop its resource base through the realisation of identified or new 

mineral potential, the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Group may be materially 

and adversely affected.

The Group is dependent on its IT, financial, accounting, marketing and other data processing 

information systems to conduct its business.

The increasing reliance on digital technologies in recent years has brought with it a corresponding rise in cyber-

related risks, ranging from the proliferation of ransomware to nation-state activity and the monetisation of 

cybercrime, including the emergence of machine learning and artificial intelligence used in phishing or fraud 

attacks that impersonate senior executives. The Group’s industrial production, operations, environmental 

management, health and safety management, communications, transaction processing and risk management all 

rely on information technologies, while its long supply chains involve third parties that are exposed to the same 

cyber risks. The Group recognises that the increasing convergence of IT and operational technology networks 

will create new risks and demand additional management time and focus. The Group’s software applications 

for areas such as traffic, accounting and finance are primarily based on integrated standard components. The 

Group’s key business processes rely on in-house developed modules and are regularly updated and adapted to 

suit its business needs. All of these applications are primarily managed from its headquarters and are available 

to all the major business locations. A cyber security breach, incident or failure of the Group’s IT systems could 

disrupt its businesses, jeopardise the safety of its employees, result in the exposure of confidential information, 

damage the Group’s reputation and create substantial financial and legal risks for the Group, as well as impact 

the Group’s customers, suppliers and partners. 

Accidents at the Group’s industrial activities, logistics and storage facilities could result in injuries and 

fatalities.

Any accidents or hazardous incidents causing personal injury or death or property or environmental damage at 

or to the Group’s operated assets or surrounding areas may result in significant losses, interruptions in 

production, expensive litigation, imposition of penalties and sanctions or suspension or revocation of permits 

and licences. Risks associated with the Group’s open pit mining operations include flooding of the open pits, 

collapses of the open pit walls and accidents or failures in operation of large equipment for open pit mining and 

material transportation. Risks associated with the Group’s underground mining operations include flooding, 

underground fires and explosions (including those caused by flammable gas), cave-ins or ground falls, 

discharges of gases or toxic chemicals, sinkhole formation and ground subsidence. Risks associated with the 

Group’s oil exploration activities include explosions, spills and potential large-scale environmental pollution. 

Risks associated with the Group’s logistics and storage operations may include the risk of: ruptures and spills 

from crude oil and other product carriers; spillage, leakage or seepage of tailings or other hazardous substances 
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found in storage or disposal facilities; and failure of tailings dams during the operating life of the mines or after 

closure. Injuries to and deaths of workers and contractors at mines and facilities controlled by the Group have 

occurred in the past and may occur in the future. In 2023, there were four occupational fatalities at the Group’s 

managed operations. The occurrence of accidents may adversely impact the Group’s business, results of 

operations and financial condition.

The Group’s reputation in the communities in which it operates could deteriorate.

The continued success of the Group’s existing operations and its future projects are in part dependent upon 

broad support of and a healthy relationship with the respective local communities in which the Group operates. 

If it is perceived that the Group is not respecting or advancing the economic and social progress and safety of 

the local communities, its reputation could be damaged, which could have a negative impact on its ability to 

operate effectively, its ability to secure new resources, its capacity to attract and retain labour and its financial 

performance.

Some of the Group’s current and potential industrial activities are located in or near communities that may 

regard such operations as having a detrimental effect on their safety or environmental, economic or social 

circumstances. The consequences of negative community reaction or allegations of human rights incidents 

could also have a material adverse impact on the cost, profitability, ability to finance or even the viability of an 

operation and the safety and security of the Group’s workforce and assets. Such events could lead to disputes 

with national or local governments or with local communities or any other stakeholders and give rise to material 

reputational damage. If the Group’s operations are delayed or shut down as a result of political and community 

instability, its earnings may be constrained and the long-term value of its business could be adversely impacted. 

Even in cases where no action adverse to the Group is actually taken, the uncertainty associated with such 

political or community instability could negatively impact the perceived value of the Group’s assets and 

industrial investments and, consequently, have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Group.

The maintenance of positive employee and union relations and the ability to attract and retain skilled 

workers is key to the successful operation of the Group.

Some of the Group’s employees (mainly those employees at the Group’s industrial activities), as well as 

employees in non-controlled industrial investments, are represented by labour unions under various collective 

labour agreements. The Group, its subsidiaries or the industrial investments in which it holds an interest may 

not be able to satisfactorily renegotiate their collective labour agreements when they expire and may face 

tougher negotiations or higher wage demands than would be the case for non-unionised labour. In addition, 

existing labour agreements may not prevent a strike or work stoppage at its facilities in the future, and any strike 

or other work stoppage could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and 

financial condition. The Group’s industrial activities have experienced strikes and other labour disputes in the 

past and the Group believes that strikes and other industrial actions will remain a risk to the business for the 

foreseeable future.

The success of the Group’s business is also dependent on its ability to attract and retain highly effective 

marketing and logistics personnel, as well as highly qualified and skilled engineers and other industrial, 

technical and project experts to operate its industrial activities, including in locations experiencing political or 

civil unrest, or in which the Group may be exposed to other hazardous conditions. The Group may not be able 

to attract and retain such qualified personnel, and this could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 

business, results of operations and financial condition.

The Group’s business depends on its ability to retain and attract key employees.

The Group’s success depends on the continued service and performance of its key employees. The loss of 

services of certain key employees, whether to go to a competitor, to start their own business, to retire or for 

other reasons, could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s operations or financial condition. If the Group 
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fails to retain or attract the necessary calibre of employees or if it fails to maintain compensation awards at an 

appropriate level for such employees, the Group’s business, results of operations or financial condition could 

be materially adversely affected.

The success of the Group’s marketing activities depends in part on its ability to identify and take 

advantage of arbitrage opportunities.

Many of the commodity markets in which the Group operates are fragmented and periodically volatile. As a 

result, discrepancies generally arise in respect of the prices at which the commodities can be bought or sold in 

different forms, geographic locations or time periods, taking into account the numerous relevant pricing factors, 

including freight and product quality. These pricing discrepancies can present the Group with arbitrage 

opportunities whereby the Group is able to generate profit by sourcing, transporting, blending, storing or 

otherwise processing the relevant commodities.

Profitability of the Group’s marketing activities is, in large part, dependent on its ability to identify and exploit 

such arbitrage opportunities. A lack of such opportunities, for example, due to a prolonged period of pricing 

stability in a particular market, or an inability to take advantage of such opportunities when they present 

themselves, because of, for example, a shortage of liquidity or an inability to access required logistics, assets 

or other operational constraints, could adversely impact the Group’s business, results of operations and financial 

condition.

The Group’s marketing activities require access to significant amounts of freight, storage, 

infrastructure and logistics support and it is exposed to increases in the costs and availability thereof.

The Group’s marketing activities entail shipments of commodities in large quantities, often by ocean-going 

transport. The Group has a large and diversified fleet of vessels, including longer term charters, the majority of 

which service the Group’s marketing activities business segment, which exposes the Group to fluctuations in 

freight spot rates. In addition, the Group often competes with other producers, purchasers or marketers of 

commodities or other products for limited storage and berthing facilities at ports and freight terminals, which 

can result in delays in loading or unloading the Group’s products and expose the Group to significant delivery 

interruptions. Increases in the costs of freight, storage, infrastructure and logistics support or limitations or 

interruptions in the supply chain (including any disruptions, refusals or inability to supply) which impede the 

Group’s ability to deliver products on time could adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations or 

financial condition. The Group also requires significant storage capacity for its commodities, which it sources 

both through facilities in which the Group holds equity stakes and pursuant to rental agreements providing it 

with access to, among others, oil terminals and tank farms, metal and other warehouses and silos. Any decrease 

in the Group’s ability to access its customary levels of capacity from these storage facilities or an increase in 

the price at which the Group can acquire storage capacity could have an adverse effect on the Group’s business 

by forcing the Group to use storage facilities in less advantageous locations or at prices that make it less 

profitable for the Group to supply its customers.

The Group’s risk management policies and procedures may leave it exposed to unidentified or 

unanticipated risks.

The Group’s marketing activities are exposed to commodity price, foreign exchange, interest rate, counterparty 

(including credit and performance), liquidity, operational, regulatory and other risks. The Group has devoted 

significant resources to developing and implementing policies and procedures to manage these risks and expects 

to continue to do so in the future. Nonetheless, the Group’s policies and procedures to identify, monitor and 

manage risks have not been fully effective in the past and may not be fully effective in the future.

Some of the Group’s methods of monitoring and managing risk are based on historical market behaviour that 

may not be an accurate predictor of future market behaviour. Other risk management methods depend on 
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evaluation of information relating to markets, suppliers, customers and other matters that are publicly available 

or otherwise accessible by the Group. This information may not in all cases be accurate, complete, up to date 

or properly evaluated. Management of operational, legal and regulatory risk requires, among other things, 

policies and procedures to properly record and verify a large number of transactions and events, and these 

policies and procedures may not be fully effective in doing so. Failure to manage all risks associated with the 

Group’s business could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and 

financial condition.

The Group holds some of its industrial assets through non-controlling stakes or joint ventures and 

strategic partnership arrangements.

The Group does not unilaterally control a number of its significant industrial investments. Accordingly, the 

boards of these companies may:

 have economic or business interests or goals that are inconsistent with or are opposed to those of the 

Group;

 exercise veto rights or take shareholders’ decisions so as to block actions that the Group believes to be 

in its best interests and/or in the best interests of all shareholders;

 take action contrary to the Group’s policies or objectives with respect to its investments or commercial 

arrangements; or

 as a result of financial or other difficulties, be unable or unwilling to fulfil their obligations under any 

joint venture or other agreement, such as contributing capital to expansion or maintenance projects.

Where projects and operations are controlled and managed by the Group’s co-investors or where control is 

shared on an equal basis, the Group may provide expertise and advice, but has limited or restricted ability to 

mandate compliance with its policies and/or objectives. Improper management or ineffective policies, 

procedures or controls of a non-controlled entity could adversely affect the business, results of operations and 

financial condition of the relevant investment and, therefore, of the Group.

The Group is exposed to the risk of delays in or failure to develop planned expansions or new projects.

The Group has certain expansion projects for its existing operations and plans for certain new projects, the 

development of which is exposed to a number of risks outside its control, such as technical uncertainties, 

availability of suitable financing, infrastructure constraints, construction delays, cost overruns, insufficient 

labour skills or resources, delays in permitting or other regulatory matters.

Any future upward revisions in estimated project costs, delays in completing planned expansions, cost overruns, 

suspension of current projects or other operational difficulties after commissioning may have a material adverse 

effect on the business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects of the Group, in turn requiring it 

to consider delaying discretionary expenditures, including capital expenditures, or suspending or altering the 

scope of one or more of its development projects.

In addition, there can be no assurance that the Group will be able to effectively manage the risks arising from 

expansion of its operations. The Group’s current systems, procedures and controls may need to be expanded 

and strengthened to support future operations. Any failure of the Group to effectively manage its expansion 

plans or expanded operations could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations, 

financial condition or prospects.

Once complete, the results of these projects could differ materially from those anticipated by the Group and the 

significant capital expenditures related to these projects may not be offset by cash flows or other benefits from 

these projects in the timeframe anticipated or at all.
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The Group is exposed to the risks associated with production curtailment and resumption.

In an effort to avoid over-supplying markets or building up an inventory of unsold products during periods of 

depressed commodity prices, the Group’s policy is to curtail production by closing mines and production 

facilities, placing other mines and production facilities under care and maintenance and deferring or cancelling 

previously planned expansionary capital expenditure. While this practice may contribute to the stabilisation of 

commodity prices and enable the Group to avoid selling products at or below their marginal cost of production, 

it imposes costs both directly, in the form of redundancy payments, equipment removal, security and other 

closing costs and the cost of resuming production or a capital expenditure programme when prices justify such 

renewal, and, indirectly, in the form of revenue forgone, deterioration of assets or the resulting increase in unit 

costs. These costs can adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition or 

prospects.

Given the lead times required to curtail or resume production levels, periods of higher commodity price 

volatility have exacerbated and may in the future exacerbate the adverse effects of changes in production levels, 

which have had and may in the future have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations, 

financial condition or prospects.

The production, processing and product delivery capabilities of the Group’s industrial assets rely on 

their infrastructure being adequate and remaining available.

The mining, drilling, processing, development and exploration activities of the industrial assets in which the 

Group holds an interest depend on adequate infrastructure. Certain of these assets are located in areas that are 

sparsely populated and are difficult to access. Reliable roads, power sources, transport infrastructure and water 

supplies are essential for the conduct of these operations and the availability and cost of these utilities and 

infrastructure affect capital and operating costs and, therefore, the Group’s ability to maintain expected levels 

of production and results of operations. Unusual weather or other natural phenomena, associated with climate 

change or otherwise, sabotage or other interference in the maintenance or provision of such infrastructure could 

impact the development of a project, reduce production volumes, increase extraction or exploration costs or 

delay the transportation of raw materials to the mines and projects and commodities to end customers. 

Furthermore, in some locations where the Group has operations, poor quality infrastructure is endemic. Any 

such issues arising in respect of the infrastructure supporting or on the Group’s sites could have a material 

adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Group’s hedging strategy may not always be effective, does not require all risks to be hedged and 

may leave an exposure to basis risk.

The Group’s marketing activities involve a significant number of purchase and sale transactions across multiple 

commodities. To the extent the Group purchases a commodity from a supplier and does not immediately have 

a matching contract to sell the commodity to a customer, a downturn in the price of the commodity could result 

in losses to the Group. Conversely, to the extent the Group agrees to sell a commodity to a customer and does 

not immediately have a matching contract to acquire the commodity from a supplier, an increase in the price of 

the commodity could result in losses to the Group as it then seeks to acquire the underlying commodity in a 

rising market. In view of the risks in its marketing activities related to commodity price fluctuations and 

potential losses, the Group has a policy, at any given time, of hedging substantially all of its marketing inventory 

not already contracted for sale at pre-determined prices through futures and swap commodity derivative 

contracts, either on commodity exchanges or in the over-the-counter market. Certain of the commodities 

produced and traded by the Group do not have liquid markets where base price risk exposures can be fully 

eliminated using derivative instruments. In the event of disruptions in the commodity exchanges or markets on 

which the Group engages in these hedging transactions, or for commodities where fully effective hedges are 

not available, the Group’s ability to manage commodity price risk may be adversely affected, and this could in 

turn materially adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, there are 
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no traded or bilateral derivative markets for certain commodities that the Group purchases and sells, which 

limits the Group’s ability to fully hedge its exposure to price fluctuations for these commodities. In these 

instances, the Group’s ability to hedge its commodity exposure is limited to forward contracts for the physical 

delivery of a commodity or futures and swap contracts for a different, but seemingly related, commodity. 

Finally, subject to internal risk management, limits and policies, in some cases, the Group takes deliberate 

directional positions without a corresponding opposite directional position in place as part of its marketing 

strategy which has, at certain points in the past, resulted, and may in the future result, in losses. 

The Group relies on certain agreements for the sourcing of commodities and these agreements may be 

terminated or fail to be renewed.

The Group is a party to various agreements with certain of its non-controlled industrial assets for the supply of 

commodities to its marketing business. These agreements are an important source of commodities for the 

Group’s marketing activities and provide certainty of regular supply for the Group. These supply agreements 

range from short-term spot contracts to multiple years in duration and have historically been renewed by the 

Group and the supplier on commercially acceptable terms. However, in general, these companies have no 

obligation to renew their supply agreements. The Group may not be able to compel the relevant company to 

enter into or renew a supply agreement with the Group in cases where the Group does not own 100 per cent. of 

the company or where related party transaction minority shareholder approval requirements apply. The Group 

relies on these agreements to source some of its key commodities and any termination or failure to renew such 

agreements at the end of their terms could have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations 

and financial condition.

The commodities industry is very competitive, and the Group may have difficulty effectively competing 

with other industrial and commodity marketing companies.

The commodities industry is characterised by strong competition. The Group faces intense competition in each 

of its business segments and some of its competitors may, in the future, use their resources to broaden their 

reach into the markets in which the Group operates and therefore compete further against the Group. These 

competitors may also expand and diversify their commodity sourcing, processing or marketing operations, or 

engage in pricing or other financial or operational practices that could increase competitive pressure on the 

Group across each of its business segments. Increased competition may result in losses of market share for the 

Group and could materially adversely affect its business, results of operations and financial condition.

The Group is subject to risks relating to the processing, storage and transportation of its commodities.

The Group’s processing and storage facilities, which include ore processing plants, smelters, refineries, tank 

farms and oil terminals, are subject to risks and hazards, including accidental environmental damage, technical 

failure, vandalism and terrorism, which, if they materialise, could adversely affect the Group’s business, results 

of operations and financial condition. In addition, the Group also depends upon seaborne freight, rail, trucking, 

pipeline, overland conveyor and other systems to deliver its commodities to market. Disruption of these 

transport services due to weather-related problems, key equipment or infrastructure failures, strikes, pandemics, 

cyber-related issues, maritime disaster or other events could temporarily impair the Group’s ability to transport 

its commodities to its customers and thus could adversely affect its operations.

Metal processing plants (ore processing plants, smelters and refineries) are especially vulnerable to 

interruptions, particularly where events cause a stoppage that necessitates a shutdown in operations. Stoppages 

in smelting, even if lasting only a few hours, can cause the contents of furnaces to solidify, resulting in a plant 

closure for a significant period and necessitating expensive repairs, any of which could adversely affect the 

Group’s smelting operations.

Transportation and storage of crude oil and oil products involve significant hazards that could result in fires, 

explosions, spills, maritime disaster and other unexpected or dangerous conditions. The occurrence of any of 
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these events could result in a material adverse effect, either directly or indirectly, through resulting damages, 

claims and awards, remediation costs or negative publicity on the Group’s business.

The vessels the Group uses to transport its products may be exposed to a variety of natural calamities during 

operations, including violent storms, tidal waves and tsunamis. Any of these natural calamities could result in 

the Group’s vessels grounding, sinking or colliding with other vessels or property, or the loss of life. If one of 

the vessels suffers damage, in addition to the potential loss of its cargo, it would need to be repaired, and the 

costs relating to such losses or repairs may not be covered (either in part or in full) by the insurance policies 

that are in place. The costs of such repairs are unpredictable and could be substantial. The loss of earnings while 

the vessels are being repaired and repositioned, and the cost of arranging for alternative transport, as well as the 

actual cost of such repairs, could adversely affect the Group’s business and results of operations. Furthermore, 

the vessels the Group uses to transport its products may be exposed to piracy, terrorist attacks and other events 

beyond its control. These events could result in adverse effects to the Group’s business as a result of seizure of 

its cargoes and disruption to its customers’ or suppliers’ business. While the Group has procured insurance for 

its operations against these types of risks, there can be no assurance that the insurance coverage the Group has 

will be adequate or that its insurers will pay a particular claim. As is the standard for policies of this type, the 

Group’s insurance policies do not, for example, cover risks arising from damage caused by wear and tear to the 

vessels that it owns directly or through joint ventures. In the event of damage to, or the loss of, a vessel or 

vessels and/or their cargoes, a lack of adequate insurance coverage may have a material adverse effect on the 

Group’s business and results of operations and financial condition.

Other risks relating to the Group

The Group may fail to integrate acquisitions or mergers effectively or fail to realise the anticipated 

business growth opportunities or other synergies.

From time to time, the Group considers the acquisition of or merger with complementary businesses or assets 

where the opportunity is presented to do so at attractive prices. For instance, on 14 November 2023, the 

Company announced that it has entered into a binding agreement with Teck for the acquisition of a 77 per cent. 

effective interest in the entirety of Teck’s steelmaking coal business, EVR, for U.S.$6.93 billion in cash, on a 

cash-free debt-free basis, subject to a normalised level of working capital. For further details, see “Operating 

and Financial Review – Recent Developments – Acquisition of the steelmaking coal business of Teck”. This 

acquisition is, and further acquisitions or mergers to be made by the Group may be, subject to various regulatory 

approvals (for example, shareholder or antitrust or foreign investment approvals which may or may not be 

obtained or may be obtained subject to remedies, including the divestment of assets). Business combinations 

entail a number of risks, including ongoing regulatory conditions and obligations, the ability of the Group to 

effectively integrate the businesses acquired with its existing operations and the realisation of anticipated 

synergies, significant one-time write-offs or restructuring charges, unanticipated costs, addressing possible 

differences in business culture, processes, controls, procedures and systems and failing to integrate and motivate 

key employees and/or retain certain individuals during the integration period. The Group may also face 

challenges with redeploying resources in different areas of operations to improve efficiency and minimising the 

diversion of management attention from ongoing business concerns. 

Failure to successfully integrate a business could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, 

financial condition, results of operations or prospects. The Group may also be liable for the past acts, omissions 

or liabilities of companies or businesses it has acquired, which may be unforeseen or greater than anticipated at 

the time of the relevant acquisition. In addition, various factors could impact the estimated synergies for 

potential acquisitions or mergers and have a material adverse impact on the Group’s business, results of 

operations and financial condition.
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Social, economic and other risks in the markets where the Group operates may cause serious 

disruptions to its business.

Through the geographic diversity of its operations, the Group is exposed to risks of political unrest, strikes, war 

and economic and other forms of instability, such as natural disasters, epidemics or health emergencies, such as 

the COVID-19 pandemic, acts of God, terrorist attacks and other events beyond its control that may adversely 

affect local economies, infrastructure and livelihoods. 

These events could result in disruption to the Group’s and its customers’ or suppliers’ businesses and seizure 

of, or damage to, any of their cargoes or assets. Such events could also cause the destruction of key equipment 

and infrastructure (including infrastructure located at or serving the Group’s industrial activities, as well as the 

infrastructure that supports the freight and logistics required by the Group’s marketing operations). These events 

could also result in the partial or complete closure of particular ports or significant sea passages, such as the 

Suez or Panama canals, the Red Sea or the Strait of Hormuz, potentially resulting in higher costs, congestion 

of ports or sea passages, vessel delays or cancellations on some trade routes. Any of these events could adversely 

impact the business and results of operations of the Group. 

The industries in which the Group operates are subject to a wide range of risks as described elsewhere 

in this section, not all of which can be covered, adequately or at all, by its insurance programmes.

The Group has various insurance programmes in place which provide certain coverage for its operations. 

However, the Group’s insurance programmes can only account for some of the risks associated with its 

operations. Suitable coverage at reasonable rates is not always commercially available to cover all material 

risks and even where available, such coverage will never be sufficient to cover all loss and liability to which 

the Group may be exposed. In particular, insurance coverage relating to tailings dams at the Group’s industrial 

assets and the activities and assets of the coal department have become increasingly difficult to insure on a 

commercial basis. The occurrence of a significant adverse event not fully or partially covered by insurance 

could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Group.

Risks and other considerations relating to the Notes

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors.

Each prospective Noteholder must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. 

In particular, each prospective Noteholder should:

 have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and 

risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained in, or incorporated by reference into, this 

Offering Circular or any applicable supplement;

 have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular 

financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall 

investment portfolio;

 have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, 

including where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the prospective 

Noteholder’s local currency;

 understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices 

and financial markets; and

 be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, 

interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.
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There are limitations relating to the optional redemption of the Fixed Rate Notes.

The optional redemption feature of the Fixed Rate Notes is likely to limit their market value. During any period 

when the Issuer may elect to redeem the Fixed Rate Notes, the market value of those Fixed Rate Notes generally 

will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any 

redemption period.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem the Fixed Rate Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest 

rate on such Fixed Rate Notes. At those times, a Noteholder of Fixed Rate Notes generally would not be able 

to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Fixed Rate 

Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Prospective Noteholders of 

Fixed Rate Notes should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

The amount of interest payable on any Floating Rate Notes is set only once per quarterly period based 

on the Benchmark, which rate may fluctuate substantially.

The amount of interest payable on the Floating Rate Notes bears interest at a floating rate determined by 

reference to the secured overnight financing rate (“SOFR”) (the “Benchmark”), plus a spread specified in this 

Offering Circular. The floating rate may be volatile over time, which could result in holders of the Floating Rate 

Notes experiencing a decline in their receipt of interest and could also cause a decline in the market price of the 

Floating Rate Notes. The Group has no control over factors that may affect market rates, including geopolitical 

conditions and economic, financial, political, regulatory, judicial or other events that affect the markets 

generally and that are important in determining the existence, magnitude and longevity of market rate risk. 

Furthermore, historical levels, fluctuations and trends of the Benchmark are not necessarily indicative of future 

levels. Any historical upward or downward trend in the Benchmark is not an indication that the Benchmark is 

more or less likely to increase or decrease at any time during the life of the Floating Rate Notes, and you should 

not take the historical levels of the Benchmark as an indication of its future performance. You should further 

note that, although the actual Benchmark on an interest payment date or at other times during an interest rate 

period (an “Interest Period”) may be higher than the Benchmark on the applicable date on which the interest 

rate is determined for such Interest Period (the “Determination Date”), you will not benefit from the Benchmark 

at any time other than on such Determination Date. As a result, changes in the Benchmark may not result in a 

comparable change in the market value of the Floating Rate Notes.

Reform of SOFR and the regulation or discontinuation of it could adversely affect the value of and 

return on any debt securities based on or linked to SOFR.

SOFR and other indices which are deemed “benchmarks” have been the subject of national, international, and 

other regulatory guidance and reform. These reforms may cause SOFR to perform differently than in the past, 

or to be discontinued, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could 

have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any debt securities based on or linked to SOFR.

Any of the international, national or other proposals for reform or the generally increased regulatory scrutiny 

of SOFR or other reference rates could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating 

in the setting of SOFR and complying with any such regulations or requirements. Such factors may have the 

effect of discouraging market participants from continuing to administer or participate in SOFR, trigger changes 

in the rules or methodologies used in SOFR, or lead to the disappearance of SOFR.

Any consequential changes to SOFR as a result of international, national or other proposals for reform or other 

initiatives or investigations, or any further uncertainty in relation to the timing and manner of implementation 

of such changes could have a material adverse effect on the trading market for, value of and return on any debt 

securities based on or linked to SOFR.
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The administrator of SOFR may make changes that could change the value of SOFR or discontinue 

SOFR and has no obligation to consider your interests in doing so.

The New York Federal Reserve (or its successor), as administrator of SOFR, may make methodological or other 

changes that could change the value of SOFR, including changes related to the method by which SOFR is 

calculated, eligibility criteria applicable to the transactions used to calculate SOFR or the averages or periods 

used to report SOFR. If the way SOFR is calculated is changed, that change may result in a reduction of the 

amount of interest payable on the Floating Rate Notes, which may adversely affect the trading prices and 

marketability of the Floating Rate Notes. In addition, the administrator may alter, discontinue or suspend 

calculation or dissemination of SOFR in its sole discretion and without notice and has no obligation to consider 

your interests in calculating, adjusting, converting, revising or discontinuing SOFR.

Any failure of SOFR to gain market acceptance could adversely affect the value of the Floating Rate 

Notes.

SOFR may fail to gain market acceptance. SOFR was developed for use in certain U.S. dollar derivatives and 

other financial contracts as an alternative to the U.S. dollar London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) in part 

because it is considered to be a good representation of general funding conditions in the overnight U.S. Treasury 

repurchase agreement market. However, as a rate based on transactions secured by U.S. Treasury securities, it 

does not measure bank-specific credit risk and, as a result, is less likely to correlate with the unsecured short-

term funding costs of banks. This may mean that market participants would not consider SOFR to be a suitable 

substitute, replacement or successor for all of the purposes for which U.S. dollar LIBOR historically has been 

used (including, without limitation, as a representation of the unsecured short-term funding costs of banks), 

which may, in turn, lessen market acceptance of SOFR. Any failure of SOFR to gain market acceptance could 

adversely affect the return on the Floating Rate Notes and the price at which you can sell such debt securities.

SOFR may be more volatile than other benchmark or market rates.

Since the initial publication of SOFR, daily changes in the rate have, on occasion, been more volatile than daily 

changes in other benchmark or market rates during corresponding periods. In addition, although changes in 

term SOFR, simple average SOFR and compounded average SOFR for an applicable period (“Compounded 

SOFR”) generally are not expected to be as volatile as changes in SOFR on a daily basis, the return on, value 

of and market for the Floating Rate Notes may fluctuate more than floating rate debt securities with interest 

rates based on less volatile rates.

The interest rate on the Group’s Floating Rate Notes is based on Compounded SOFR and the SOFR 

Index, both of which are relatively new in the marketplace.

The interest rate for each Interest Period on the Floating Rate Notes will be based on Compounded SOFR, 

which will be calculated according to a specific formula described in this Offering Circular using the SOFR 

Index published by the New York Federal Reserve and not by using SOFR published on or in respect of a 

particular date during such Interest Period or an arithmetic average of SOFR during such period. For this and 

other reasons, the interest rate on the Floating Rate Notes during any Interest Period will not necessarily be the 

same as the interest rate on other SOFR-linked investments that use an alternative basis to determine the 

applicable interest rate. Further, if SOFR in respect of a particular date during an Interest Period is negative, its 

contribution to the SOFR Index will be less than one, resulting in a reduction to Compounded SOFR used to 

calculate the interest payable on the Floating Rate Notes on the interest payment date for such Interest Period.

In addition, the New York Federal Reserve only began publishing the SOFR Index on March 2, 2020. 

Accordingly, the use of the SOFR Index or the specific formula for Compounded SOFR used in the Floating 

Rate Notes may not be widely adopted by other market participants, if at all. You should carefully review the 

specific formula for Compounded SOFR used in the “Description of the Notes and Guarantees” before making 

an investment in the Floating Rate Notes. If the market adopts a different calculation method than used in the 
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indenture governing the Floating Rate Notes, that would likely adversely affect the market value of the Floating 

Rate Notes.

Interest payments due on the Floating Rate Notes will only be capable of being determined near the 

end of the relevant Interest Period.

Unless otherwise specified in this Offering Circular, interest payments due on the Floating Rate Notes will be 

determined only near the end of the relevant Interest Period. Therefore, holders of the Floating Rate Notes will 

not know the total amount of interest payable with respect to a particular Interest Period until shortly prior to 

the related interest payment date, and it may be difficult for you to reliably estimate the total amount of interest 

that will be payable on each such interest payment date for the Floating Rate Notes. In addition, some investors 

may be unwilling or unable to trade the Floating Rate Notes without changes to their information technology 

systems, both of which could adversely impact the liquidity and trading price of the Floating Rate Notes.

The SOFR Index may be modified or discontinued, and the Floating Rate Notes may bear interest by 

reference to a rate other than Compounded SOFR, either of which could adversely affect the value of 

the Floating Rate Notes.

The SOFR Index is published by the New York Federal Reserve based on data received by it from sources other 

than us, and the Group has no control over its methods of calculation, publication schedule or rate revision 

practices, or availability of the SOFR Index at any time. There can be no guarantee, particularly given its 

relatively recent introduction, that the SOFR Index will not be discontinued or fundamentally altered in a 

manner that is materially adverse to the interests of investors in the Floating Rate Notes. If the way the SOFR 

Index is calculated, including the way SOFR is calculated, is changed, that change may result in a reduction in 

the amount of interest payable on the Floating Rate Notes and the trading prices of Compounded SOFR. In 

addition, the New York Federal Reserve may withdraw, modify or amend the published SOFR Index or SOFR 

data in its sole discretion and without notice. Unless otherwise specified in this Offering Circular, the interest 

rate on the Floating Rate Notes for any Interest Period will not be adjusted for any modifications or amendments 

to the SOFR Index or SOFR data that the New York Federal Reserve may publish after the interest rate for that 

Interest Period has been determined.

Interest on the Floating Rate Notes will be calculated using a reference rate other than the applicable 

Benchmark if a Benchmark Transition Event occurs.

Upon the occurrence of certain circumstances or events (a “Benchmark Transition Event”), the interest rate on 

the Floating Rate Notes will no longer be determined by reference to SOFR, but instead by reference to a 

different rate or a different Benchmark (a “Benchmark Replacement”). 

The selection of a Benchmark Replacement, and any decisions, determinations or elections made by the Issuer 

or its designee in connection with implementing a Benchmark Replacement with respect to the Floating Rate 

Notes in accordance with the Benchmark transition provisions, including with respect to any further adjustments 

thereto, could adversely affect the rate of interest on the Floating Rate Notes, which could adversely affect the 

return on, value of and market for the Floating Rate Notes. Further, there is no assurance that the characteristics 

of any Benchmark Replacement will be similar to SOFR or that any Benchmark Replacement will produce the 

economic equivalent of SOFR as a reference rate for interest on the Floating Rate Notes.

The Benchmark Replacements are uncertain and may not be a suitable replacement for SOFR.

Unless otherwise specified in this Offering Circular, the terms of the Floating Rate Notes will provide for a 

“waterfall” of alternative rates to be used to determine the rate of interest on the Floating Rate Notes if a 

Benchmark Transition Event occurs. If each such alternative rate is unavailable or indeterminable, the Issuer or 

its designee will determine the Benchmark Replacement that will apply to the Floating Rate Notes. The 
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substitution of a Benchmark Replacement may adversely affect the value of and return on the Floating Rate 

Notes.

In addition, unless otherwise specified in this Offering Circular, the Benchmark transition provisions will 

provide for certain adjustments to be made in determining the Benchmark Replacement to make such 

Benchmark Replacement equivalent to SOFR. However, such adjustments will not necessarily make the 

Benchmark Replacement equivalent to SOFR. In particular, as such adjustments may be one-time in nature, 

they may not be responsive to changes in unsecured bank credit risk or other market conditions on a periodic 

basis.

The rate of interest on the Floating Rate Notes may be determined by reference to a Benchmark 

Replacement even if the applicable Benchmark continues to be published.

Unless otherwise specified in this Offering Circular, a Benchmark Transition Event includes, among other 

things, a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the 

Benchmark announcing that the Benchmark is no longer representative. The rate of interest on the Floating Rate 

Notes may therefore cease to be determined by reference to the Benchmark and instead be determined by 

reference to the Benchmark Replacement, even if the Benchmark continues to be published. Such rate may be 

lower than the Benchmark for so long as the Benchmark continues to be published, and the value of and return 

on the Floating Rate Notes may be adversely affected.

The Issuer or its designee will have authority to make determinations, elections, calculations and 

adjustments that could affect the value of and your return on the Floating Rate Notes.

The Issuer or its designee will make certain determinations, decisions, elections, calculations and adjustments 

with respect to the Floating Rate Notes, including in connection with any Benchmark Transition Event and 

Benchmark Replacement, that may adversely affect the value of and your return on the Floating Rate Notes. In 

particular, if a Benchmark Transition Event occurs with respect to the Floating Rate Notes, the applicable 

Benchmark Replacement will be determined in accordance with the Benchmark transition provisions governing 

the Floating Rate Notes, and the Issuer or its designee can make certain adjustments in connection with the 

implementation of the applicable Benchmark Replacement. Moreover, certain determinations may require the 

exercise of discretion and the making of subjective judgments, such as with respect to the Benchmark 

Replacement or the occurrence or non-occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event. Because the continuation 

of SOFR on the current basis cannot and will not be guaranteed, and because the applicable Benchmark 

Replacement is uncertain, the Issuer or its designee are likely to exercise more discretion in respect of 

calculating interest payable on the Floating Rate Notes than would be the case in the absence of a Benchmark 

Transition Event.

Although the Issuer or its designee will exercise judgment in good faith when performing such functions, 

potential conflicts of interest may exist between the Issuer or its designee and you. Unless otherwise specified 

in this Offering Circular, all determinations, decisions and elections by the Issuer or its designee are in the 

Issuer’s or such designee’s sole discretion and will be conclusive for all purposes and binding on the Issuer and 

holders of the Floating Rate Notes absent manifest error. Further, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in 

the documentation relating to the Floating Rate Notes, and unless otherwise specified in this Offering Circular, 

all determinations, decisions and elections by the Issuer or its designee will become effective without consent 

from the holders of the Floating Rate Notes or any other party. These potentially subjective determinations may 

adversely affect the value of the Floating Rate Notes, the return on the Floating Rate Notes and the price at 

which you can sell the Floating Rate Notes.

The Notes are structurally subordinated to the indebtedness of non-Guarantor subsidiaries.

In the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganisation of a subsidiary of a Guarantor, holders of the 

subsidiary’s indebtedness or preferred stock and the subsidiary’s trade creditors will generally be entitled to 
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payment of their claims from the assets of the subsidiary before any assets are made available for distribution 

to such Guarantor (as a direct or indirect holding company of that subsidiary).

The Notes are effectively subordinated to all secured indebtedness.

The Notes will be effectively subordinated to all of the Group’s existing and future secured indebtedness to the 

extent of the value of the assets securing that indebtedness. In addition, the Group may incur additional 

indebtedness in the future, subject to limitations contained in the instruments governing its existing 

indebtedness. This additional indebtedness may also be secured.

There are limitations in respect of Glencore Schweiz’s and/or GIAG’s liability with respect to its 

obligations under the Guarantee, the Indenture or otherwise in connection with the Notes.

Any guarantee, indemnity or other benefit, as well as any other undertaking contained in any agreement having 

the same or a similar effect, such as, but not limited to, the waiver of set-off or subrogation rights or the 

subordination of intra-group claims, granted by Glencore Schweiz and/or GIAG for their direct and indirect 

parent and sister companies (collectively referred to herein as “Up-stream/Cross-stream Obligations”) are 

subject to certain restrictions and risk being held invalid or partially invalid under Swiss corporate law. 

The ability of Glencore Schweiz and GIAG to assume Up-stream/Cross-stream Obligations is restricted under 

Swiss law insofar as such Up-stream/Cross-stream Obligations must be within the corporate purposes and 

interests of Glencore Schweiz and GIAG and must not result in a repayment of the legally protected reserves 

(gesetzlich geschützte Reserven) or other non-permitted distribution of assets to shareholders, board members 

or other persons close to Glencore Schweiz and/or GIAG. In light of the foregoing, it is standard market practice 

to limit the value of any Up-stream/Cross-stream Obligations assumed by Glencore Schweiz and GIAG (if any) 

to their respective freely distributable equity at the time of enforcement (to the extent that there still is a 

limitation requirement under applicable Swiss law in force at the relevant time). Accordingly, the Guarantees 

and the Indenture include this specific limitation. Freely distributable equity is equal to the maximum amount 

that Glencore Schweiz or GIAG could distribute to its shareholders as a dividend payment under Swiss law at 

such time, which is currently the total shareholder equity less the total of (i) the aggregate share capital and (ii) 

the statutory reserves and any blocking reserves (to the extent such reserves cannot be transferred into 

unrestricted, distributable reserves). The amount of freely distributable equity shall be determined on the basis 

of an audited annual or interim balance sheet of Glencore Schweiz or GIAG (as applicable) prepared as per the 

time when performance of the relevant Up-stream/Cross-stream Obligations (e.g. the Guarantee) by Glencore 

Schweiz and/or GIAG (as applicable) is requested. In addition, the performance of Up-stream/Cross-stream 

Obligations may require further corporate action by Glencore Schweiz or GIAG (as applicable) to be completed 

prior to payment, including, but not limited to, obtaining shareholders’ resolutions and board resolutions 

approving payment. 

Furthermore, the enforcement of Glencore Schweiz and GIAG’s Up-stream/Cross-stream Obligations may give 

rise to Swiss Withholding Taxes (of up to 35 per cent. at current rates, subject to applicable double-taxation 

treaties) to the extent that the payment or enforcement of such Up-stream/Cross-stream Obligations have to be 

regarded as a deemed dividend distribution. Under Swiss law, the obligation to gross-up, indemnify or otherwise 

hold harmless the beneficiaries for the deduction of Swiss Withholding Tax is not valid and, thus, may prejudice 

the enforceability of anything to the contrary contained in the Notes, the Guarantees, the Indenture or any other 

document or agreement. In addition, the obligation to gross-up, indemnify or otherwise hold harmless the 

beneficiaries for the deduction of Swiss Withholding Tax in connection with the performance of Up-

stream/Cross-stream Obligations assumed by Glencore Schweiz or GIAG would in any case be limited by the 

amount of the freely distributable equity of Glencore Schweiz and/or GIAG as set-out above.
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A Noteholder may have difficulty enforcing U.S. bankruptcy laws and its rights as a creditor may be 

limited under the bankruptcy laws of certain jurisdictions.

Under bankruptcy laws in the United States, courts have jurisdiction over a debtor’s property wherever it is 

located, including property situated in other countries. However, courts outside the United States may not 

recognise the U.S. bankruptcy court’s jurisdiction. Accordingly, there may be difficulty administering a U.S. 

bankruptcy case involving the Issuer or a Guarantor, because property is located outside of the United States. 

Any orders or judgments of a bankruptcy court in the United States may not be enforceable against the Issuer 

or a Guarantor with respect to property located outside the United States. Similar difficulties may arise in 

administering bankruptcy cases in foreign jurisdictions.

Under the relevant Indenture governing the Notes, the rights of Citibank, N.A., London Branch, as trustee (the 

“Trustee”) to enforce remedies may be significantly impaired if the Issuer or a Guarantor seeks the benefit of 

the restructuring provisions of applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and other restructuring legislation. For 

example, legislation may contain provisions enabling an “insolvent person” to obtain a stay of proceedings 

against its creditors and others, allowing it to retain possession and administration of its property and to prepare 

and file a proposal or plan of compromise or arrangement for consideration by all or some of its creditors to be 

voted on by the various classes of its creditors. The restructuring plan or proposal, if accepted by the requisite 

majorities of creditors and if approved by the court, would likely result in the compromise or extinguishment 

of a Noteholder’s rights under the Notes and may result in the debtor retaining possession and administration 

of its property notwithstanding that an Event of Default occurred under the Notes.

The powers of the courts in the United States have been exercised broadly to protect a restructuring entity from 

actions taken by creditors and other parties. Accordingly, it cannot be predicted whether payments under the 

Notes would be made following commencement of or during such a proceeding, whether or when the Trustee 

could exercise its rights under the Indenture, whether Noteholder claims could be compromised or extinguished 

under such a proceeding or whether and to what extent holders of the Notes would be compensated for delays 

in payment, if any, or principal and interest.

Investors may find it difficult to enforce U.S. judgments obtained against the Group or any of its 

affiliates.

The Issuer is a company incorporated in Delaware, United States. The Company is a holding company organised 

as a public limited company incorporated in Jersey with business operations conducted through various 

subsidiaries. The other Guarantors are companies incorporated in Switzerland. The majority of the Directors 

and all of the Company’s officers reside outside the United States. The assets of the Issuer and the Guarantors 

are located in various jurisdictions and substantially all of these assets are, and will be, located in jurisdictions 

outside the United States. The directors and key managers of the Issuer and the Guarantors are citizens of 

various countries, and most are not citizens of the United States. All or a substantial portion of the assets of 

such persons are located outside the United States. 

As a result, it may not be possible for investors in the Notes to effect service of process in jurisdictions outside 

the United States against the Issuer, the Guarantors or their respective directors and officers located outside the 

United States or to enforce in such jurisdictions the judgment of a court outside such jurisdictions. It may be 

difficult for investors in the Notes to enforce, in original actions or in actions for enforcement brought in 

jurisdictions located outside the United States, judgments of U.S. courts or civil liabilities predicated upon U.S. 

federal securities laws. Furthermore, it may be difficult for investors in the Notes to enforce judgments of this 

nature in many of jurisdictions in which the Group operates and in which its assets are situated and in the 

countries of which most of the directors and key managers of the Issuer and the Guarantors are citizens.

There is also doubt as to the enforceability in England and Wales, Jersey and/or Switzerland, whether by original 

actions or by seeking to enforce judgments of U.S. courts, of claims based on the federal securities laws of the 
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United States. In addition, punitive damages in actions brought in the United States or elsewhere may be 

unenforceable in England and Wales, Jersey and/or Switzerland.

There may not be an active trading market for the Notes.

The Notes will be new securities for which there currently is no established trading market. No assurance can 

be given that a liquid market will develop for the Notes, that the Notes can be sold at a particular time or that 

the price received on the sale of the Notes will be favourable.

The Notes are subject to restrictions on transfer, which are described under “Transfer Restrictions”. The 

liquidity of any market for the Notes will depend on a number of factors, including:

 the number of Noteholders;

 the Group’s operating performance and financial condition;

 the market for similar securities;

 the interest of securities dealers in making a market for the Notes; and

 prevailing interest rates.

An active market for the Notes may not develop and, if it develops, it may not continue. Illiquidity may have a 

severely adverse effect on the market value of Notes. In addition, the ability of the Initial Purchasers to make a 

market in the Notes may be adversely affected by changes in regulatory requirements applicable to the 

marketing, holding and trading of, and issuing quotations with respect to, the Notes.

The Notes are subject to exchange rate risks and exchange controls.

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes, and the Guarantors will make any payments under the 

Guarantees, in U.S. dollars. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if a Noteholder’s 

financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the “Noteholder’s Currency”) 

other than U.S. dollars. These include a risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes 

due to devaluation of the U.S. dollar or revaluation of the Noteholder’s Currency) and a risk that authorities 

with jurisdiction over the Noteholder’s Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in 

the value of the Noteholder’s Currency relative to the U.S. dollar would decrease:

 the Noteholder’s Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes;

 the Noteholder’s Currency-equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes; and

 the Noteholder’s Currency-equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could 

adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than 

expected, or no interest or principal.

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks.

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes. The ratings may not 

reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above and other 

factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold 

securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time.
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Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments.

The investment activities of certain Noteholders are subject to legal investment laws and regulations or review 

or regulation by certain authorities. Each prospective Noteholder should consult its legal advisers to determine 

whether and to what extent:

 Notes are legal investments for it;

 Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing; and

 other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes.

Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the 

appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The total net proceeds of the Offering, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions, are expected 

to be approximately U.S.$3,983,275,000.

The Group will use the net proceeds of the Offering for general corporate purposes. 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER AND THE GUARANTORS

The Issuer (Glencore Funding LLC)

The Issuer was incorporated as a Delaware limited liability company on 11 March 2004 with registration 

number 06-1551651. The registered office of the Issuer is at 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, Delaware 

19808, United States. The Issuer is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The Issuer’s principal 

business is to issue commercial paper, notes and other debt and to lend the proceeds to the Group.

The Guarantors

Glencore plc

For information regarding the Company, please see “Business” and “Directors and Senior Management”.

The Company is a guarantor of a substantial portion of the Group’s total indebtedness. For further detail, please 

see “Description of Indebtedness”.

Glencore International AG

General

Glencore International AG (“GIAG”) was incorporated in Switzerland under Swiss law on 12 June 1987 as a 

private company limited by shares, and is registered in Switzerland with registration number CHE-106.909.694. 

The registered office of GIAG is at Baarermattstrasse 3, CH-6340 Baar, Switzerland, and its telephone number 

is: +41 41 709 2000.

GIAG is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

GIAG is one of the main operating entities of the Group and the direct or indirect holding entity for many of 

the operating and finance subsidiaries and industrial investments of the Group.

GIAG is a guarantor of a substantial portion of the Group’s total indebtedness. For further detail, please see 

“Description of Indebtedness”.

GIAG’s principal business is to act as one of the main operating companies of the Group, the description and 

activities of which are set out under “Business”. 

Management

As of the date of this Offering Circular, the directors of GIAG and their other principal activities outside of the 

Group were as follows:

Name Position Other Principal Activities

Gary Nagle Chairman None

John Burton Director None

Steven Kalmin Director None

The business address of each of the directors is Baarermattstrasse 3, CH-6340 Baar, Switzerland.

As at the date of this Offering Circular, none of the directors of GIAG has any conflict of interest between their 

duties to GIAG and their private interests and/or other duties. 

Auditors

Deloitte AG, Zurich, Switzerland has been appointed as statutory auditor to GIAG.
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Financial statements

GIAG prepares annual non-consolidated audited financial statements in accordance with Swiss Generally 

Accepted Accounting Principles (“Swiss GAAP”) only.

Financial year

The financial year end of GIAG is 31 December.

Glencore (Schweiz) AG

General

Glencore (Schweiz) AG (“Glencore Schweiz”) was incorporated under the name of Revolution AG in 

Switzerland under Swiss law on 21 December 2001 as a private company limited by shares, and is registered 

in Switzerland with registered number CHE-109.435.971. On 27 February 2002, it was renamed Xstrata 

(Schweiz) AG, and, on 7 November 2013, as part of a general corporate reorganisation following the 

Acquisition, Xstrata (Schweiz) AG was renamed Glencore (Schweiz) AG. The registered office of Glencore 

Schweiz is c/o Glencore International AG, Baarermattstrasse 3, CH-6341 Baar, Switzerland, and its telephone 

number is: +41 41 709 2000.

Glencore Schweiz is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

Glencore Schweiz is the direct or indirect holding entity for the majority of legacy Xstrata entities. While the 

purpose of Glencore Schweiz is mainly to act as a holding company it also participates in financing activities 

and is a guarantor of a substantial portion of the Group’s total indebtedness.

Management

As of the date of this Offering Circular, the directors of Glencore Schweiz and their principal activities outside 

the Group were as follows:

Name Position Other Principal Activities

John Burton Director None

Stephan Huber Chairman None

Martin Häring Director None

Carlos Perezagua Director None

The business address of the directors is Baarermattstrasse 3, CH-6340 Baar, Switzerland.

As at the date of this Offering Circular, none of the directors of Glencore Schweiz has any conflict of interest 

between their duties to Glencore Schweiz and their private interests and/or other duties.

Auditors

Deloitte AG, Zurich, Switzerland is the statutory auditor to Glencore Schweiz. 

Financial statements

Glencore Schweiz prepares annual non-consolidated audited financial statements in accordance with Swiss 

GAAP only.

Financial year

The financial year end of Glencore Schweiz is 31 December.



54

BUSINESS

Overview

The Group is a leading integrated producer and marketer of commodities, with worldwide activities in the 

marketing of metals and minerals, energy products and agricultural products and the production, refinement, 

processing, storage and transport of those products. The Group operates globally, marketing and distributing 

physical commodities sourced from third-party producers and its own production to industrial consumers, such 

as those in the automotive, steel, power generation, battery manufacturing and oil industries. The Group also 

provides financing, logistics and other services to producers and consumers of commodities.

The Group benefits from its scale and diversity. The Group’s portfolio of diversified industrial assets comprises 

66 mining, metallurgical and oil production assets. The Group’s growth prospects are underpinned by a 

significant industrial base, which, in turn, enhances marketing opportunities. The Group produces and markets 

a diverse range of metals and minerals, including copper, cobalt, zinc, nickel and ferroalloys, and also markets 

aluminium/alumina and iron ore from third parties. With regard to energy products, the Group is a large 

producer and marketer of coal, with mines in Australia, South Africa and Colombia, while its oil business is 

one of the leading marketers of crude oil, refined products and natural gas.

Over a period of many years, the Group has built a strong market reputation as a reliable supplier of quality 

products on a timely basis. In doing so, the Group has extensive market knowledge and insight, as well as the 

full logistics capabilities required to generate value-added margins and seek arbitrage potential throughout the 

physical commodity supply chain. The Group’s presence at each stage of the commodity chain provides it with 

superior market insight and access to opportunities. The Group is able to capture value at each stage of the 

commodity chain, including extraction, processing, freight, logistics, technology, storage, marketing, risk 

management and financing.

Historically, the Group has grown both organically and through acquisitions. The Group continues to evaluate 

opportunities on an ongoing basis in relation to its business, including, among others, mergers, acquisitions, 

disposals, joint ventures and off-take arrangements. For instance, on 14 November 2023, the Company 

announced that it has entered into a binding agreement with Teck for the acquisition of a 77 per cent. effective 

interest in the entirety of Teck’s steelmaking coal business, EVR, for U.S.$6.93 billion in cash, on a cash-free 

debt-free basis, subject to a normalised level of working capital. For further details, see “Operating and 

Financial Review – Recent Developments – Acquisition of the steelmaking coal business of Teck”.

The Group’s consolidated revenue for the years ended 31 December 2023, 2022 and 2021 was U.S.$217,829 

million, U.S.$255,984 million and U.S.$203,751million, respectively. Its income for the years ended 31 

December 2023, 2022 and 2021 was U.S.$3,210 million, U.S.$16,511 million and U.S.$4,349 million, 

respectively. The Group’s total assets were U.S.$123,869 million, U.S.$132,583 million and U.S.$127,510 

million as at 31 December 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The Company’s ordinary shares are traded on the London Stock Exchange and the Johannesburg Stock 

Exchange. The Company is a member of the FTSE 100.

The Group’s industrial and marketing investment activities are supported by a global network of offices located 

in over 30 countries throughout Europe, North, Central and South America, Asia, Australia, Africa and the 

Middle East. The Group’s main offices include Baar (Switzerland), New York, London, Beijing, Moscow, 

Toronto, Johannesburg, Sydney and Singapore. This network provides the Group with significant worldwide 

investment origination and sourcing and distribution capabilities.
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The Group’s two business segments, industrial activities (reporting to the Head of Industrial Assets) and 

marketing activities (reporting to the Head of Marketing, being the Group’s CEO), focus on the following 

activities, for both metals and minerals and energy products:

 The industrial activities business segment focuses on controlled and non-controlled industrial assets, 

overall business diversification and investment opportunities, as well as providing a source of physical 

commodities for the Group’s marketing activities business segment. 

 The marketing activities business segment focuses on sourcing a diversified range of physical 

commodities from third-party suppliers and from industrial assets in which the Group has full or part 

ownership interests. These commodities are sold, often with value-added services such as freight, 

insurance, financing and/or storage, to a broad range of consumers and industrial commodity end-users, 

many of whom are long-term customers. 

Each of the industrial activities and marketing activities business segments covers the Group’s main commodity 

divisions: metals and minerals and energy products. The metals and minerals division produces and markets a 

diverse range of metals and minerals, including copper, cobalt, zinc, nickel and ferroalloys, and also markets 

aluminium/alumina and iron ore from third parties. The Group’s activities are underpinned by ownership 

interests in controlled and non-controlled industrial assets such as mining, smelting, refining and warehousing 

operations. The Group’s energy products are primarily coal and oil, and the Group has extensive ownership 

interests in controlled and non-controlled coal mining and oil production operations as well as investments in 

strategic handling, storage and freight equipment and facilities. The Group’s activities related to agricultural 

products are operated through Viterra, a joint venture in which the Group had a 49.9 per cent. ownership interest 

(as at 31 December 2023) and have been reported through the marketing activities business segment within 

“corporate and other” activities. In June 2023, the Company agreed to dispose of its interest in Viterra in a cash-

and-shares transaction with Bunge, with the transaction expected to close in mid-2024, subject to an ongoing 

approval process. See “Business – Viterra.”

History

Glencore’s business commenced in 1974 (previously known as Marc Rich + Co AG) and initially focused on 

the physical marketing of ferrous and non-ferrous metals and minerals and crude oil, and shortly thereafter 

expanded into oil products, later adding coal.

Glencore developed from a purely commodity marketing company into a diversified natural resources group 

through key acquisitions in mining, smelting, refining and processing. Glencore made its first equity investment 

in an industrial asset in 1987, when it acquired 27 per cent. of the Mt. Holly aluminium smelter in the United 

States and acquired its first controlling interest in an industrial asset in 1988, when it acquired a 66.7 per cent. 

interest in a zinc/lead mine in Peru. In 1994, the founder of Glencore sold his stake by way of a management 

buyout. The Company’s shares were listed on the Official List of the FCA, admitted to trading on the London 

Stock Exchange’s market for listed securities and admitted to listing on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in May 

2011. On 2 May 2013, Glencore completed the acquisition of Xstrata.

The Company’s shares were admitted to trading on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange in November 2013. Due 

to low trading volumes, the Company chose to delist its shares from the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in January 

2018.
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Competitive Strengths 

The Group believes that its success has been built upon a unique combination of competitive strengths that have 

enabled it to grow into one of the world’s largest diversified and vertically integrated producers, processors and 

marketers of natural resources. The Group’s key competitive strengths include:

A major supplier of energy and transition metals and solutions that support the pathway to net zero 

industrial emissions

Commodity differentiation is increasingly important and the Group’s commodity mix is becoming less 

dependent on demand generated by infrastructure related investment in developing markets. The Group’s 

business model covers the production, recycling, sourcing, marketing and distribution of the commodities 

needed by its suppliers and customers to decarbonise, while simultaneously reducing the Group’s own 

emissions. The Group is committed to responsible stewardship of declining thermal coal business that is 

consistent with its values and its climate strategy. In particular, the Group targets a 15 per cent. reduction of its 

industrial Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions by the end of 2026 and a 50 per cent. reduction by the end of 2035, each 

compared to a restated 2019 baseline. The Group’s ambition is to achieve net zero industrial Scope 1, 2 and 3 

emissions by the end of 2050, assuming a supportive policy environment.

Portfolio containing large, long-life and low-carbon advantaged commodities

The Group is focusing its portfolio on larger higher-margin, longer-life assets important to the transition to low 

or no carbon energy sources, such as its South African copper assets and projects, African copper and cobalt 

operations, Kazakhstan polymetallic investments, Brazilian bauxite/alumina investments and a Canadian nickel 

life extension project. The Group is a leading producer of key transition metals, including copper, cobalt, nickel, 

zinc and vanadium. In addition to low-carbon advantaged commodities, the Group’s geographies and recycling 

capability supply its marketing business with the products that its customers increasingly need. In line with the 

Group’s decarbonisation commitments, the Group’s coal portfolio will supply critical regional energy needs as 

the transition evolves along a non-linear path over time and geography.

Vertical integration providing capability to supply the sustainable commodities of the future

As markets and demand for carbon solutions in the commodity supply chain evolve and mature, the Group’s 

marketing business is expected to create additional value over time. Being a vertically integrated industrial and 

marketing business, the Group intends to leverage its own carbon reduction efforts and market expertise to 

support the increasing needs for attestable low-carbon products. Being fully integrated provides a competitive 

advantage over most of its marketing peers which are substantially less vertically integrated (both upstream and 

downstream) and are less able to establish the strong supply relationships that the Group enjoys. The Group’s 

presence at each stage of the commodity chain also provides it with market insight and access to opportunities 

as well as with other advantages such as information, technical expertise and local presence. 

Highly resilient and cash generative business model

The Group’s capital allocation framework seeks to balance preservation of capital structure with attractive 

business reinvestment and growth opportunities and shareholder returns. The Group seeks to create value for 

shareholders through partnerships, M&A and brownfield investment. With the expectation that growth drivers 

in the global economy will become weighted towards decarbonisation spending, in addition to the metals 

currently needed for everyday life, the majority of the Group’s commodity portfolio is well placed to benefit 

from this transition. The Group will continue to identify investment opportunities in which value can be created 

through the application of its market knowledge and operational and technical know-how. Similarly, the Group 

evaluates disposals of certain investments from time to time, particularly when they are no longer deemed to 

support core business and/or when attractive selling opportunities arise. The Group believes it is well positioned 

to generate sustainable and growing returns in the transition to a low-carbon economy.
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Strategy 

The Group’s purpose is to responsibly source the commodities that advance everyday life. Its strategic objective 

is to sustainably grow total shareholder return while maintaining a strong investment grade rating and acting as 

a responsible operator. The Group’s key strategic priorities include:

Responsible and ethical production and supply

The Group believes that by maintaining its commitment to operating transparently and responsibly and its 

reputation for doing so, it will be seen by its stakeholders as a partner of choice. It places the highest priority 

on its employees, the environment and local communities where it operates. The Group takes a broad approach 

to employee welfare and takes its health and safety record very seriously, with substantial resources and focus 

committed to this area. The Group has implemented an enhanced fatality reduction programme, including 

focused reviews of underperforming sites, safety interventions where necessary, restructuring of support 

functions and enhanced review processes. The Group has overhauled the “SafeWork” programme, its initiative 

to change attitudes towards safety across the Group, and relaunched it in 2021. 

The Group demands high environmental performance and standards from Its controlled operations and, while 

executing marketing logistics activities, works with its partners and suppliers to seek to ensure similar standards 

are targeted within the supply chain, as well as expected from its non-controlled operations. As one of the 

world’s largest diversified resource companies, the Group recognises the contribution it can make to the global 

effort to achieve the goals of the Paris Agreement by decarbonising its emissions footprint. The Group takes a 

holistic approach by considering its commitments through the lens of its emissions. The Group is committed to 

responsibly managing the decline of its energy portfolio in line with its Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions reductions 

targets, including a 15 per cent. reduction of industrial emissions by the end of 2026, a 25 per cent. reduction 

of industrial emissions by the end of 2030 and a 50 per cent. reduction of industrial emissions by the end of 

2035, each compared to a restated 2019 baseline. The Group also has a long-term ambition of achieving net 

zero industrial emissions by the end of 2050, assuming a supportive policy environment. The Group’s 2030 

target has been introduced as part of its updated Climate Action Transition Plan, which will be put to a 

shareholder advisory vote at the 2024 annual general meeting.

To support the growing needs of a low carbon economy, the Group is committed to an increased focus on the 

production of commodities essential to the energy and mobility transition. The majority of the Group’s planned 

sustaining and expansionary capital expenditure relates to the metals portion of its industrial activities. The 

Group works with global specialists and draws on local expertise within its operational teams to identify value 

accretive abatement opportunities to further reduce its emissions. The Group intends to responsibly steward the 

decline of its thermal coal business as it supports society’s needs through the energy transition. 

Regarding local communities, the Group consults with and invests in the local communities where it operates. 

The Group has adopted an approach of continuous improvement, delivered through its health and safety 

programmes, advancing its environmental performance, respecting human rights and developing, maintaining 

and strengthening its relationships with all stakeholders.

Responsible portfolio management

The Group intends to continue its focus on cost control and operational efficiencies at its controlled industrial 

assets and maintain a focus on the sourcing of competitively priced physical commodities from reliable third-

party suppliers. The Group seeks to increase the value of its business by improving the competitiveness of its 

assets through an ongoing focus on cost management and logistical capabilities, including operating safely and 

efficiently. The Group takes a disciplined approach towards its assets and evaluates opportunities for 

acquisition, development or disposal where assets no longer support core businesses or where another operator 

places greater value on the asset, and production curtailment in response to oversupply. The Group intends to 
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prioritise investment in transition-enabling commodities that support the decarbonisation of energy usage and 

help meet the commodity demands of everyday life, over investment in the Group’s energy fossil fuels portfolio, 

with the majority of that investment, following the acquisition of EVR, being directed to its transition metals 

portfolio. 

The Group intends to continue to seek to manage its financial position around maintaining its investment grade 

credit ratings, healthy levels of liquidity and a suitable capital structure, which should enable it to continue 

accessing bank and international debt capital markets on competitive terms. The Group believes that it is well 

placed to withstand the cyclical nature of the natural resource industry and maintain a flexible balance sheet. 

The Group aims to only deploy capital when strict and clearly defined financial criteria, relating to returns and 

payback, can be met. The Group is committed to maintaining a balance sheet that is capable of supporting 

growth while targeting a maximum net debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio of two times, which it believes is 

consistent with a BBB/Baa credit rating. The Group targets a maximum 2x net debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio, 

augmented by a net debt cap that the Group has recently reduced from U.S.$10 billion to U.S.$5 billion, 

following the announcement of the acquisition of a 77 per cent. interest in EVR, with excess capital periodically 

returned to shareholders. The Group’s net debt at 31 December 2023 was U.S.$4.9 billion, representing a net 

debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio of 0.29x. 

Responsible product use

A low-carbon future requires responsibly produced and sourced low-carbon metals. The Group intends to 

continue to seek opportunities to increase the supply of transition-enabling commodities from its own industrial 

activities and its extensive marketing activities. The Group’s industrial assets provide a consistent source of 

volumes for its marketing operations, which are supplemented by third party production. Its marketing activities 

use their scale and capabilities to extract additional margin throughout the Group’s business model and provide 

a high-quality service to customers and a reliable supply of quality product.

As a vertically integrated industrial and marketing business, the Group seeks to leverage its own carbon 

reduction efforts and market expertise to support the increasing needs for attestable low-carbon products. 

Recognising the need for strategic partnerships between providers of raw material and manufacturers, the Group 

continues to pursue opportunities for long-term supply agreements, including with providers who supply 

products that can help accelerate the energy transition. In 2023, the Group announced an intention to partner 

with FCC Ámbito and Iberdola to provide lithium-ion battery recycling solutions at scale in Spain and Portugal.

The Group will continue to participate in global efforts to improve abatement technologies and resource use 

efficiency by contributing to the circular economy. The Group intends to leverage its value chain to expand the 

volume of recyclable commodities for processing through its global network of metallurgical assets and to 

pursue strategic, long-term agreements to provide a reliable supply of responsibly sourced commodities 

essential to the low-carbon economy.

Industrial Activities

The industrial activities business segment includes the Group’s industrial assets, predominantly mines and 

smelters. The industrial activities are exposed directly to commodity price movements, including transactions 

with the marketing segment. In the year ended 31 December 2023, industrial activities accounted for 

U.S.$13,202 million, or 77 per cent., of the Group’s Adjusted EBITDA. In the year ended 31 December 2022, 

industrial activities accounted for U.S.$27,265 million, or 80.0 per cent., of the Group’s Adjusted EBITDA. In 

the year ended 31 December 2021, industrial activities accounted for U.S.$17,100 million, or 80.2 per cent., of 

the Group’s Adjusted EBITDA. 
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Any decision to acquire or dispose of an industrial asset is based on the stand-alone potential of the asset and 

its potential contribution to the Group’s marketing activities and requires the appropriate level of approval. The 

Group requires its industrial assets to focus primarily on operating performance – costs, project delivery and 

health, safety and environmental performance, which those businesses can largely control and influence, leaving 

the marketing arm to handle marketing and distribution activities as part of an integrated global system.

The Board continues to review the Group’s industrial asset portfolio, project pipeline and planned capital 

expenditure in light of all relevant factors, including market conditions and the Group’s overall financial targets.

Metals and Minerals

The Group’s metals and minerals industrial assets produce commodities including copper, cobalt, zinc, nickel, 

ferroalloys, gold and silver. The Group organises its assets by the principal commodities produced at the asset, 

primarily: copper, zinc, nickel and ferroalloys. While the Group also has aluminium and iron ore departments, 

neither department currently controls producing assets of any scale. The table below shows the Group’s 

production information for all metals and minerals, by commodity for the periods indicated. The production 

information set out below for each department reflects that a given asset may also produce smaller quantities 

of other commodities as by-products.

For the year ended 31 December

Total Production from Own Sources(1) 2021 2022 2023

Copper (kt) .......................................................................  1,195.7 1,058.1 1,010.1

Cobalt (kt) ........................................................................  31.3 43.8 41.3

Zinc (kt) ............................................................................  1,117.8 938.5 918.5

Lead (kt) ...........................................................................  222.3 191.6 182.7

Nickel (kt) ........................................................................  102.3 107.5 97.6

Gold (koz) .........................................................................  809 661 747

Silver (koz) .......................................................................  31,519 23,750 20,011

Ferrochrome (kt) ..............................................................  1,468 1,488 1,162

Note: 

(1) Controlled industrial assets and joint ventures only. Production is on a 100 per cent. basis except for joint ventures, 

where the Group’s attributable share of production is included. 

For more detailed information on the Group’s production, see the Group Production Reports incorporated by 

reference herein. 

Copper

The table below shows the copper department’s principal investments in industrial assets and the Group’s 

ownership interest at 31 December 2023: 

Asset Location Commodities 

Group 

ownership 

interest

Remaining ownership 

interest

African Copper (KCC(1), 

Mutanda) 
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Asset Location Commodities 

Group 

ownership 

interest

Remaining ownership 

interest

KCC  DRC  Copper, Cobalt 75% 25% Gécamines 

Mutanda(2)  DRC  Copper, Cobalt 95% DRC Government 

Chile

Collahuasi  Chile  Copper, Silver 44% 44% Anglo American;

12% Japanese consortium 

headed by Mitsui & Co. Ltd.

Lomas Bayas  Chile  Copper  100% —

Peru

Antamina  Peru  Copper, Zinc, Silver   33.75% 33.75% BHP;

22.5% Teck Resources Ltd.;

10% Mitsubishi Corporation

Antapaccay  Peru  Copper, Gold, Silver  100% —

Notes: 

(1) Text in this section refers as appropriate to the Katanga mining operation and to Katanga’s main operating company, Kamoto Copper 

Company SARL (“KCC”). 

(2) In 2022, 5 per cent. of the equity of Mutanda Mining was transferred to the DRC Government in accordance with the DRC Mining 

Code. For further information, see “Operating and Financial Review—Capital expenditure and contractual 

obligations/contingencies—Future commitments”. 

The table below shows the copper department’s production data for each of its principal commodities for the 

periods indicated:

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

Copper(1) (kt) ....................................................................  1,024.8 917.9 889.9

Cobalt (kt) ........................................................................  27.7 40.2 38.8

Zinc(2) (kt) .........................................................................  153.7 144.3 156.6

Gold (koz) .........................................................................  199 99 138

Silver(1) (koz) ....................................................................  12,390 9,982 9,391

Notes: 

(1) This includes the Group’s pro rata share of Collahuasi production (44 per cent.) and Antamina production (33.75 per 

cent.). 

(2) This includes the Group’s pro rata share of Antamina production (33.75 per cent.). 

The copper department’s copper production in the year ended 31 December 2023 fell 3 per cent. from the year 

ended 31 December 2022, primarily reflecting the sale of Cobar in June 2023. 
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The copper department’s copper production in the year ended 31 December 2022 fell 10 per cent. from the year 

ended 31 December 2021, mainly due to ongoing geotechnical constraints at KCC, the sale of the Ernest Henry 

mine in January 2022 and planned mining sequence changes at Collahuasi.

African Copper

In the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s African copper production was 5 per cent. lower than in the 

year ended 31 December 2022, mainly reflecting lower production at KCC, which nonetheless delivered in line 

with its plan for the year. The Group’s own sourced cobalt production in the year ended 31 December 2023 was 

3 per cent. lower than in the year ended 31 December 2022, reflecting lower grades at Mutanda due to feed plan 

adjustments, partially offset by improved cobalt recoveries at both KCC and Mutanda.

In the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s African copper production was 9 per cent. lower than in the 

year ended 31 December 2021, mainly reflecting KCC’s geotechnical constraints in the open pit, unplanned 

downtime at the acid plant and power instability. The Group’s own sourced cobalt production in the year ended 

31 December 2022 was 45 per cent. higher than in the year ended 31 December 2021, mainly driven by 

Mutanda’s restart.

Over a number of years, the Group has contributed to a power project in which KCC and Mutanda entered into 

an agreement with Société Nationale d’Électricité (“SNEL”), the DRC’s national electricity company, to 

refurbish DRC power generating, transmission and distribution systems. This project facilitated a progressive 

increase in power availability for the operations to a total of 400 MW through the refurbishment of two turbines 

at the Inga dam. Funding for the project was completed in the second quarter of 2021. The investment in this 

project is being repaid through credits on KCC’s and Mutanda’s power costs. 

In December 2019, KCC, entered into an agreement with Gécamines, to acquire from Gécamines a 

comprehensive land package covering areas adjacent to KCC’s existing mining concessions for U.S.$250 

million. The land includes multiple blocks for construction of a new long-term tailings facility and the possible 

exploitation of additional resources that will enhance KCC’s ability to more efficiently operate its mines, 

facilities and other key infrastructure requirements. In August 2020, KCC advanced U.S.$150 million to 

Gécamines as an agreed prepayment of the consideration due. If the closing conditions as prescribed in the 

agreement are not fulfilled, the Group has the right to accrue interest on the prepaid amount, terminate the 

agreement and, if funds are not returned, offset against future amounts owing to Gécamines. The balance of the 

consideration is due five days after the respective closing conditions of each area to be transferred are satisfied. 

During 2023, activities to progress the transfer of these land packages (e.g. removal of tailings and drilling 

activities to confirm resource availability) continued. 

In January 2021, the Group agreed to sell its controlling interest in Mopani to ZCCM Investments Holding plc 

(“ZCCM”) and the sale was completed in March 2021. Mopani has been historically funded by borrowings 

from the Group and U.S.$1.5 billion of debt remained owed by Mopani to the Group at the transaction date, 

which was deemed to have a fair value of U.S.$838 million. The pace and size of repayment instalments are 

linked to Mopani’s future production and copper prices. The Group has retained offtake rights in respect of 

Mopani’s copper production until the debt has been repaid in full. During 2022 and 2023, the originally expected 

production rate at Mopani was not achieved, in part, due to a lack of funding. The new shareholder has 

conducted operational and strategic reviews, resulting in Mopani seeking additional funding and seeking to 

restructure the transaction debt. As a result, a further impairment of U.S.$156 million was recognised during 

the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: U.S.$422 million). As at 31 December 2023, U.S.$421 million of 

debt carrying value has been recorded, of which U.S.$121 million is presented as due after 12 months and 

U.S.$300 million is presented as due within 12 months, included in accounts receivable. The portion due within 

12 months was settled in March 2024.
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In 2022, three mining permits (“permis d’exploitation”) (PE662, PE643 and PE662) were successfully renewed 

by Mutanda for an additional period of 15 years. The renewal of the mining titles triggered the transfer of 5 per 

cent. of the equity of Mutanda Mining to the DRC Government in accordance with the DRC Mining Code.

Americas and Australia

In the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s copper production at Collahuasi was in line with 2022. 

Copper production at Antamina was 7 per cent. lower in line with planned mining sequencing. Other South 

American production in the year ended 31 December 2023 was 7 per cent. higher than in 2022, reflecting higher 

copper grades and recoveries at Antapaccay, partially offset by anticipated delayed metal deliveries to the leach 

pads at Lomas Bayas, with recovery expected in 2024. 

In 2022, the Group’s copper production at Collahuasi was 9 per cent. lower than in 2021 due to expected mining 

sequence changes and Covid-19 related absenteeism. Copper production at Antamina increased by 2 per cent. 

due to higher copper grades. Other South American production in 2022 decreased by 5 per cent. compared to 

2021, reflecting mining sequence planning at Antapaccay, with higher production expected in 2023. The 

Group’s Australian copper production was 56 per cent. lower due to the sale of the Ernest Henry mine in January 

2022. 

In December 2020, the Group disposed of its 50 per cent. interest in Minera Alumbrera Limited, a copper-gold 

operation in Argentina, in return for a non-controlling interest in the nearby Minera Agua Rica Alumbrera 

Limited (the “MARA Project”). Over the following periods, the Group has increased its ownership in the 

MARA Project up to 100 per cent., as set out below. The Group believes that the MARA Project will create 

significant synergies by allowing Alumbrera’s existing infrastructure to be used for processing ore from the 

future open pit mine at Agua Rica. The Group held a 25 per cent. interest in this company as at 31 December 

2021, and in September 2022 it agreed to acquire Newmont Corporation’s (“Newmont’s”) shareholding. 

Following completion of the transaction, at 31 December 2022, the Group owned 43.75 per cent. of the MARA 

Project. Under the terms of the agreement, the Group paid U.S.$124.9 million upon closing and will make a 

U.S.$30 million deferred payment upon the commencement of commercial production, subject to an annual 

interest charge of 6 per cent. Total deferred consideration is capped at U.S.$50 million. In September 2023, the 

Group completed the acquisition of the remaining 56.25 per cent. interest in the MARA Project that it did not 

previously own from Pan American Silver Corp (“Pan American”). The Group paid U.S.$477 million in cash 

upon closing and granted Pan American a copper net smelter return royalty of 0.75 per cent. 

In January 2022, the Group completed the AUD1 billion sale of its 70 per cent. interest in Ernest Henry Mining 

Pty Ltd, the owner of the EHM copper-gold mine in Queensland, Australia, to Evolution Mining Limited. After 

closing adjustments, U.S.$585 million was received with U.S.$139 million received in January 2023. As a 

result, all agreements implementing the economic joint ventures between the Group and Evolution Mining 

Limited entered into on 23 August 2016 have ended and the Group has no further obligation to deliver any gold, 

copper concentrate or other metals under these agreements from 1 January 2022. Evolution Mining Limited 

also assumed all rehabilitation obligations and liabilities and will replace the Group’s rehabilitation bonds. The 

Group will offtake 100 per cent. of the copper concentrate produced at EHM.

On 16 June 2023, the Group completed the sale and purchase of the Group’s 100 per cent. interest in Cobar 

Management Pty Ltd, the owner of the Cobar copper mine in New South Wales, Australia to Metals Acquisition 

Corp. (“MAC”). The Group received U.S.$749 million in cash, after closing adjustment, and U.S.$100 million 

in shares of MAC (20.7 per cent. underlying interest as of 30 June 2023). The transaction also includes: U.S.$75 

million deferred payment to be paid within 12 months; U.S.$150 million payment contingent upon future copper 

prices; and 1.5 per cent. net smelter return royalty over the life of mine. MAC has assumed ownership and full 

operational control of the mine and Glencore has an offtake agreement for 100 per cent. of the copper 

concentrate produced at the mine. Patrice Merrin was a Director of the Company until May 2023 and is also 
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chair of the board of directors of MAC. Ms Merrin holds less than a 1 per cent. voting interest in MAC’s shares. 

MAC is not a related party of the Group within the meaning of the UK Listing Rules, and Ms Merrin did not 

participate in the consideration of the sale by the Board of Directors.

On 7 November 2023, the Group announced that it completed the acquisition of the remaining 18 per cent. 

equity interest in PolyMet Mining Corp. (“PolyMet”) that it did not previously own. PolyMet formed a 50:50 

joint venture with Teck, establishing the New Range Copper Nickel venture in Minnesota, United States.

The Group also has a portfolio of copper development projects. The Group continually reviews its projects and 

planned capital expenditure in light of all relevant factors, including market conditions and the Group’s overall 

financial targets.

Zinc

The table below shows the zinc department’s principal investments in industrial assets and the Group’s 

ownership interest at 31 December 2023: 

Asset Location Commodities 

Group 

ownership 

interest

Remaining ownership 

interest

Kazzinc Kazakhstan Zinc, Lead, Copper, 

Gold, Silver 

69.7% 29.8% Samruk-Kazyna

0.5% privately held

Australia 

Mount Isa and Townsville(1) Australia Zinc, Copper, Gold, 

Lead, Silver 

100% —

McArthur River  Australia  Zinc, Lead, Silver 100% —

North America  

Matagami  Canada  Zinc, Copper 100% —

Kidd  Canada  Zinc, Copper, Silver  100% —

Other Zinc: South America

Volcan  Peru  Zinc, Silver 23.3% 76.7% publicly traded 

Note: 

(1) Mount Isa operations (including Townsville), which were previously recorded under the copper department moved to the zinc 

department. 

The table below shows the zinc department’s production data for each of its principal commodities (excluding 

Volcan) for the periods indicated:

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

Zinc (kt) ............................................................................  964.1 794.2 761.9

Lead (kt) ...........................................................................  222.3 191.6 182.7

Copper (kt) .......................................................................  149.1 120.7 106.5

Gold (koz) .........................................................................  595 546 598
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For the year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

Silver (koz) .......................................................................  18,833 13,573 10,397

The zinc department’s zinc production in the year ended 31 December 2023 fell 4 per cent. compared to the 

year ended 31 December 2022, mainly reflecting the disposals of South American zinc operations and the 

closure of Matagami in 2022, offset by stronger production from Kazzinc.

The zinc department’s zinc production in the year ended 31 December 2022 fell 18 per cent. compared to the 

year ended 31 December 2021, reflecting progressive reduction in the South American portfolio through 

disposals and closures, closure of Matagami and lower volumes from Mount Isa.

In 2021, the Group merged and simplified management of the Mount Isa complex, with the intention of 

developing an integrated polymetallic mine plan and releasing cost savings. Copper and zinc mining and 

processing operations were previously managed and recorded separately, but have been brought together under 

the zinc department.

In October 2021, the Group agreed to sell its interests in Sinchi Wayra and Illapa to Santacruz, for approximately 

U.S.$110 million and a 1.5 per cent. net smelter return royalty over the life of the mines. The transaction closed 

in March 2022. The U.S.$110 million is subject to customary closing adjustments and is structured as 

approximately U.S.$20 million to be paid on completion with the balance of approximately U.S.$90 million 

due over the following four years. In December 2021, the Group sold its 100 per cent. interest in Aguilar, a 

mine in Argentina.

In December 2022, the Group disposed of its interest in Los Quenuales, a zinc-lead-silver mine in Peru, to 

Alpayana S.A for U.S.$10 million. Conditional on completion of the transaction, the Group earlier settled its 

silver streaming arrangement over one of Los Quenuales’ mining properties with Wheaton Precious Metals for 

a payment of U.S.$132 million. 

In the fourth quarter of 2022, the Group commenced the process of disposing its 23.3 per cent. economic interest 

in Volcan, which is ongoing.

The Group also has a portfolio of zinc development projects. The Group continually reviews its projects and 

planned capital expenditure in light of all relevant factors, including market conditions and the Group’s overall 

financial targets.

Custom metallurgical 

The copper and zinc departments operate smelters that process the Group’s own mined production and other 

customers’ feedstocks. The table below shows the principal industrial assets and the Group’s ownership interest 

at 31 December 2023: 

Asset Location Commodities 

Group 

ownership 

interest

Remaining ownership 

interest

Copper 

Altonorte  Chile  Copper anode 100% —

Pasar  Philippines  Copper metal 78.2% 21.8% local investors

Horne  Canada  Copper anode 100% —
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Asset Location Commodities 

Group 

ownership 

interest

Remaining ownership 

interest

CCR  Canada  Copper metal 100% —

Zinc 

Portovesme  Italy  Zinc, Lead, Silver   100% —

Asturiana (San Juan de Nieva)  Spain  Zinc  100% —

Nordenham  Germany  Zinc, Lead  100% —

Britannia Refined Metals 

(Northfleet) 

 United 

Kingdom 

 Lead, Silver  100% —

The table below shows custom metallurgical production data for each of the Group’s principal commodities for 

the periods indicated:

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

Copper metal (kt) .............................................................  490.6 456.9 507.3

Copper anode (kt) .............................................................  454.0 474.9 443.3

Zinc (kt) ............................................................................  800.6 683.0 752.6

Lead (kt) ...........................................................................  244.9 273.4 244.6

In September 2021, the Group acquired the Nordenham Metall lead smelter, which has an annualised capacity 

of approximately 100kt. The smelter is located on a site shared with the Nordenham zinc smelter, also owned 

by the Group.

Other than the additional lead smelting capacity discussed above, smelting capacity has been broadly stable 

over time, with changes mainly reflecting plant shutdowns (“turnarounds”) for major maintenance, which 

typically occur on a two to four-year cycle. 

In March 2023, the Group increased its interest in the CEZ zinc refinery in Canada from 25 per cent. to 100 per 

cent. 

The Group’s copper anode production in the year ended 31 December 2023 was 7 per cent. lower than in the 

year ended 31 December 2022, reflecting maintenance at Altonorte and operational challenges during the post-

shutdown ramp-up. The Group’s copper metal production in the year ended 31 December 2023 was 11 per cent. 

higher than in the year ended 31 December 2022, reflecting increased contributions from Horne and Pasar. Zinc 

production was 10 per cent. higher than in the year ended 31 December 2022, reflecting additional production 

from the CEZ zinc refinery, consolidated from April 2023, and improved performance of Asturiana, offset by 

the suspension of Nordenham in the second half of 2022 due to high European power prices. Lead production 

was 11 per cent. lower, primarily reflecting the lower bullion received at Northfleet from Mount Isa, 

Portovesme’s partial care and maintenance status.

Copper anode production in the year ended 31 December 2022 was 5 per cent. higher than in the year ended 31 

December 2021. Within this, production at Horne was lower due to challenging winter weather and unplanned 

smelter downtime, offset by a strong performance by Altonorte. Copper metal production in the year ended 31 

December 2022 was 7 per cent. lower than in the year ended 31 December 2021, largely due to lower CCR 
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production, resulting from Horne’s lower production output and planned maintenance at Pasar. Zinc production 

was 15 per cent. lower, mainly relating to suspension of Portovesme’s zinc line in the fourth quarter of 2021 

and a full suspension at Nordenham in November 2022, in each case due to high European power prices. 

Portovesme’s waelz-oxide line, which recycles zinc from steel dust, remains operational. Lead production was 

12 per cent. higher, reflecting the contribution of the Nordenham Mettall lead smelter.

Nickel

The table below shows the nickel department’s principal investments in industrial assets and the Group’s 

ownership interest at 31 December 2023: 

Asset Location Commodities 

Group 

ownership 

interest

Remaining ownership 

interest

Integrated Nickel Operations 

(Subdury, Raglan, Nikkelverk) 

 Canada,  

Norway

Nickel, Copper, 

Cobalt, Gold, Silver, 

Platinum, Palladium, 

Rhodium 

100% —

Australia (Murrin)  Australia  Nickel, Cobalt 100% —

Koniambo(1) New 

Caledonia 

Nickel 49% 51% Société Minière du 

Sud Pacifique (SMSP) 

Note: 

(1) The Group has control of Koniambo as a result of the ability to direct the key activities of the operation and to appoint key 

management personnel provided by the terms of the financing arrangements underlying the Koniambo project. On 12 February 2024, 

the Company announced that Koniambo will transition into care and maintenance. See “Operating and Financial Review—Recent 

Developments—Koniambo Nickel to Transition to Care and Maintenance”. 

The table below shows the nickel department’s production data for each of its principal commodities for the 

periods indicated:

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

Nickel (kt) ......................................................................... 102.3 107.5 97.6

Copper (kt) ........................................................................ 21.8 19.5 13.7

Cobalt (kt) ......................................................................... 3.6 3.6 2.5

Gold (koz) .......................................................................... 15 16 11

Silver (koz) ........................................................................ 296 195 223

Platinum (koz) ................................................................... 33 32 24

Palladium (koz) ................................................................. 83 83 65

Rhodium (koz) ................................................................... 4 4 3

The nickel department’s nickel production for the year ended 31 December 2023 fell 9 per cent. from the year 

ended 31 December 2022, primarily reflecting higher Integrated Nickel Operations third-party production 
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(compared to own sourced) and a planned shutdown of Murrin Murrin for routine maintenance, partially offset 

by a more consistent production performance from Koniambo.

The nickel department’s nickel production for the year ended 31 December 2022 rose 5 per cent. from the year 

ended 31 December 2021, mainly reflecting Koniambo operating both production lines in 2022 and Murrin’s 

stable operations compared to a multi-week shutdown for scheduled maintenance in 2021, partially offset by 

lower production at Integrated Nickel Operations due to industrial action in Canada and Norway. 

Ferroalloys

The table below shows the ferroalloys department’s principal investments in industrial assets and the Group’s 

ownership interest at 31 December 2023: 

Asset Location Commodities 

Group 

ownership 

interest

Remaining ownership 

interest

Glencore Merafe Chrome Venture(1) South Africa  Ferrochrome 79.5% 20.5% Merafe Resources 

Limited

Rhovan Pooling and Sharing Joint 

Venture(2)

 South Africa  Vanadium Pentoxide  74% 26% Bakwena-Ba-Mogopa

Notes: 

(1) In addition to the 79.5 per cent. ownership interest in Glencore Merafe Chrome Venture, the Group has a 29 per cent. interest in 

Merafe Resources Limited. 

(2) Consolidated 100 per cent. 

The table below shows the ferroalloys department’s production data for each of its principal commodities for 

the periods indicated:

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

Ferrochrome(1) (kt) ...........................................................  1,468 1,488 1,162

Vanadium Pentoxide (mlb) ...............................................  20.5 19.8 19.5

Note: 

(1) The Group’s attributable 79.5 per cent. share of the Glencore Merafe Chrome Venture. 

The ferroalloys department’s ferrochrome production in the year ended 31 December 2023 was 22 per cent. 

lower than the year ended 31 December 2022, mainly due to planned additional smelter downtime during the 

three-month winter season, a period of high electricity demand and elevated power prices. 

The ferroalloys department’s ferrochrome production in the year ended 31 December 2022 was in line with 

production in the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Group is one of the world’s largest and lowest cost integrated ferrochrome producers and one of the largest 

producers of primary vanadium. The Group also owns carbon operations which supply key raw materials to its 

ferrochrome smelting operations. The Glencore Merafe Chrome Venture manages five chrome mines and 
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associated chromite ore processing plants, and five smelter complexes (including Lydenburg, currently on care 

and maintenance).

The Group’s ferrochrome smelting operations require large amounts of electrical energy, and is supplied with 

electricity by Eskom, the South African national electricity utility rather than having captive power assets. 

Certain of the Group’s smelters have electrical-energy efficient proprietary technology, which positions them 

lower on the cost curve. During any periods of tight supply, the Group participates in Eskom’s Demand 

Management Programmes to manage and control the impact of restricted electricity supplies on its operations. 

Along with its joint venture partner, the Group has developed a manganese mine in South Africa with first ore 

delivered in 2021.

Aluminium/Alumina

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a 46.0 per cent. economic interest (comprising voting and non-voting 

interests) in Century Aluminum, a company listed on the NASDAQ with aluminium smelting operations 

principally in the U.S. and Iceland. The Group does not have control of Century Aluminum, which is accounted 

for as an associate. 

In April 2023, the Company announced that it reached a binding agreement with Norsk Hydro ASA (“Hydro”) 

to acquire a 30 per cent. equity stake in Alunorte S.A. (“Alunorte”) and a 45 per cent. equity stake in Mineracão 

Rio do Norte S.A. (“MRN”). These acquisitions closed on 1 December 2023. The Group acquired these non-

controlling stakes for a combined payment on completion, including earn-in and other adjustments, of U.S.$677 

million. The effective date of the transaction was 30 June 2023 and it includes certain post-closing adjustments 

based on the performance of Alunorte over a 21-month period from 30 June 2023. 

On completion of the transactions:

 the Group became party to the Alunorte joint venture with Hydro and the other minority shareholders; 

and

 the Group became party to the MRN joint venture with the other existing shareholders, being South32 

and Rio Tinto.

The Group will not be the operator of either asset, and it will have offtake rights for the life of the mine in 

respect of its pro rata share of the production from both Alunorte and MRN. Most of the bauxite purchased by 

Glencore from MRN will be supplied to Alunorte. In addition to the supply of MRN bauxite by Glencore, 

Alunorte currently purchases approximately 70 per cent. of its bauxite requirements from Paragominas, a 

bauxite mine wholly owned by Hydro.

Iron ore

The Group has interests in certain undeveloped projects in Mauritania and the Republic of Congo (Brazzaville). 

The Group continues to review these projects and planned capital expenditures in consideration of relevant 

factors, including market conditions and the Group’s overall financial targets.

Energy Products

The Group’s energy products industrial assets include extensive ownership interests in controlled and non-

controlled coal mining and oil production operations, primarily relating to thermal coal, coking coal, crude oil 

and oil products. The Group has organised its assets into two departments: coal and oil. The total production 

information for each department is provided in the discussion below. For more detailed information on the 

production of these assets, see the Group Production Report incorporated by reference herein.
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Coal

The table below shows the coal department’s principal investments in operating industrial assets and the 

Group’s ownership interest at 31 December 2023: 

Asset Location Commodities 

Group 

ownership 

interest

Remaining ownership 

interest

Australia coking coal

Oaky Creek Australia Coking coal 55% 25% Sumitomo

20% Itochu

Newlands  Australia  Coking coal 100% —

Collinsville  Australia  Coking coal 100% —

Integra Australia Semi-hard coking 

coal 

100% —

Hail Creek Australia Coking & thermal 

coal 

84.7% 12.0% Marubeni

3.3% Sumitomo

Australia thermal coal and semi-

soft coking coal

Bulga complex Australia Thermal coal & semi-

soft coking coal 

87.5% 12.5% Nippon Steel 

Corporation

Liddell  Australia  Thermal coal  67.5% 32.5% Mitsui Matsushima

Mount Owen complex Australia Thermal coal & semi-

soft coking coal 

100% —

Ulan  Australia  Thermal coal 100% —

Ravensworth North Australia Thermal & semi-soft 

coking coal 

100% —

Mangoola  Australia  Thermal coal 100% —

Newlands  Australia  Thermal coal 100% —

Collinsville  Australia  Thermal coal 100% —

Rolleston  Australia  Thermal coal 100% —

Hunter Valley Operations  Australia  Thermal coal 49% 51% Yancoal

South Africa thermal coal

Tweefontein South Africa Thermal coal 79.8% 20.2% African Rainbow 

Minerals

iMpunzi South Africa Thermal coal 79.8% 20.2% African Rainbow 

Minerals

Goedgevonden South Africa Thermal coal 74.0% 26.0% African Rainbow 

Minerals

Umcebo(1)  South Africa  Coal 48.7% 51.3% Phembani Group

Prodeco (Colombia) thermal coal

Prodeco  Colombia  Coal 100% —

Cerrejón (Colombia) thermal coal

Cerrejón(2)  Colombia  Thermal coal 100% —
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Notes: 

(1) Although the Group holds less than 50 per cent. of the voting rights, it has the ability to exercise control over Umcebo Mining (Pty) 

Ltd as a result of shareholder agreements that give the Group the ability to control the board of directors.  

(2) Following notices from BHP and Anglo American offering to sell their entire shares in the Cerrejón mine in Colombia and following 

the receipt of the relevant regulatory approvals, the Group completed the acquisition of their respective 33.3 per cent. interests in 

January 2022 as further described below. The transaction had an economic effective date of 31 December 2020.  

The table below shows the coal department’s production data for the periods indicated:

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

Coal(1) (mt) .......................................................................  103.3 110.0 113.6

Note: 

(1) This reflects the Group’s pro rata share of Cerrejón production in 2021 (33.3 per cent.). For the years ended 31 

December 2022 and 2023, Cerrejón production was fully consolidated within the Group’s production results. 

The Group’s coal production in the year ended 31 December 2023 was 3 per cent. higher than in the year ended 

31 December 2022, reflecting higher productivity in South Africa and a year-over-year easing in certain external 

factors that constrain capacity, such as wet weather and blockades.

The Group’s coal production in the year ended 31 December 2022 was 6 per cent. higher than in the year ended 

31 December 2021, mainly reflecting higher attributable production from Cerrejón, following the acquisition 

in January 2022 of the remaining two-thirds interest that the Group did not already own. On a like-for-like basis, 

overall Group production declined by 7 per cent., primarily due to wet weather challenges and an extended 

community blockade in Colombia.

Following notices from the Group’s joint venture partners, BHP and Anglo American, offering to sell their entire 

shares in the Cerrejón mine in Colombia, and following the receipt of the relevant regulatory approvals, the 

Group completed the acquisition of their combined interests totalling 66.67 per cent. in January 2022. The 

transactions had an economic effective date of 31 December 2020, with an aggregate purchase consideration of 

U.S.$588 million. After taking into account the dividends generated by 2021 operating cashflows, together with 

certain other adjustments, the Group paid U.S.$100 million on completion. Production volumes (and associated 

scope 3 emissions) are expected to decline materially from 2030, with mining concessions expiring 

progressively up to 2034. This is consistent with the Group’s commitment to a responsible managed decline of 

its coal portfolio. Consolidating control of Cerrejón neither increases nor decreases its absolute greenhouse gas 

emissions over the life of mine. 

On 4 February 2021, the Group announced that Prodeco would commence the process of handing its mining 

contracts back to the Republic of Colombia through the National Mining Agency. On 6 September 2021, the 

National Mining Agency formally notified the Group that it accepted the relinquishment of Prodeco’s key 

mining contracts. The mines will remain on care and maintenance until the formal process of relinquishing the 

contracts is complete. The port will continue to operate in line with its obligations as a public service port. 

Prodeco’s key priority is its workforce and local communities. Prodeco will engage with its employees, 

contractors and host communities on the impact of relinquishing the mining contracts. Prodeco has re-

commenced a voluntary redundancy programme which significantly exceeds the statutory requirements under 
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Colombian law. This process will also be supported by a social transition programme for the workforce and the 

communities surrounding Prodeco’s operations.

The Newlands coal mine in Queensland, Australia ceased production in February 2023. The Liddell coal mine 

in NSW, Australia ceased production in the second half of 2023. 

The Group has acquired minority partners’ interests in some operating coal mines in recent years:

 In July 2021, the Group acquired ENEOS Corporation’s interest in the Bulga complex in Australia, 

bringing its ownership to 85.9 per cent. at 31 December 2021. A follow-on transaction with JFE Shoji 

then increased the Group’s ownership interest to 87.5 per cent. at 31 December 2022. 

 The Group increased its interest in the Rolleston coal mine from 75 per cent. to 100 per cent. ownership 

in 2021 via two separate transactions with the respective minority partners.

 In 2022, the Group increased its interest in the Ravensworth North coal mine from 90 per cent. to 100 

per cent.

The Group also has a portfolio of coal development projects in Australia, South Africa and the Americas. The 

Group has reviewed its projects and planned capital expenditure and will continue to do so in light of all relevant 

factors, including market conditions, the Group’s stated positions on climate change.

Oil

The table below shows the oil department’s principal investments in industrial assets and the Group’s ownership 

interest at 31 December 2023:

Asset Location Commodities 

Group 

ownership 

interest

Remaining ownership 

interest

Exploration and Production 

Equatorial Guinea 

Block I Equatorial 

Guinea 

Oil, condensate and 

gas 

23.75% 38% Noble Energy Inc.;

27.55% Atlas Petroleum 

International Ltd.;

5.7% Gunvor Resources 

Limited;

5% Compañía Nacional De 

Petróleos de Guinea 

Ecuatorial (“GEPetrol”)

Block O Equatorial 

Guinea  

Oil, condensate and 

gas 

25% 45% Noble Energy Inc.;

30% GEPetrol 

Cameroon 

Bolongo Cameroon Oil, condensate and 

gas 

37.5% 37.5% Perenco

25% SNH 

Oil refining

South Africa

Astron Energy South Africa South 

Africa 

Oil products 72.0% 23% OTS 56

5% Astron Employee Share 

Trust
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The table below shows the oil department’s production data for the periods indicated on the basis of the Group’s 

entitlement interest:

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

Oil (kboe) .........................................................................  5,274 6,131 4,743

The Group’s oil production in the year ended 31 December 2023 was 23 per cent. lower than in the year ended 

31 December 2023, due to natural field decline at Bolongo in Cameroon and the reduction of the Group’s 

entitlement percentage share in the Alen gas project in Equatorial Guinea, following the recovery of historical 

costs under a production sharing contract. 

The Group’s oil production in the year ended 31 December 2022 was 16 per cent. higher than in the year ended 

31 December 2021, reflecting a full year of production from the Alen gas project in Equatorial Guinea, 

following its commencement in March 2021.

The Group has a 25 per cent. equity interest in OAO NK Russneft (“Russneft”) which it agreed in December 

2021 to sell, conditional on receipt of certain regulatory approvals. The timing of completion is uncertain. No 

share of Russneft’s earnings was recognised subsequent to the agreement to sell.

On 2 July 2020, an incident occurred at the oil refinery operated by Astron Energy during the process to restart 

the refinery following a lengthy scheduled maintenance shutdown. Two employees died in the incident and 

certain plant infrastructure at the platformer unit was extensively damaged. Astron Energy holds property 

damage and business interruption insurance. The oil refinery restarted safely in January 2023 following its 

repair and upgrade. 

On 17 December 2021, the Group completed the disposal of its 100 per cent. interest in Chemoil Terminals 

LLC, which owns the Long Beach and Carson oil products storage terminals in California, for consideration of 

U.S.$248 million. 

In June 2022, Glencore disposed of its Chad upstream oil operations to Perenco S.A. for U.S.$197 million, of 

which U.S.$17 million was due on closing and U.S.$180 million is due through a price and production 

participation arrangement payable annually. Since the operations were on care and maintenance at the time, 

there was no production from the Chad fields in 2021 or 2022.

Marketing Activities 

The marketing activities business segment includes the marketing and distribution of physical commodities 

sourced from third-party producers and the Group’s own production to industrial consumers. In the year ended 

31 December 2023, marketing activities accounted for U.S.$3,900 million, or 23 per cent., of the Group’s 

Adjusted EBITDA. In the year ended 31 December 2022, marketing activities accounted for U.S.$6,795 

million, or 20.0 per cent., of the Group’s Adjusted EBITDA. In the year ended 31 December 2021, marketing 

activities accounted for U.S.$4,223 million, or 19.8 per cent., of the Group’s Adjusted EBITDA. 

The Group’s marketing activities source a diversified range of physical commodities from third-party suppliers 

and from industrial assets in which the Group has full or part ownership interests. These commodities are sold, 

often with value-added services such as freight, insurance, financing and/or storage, to a broad range of 

consumers and industrial commodity end users, with many of whom the Group has long-term commercial 

relationships. As a marketer, the Group is able to differentiate itself from other production entities as, in addition 

to focusing on minimising costs and maximising operational efficiencies, the Group focuses on maximising 
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returns from the entire supply chain, taking into account its extensive and global third-party supply base, its 

logistics, risk management and working capital financing capabilities, its extensive market insight, business 

optionality, extensive customer base, strong market position and penetration in most commodities and its 

economies of scale. In contrast, this is not the business model of the Group’s industrial competitors, which are 

generally not set up to exploit the full range of value-added margin and arbitrage opportunities which exist 

throughout the commodity supply chain.

Many of the physical commodity markets in which the Group operates are geographically dispersed, fragmented 

and/or periodically volatile. Discrepancies often arise in respect of the prices at which the commodities can be 

bought or sold in different geographic locations or time periods, taking into account the numerous relevant 

pricing factors, including freight and product quality. These pricing discrepancies can present the Group with 

arbitrage opportunities whereby the Group is able to generate profit by sourcing, transporting, blending, storing 

or otherwise processing the relevant commodities. While the strategies used by the Group’s business segments 

to generate such margin vary from commodity to commodity, the main arbitrage strategies can be described 

generally as being:

 Geographic: where the Group leverages its relationships and production, processing and logistical 

capabilities in order to source physical commodities from one location and deliver them to another 

location where such commodities can command a higher price (net of transport and/or other transaction 

costs);

 Product-related: where it is possible to exploit the blending or multi-use characteristics of the particular 

commodities being marketed, such as the various crude oil products, coal or concentrates, in order to 

supply products that attract higher prices than their base constituents, or exploit existing and/or expected 

price differentials; or

 Time-related: where it is possible to exploit a difference between the price of a commodity to be 

delivered at a future date and the price of a commodity to be delivered immediately, where the available 

storage, financing and other related costs until the future date are less than the forward pricing difference.

The Group uses market information made available by its industrial and marketing teams across its many 

locations to identify arbitrage opportunities. The Group’s marketing and investment activities and relationships 

with producers and consumers of raw materials are supported by a global network of offices providing sourcing 

and distribution capabilities located in over 30 countries throughout Europe, North, Central and South America, 

Asia, Australia, Africa and the Middle East. This network provides the Group with visibility over shifting supply 

and demand dynamics in respect of significant volumes of physical commodities across the globe. The detailed 

information from the Group’s widespread operations and close relationships with producers, consumers and 

logistics providers is available to the Group’s marketing operations and often enables them to identify 

opportunities, taking into account the Group’s extensive logistics capabilities, to source and supply physical 

commodities at attractive margins.

The Group’s logistics operations are a key part of its marketing operations as they enable the Group to fulfil its 

marketing obligations and to maximise arbitrage opportunities created by demand and supply imbalances. 

Physical sourcing and marketing of commodities requires highly professional handling and shipment of such 

goods from the supplier to the customer, including storage activities, as required. Typically, the staff handling 

the physical movement of goods (the “traffic team”) account for a significant proportion of the marketing 

headcount of a business segment. The Group’s dedicated chartering teams actively trade freight to gain market 

knowledge and volume benefits. The freight element of transactions is furthermore used to maintain maximum 

physical optionality so that full value can be extracted from the underlying commodity positions of each 

division, thereby complementing the Group’s overall ability to seize geographic and time spread arbitrage 

opportunities as they arise.



74

Metals and Minerals

The marketing activities business segment is involved in the marketing and processing of metals and minerals, 

including zinc, copper, lead, nickel, cobalt, alumina, primary aluminium, bulk ferroalloys (including 

ferrochrome and chrome ore, ferromanganese, silicon manganese, manganese ore and ferrosilicon), noble 

ferroalloys (vanadium and molybdenum products) and iron ore, as well some gold, silver, tin and other by-

products such as sulphuric acid. Each metals and minerals commodity department has a global presence, sources 

commodities from key producing regions and has relationships with consumers in the key consuming countries.

The business benefits via supply from an extensive and geographically diverse portfolio of industrial assets. 

Supply agreements with third parties, combined with supply from industrial assets, enhance the Group’s 

reputation as a reliable supplier, which is important for customers who are reliant on both timeliness and quality 

of supply for the continuation of their operations.

Across the metals and minerals market, there is a diversified and geographically dispersed customer base. For 

the copper and zinc departments, this includes galvanisers, alloy producers, steel and brass mills, rod and wire 

producers and other fabricators. The customer base for the aluminium/alumina commodity department includes 

many of the world’s major alumina consumers and aluminium consuming industrial groups in the construction, 

packaging, transport and electronics industries. For the nickel, ferroalloys and iron ore commodity departments, 

large multinational European, American and Asian businesses across the transportation, carbon, stainless steel 

and other special steel industries make up a large part of the customer base. The main end uses for cobalt are 

currently rechargeable batteries, including those for electric vehicles, and super-alloys. The concentrate markets 

for these commodities have fewer customers (smelters) than the refined metals market. Diversification is larger 

for customers than for suppliers, reflecting a greater number of end users for metals and concentrates relative 

to the number of mines, smelters and refineries which produce them. 

Contracts for the commodities marketed by the metals and minerals division are both spot and long-term, with 

prices negotiated based on prevailing market prices. Long-term contracts are usually one to three years in 

duration, with pricing terms either linked to industry publication or London Metals Exchange (“LME”) prices 

or negotiated on a periodic basis having regard to prevailing market conditions. 

The physical metal trades are generally based on an exchange price plus or minus a premium or discount. A 

highly liquid paper futures market exists for zinc, copper, lead and nickel metals, which are traded on the LME 

(zinc, copper, lead and nickel), the Shanghai Futures Exchange (“SHFE”) (copper and zinc) and the Commodity 

Exchange division of the New York Mercantile Exchange (“COMEX”) (copper). Silver and gold are traded on 

the London Bullion Market Association and the COMEX. These exchanges allow the Group’s underlying 

commodity price exposures on physical transactions to be hedged, whether the price is based on an exchange 

price or a fixed price. If desired, and subject to Group risk limits and policies, they also allow the Group to gain 

exposure to price risk and spread positions through the use of long and short paper transactions, and to take 

advantage of arbitrage opportunities. Concentrates are non-fungible products and, consequently, are not directly 

tradable on an exchange. The Group hedges physical concentrate positions using future contracts for the 

estimated payable metal contained in the concentrate.

Alumina can only be stored for limited time periods in optimum conditions in order to maintain levels of quality. 

There is no derivatives exchange for alumina, which restricts the ability to hedge. As such, the Group is unable 

to adjust its position through a deliverable paper market and the great majority of near-term alumina forward 

purchase and sale contracts are physically matched. Historically, a level of basis risk arose as alumina refineries 

would typically sell on the basis of alumina index pricing from certain publications, while aluminium smelters 

would purchase on a percentage of the LME aluminium price. While such risk has not been eliminated, sales 

and purchase contracts have recently been closer matched in duration (spot or up to maximum one year) and 

there has been a mix on both sides of index and percentage pricing. Where possible and desired, the Group 
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hedges its exposure by contracting on a back-to-back basis or, in respect of existing contracts that are priced by 

reference to the LME aluminium prices, taking hedges against LME aluminium prices.

Primary aluminium is mainly traded on the LME, allowing paper and physical marketing contracts to be entered 

into with reference to a market price. Aluminium is also traded on the SHFE. This allows positions to be hedged 

and marked to market, as well as providing a purchaser of last resort. The LME provides information on forward 

curves, as well as a standardised contract that determines purity levels, delivery dates, weights and forms of the 

metal. Almost all of the Group’s physical aluminium transactions are priced based on the LME price plus/minus 

a premium/discount. These are usually hedged when originated or priced. The existence of the LME allows the 

Group to enter into immediate and effective price risk hedges against its positions in physical aluminium. The 

existence and use of LME approved warehouses allow marketers to manage supply and store the metal while 

they lock in future prices on the LME. If desired, and subject to Group risk limits and policies, it also allows 

the Group to gain exposure to price risk and spread positions through the use of long and short paper 

transactions.

Marketing operations for cobalt, ferroalloys and iron ore principally involve marketing these commodities 

through physical, as opposed to paper, transactions. While the LME launched trading platforms for cobalt and 

molybdenum as long ago as 2010, volumes are currently low, and these exchanges are therefore still relatively 

illiquid and, as a result, there is limited possibility of achieving effective paper hedging through a metals 

exchange. However, the Group has developed and offers financial products, such as cash-settled swaps, for 

cobalt and molybdenum as a means of managing the risk in respect of its physical exposures in these 

commodities. The Group is able to hedge its iron ore price risk through futures contracts on the Singapore 

Exchange Ltd. and the Dalian Commodity Exchange in China. 

Although important, the freight component of final price is not as critical for metals as for bulk dry cargoes 

(e.g. coal, grains and iron ore) and oil. Freight relating to the commodities marketed is generally chartered 

through third-party freight brokers on competitive terms, taking into account the Group’s scale of activities, 

both on the spot market and through the longer-term contracts of affreightment.

Energy Products

The Group markets energy products such as coal, coke, crude oil, LNG, power, carbon credits and oil products 

(such as fuel oil, heating oil, gasoline, naphtha, jet fuel, diesel and liquefied petroleum gas). These marketing 

activities also include the Group’s investments in strategic handling, storage and freight equipment and 

facilities. The Group’s energy products are marketed primarily through the Group’s offices in London, Baar, 

New York and Singapore, with key support from a number of other locations, including Beijing, Moscow and 

Jakarta, in order to take advantage of geographical opportunities. The global teams operate in an integrated 

manner.

Coal

The coal commodity department is involved in the production and marketing of coal and coking coal products. 

The marketing activities are supported by the Group’s large industrial asset portfolio, which provides access to 

both supply and market information. The Group markets thermal coal and coking coal either on a principal 

basis, where it takes ownership of the thermal coal and coking coal, or on an agency/advisory basis, pursuant 

to a marketing agreement.

The main sources of the Group’s principal thermal coal purchases are the coal mining companies in South 

Africa, Russia, Australia, Colombia, the U.S. and Indonesia, accounting for most of the strategically important 

producing regions. The Group’s diversified supply base allows it to better manage the changing and dynamic 

nature of thermal coal and coking coal demand and supply. 
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The Group supplies thermal coal and coking coal to a diverse geographic and industrial customer base, 

including major utilities in Germany, Morocco, Hong Kong, China, India, Japan, Malaysia, Taiwan, South 

Korea and Vietnam. The Group also sells thermal coal and coking coal to major cement producers, steel mills, 

chemical plants and other industrial users throughout the world.

While traditionally thermal coal and coking coal has been sold on a physical bilateral basis, without a supporting 

commodity exchange, in recent years, a sizeable thermal coal and coking coal paper derivatives market has 

developed, providing a spot and forward market for certain standard thermal coal and coking coal specifications. 

The Group is able to transact in these markets in order to manage risks in relation to its physical supply of 

thermal coal and coking coal products.

The Group’s thermal coal and coking coal operations employ a specialist freight team located in Baar and 

Singapore. This team uses its considerable immersion in the seaborne bulk freight market to source competitive 

freight from third-party owners and carriers. Freight services are also supplied to third parties and are often 

sourced via joint venture agreements to enhance volume and gain timely market information in relation to 

industry trade patterns and rate developments.

The timing of procuring freight for own sourced thermal coal and coking coal operations is dictated primarily 

by physical thermal coal and coking coal sales activities, but also by global freight market dynamics at a point 

in time and/or forward expectations. Furthermore, geographic and time spreads are taken in order to allow the 

thermal coal and coking coal team to fully arbitrage relative value opportunities between the various origins 

and destinations of the underlying commodity. Maximum flexibility and optionality are thus sought to be 

maintained at all times. The operation manages freight from a combination of voyage and time charter-based 

contracts, spot market bookings and derivative contracts which are primarily used to hedge physical freight 

exposure inherent in the overall position.

Oil

The oil commodity department comprises marketing operations in crude oil, refined products, power, carbon 

credits and freight, supported by access to a wide range of logistics, storage and industrial assets investments. 

Crude oil represents the most significant product supplied by physical volume. Oil products primarily include 

mid-distillates, gasoline, residuals, naphtha, liquid petroleum gas, natural gas and liquefied natural gas 

(“LNG”).

The Group sources crude oil and oil products from a variety of supplier types. Its diverse supplier base includes 

the major integrated oil companies, national oil companies (“NOCs”), independent oil companies, other 

marketing companies and refineries. 

There is a high degree of overlap between the crude oil and oil products customer and supplier base, particularly 

in respect of the major integrated oil companies.

The Group’s significant customers are the major integrated oil companies such as ExxonMobil, Shell, BP and 

Total, as well as NOCs such as Indian Oil Corporation Ltd, China National Petroleum Corporation and China 

National Offshore Oil Corporation. In addition to the major integrated oil companies and NOCs, crude oil and 

oil products are sold to a diverse customer base, including oil refineries, petrochemical producers, wholesalers 

and distributors, international trading houses and major utilities. While the percentage of term contracts is 

relatively small, this is largely consistent with the structure of the oil market, and spot contracts are primarily 

with customers with whom relationships have been established and developed over a long time and are therefore 

considered similar in nature to term contracts due to their expected renewal. 

The marketing operations principally involve physical sourcing, storage, blending and distribution of oil. Paper 

transactions are also entered into for the purposes of hedging and/or taking or increasing exposures, within 

Group limits and policies, where a physically backed position exists. The availability of liquid electronic trading 
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markets, covering the majority of the products marketed by the crude oil and oil products operations, enables 

marketers to hedge their physical oil activities, as well as provide profit enhancing opportunities in relation to 

physical marketing strategies.

The Group’s crude oil and oil products operations source their freight requirements through arrangements with 

the Group’s internal oil freight desk, as well as from external spot vessel hires.

The Group acquired the LNG business of Ørsted A/S on 1 December 2020. The acquisition involved the Group 

taking over a number of contracts, including the right to use 3 billion cubic metres of LNG regasification 

capacity at the Gate terminal in Rotterdam annually until 2031, as well as a number of LNG supply contracts.

Competitors

The Group believes that physical commodity marketing is a volume-driven business requiring highly 

professional risk management, substantial financial resources, market knowledge and product and logistical 

expertise. The Group believes that it is one of the most diversified and globally active physical commodity 

sourcing and marketing companies. The Group believes that the majority of its competitors tend to focus on a 

specific commodity group or geographic area, or concentrate more heavily on commodity-related industrial 

activities such as mining, drilling, smelting, processing and refining. There are generally three types of 

companies active in physical commodity marketing, which compete with the Group, indirectly or directly, in 

certain markets. These include:

 large participants active in specific commodity segments, such as Cargill in agricultural products and 

Vitol Group in oil;

 captive marketing vehicles of major oil and metals producers and processors, such as Total, BP and BHP 

(though these companies are less focused on third-party marketing than the Group); and

 other marketing companies whose operations are more limited to particular commodities and/or to 

geographic areas.

The Group’s competitors for copper, zinc and lead marketing include Trafigura and certain large financial 

institutions, which trade zinc, copper and lead as part of their core businesses but do not have significant 

production assets. The Group’s competitors for alumina and aluminium marketing transact significant volumes 

of their own production. Production utilised by the aluminium smelters and downstream facilities of integrated 

companies such as Rio Tinto plc, Alcoa Inc. and Norsk Hydro ASA are significant. The majority of the Group’s 

competitors for bulk products, ferroalloys, nickel and cobalt marketing compete primarily in upstream 

production, although some also have significant end product capabilities.

The Group’s competitors in coal marketing are either producers which largely market their own product and 

have less geographic market depth and visibility, for example BHP or Anglo American, or companies that have 

relatively little production capacity and focus mainly on less integrated trading and/or consumer activities, or 

power/utility companies.

The Group’s main competitors in oil marketing are Vitol, Trafigura and Mercuria. These companies have 

ownership in infrastructure assets; but in the cases of Trafigura and Mercuria, little, if any, upstream production. 

Volumes captured by oil majors such as BP and Shell are also in direct competition with the Group’s marketing 

volumes, although their participation in the market increases overall volume and liquidity.

Viterra

Viterra (formerly Glencore Agri) is a global agricultural product handling and logistics company connecting 

major exporting countries to regions with supply deficit. The Group had a 49.9 per cent. ownership interest in 
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Viterra (as at 31 December 2023). On 13 June 2023, the Company announced that the Company, the Canada 

Pension Plan Investment Board and British Columbia Investment Management Corporation, the shareholders 

of Viterra, concluded an agreement with Bunge to merge Bunge and Viterra in a cash and stock transaction to 

create a premier diversified global agribusiness solutions company. Under the terms of the agreement, the 

Company will receive approximately U.S.$3.1 billion in Bunge stock (based on Bunge’s stock price at 30 June 

2023) and U.S.$1.0 billion in cash for its approximately 50 per cent. stake in Viterra resulting in Glencore then 

holding approximately 15 per cent. in the combined group. The merger, subject to satisfaction of customary 

closing conditions, including receipt of regulatory approvals and approval by Bunge shareholders, is expected 

to close in mid-2024. 

The carrying amount of the 49.9 per cent. investment in Viterra as at 31 December 2023 was classified as an 

asset held for sale. Due to Viterra’s classification as such, and with cash flows expected to arise principally from 

sale rather than continuing use, the Group no longer accounts for its share of Viterra’s income. However, for 

segmental reporting purposes, and for internal reporting, Viterra continues to be accounted for as an equity 

accounted associate and reconciled accordingly to the Group’s statutory disclosures.

Viterra’s origination and marketing activities focus on the following commodities: grains, oils/oilseeds, cotton 

and sugar. These activities are supported by investments in controlled and non-controlled storage, handling, 

processing and port facilities in strategic locations. Viterra’s recently completed Gavilon acquisition (which 

primarily provides US market presence) yields further benefits of scale and synergy opportunities. 

Viterra participates across the global food supply chain, from origination to processing, storage and handling 

and marketing activities. 

The suppliers to Viterra are producers, farming cooperatives, processing plants, local exporters and global 

merchants. Viterra does not have long-term supply contracts with global merchants but does occasionally 

transact with them on a spot basis. The supply base is very diverse and fragmented. Viterra generally enters into 

seasonal commitments to buy agricultural products from farmers and distributes them through its international 

network. 

Viterra’s customers are the processing industry (food, consumer goods and animal feed), local importers, 

government purchasing entities and competing global merchants. Contracts with customers in the food industry 

are negotiated bilaterally on a case-by-case basis, while contracts with governmental purchase bodies are 

usually tendered. Viterra does not enter into long-term contracts with these customers.

Liquid derivatives markets exist for the majority of the key commodities that the business markets, such as 

wheat, corn, soy oil, rapeseed, sugar and cotton; for example, CBOT (Chicago), MATIF (Paris), NYMEX 

(New York) and ICE (New York). These key commodities may be used as proxies for other products which the 

business markets, such as barley and sunflower oil, in respect of which a liquid derivatives market does not 

currently exist, and Viterra is accordingly able to hedge, albeit synthetically, the risk on these physical 

commodities’ positions using such proxy forward agreements and exchange traded futures.

Access to or ownership of processing assets enables Viterra to take advantage of the various price differentials 

for agricultural commodities. Processing assets are located in the Americas and Europe and mainly comprise 

oil seed crushing facilities, wheat mills, biodiesel production facilities and sugar cane mills.

Physical flows of product are shipped via trucks, trains and vessels. Logistical planning and chartering of dry-

bulk seaborne trade are performed in-house by a freight desk which provides initial quotes for the freight 

associated with each shipment. The in-house freight desk trades and hedges freight and shipping capacity 

positions for both the division’s dry-bulk shipping needs and for third parties. Viterra’s logistical assets include 

in-land and port elevators, silos and wagons. 
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Viterra has three categories of competitor: large multinational merchants (Cargill, ADM, Bunge and Louis 

Dreyfus Group), smaller, more regionally focused merchants and local companies with a single country focus, 

primarily in Russia, Ukraine, Argentina, Canada, Australia and Brazil.

Russia/Ukraine Conflict

While the majority of Viterra’s business is located outside Russia and Ukraine, Viterra has operations in those 

countries. Its operations in Ukraine have been interrupted by the Russia/Ukraine conflict that commenced in 

February 2022 and a continuation of the conflict may have a material adverse effect on them. Viterra decided 

not to continue its origination and export programmes out of Russia after 1 July 2023 and is assessing options 

to transfer its business and assets in Russia to new owners.. Any new development and expansion projects in 

the region have been suspended. As the situation is highly complex and any impact on Viterra remains uncertain, 

no reasonable estimate of its financial effect can be made at the current time. 

Corporate Functions

Organisation

The business segments described above report to management at the corporate level and are supported by the 

finance, legal, risk, IT, human resources and compliance departments. 

The Group’s finance department is headed by the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) based at the Group’s head 

office in Baar. Finance and accounting staff in each principal location (including Baar, New York, London, 

Beijing, Moscow, Toronto, Johannesburg, Sydney and Singapore) handle the day-to-day finance and accounting 

tasks related to the business activities conducted out of that location. The proximity of local finance and 

accounting staff to the Group’s industrial, marketing and logistics activities is important in order to ensure 

prompt and professional handling of the finance and accounting activities related to that specific commodity. 

The head office finance staff handle (i) funding activities based on the Group’s corporate credit, such as 

syndicated loan facilities and debt capital market transactions, (ii) coordination of the worldwide treasury, 

hedging and credit and exposure management activities, (iii) presentation of the Group’s financial statements 

to investors and rating agencies, (iv) relationships with its investors and with rating agencies and (v) assets and 

liabilities management of its consolidated balance sheet and compliance with covenants, if any. The head office 

accounting staff, together with personnel in certain key locations, are responsible for (a) financial accounting, 

including the preparation of the financial statements of the legal entities, (b) preparation of the Group’s 

consolidated financial statements, (c) management information related to the performance of each business 

segment, (d) reporting throughout the entire Group, (e) tax issues and (f) the worldwide relationship with its 

independent auditors.

The Group has a centralised legal department in the Group’s head office in Baar that sets the legal approach for 

the Group, monitors the Group’s overall legal function and provides legal services to the Group’s head office 

in Baar and various other offices and operations that do not have local legal personnel. There are some smaller 

legal teams that support specific business activities and offices, such as the freight and oil legal team in London. 

In addition, most of the larger Group operations have dedicated local legal personnel. The Group’s centralised 

legal department assists the Group in monitoring its overall liability profile associated with legal and regulatory 

matters, including liabilities that may be associated with the Group’s historical activities.

Office network

Relationships with producers and consumers of raw materials are the responsibility of senior employees who 

receive support from the Group’s global network of offices in more than 30 countries. These offices are located 

in major American, European, Asian, Australian, African and Middle Eastern natural resources producing and 

consuming markets. 
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Employees

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 156,000 employees and contractors worldwide.

Health and safety, environment, community and human rights 

The Group’s approach to sustainability reflects its purpose to responsibly source the commodities that advance 

everyday life. The Group establishes and progresses good and consistent business practices and standards 

through its health, safety, environment, social performance and human rights (“HSEC&HR”) strategy, policies 

and procedures. Being a responsible operator, the Group strives to build a reputation for doing things the right 

way.

The Group’s sustainability approach sets out its ambitions against four core pillars: 

 Health – becoming a leader in protecting and improving the wellness of the Group’s people and 

communities; 

 Safety – becoming a leader in safety and create a workplace free from fatalities and injuries; 

 Environment – becoming a leader in environmental performance; and 

 Social performance and human rights – fostering socio-economic resilient communities and respect 

human rights everywhere the Group operates.

Each pillar has clearly defined strategic imperatives, objectives, policies, priority areas and targets. The Group 

reviews its sustainability approach annually to confirm that it continues to fulfil the needs of the business.

Governance of the Group sustainability strategy and framework rests with the Board HSEC&HR Committee, 

which formulates and recommends policies on these issues as they affect the Group’s operations. The Group’s 

senior management team, including the CEO and commodity business heads, are responsible for overseeing the 

implementation of the Group’s HSEC&HR strategy. 

The Group’s industrial assets, as well as marketing and logistics activities, are subject to a range of HSEC&HR 

laws and regulations. For its operations, the Group has HSEC&HR policies and management programmes in 

place to manage and ensure compliance, as well as to track and improve overall performance with the applicable 

local and international HSEC&HR laws and regulations. These measures are also used to identify deficiencies 

by providing appropriate information and specialist advice to determine appropriate corrective actions.

The Group’s HSEC&HR policies and management systems are embedded into the Group’s sustainability 

framework. The Group’s sustainability principles, guidance and policies are integrated throughout the business 

and give guidance on the standards the Group expects. Pursuant to this framework, the Group has published a 

Group Code of Conduct and Values (the “Code of Conduct”), providing a consistent set of principles that govern 

the actions, attitudes and decisions of Group employees and emphasising the Group’s values of safety, integrity, 

responsibility, openness, simplicity and entrepreneurialism. The Group also has an assurance plan, which is 

reviewed and approved annually by the Board, focusing on risks that have been identified via the Group’s 

catastrophic hazard management process. Assurance involves assessments carried out by subject matter experts 

against international best practices, with corrective action taken when appropriate and regular progress reports 

made to the Board.

In practice, the Group’s sustainability framework adds non-financial aspects to internal corporate reporting 

requirements, covering performance on societal, environmental and compliance indicators. Depending on the 

report subject matter, the Group may require annual, quarterly or monthly internal reporting or, for critical 

incidents, reporting within 24 hours. The Group also makes annual public sustainability reports, which align 



81

with the Global Reporting Initiative’s reporting requirements, which aims to create conditions for the 

transparent and reliable exchange of sustainability information.

The Group seeks to ensure, where possible, that customers, suppliers, agents, service providers and contractors 

maintain business practices and procedures which meet the Group’s performance and behavioural expectations, 

consistent with the Group’s sustainability strategy and Code of Conduct. The Group also uses its influence to 

raise awareness and consideration of the basic principles within its joint ventures and entities in which it has 

non-controlling stakes.

Where the Group’s sustainability framework applies, employees are required to understand and comply with 

the principles of the Code of Conduct. The Group’s managers are responsible for ensuring compliance, carrying 

out periodic assessments, management reviews and reviews of corrective action plans. The Group applies 

appropriate controls, scaled for different levels of materiality in different areas of the Group, and regularly 

benchmarks its achievements against targets and expectations, taking corrective action where necessary.

Health and safety

In line with its values, the Group’s first priority in the workplace is to protect the health and wellbeing of all its 

workforce and bring about continuous improvement in the prevention of occupational disease and injuries. The 

Group takes a proactive, preventative approach towards health and safety, and believes that all fatalities, injuries 

and occupational diseases are preventable.

The Group requires an effective safety management system at each industrial asset to assure the integrity of its 

plants, equipment, structures, processes and proactive systems, as well as the monitoring and review of critical 

controls. The Group’s operations have developed, implemented and maintained health and safety management 

systems and programmes which meet international standards and applicable regulatory requirements. These are 

tailored to the specific needs of the Group’s operations and activities. Performance is regularly monitored by 

tracking injuries, lost days, fatalities, near-miss events and various other indicators. This information is used as 

the basis for continuous improvement programmes, training and improvement of the integrity and safety of 

workplaces, as well as mobile or stationary equipment. 

The Group’s SafeWork framework supports changing attitudes towards safety and bringing about long-term 

sustainable change that promotes the elimination of fatalities and serious injuries. The initiative’s aim is to 

provide everyone within the Group’s business with the knowledge and tools to perform every task safely. In 

2021, SafeWork was relaunched as part of the Group’s fatality reduction programme.

The Group’s occupational health management strategy addresses the health risks facing the workforce, their 

families and the communities where the Groups operates. The Group uses a variety of onsite programmes to 

manage occupational diseases and exposure to health hazards and extends many of these health programmes to 

host communities to combat regional health issues and promote healthy lifestyles. 

The Group is also focused on catastrophic hazards, which are those that could result in a catastrophic event with 

consequences across the HSEC&HR pillars, and include those relating to safety, process safety, human rights, 

environment and tailings. Catastrophic events that take place in the natural resource sector can have disastrous 

impacts on workers, communities, the environment and corporate reputation, as well as having substantial 

financial cost.

The Group recognises the exceptional nature of catastrophic events, and has developed specific programmes to 

actively identify, monitor and mitigate catastrophic hazards within the business, such as risks associated with 

the management of tailings storage facilities. In this instance, Tailings Storage Facilities Policy requires the 

control of these hazards at all times. The Group ensures that those who might be directly exposed have 

appropriate awareness of such hazards, along with other legitimate stakeholders.
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The Group reviews its catastrophic risks to understand whether they are adequately controlled. The Group 

requires its assets to put in place appropriate management and mitigation measures. Assurance on catastrophic 

hazards is developed in line with the Group-wide catastrophic hazard programme. The Board receives and 

reviews all assurance findings.

The Group targets zero major or catastrophic environmental incidents, which was achieved in 2023.

Environmental impact

The Group’s operations are geographically widespread and extremely diverse in nature, including prospecting, 

production, reclamation, processing, storage, transportation and marketing of natural resources. This means that 

the potential environmental impact of the Group’s operations is complex and specific to different commodity 

groups or production sites.

The Group is aware of the increasing regulatory pressure and societal demand for a low emission economy to 

address the global climate change situation and is integrating this into existing resource efficiency programmes 

at its operations. 

The Group complies with applicable laws, regulations and other requirements for environmental management. 

In order to manage and limit the environmental impact of its controlled extractive activities, the Group has 

environmental management systems which are used to monitor environmental aspects of its operations. The 

Group’s controlled extractive assets carry out internal and external environmental audits from time to time.

The Group also looks to promote environmental awareness in its non-controlled industrial activities and works 

in partnership with its customers, suppliers and service providers to limit the overall environmental impact 

along the entire supply chain. The Group furthermore acknowledges that managing the environmental 

compliance and impact of the Group’s operations is a dynamic process as the international and local regulatory 

environment is changing regularly.

The measures implemented by national and intra-national governments, as well as public sentiment, are likely 

to drive public policy developments and programmes that restrict global GHG emissions. These measures are 

likely to affect the Group’s business and present both risks and opportunities for the Group. The transition to a 

low carbon economy and associated regulatory developments may affect the development or maintenance of 

the Group’s industrial assets due to restrictions in operating permits, licenses or similar authorisations. The 

Group plays an active and constructive role in public policy development on carbon and energy issues and 

supports a pragmatic and practical global approach that prioritises a low-cost, logical transition towards lower 

global emissions. 

The Group is a significant energy consumer and its use of fuel and power is a key input and cost to its business 

as well as being a material source of its carbon emissions. As a global patchwork of energy and climate change 

regulation evolves, the Group monitors international and national developments and has incorporated both 

energy costs and its emissions into its annual planning process. The Group’s commodity departments are 

required to provide energy and GHG emissions forecasts for each industrial asset over the forward budget period 

and provide details of any mitigation projects that may reduce emissions, including identifying and developing 

renewable energy generation opportunities. 

Assessing climate change-related risks is part of the Group’s risk management and strategy development 

processes. Effective and strategic management of climate change-related risks and opportunities across all 

aspects of its business is vital to its continued ability to operate. The Group integrates risk management 

throughout its business using a structured risk management process that establishes a common methodology for 

identifying, assessing, treating and monitoring risks. In 2021, 2022 and 2023, the Group released reports 

describing its progress in implementing its climate transition action plan. The Group targets a 15 per cent. 

reduction of its industrial Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions by the end of 2026, a 25 per cent. reduction of industrial 



83

Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions by the end of 2030 and a 50 per cent. reduction of its industrial Scope 1, 2 and 3 

emissions by the end of 2035, each compared to a 2019 baseline, which was restated in 2022 to account for 

material acquisitions and other changes, in accordance with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol. The Group’s 2030 

target has been introduced as part of its updated Climate Action Transition Plan, which will be put to a 

shareholder advisory vote at the 2024 annual general meeting. Post 2035, the Group’s long-term ambition is to 

achieve net zero industrial emissions by the end of 2050, assuming a supportive policy environment. The Group 

plans to achieve this by investing in its metals portfolio, limiting its existing coal production and supporting 

deployment of low emission technologies.

In line with its strategy, the Group has progressed the identification of carbon abatement opportunities across 

the portfolio and significantly expanded its Marginal Abatement Cost Curve to include more than 14 million 

tonnes of potential Scope 1 and 2 abatement initiatives. These potential initiatives range from renewable power 

purchases and on-site renewable power generation through to energy storage systems, operational efficiency 

initiatives and electrification. In addition, the Group has taken steps to grow its global recycling footprint and 

advance the circularity of transition-enabling commodities, through new partnerships and investments to 

expand its recycling capabilities. The Group’s carbon abatement initiatives have also advanced, with the 

environmental impact statement for a key carbon capture, utilisation and storage project progressing to public 

consultation. The Group plans to responsibly deplete its energy industrial assets over time, including the 

intended cessation of mining at at least 12 coal mines during the period between 2019 and 2035.

Communities and human rights

The Group recognises that mining can have an impact, both positive and negative, on the rights of workers and 

communities. The Group is also aware of the need to ensure unencumbered fair and transparent access to 

remedies for any stakeholder affected by its operations. 

The Group believes that its global presence and economic strength have a predominantly positive impact on its 

host communities. The Group’s activities contribute to national and regional economies, through the taxes and 

royalties that it pays and the socio-economic initiatives it supports, as well as by its prioritisation of local 

employment and procurement.

The Group requires its assets to develop transparent, constructive and inclusive relationships with their host 

communities. Each asset’s stakeholder engagement strategy identifies the societal impact of its activities, 

community concerns, needs and societal risks to its operations. The Group’s community development 

programmes are an integral part of its community and stakeholder engagement strategies and support various 

initiatives to deliver socio-economic benefits to those living around its operations. 

The Group has been a member of the Fair Cobalt Alliance since 2020, and through this organisation seeks to 

help positively transform artisanal mining in the DRC and work towards eliminating child and forced labour, 

as well as other dangerous practices. Through its participation in the Fair Cobalt Alliance, the Group supports 

legitimate artisanal and small-scale mining (“ASM”) cooperatives in their endeavours to transform their 

practices and align themselves with international human rights practices, especially in the prevention of child 

labour. In addition to the partnership with the Fair Cobalt Alliance, as a member of the Responsible Minerals 

initiative, the Group also participates in programmes to develop frameworks and standards that support 

responsible ASM. 

The Group also has mechanisms in place to receive grievances and concerns. All of the Group’s industrial assets 

are required to have grievance mechanisms that are accessible, accountable and fair, and which enable the 

Group’s stakeholders to raise concerns without fear of recrimination. The Group aligns its grievance 

mechanisms with the requirements of the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights. Senior 

operational and departmental management and the Board’s health and safety, environment and communities 

committee receive regular reports on grievances and concerns. All grievances and concerns received are 
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registered and investigated, and the Group notifies complainants of the results of their grievance and/or 

complaint and implements any follow-up actions in a culturally and locally appropriate manner.

Respect for human rights is enshrined in the Code of Conduct, which lays out the essential requirements for its 

people. The Group’s Human Rights Policy reinforces this commitment. The Group also endorses and aligns its 

security procedures to the Voluntary Principles on Security and Human Rights (the “Voluntary Principles”) 

published by the Voluntary Principles Initiative. 

The Group’s Human Rights Policy applies to all of its operations and offices over which it has operational 

control. The policy requires its operations to identify and assess risks of human rights breaches as part of the 

Group’s general risk assessment processes, which include baseline and impact studies at existing operations 

and due diligence on new operations and business partners. The Group’s policies and practice align with the 

Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the UN Guiding Principal, the UN Global Compact and the 

International Labour Organization’s core conventions.

The Group’s industrial assets are required to conduct regular human rights training for their workforce, with a 

focus on those employees in positions exposed to human rights concerns, such as security. This covers general 

human rights awareness during day-to-day activities for the Group’s wider workforce, as well as focused 

training on the Voluntary Principles on Security and Human Rights for security employees and contractors.

In addition, some of the Group’s assets are located on or near the traditional territories of indigenous peoples. 

The Group’s approach aligns with the International Council on Mining and Metals (“ICMM”) Position 

Statement on indigenous people and mining, which requires mining projects located on lands traditionally 

owned by or under customary use of indigenous peoples to respect indigenous peoples’ rights, interests, special 

connections to lands and waters, and perspectives. ICMM members must adopt and apply engagement and 

consultation processes that ensure the meaningful participation of indigenous communities in decision-making. 

The Group seeks, through good faith negotiation, to reach agreements with indigenous peoples who maintain 

an interest in, or connection to the land on which the Group operates, formalising engagement processes and 

sustainable benefits.

Responsible sourcing

Some of the Group’s products are vital to today’s society, including through their use in devices that are part of 

everyday activities. The Group recognises that its relationships with its customers depend on it being a 

responsible supplier that delivers and markets competitively priced commodities in a timely manner while 

incorporating health, safety, environmental and human rights considerations throughout its supply chain.

The Group’s suppliers are critical partners in its commitment to operate in a manner that is responsible, 

transparent and respects the human rights of all. The Group’s Supplier Code of Conduct sets out the Group’s 

requirements and expectations of its suppliers. The Group undertakes due diligence of current and potential 

suppliers to understand their business practices using a risk-based approach. If the Group identifies 

unacceptable risks, it agrees a set of corrective actions with the supplier. 

The Supplier Code of Conduct and the Responsible Sourcing Policy, implemented in the first half of 2022, form 

the basis of the Group’s risk-based supply chain due diligence programme, which aligns with the OECD’s Due 

Diligence Guidance for Responsible Supply Chains of Minerals from Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas 

(“CAHRA”). The Group’s risk assessment and management strategy identifies and assesses risks, including 

those relating to CAHRA. 

Additionally, the Group has provided input into the drafting of the Copper Mark and RMI’s Joint Due Diligence 

Standard for base metals. The standard enables companies to comply with the London Metal Exchange 

Responsible Sourcing requirements. The Group’s participation in developing this standard enabled it to share 

its current sourcing practices for base metals, as well as to reinforce the leading position of its listed brands in 
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the metals markets. The Group complies with a number of responsible sourcing standards and requirements, 

including those of the LME, LBMA and the RMI.

Insurance

The Group maintains a number of key insurance policies that it believes are commercially appropriate to cover 

various risks associated with its business operations. The Group’s insurance policies are underwritten through 

Lloyd’s and other major European and international insurance companies. The Group maintains an insurance 

portfolio that covers both liability exposures and physical assets, some of which are insured through a wholly 

owned captive insurance company, Harbour Insurance Pte Ltd.

The Group’s global insurance policies cover its marketing activities and industrial assets (subject to some local 

insurance cover) and are either purchased centrally by the Group or locally at subsidiary level (depending on 

local legal requirements). The Group’s principal global insurance policies include property damage and business 

interruption, charterer’s legal liability, marine cargo, protection and indemnity, hull and machinery, excess oil 

pollution liability, political risk (in respect of oil in storage and/or in transit only), offshore liabilities, piracy, 

general third-party liability and directors’ and officers’ liability insurance.

The Group has relationships with a number of insurance brokers that have been selected for their better market 

representation in particular classes of insurance or relationships with either local or international underwriters. 

By using different brokers, the Group believes that it receives better service in respect of policy placements, 

premium costs, advice and assistance on claims. Although the Group does not set its own minimum financial 

security ratings in respect of insurers or brokers, it verifies and confirms ratings and suitability during the course 

of renewal discussions.

Compliance

The Group is committed to maintaining a culture of ethical behaviour and compliance throughout the Group, 

rather than simply performing the minimum required by laws and regulations. The Group does not knowingly 

assist any third party in breaching the law, or participate in any criminal, fraudulent or corrupt practice in any 

country. 

To support this, the Group’s Ethics and Compliance Programme includes risk assessments, policies, standards, 

procedures and guidelines, training and awareness, advice, monitoring, speaking openly and investigations. The 

Group works with leading advisers to ensure that it is aligned with international best practices, and the Group 

follows guidance from relevant authorities. The Group’s employees, directors and officers, as well as 

contractors under the Group’s direct supervision, working for a Group office or industrial asset directly or 

indirectly controlled or operated by the Group worldwide, must comply with the Group Code of Conduct and 

relevant policies and procedures, as well as applicable laws and regulations, regardless of location. When the 

Group enters into joint ventures where it is not the operator, the Group seeks to influence its partners to adopt 

similar policies and procedures to its own wherever possible.

The Board of Directors plays a critical role in overseeing and assessing the Group’s culture of ethics and 

compliance, and ensuring policies, practices and behaviour are consistent with the Group’s values. The Board 

has established a separate Ethics, Culture and Compliance committee (the “ECC Committee”), dedicated to 

overseeing and approving key ethics, compliance and culture-related matters within the Group. The Group 

provides training to the Board emphasising the role of the Board in the oversight and implementation of an 

effective ethics and compliance programme. Furthermore, the ECC Committee receives quarterly updates on 

the programme. These updates cover all focus areas (including anti-corruption, sanctions) and topics such as 

compliance team structure, status of risk assessments, policies, standards, procedures or guidelines under 
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development or review, updates on training and awareness activities, overview of monitoring visits and key 

findings. The Board members also receive updates on material investigations and reports into the Group’s 

‘Raising Concerns’ programme, which is available for employees to raise, in confidence, any concerns 

regarding situations where the Group’s Code of Conduct, policies, procedures or applicable laws appear to have 

been breached. 

The following management committees also support the implementation of the Group Ethics and Compliance 

Programme and report to the Board:

The Environment, Social and Governance Committee (the “ESG Committee”) comprises the Group’s CEO, 

CFO, Head of Industrial Assets, General Counsel, Head of Compliance, Head of Human Resources, Head of 

HSEC and Human Rights, and Head of Sustainability. It also includes senior members of executive management 

representing marketing and industrial assets across different commodities. The ESG Committee considers 

issues relevant to the Group’s corporate functions regarding the various ESG programmes and projects 

implemented across the Group. It also reviews and approves policies, standards, procedures, systems and 

controls relevant to the corporate functions.

The Business Approval Committee is a subcommittee of the ESG Committee and determines, sets guidance 

and criteria, and reviews business relationships, transactions or counterparties that give rise to ethical or 

reputational concerns.

The Raising Concerns Investigations Committee oversees the operation of the Group Raising Concerns 

programme and the conduct of investigations, ensuring recommendations and sanctions are applied consistently 

across the Group.

In order to ensure the Ethics and Compliance Programme is appropriately designed, tailored to the Group’s 

business and that resources are adequately allocated, the Group identifies, assesses and evaluates compliance 

risks faced by the business. The Group achieves this by performing an annual Group compliance risk assessment 

to identify, record and assess risks relevant to the entire Group. These risks are documented consistently in the 

Group compliance risk register which covers several risk areas, but focuses in particular on anti-corruption, 

given the nature of the Group’s business and the geographies in which it operates. In addition, these risks are 

assessed at appropriate intervals at each office and industrial asset across the Group. Local risk assessments 

help the Group to understand and document the specific compliance risks faced by each of the Group’s 

businesses, as well as identify and assess the controls in place to mitigate the risks. These risks assessments also 

form the basis for the drafting Group policies, standards, procedures and guidelines. 

The Group’s policy framework encompasses its values, Code of Conduct, policies, procedures and guidelines 

on various compliance topics including bribery and corruption, conflicts of interest, sanctions, anti-money 

laundering, market conduct, the prevention the facilitation of tax evasion, competition law, fraud and 

information governance. This framework reflects the Group’s commitment to uphold ethical business practices 

and to meet or exceed applicable laws and external requirements. The Group emphasises their importance in its 

business activities, including recruitment and induction. Training on and awareness of the Group’s policies, 

procedures and guidelines, as well as strong leadership, are critical components of its Ethics Compliance 

Programme. They ensure the Group’s employees understand the behaviour expected of them and provide 

guidance on how they can identify and practically approach legal and ethical dilemmas in their daily work. The 

Group’s training programmes mix e-learning with face-to-face training. The Group tailors its training and 

awareness materials and make them relevant by including hypothetical scenarios illustrating how ethics and 

compliance dilemmas might manifest themselves in employees’ daily work.

Employees can access the compliance policies, standards, procedures and guidelines through various channels, 

including the Group intranet or the local intranet of the specific office or asset at which they work. The Group’s 

managers and supervisors are responsible for ensuring employees understand and comply with the policies, 
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standards and procedures. The Group monitors and tests their implementation on a regular basis. Employees 

and contractors who have access to a work computer must confirm their awareness and understanding of the 

Group’s compliance requirements when they begin working at Glencore and annually thereafter. Certain offices 

and assets implement their own policies, procedures and guidelines in addition to those of the Group, which are 

designed to address specific local risks and requirements while being consistent with Group policies.

The Group regularly monitors and tests the implementation of the Group Ethics and Compliance Programme 

in order to determine its effectiveness, and that it is operationalised and embedded into the business operations. 

The monitoring activities also enable the Group to identify opportunities for improvement that help develop 

and evolve the programme and respond to changes to its business, to the environments it operates in and to 

applicable laws and regulations.

Risk management

Risk management and control spans across the Group’s organisational structure. The Board has been and will 

further be involved in the risk management of the Group at a strategic level. The CEO engages in an ongoing 

interrogatory exchange with the management team as a primary oversight of Group risk, supported in this 

function by the Group risk management team, multi sourced risk reporting and the Chief Risk Officer. This 

support, among other things, relates to consolidated risk reporting, coordination of Group and departmental 

VaR, stress, scenario and other testing, reviewing and challenging the evaluation models and, in conjunction 

with departmental teams, input parameters used by commodity departments. The departments and Group risk 

team further engage in a dialogue concerning general aspects of risk management policy and reporting. The 

audit committee also plays a key role in managing the Group’s operational risk and verifying process controls.

The Group’s business could be impacted by various external factors; for example, political events and 

unfavourable actions by governments, natural catastrophes and operational disruptions. The Group’s activities 

expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including commodity price risk, interest rate risk and 

currency risk), credit risk (including performance risk) and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management 

programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to protect its financial security and 

flexibility by using derivative financial instruments substantially to hedge these risks. Among others, the Group 

monitors its commodity price risk exposure using a VaR computation and assesses the open positions, which 

are those subject to price risks, including inventories of these commodities. The Group’s finance and risk 

professionals, working in coordination with the commodity departments, monitor, manage and report regularly 

to management on the financial risks and exposures the Group is facing. Responsibility for reviewing the overall 

effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management systems lies with the audit 

committee.

Legal and Regulatory 

Investigations by Regulatory and Enforcement Authorities

The Group is subject to certain investigations by regulatory and enforcement authorities, including as described 

below.

The OAG of Switzerland is investigating Glencore International AG for failure to have the organisational 

measures in place to prevent alleged corruption. The Dutch authorities are conducting a criminal investigation 

into Glencore International AG related to potential corruption pertaining to the DRC. The scope of the Dutch 

investigation is similar to that of the OAG investigation. The Dutch authorities are coordinating their 

investigation with the OAG of Switzerland and the Group would expect any possible resolution to avoid 

duplicative penalties for the same conduct. The timing and outcome of the OAG and Dutch investigations 

remain uncertain. The Group is continuing to cooperate with these authorities. 
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The Group notes that other authorities may commence investigations against the Group in connection with the 

resolved investigations or the matters under investigation. In respect of these investigations or claims, taking 

into account all available evidence, the Investigations Committee does not consider it probable that a present 

obligation existed in relation to these investigations or claims as at 31 December 2023, and the amount of any 

financial effects, which could be material, is not currently possible to predict or estimate.

Claims in Connection with Investigations by Regulatory and Enforcement Authorities

Claims are being pursued against the Group in the United Kingdom in connection with the various government 

investigations, constituting claims on behalf of approximately 350 current and former shareholders. The claims 

are, inter alia, made under section 90 of FSMA relating to prospectus liability, while certain claimants currently 

include section 90A FSMA claims relating to misstatements in other information by the Company, and/or 

dishonest delay in publishing information. The bases for the claims are that the prospectuses issued in 2011 and 

2013 and other published information by the Company were untrue, misleading or contained omissions. The 

Group may be the subject of further legal claims brought by other parties in connection with the government 

investigations, including collective, group or representative actions. In respect of these claims, taking into 

account all available evidence, the Investigations Committee does not consider it probable that a present 

obligation existed in relation to these claims as at 31 December 2023, and the amount of any financial effects, 

which could be material, is not currently possible to predict or estimate.

Claims in respect of Horne Smelter

In October 2023, the Horne Plaintiffs filed Motion for Authorization of a Class Action and to Obtain the Status 

of Representatives against the Horne Defendants regarding the Group’s Horne Smelter situated in the city of 

Rouyn-Noranda, in the Province of Québec, Canada. The Horne Plaintiffs allege that the Group caused 

prejudice to the proposed class by releasing contaminants into the environment, while fully aware of the risks 

and dangers to public health. The Horne Plaintiffs also allege that the Québec Government committed a fault 

and caused prejudice to the proposed class in that it tolerated and authorised these emissions. The claims are at 

an early stage. Taking into account all available evidence, the Company does not consider it probable that a 

present obligation existed as at 31 December 2023 in relation to this claim, and the amount of any financial 

effects, which could be material, is not currently possible to predict or estimate.

Other Claims and Disputes

Other claims, potential claims and unresolved disputes are open or pending against the Group, however, based 

on the Group’s current assessment of these matters any future individually material financial obligations are 

considered to be remote.

EN+

The Group has a 10.6 per cent. interest in EN+ (as at 31 December 2023), a combined power producer and 

vertically integrated aluminium producer listed on the London Stock Exchange with significant assets in the 

Russian Federation, including a 26.25 per cent. stake in Norilsk Nickel, the world’s largest producer of nickel 

and palladium and one of the largest producers of platinum and copper. EN+ is a significant supplier to the 

Group’s aluminium marketing operations. EN+ was designated as an SDN by the U.S. Department of the 

Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) in April 2018 but the SDN designation was removed in 

January 2019. The Group has reviewed its business activities in Russia, including its equity stake in EN+, and 

is unable to ascribe probabilities to possible outcomes of any potential exit process in the current environment.
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CAPITALISATION

The following table sets forth the total capitalisation and cash and cash equivalents for the Group as at 31 

December 2023 on an actual basis as derived from the 2023 Financial Statements incorporated by reference 

into this Offering Circular and on an “as adjusted” basis to give effect to the issuance of the Notes after 

deducting estimated underwriting commissions of U.S.$16,725,000, resulting in net proceeds of approximately 

U.S.$3,983,275,000.

This table should be read in conjunction with “Use of Proceeds”, “Operating and Financial Review”, 

“Description of Indebtedness” and the financial statements incorporated by reference into this Offering Circular.

As at 31 December 2023 

Actual As adjusted(1) 

(U.S.$ millions) 

Cash and cash equivalents ......................................................................................  1,925 5,908 

Current borrowings ...................................................................................................  10,966 10,966 

Non-current borrowings ............................................................................................  21,275 21,275 

Notes offered hereby .................................................................................................  3,983 

Total borrowings .....................................................................................................  32,241 36,224 

Total equity ..............................................................................................................  38,237 38,237 

Total capitalisation ..................................................................................................  70,478 74,461 

Note: 

(1) Adjustments reflecting the issuance of the Notes and the application of the net proceeds of the Offering, amounting to U.S.$3,983,275,000,

to cash and cash equivalents. 

On 18 January 2024, the Group issued CHF 150 million 2.215 per cent. Notes due 2030, which are not reflected 

in the table above.



90

SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

This section should be read along with the information provided in “Operating and Financial Review” and the 

Group’s Financial Statements incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular, and the other financial data 

presented elsewhere in this Offering Circular.

The selected financial data presented below as at and for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 has been 

extracted without material adjustment from the 2023 Financial Statements. The selected financial data presented 

below for the year ended 31 December 2021 has been extracted without material adjustment from the 2022 

Financial Statements. 

The following table sets out the Group’s consolidated statement of income/(loss) for the years ended 

31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023:

Year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Revenue............................................................................  203,751 255,984 217,829

Cost of goods sold(1) .........................................................  (191,370) (228,467) (207,046)

Net expected credit losses(1) .............................................  (256) 21

Selling and administrative expenses ................................  (2,115) (2,430) (2,105)

Share of income from associates and joint ventures ........  2,618 2,300 1,337

Gain/(Loss) on acquisitions and disposals of non-current 

assets ................................................................................  (607) 1,287 850

Other income ....................................................................  186 365 176

Other expense ...................................................................  (2,133) (1,276) (1,267)

Impairments of non-current assets ...................................  (1,905) (3,285) (2,264)

(Impairments)/reversal of impairments of financial 

assets ................................................................................  67 (52) (220)

Dividend income ..............................................................  23 45 6

Interest income .................................................................  208 435 615

Interest expense ................................................................  (1,348) (1,771) (2,515)

Income before income taxes ..........................................  7,375 22,879 5,417

Income tax expense ..........................................................  (3,026) (6,368) (2,207)

Income for the period .....................................................  4,349 16,511 3,210

Attributable to:

Non-controlling interests ..................................................  (625) (809) (1,070)

Equity holders ..................................................................  4,974 17,320 4,280

Note: 
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(1) In the year ended 31 December 2023, net expected credit losses on financial assets at amortised cost were 

disaggregated from cost of goods sold. The prior period balances for the year ended 31 December 2022 have been 

restated to conform with current period presentation, noting that there is no effect on consolidated earnings. Balances 

for the years ended 31 December 2021 have not been restated to conform with current period presentation on the 

basis of materiality. 

The following table summarises the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows for the years ended 31 

December 2021, 2022 and 2023:

Year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Net cash generated by operating activities .......................  8,860 13,659 11,036

Net cash used by investing activities ................................  (541) (1,719) (3,555)

Net cash used by financing activities ...............................  (6,520) (13,200) (7,486)

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents ............  1,799 (1,260) (5)

The following table sets out the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, 

2022 and 2023:

As at 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment ..........................................  43,159 39,564 39,233

Intangible assets ...............................................................  6,235 6,160 6,002

Investments in associates and joint ventures ....................  12,294 11,878 8,823

Other investments ............................................................  1,620 456 513

Advances and loans ..........................................................  3,527 2,654 2,876

Other financial assets .......................................................  458 206 367

Inventories ........................................................................  662 605 623

Deferred tax assets ...........................................................  1,779 1,837 1,390

69,734 63,360 59,827

Current assets

Inventories ........................................................................  28,434 33,460 31,569

Accounts receivable .........................................................  19,493 24,565 18,385

Other financial assets .......................................................  4,636 6,109 5,187

Income tax receivable ......................................................  364 401 1,229
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As at 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Prepaid expenses and other assets ....................................  287 325 317

Cash and cash equivalents ................................................  3,241 1,923 1,925

56,455 66,783 58,612

Assets held for sale ..........................................................  1,321 2,440 5,430

57,776 69,223 64,042

Total assets ......................................................................  127,510 132,583 123,869

Equity and liabilities

Capital and reserves – attributable to equity holders

Share capital .....................................................................  146 141 136

Reserves and retained earnings ........................................  39,785 49,269 43,444

39,931 49,410 43,580

Non-controlling interests ..................................................  (3,014) (4,191) (5,343)

Total equity .....................................................................  36,917 45,219 38,237

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings .......................................................................  26,811 18,851 21,275

Deferred income ...............................................................  2,088 1,547 1,294

Deferred tax liabilities ......................................................  4,469 3,651 2,970

Other financial liabilities ..................................................  710 2,055 1,710

Provisions .........................................................................  6,117 7,163 8,105

Post-retirement and other employee benefits ...................  939 677 800

41,134 33,944 36,154

Current liabilities

Borrowings .......................................................................  7,830 9,926 10,966

Accounts payable .............................................................  29,313 29,726 29,289

Deferred income ...............................................................  1,573 1,060 1,044

Provisions .........................................................................  2,093 1,425 1,108

Other financial liabilities ..................................................  6,077 4,882 3,671

Income tax payable ..........................................................  1,785 4,660 1,850

48,671 51,679 47,928

Liabilities held for sale .....................................................  788 1,741 1,550

49,459 53,420 49,478
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As at 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Total equity and liabilities .............................................  127,510 132,583 123,869
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

Overview

The Group is a leading integrated producer and marketer of commodities, with worldwide activities in the 

marketing of metals and minerals, energy products and agricultural products and the production, refinement, 

processing, storage and transport of those products. The Group operates globally, marketing and distributing 

physical commodities sourced from third-party producers and its own production to industrial consumers, such 

as those in the automotive, steel, power generation, battery manufacturing and oil industries. The Group also 

provides financing, logistics and other services to producers and consumers of commodities.

The Group benefits from its scale and diversity. The Group’s portfolio of diversified industrial assets comprises 

66 mining, metallurgical and oil production assets. The Group’s growth prospects are underpinned by a 

significant industrial base, which, in turn, enhances marketing opportunities. The Group produces and markets 

a diverse range of metals and minerals, including copper, cobalt, zinc, nickel and ferroalloys, and also markets 

aluminium/alumina and iron ore from third parties. With regard to energy products, the Group is a large 

producer and marketer of coal, with mines in Australia, South Africa and Colombia while its oil business is one 

of the leading marketers of crude oil, refined products and natural gas.

Over a period of many years, the Group has built a strong market reputation as a reliable supplier of quality 

products on a timely basis. In doing so, the Group has extensive market knowledge and insight, as well as the 

full logistics capabilities required to generate value-added margins and seek arbitrage potential throughout the 

physical commodity supply chain. The Group’s presence at each stage of the commodity chain provides it with 

superior market insight and access to opportunities. The Group is able to capture value at each stage of the 

commodity chain, including extraction, processing, freight, logistics, technology, storage, marketing, risk 

management and financing.

The Group operates two business segments: industrial activities (reporting to the Head of Industrial Assets) and 

marketing activities (reporting to the Head of Marketing, being the Group’s CEO). 

Historically, the Group has grown both organically and through acquisitions. The Group continues to evaluate 

opportunities on an ongoing basis in relation to its business, including, among others, mergers, acquisitions, 

disposals, joint ventures and off-take arrangements. For instance, on 14 November 2023, the Company 

announced that it has entered into a binding agreement with Teck for the acquisition of a 77 per cent. effective 

interest in the entirety of Teck’s steelmaking coal business, EVR, for U.S.$6.93 billion in cash, on a cash-free 

debt-free basis, subject to a normalised level of working capital. For further details, see “– Recent Developments 

– Acquisition of the steelmaking coal business of Teck”.

Key factors affecting results of operations and financial condition

Commodity prices

Commodity prices are influenced by many factors, including the supply of and demand for commodities, 

speculative activities by market participants, global political and economic conditions and related industry 

cycles and production costs in major producing countries. While producers are clearly unable to dictate market 

prices directly, events such as the withdrawal of commodity production capacity and various attempts to capture 

market share by individual producers could have an effect on market prices. Commodity prices may move in 

response to changes in production capacity in a particular market, for example as a new asset comes online or 

when a large producer experiences difficult operational issues or is impacted by a natural disaster. Larger scale, 

macroeconomic trends, such as the increasing focus on minimising greenhouse gas emissions and technological 

advances in renewable energy have also impacted the prices of many of the Group’s key commodities, including 
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coal and cobalt. Furthermore, the producers’ actual average realised prices can be affected by contractual 

arrangements, production levels and hedging strategies. Prices of the Group’s main commodity products can 

vary significantly as actual and anticipated supply and demand fluctuate. Price variations and market cycles 

have historically influenced the Group’s financial performance and are expected to continue to do so in the 

future.

There are clearly commodity-specific fundamentals and events which affect the demand and supply dynamics 

and pricing outlook for each individual commodity; however, the prices of most metals and energy commodities 

which the Group produces and markets have generally followed macroeconomic trends and tend to be positively 

correlated. 

The impacts that fluctuating commodity prices have on the Group’s business differ between its marketing 

activities and industrial activities.

 Marketing activities: In a market environment in which prices for a particular commodity are higher on 

average, the premiums/margins that are generated in its physical marketing operations relating to such 

commodity as a result of geographical, time and quality imbalances tend to be higher. The Group also 

generally benefits from fluctuating market prices, rather than long periods of stable prices, as it seeks to 

physically arbitrage resulting price differentials. As prices of commodities rise, the Group has higher 

working capital financing requirements over the same quantity of commodities in question. During 

periods of falling commodity prices, the opposite applies in that the Group will require less working 

capital financing for its marketing activities.

 Industrial activities: Higher prices will be particularly favourable to the profitability of the Group in 

respect of commodities which the Group produces at its industrial assets or are produced by its associated 

companies and other investees. Similarly, low prices will negatively impact the Group’s industrial 

activities and could result in those activities incurring losses.

Commodity prices have fluctuated over the track record period. The Group’s 2021 results were impacted by the 

economic and operational consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic as regards demand for commodities, 

certain asset suspensions and changes in working practices. Uncertainty regarding global supply of 

commodities due to the Russia/Ukraine conflict that began in February 2022 has disrupted global trade flows, 

most notably in the energy complex, and placed significant upwards pressure on commodity prices and input 

costs, particularly in the first half of 2022. In addition, China’s zero-Covid policy dampened industrial and 

consumer demand which resulted in decreased metals prices in June-August 2022. In 2023, as the international 

energy trade flows rebalanced and normalised, coal and LNG, and to a lesser extent, oil prices materially 

declined. In addition to weakening in energy markets, the presence of inflation, tighter monetary conditions and 

limited growth in many large economies contributed to average period-on-period price reductions in copper, 

cobalt, nickel and zinc. 

Extraction and production costs, efficiency and volumes

The Group, in common with its competitors, is unable to set market commodity prices directly, and its 

competitiveness and long-term profitability are, to a significant degree, dependent upon its ability to reduce 

costs and maintain efficient operations. Costs associated with extraction and production can be broadly 

categorised into labour costs and other on-site expenses, including power and equipment costs, port handling 

costs and freight costs. Production costs are largely influenced by the inherent grade quality, strip ratios, mining 

depth, processing technology, energy and supply costs and the impact of exchange rate fluctuations on costs of 

operations. All of the Group’s businesses are affected by increases in costs of inputs, particularly in respect of 

power, fuels, labour, transport, equipment and consumables.
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Production volume has a substantial effect on the results of operations of the Group’s industrial activities. Under 

normal circumstances, the Group can sell all of its production, albeit potentially with quality discounts and/or 

penalties for deleterious elements, so its industrial asset revenue generally fluctuates as a result of changes in 

realised prices and production volumes. Production volume is dependent on the Group’s production capacity. 

The Group has the ability to increase its production capacity for certain commodities by restarting latent 

capacity, subject to market conditions and feasibility study validation. Per unit production costs are also 

significantly affected by changes in production volume, as, prima facie, higher volumes reduce per unit 

production costs, given the generally high fixed cost mix in the Group’s industrial activities business. Therefore, 

the Group’s production levels are a key factor in determining its overall competitiveness and profitability. In 

pandemic conditions, the decision of whether and when to idle or restart production capacity may be influenced 

by non-economic factors.

The Group’s major industrial assets are mainly long life and low cost, reflecting the substantial investment into 

existing assets as well as the Group’s appetite, capabilities and belief in commodities and geographies where 

its peers are not present. The Group’s industrial activities focus on controlling costs and generating sustainable 

operating and capital efficiencies. The Group has the ability to scale back or “mothball” operations in these 

regions, for example, as it has done at Mutanda, where it is commercially warranted and when considering the 

likely impact on the price of a traded commodity. Scale backs or shutdowns in production, whether temporary 

or extended, can have an impact on the Group’s results. In 2021, coal production decreased materially as a result 

of COVID-19 related shut downs and assets being placed on extended care and maintenance. In 2022, zinc 

metal production decreased mainly as a result of curtailment or suspension of operations due to high European 

power prices. In 2023, nickel production decreased in part due to the planned shutdown of assets for routine 

maintenance. The Group regularly assesses its production and maintenance schedules and planned or unplanned 

production scale backs or shutdowns in the future, whether for maintenance or otherwise, may similarly impact 

the Group’s financial results. 

Identifying and responding to global macroeconomic trends and exploiting physical commodity 

arbitrage opportunities as they arise

The Group’s long-term experience in the commodities markets has allowed it to build up extensive market 

knowledge and insight. The Group believes that being a major global physical marketer of commodities with 

leading market positions in its key commodities enables it to, among other things, maintain knowledge of local 

market supply and demand dynamics and respond quickly to changes in market conditions and characteristics 

and gain significant insight into trade flows and marketing requirements. This enables the Group to have 

continuous price discovery of the commodities it produces and/or markets and rapid identification and 

investigation of arbitrage opportunities in respect of those commodities. In addition, the Group’s industrial 

assets are strategically important to, among other things, generate additional market information, including local 

information in the countries and regions in which the industrial assets are based.

Many of the physical commodity markets in which the Group operates are geographically dispersed, fragmented 

and/or periodically volatile. Discrepancies often arise in respect of the prices at which the commodities can be 

bought or sold in different forms, geographic locations or time periods, taking into account the numerous 

relevant pricing factors, including freight and product quality. These pricing discrepancies can present the 

Group with arbitrage opportunities, whereby the Group is able to generate profit by sourcing, transporting, 

blending, storing or otherwise processing the relevant commodities. Whilst the strategies used by the Group’s 

business segments to generate margins vary from commodity to commodity, the main arbitrage strategies can 

be generally described as being geographic, product- and time-related. The Group’s ability to successfully 

identify and implement marketing strategies to take advantage of potential arbitrage opportunities throughout 

the physical commodity supply chain will impact its results of operations. Failure of such opportunities to 
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present themselves or the Group’s inability to exploit such opportunities will negatively impact its results of 

operations.

Arbitrage opportunities are generally enhanced by global and regional price volatility and instability in the 

various commodities markets, resulting in market disequilibrium. The Group believes that in periods where 

price components for a particular commodity or group of commodities display relative volatility and, therefore, 

uncertainty, the number of arbitrage opportunities in such commodities tends to increase, and, in particular, 

during periods of market tightness (e.g. when inventory levels are low). These market conditions offer 

additional opportunities to take advantage of the resulting decoupling in premium and discount structures. 

Conversely, in periods of reduced volatility in commodity prices, the Group’s marketing business tends to have 

fewer profitable arbitrage opportunities. A relatively flat marketing environment generally reduces price 

dislocation and, in turn, the number of arbitrage opportunities. The Group also, from time to time, takes 

unhedged positions in a particular commodity (within set limits and policies), based on its understanding of 

market dynamics and expectation of future price and/or spread movements. 

The Group’s marketing activities engage in base supply chain activities that generally provide regular 

generation of income. These base supply chain activities tend to have a balancing effect against the potential 

volatility in results as the Group seeks to take advantage of event-driven arbitrage and/or price risk activities. 

In addition to the informational advantages the Group enjoys via its global network, its sizeable market share 

and logistics capabilities in many commodities allow it to move quickly in response to arbitrage opportunities, 

exploiting not only the opportunities afforded by fluctuations and disequilibrium in commodity prices, but the 

underlying supply and demand dynamics as well.

The results of operations of the Group’s marketing activities are impacted by, among other things, the individual 

business segments’ arbitrage opportunities, which are dependent, in part, on the strength of the markets, the 

price of the relevant commodities and the overall marketing environment (contango or backwardation) that 

existed at any given time during a relevant period.

Marketing volumes

The volume of commodities marketed by the Group is a key driver of the results of operations of the Group’s 

marketing activities. The volume of commodities the Group markets is dependent on its ability to source and 

finance the purchase of commodities and its ability to then sell these commodities to new and existing 

customers.

Although volumes of commodities sold is a key factor in understanding the scale of the Group’s marketing 

activities and resulting market position and base earnings potential, as noted above, it is also important to assess 

the potential of additional value-added services and arbitrage opportunities at various times and the Group’s 

ability to capitalise on such opportunities, on the back of its market presence. There may also be a lag effect in 

the relationship between earnings and sales volumes; for example, by storing oil and selling forward at a higher 

price in a future period, the Group is able to generate profits without increasing the volumes sold in the current 

period.

Freight rates

The Group has a large and diversified fleet of vessels operated under various short-term and long-term time 

charters and commercial management arrangements, with an average remaining fixed charge hire period of 

approximately three years. This contributes to the marketing results of its business segments, providing 

immediate access to vessels, which can represent a significant time advantage in exploiting short-term 

marketing opportunities. Having this resource also gives the Group greater visibility over world trade flows at 

a particular moment. Due to its internal requirements and the Group’s belief in its ability to achieve vessel 

utilisation above average industry levels, the Group generally has a long position in fleet time chartering, 
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thereby potentially creating a significant exposure to fluctuations in spot freight rates. However, given the nature 

of the freight market and limited opportunities to hedge all freight price risk, the Group is generally exposed to 

some degree of future freight price movements on its long-term time charters, not otherwise subject to a hedge, 

re-let with a third party or to satisfy its own marketing needs. 

Financial performance of associates, other investments and joint ventures

The Group’s results of operations are affected by the financial performance of its associates and other 

investments, with the Group’s share of income from associates and joint ventures and dividends received from 

interests in other investments contributing directly to the Group’s income before income taxes.

The tables below set forth investments in associates and joint ventures as at and for the years ended 31 December 

2021, 2022 and 2023: 

Year ended 31 December

Associates’ and joint ventures’ share of income 2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Associates’ and joint ventures’ Adjusted EBITDA ..........  4,001 2,687 2,338

Depreciation and amortisation .........................................  (687) (641) (729)

Associates’ and joint ventures’ Adjusted EBIT ................  3,314 2,046 1,609

Net finance costs ..............................................................  4 (22) 5

Income tax expense ..........................................................  (1,211) (688) (559)

Share of income from relevant material associates 

and joint ventures ...........................................................  2,107 1,336 1,055

Share of income from Viterra(1) ........................................  473 494 53

Share of income/(losses) from other associates ...............  38 470 229

Share of income from associates and joint ventures ....  2,618 2,300 1,337

Note: 

(1) At 31 December 2023, the Group’s investment in Viterra was carried at U.S.$3,711 million and was classified as an 

asset held for sale. See “Business – Viterra.” 

As at 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Carrying value of associates and joint ventures

Cerrejón(1).........................................................................  567 — —

Antamina ..........................................................................  3,124 3,192 3,148

Total material associates ................................................  3,691 3,192 3,148

Collahuasi ........................................................................  3,065 3,205 3,542
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As at 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Viterra(2) ...........................................................................  3,662 3,867 —

Total material joint ventures .........................................  6,727 7,072 3,542

Total investment in material associates and joint 

ventures ...........................................................................  10,418 10,264 6,690

Note: 

(1) The 2021 figure represented the Group’s 33.33 per cent. interest in Cerrejón. In January 2022, the Group acquired 

the remaining 66.67 per cent. of Cerrejón. 

(2) At 31 December 2023, the Group’s investment in Viterra was carried at U.S.$3,711 million and was classified as an 

asset held for sale. See “Business – Viterra.” 

In the year ended 31 December 2023, associates’ and joint ventures’ Adjusted EBITDA decreased by U.S.$349 

million compared to the prior year. This was due to decreases in the Adjusted EBITDA results of Collahuasi 

(U.S.$194 million) and Antamina (U.S.$155 million). In the year ended 31 December 2022, associates’ and 

joint ventures’ Adjusted EBITDA decreased by U.S.$1,314 million compared to the prior year. This was 

primarily due to decreases in the Adjusted EBITDA results of Collahuasi (U.S.$632 million) and Antamina 

(U.S.$230 million), as well as a result of consolidation of Cerrejón’s results within the Group’s results from 1 

January 2022 following the acquisition of the remaining 66.67 per cent. of Cerrejón that the Group did not 

already own. 

Significant items

Significant items are items of income and expense which, due to their nature and variable financial impact or 

the expected infrequency of the events giving rise to them, are separated for internal reporting and analysis of 

the Group’s results to provide a better understanding and comparative basis of the underlying financial 

performance. 

The table below shows significant items for the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023: 

Year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Share of associates’ significant items ...............................  (11) (9) (90)

Viterra share in earnings post held for sale 

classification(1) ................................................................. (186)

Movement in unrealised inter-segment loss/(profit) 

elimination .......................................................................  (549) 1,176 258

Gain/(loss) on acquisitions and disposals of non-current 

assets ................................................................................  (607) 1,287 850

Other expense – net ..........................................................  (1,947) (911) (1,091)
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Year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Impairments of non-current assets ...................................  (1,905) (3,285) (2,264)

(Impairments)/reversal of impairments of financial 

assets ................................................................................  67 (52) (220)

Income tax credit/(expense) .............................................  137 (199) (37)

Non-controlling interests’ share of significant items ........  664 431 362

(4,151) (1,562) (2,418)

Note: 

(1) At 31 December 2023, the Group’s investment in Viterra was carried at U.S.$3,711 million and was classified as an 

asset held for sale. See “Business – Viterra.” 

In the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised net expenses from significant items of U.S.$2,418 

million, compared to net expenses from significant items of U.S.$1,562 million in the year ended 31 December 

2022. The net expenses from significant items in the year ended 31 December 2023 primarily comprised 

aggregate impairments of non-current assets and financial assets of U.S.$2,484 million, other expense – net of 

U.S.$1,091 million, the Viterra share in earnings post held-for-sale classification of U.S.$186 million, share of 

associates’ significant items of U.S.$90 million and income tax expense of U.S.$37 million. These were partly 

offset by U.S.$850 million of gain on acquisitions and disposals of non-current assets, primarily related to the 

gains recognised on disposal of Cobar in June 2023 (U.S.$585 million) and from the acquisition of the 

remaining stake in the MARA Project (U.S.$224 million), as well as U.S.$362 million of non-controlling 

interests’ share of significant items and U.S.$258 million due to the movement in unrealised inter-segment 

profit elimination. 

Impairments of non-current assets primarily comprised the following impairments to plant, property and 

equipment and intangible assets: 

(i) U.S.$1,045 million at Mutanda operations, due to lower cobalt hydroxide price assumptions and mine 

planning changes, 

(ii) U.S.$233 million and U.S.$211 million at the zinc/lead operations in Kazakhstan and at McArthur 

River, respectively, due mainly to significant changes to key macro-estimates including higher 

discount rates associated with the higher long-term interest rate environment, 

(iii) U.S.$375 million relating to the Volcan zinc/silver mining operations, reflecting an enterprise value 

consistent with proposals the Group has received to acquire its equity interest in the company, and 

(iv) U.S.$231 million at the Nordenham zinc/lead smelting plant, due to updated assumptions projecting 

an extended challenging margin environment. 

Impairments of non-current assets were partly offset by a reversal of impairments of U.S.$190 million related 

to Astron oil operations which restarted in early 2023. Impairments of financial assets primarily included 

U.S.$156 million of the Mopani advance, reflecting the latest restructuring discussions. Other expense – net 

primarily comprised U.S.$503 million of closed site rehabilitation provisioning, U.S.$168 million relating to 
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various legal matters and related costs (legal, expert and compliance), including in respect of the government 

investigations and monitorships, and U.S.$103 million of mark-to-market gains on equity investments and 

derivative positions accounted for as held for trading, including the commodity price linked deferred 

consideration related to the sale of Mototolo in 2018, the ARM Coal (a partner in one of the Group’s principal 

coal joint operations in South Africa) non-discretionary dividend obligation and long-term fixed priced forward 

physical energy contracts related to certain European smelters.

In the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised net expenses from significant items of U.S.$1,562 

million, compared to net expenses from significant items of U.S.$4,151 million in the year ended 31 December 

2021. The net expenses from significant items in the year ended 31 December 2022 primarily comprised 

impairments of non-current assets of U.S.$3,285 million, other expense – net of U.S.$911 million and income 

tax expense of U.S.$199 million, offset by U.S.$1,287 million of gain on acquisitions and disposals of non-

current assets, primarily related to the gains recognised on acquisition of the remaining 66.67 per cent. in 

Cerrejón (U.S.$1,029 million) and the disposal of Ernest Henry (U.S.$512 million) and U.S.$1,176 million of 

movement in unrealised inter-segment profit elimination. Net expenses from significant items were also partly 

offset by U.S.$431 million of non-controlling interests’ share of significant items. Impairments of non-current 

assets primarily comprised the following impairments to plant, property and equipment and intangible assets: 

(i) U.S.$656 million at Mount Isa copper operations, (ii) U.S.$455 million at Mount Isa zinc operations, (iii) 

U.S.$227 million at Koniambo and (iv) U.S.$185 million at Zhairem. All of these impairments were due to 

significant changes to key macro estimates that were heavily influenced by the Russian/Ukrainian war and 

related operational challenges. Other key drivers of impairments of non-current assets included U.S.$632 

million of outstanding VAT claims in the DRC and U.S.$422 million relating to the Mopani advance. Other 

expense – net primarily comprised U.S.$370 million relating to movements in restoration, rehabilitation and 

decommissioning estimates for sites that are no longer operational, U.S.$349 million of net foreign exchange 

losses related to realised foreign currency losses, recycled from other comprehensive income and recognised as 

a result of an intra-group restructuring, U.S.$302 million relating to various legal matters and related costs 

(legal, expert and compliance), including in respect of the government investigations, and U.S.$106 million of 

mark-to-market losses on equity investments and derivative positions accounted for as held for trading, 

including the commodity price linked deferred consideration related to the sale of Mototolo in 2018 and the 

ARM Coal non-discretionary dividend obligation. 

In the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recognised net expenses from significant items of U.S.$4,151 

million. The net expenses from significant items in 2021 primarily comprised impairments of U.S.$1,838 

million and other expense – net of U.S.$1,947 million, as well as a U.S.$607 million loss on disposals of non-

current assets due to the derecognition of non-controlling interest on disposal of Mopani, net of gains recognised 

on disposal of other investments/operations and gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment. The net 

expenses from significant items in 2021 were partly offset by income tax credits of U.S.$137 million and non-

controlling interests’ share of the significant items of U.S.$664 million. The impairments mainly comprised: 

U.S.$1,170 million at Koniambo due to lower throughput and higher cost assumptions, and the emergence of 

higher discounts on non-battery application nickel relative to the LME benchmark, such having been reassessed 

following failures in the power generation unit and a slag leak at the metallurgical plant; U.S.$331 million 

relating to HG Storage, the Group’s 49 per cent. interest in an oil storage and terminals business, following a 

review of the carrying value against valuation benchmarks; U.S.$151 million long-outstanding VAT claims; and 

U.S.$98 million relating to the reversal of impairments following an improvement in the underlying financial 

condition of various counterparties and the restructuring of certain loans and physical advances. Other expense 

– net of U.S.$1,947 million in 2021 principally comprised U.S.$1,640 million relating to various legal matters 

and costs (legal, expert and compliance) related to the ongoing investigations, including a provision for the 

ongoing investigations of U.S.$1,500 million, U.S.$187 million net loss on net foreign exchange movements 

and U.S.$64 million of mark-to-market gains on equity investments and derivative positions accounted for as 
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held for trading, including the commodity price linked deferred consideration related to the sale of Mototolo in 

2018. Non-controlling interests’ share of significant items mainly related to the Koniambo impairment noted 

above.

Recent Developments

Acquisition of the steelmaking coal business of Teck

On 14 November 2023, the Company announced that it has entered into a binding agreement with Teck for the 

acquisition of a 77 per cent. effective interest in the entirety of Teck’s steelmaking coal business, EVR for 

U.S.$6.93 billion in cash, on a cash-free debt-free basis, subject to a normalised level of working capital.

The balance of the effective interest in EVR will be held by Nippon Steel Corporation (“NSC”) (20 per cent. 

interest) and POSCO (3 per cent. interest).

At closing, the Company will also acquire from Teck, NSC and POSCO an attributable share of a shareholder 

loan from Teck to EVR which is repayable out of EVR’s cash flows. The amount payable for this portion of the 

loan is expected to be approximately U.S.$250 million to U.S.$300 million on closing. 

The transaction is subject to mandatory regulatory approvals, including Investment Canada Act (“ICA”) 

approvals. While closing could occur earlier, it is expected no later than the third quarter of 2024.

Furthermore, the Company continues to believe that a standalone company containing its combined coal and 

carbon steel materials business, including its stake in EVR, would be well positioned as a leading, highly cash-

generative bulk commodity company. When assessing the merits of the transaction, the Company 

acknowledged the important distinction between thermal coal and steelmaking coal. Together with its traditional 

applications, steel also has an important role to play in the energy transition – with end-use applications in 

utility-scale solar installations, wind turbines and power grids. The acquisition therefore presents a unique 

opportunity to strengthen the Company’s position further across the products necessary for the energy transition 

as well as everyday life. It also unlocks the potential, subject to shareholder approval, for a value-accretive 

demerger of the combined business once the Company has sufficiently delevered, which is expected to occur 

within 24 months from close. The Company will manage its post-demerger balance sheet, post servicing its 

formulaic base cash distribution, to a revised net debt cap of approximately U.S.$5 billion, alongside its 

continued commitment to minimum strong BBB/Baa ratings. The Company will undertake a shareholder 

consultation process following the close of the transaction to assess views on a potential subsequent demerger. 

The Company intends for the demerged company to continue to oversee the responsible decline of its thermal 

coal operations in line with the Company’s current targets and ambition to achieve net zero by 2050, subject to 

a supportive policy environment, and to adopt a climate transition strategy for the EVR business that will be 

developed and implemented pursuant to the Company’s ICA commitments.

Distribution and share buyback

In August 2023, the Group announced a share buyback of U.S.$1.2 billion, which was completed in January 

2024. In February 2024, the Group announced a U.S.$0.13/share distribution. Subject to shareholder approval, 

the distribution will be paid in two equal tranches in June 2024 and September 2024.

Koniambo Nickel to Transition to Care and Maintenance

On 12 February 2024, the Company announced that the shareholders of Koniambo Nickel SAS (“KNS”) – a 

joint venture between Société Minière du Sud Pacifique SA (“SMSP”) and the Company – have made the 

decision to transition KNS into care and maintenance. The Company will fund the operation according to an 

agreed budget as it begins an orderly transition to a state of care and maintenance. The furnaces will remain hot 

for six months, and the KNS team will support the critical activities required to maintain the integrity of the 
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asset and keep the site secure. The Company will shortly initiate a process to identify a potential new industrial 

partner for KNS.

All local KNS employees will be retained for a period of six months to aid in the transition. This decision 

follows several months of extensive discussions and negotiations with relevant government and other key 

stakeholders. Even with the French government’s proposed assistance, high operating costs and current very 

weak nickel market conditions means KNS remains an unprofitable operation.

Board Changes

Peter Coates AO will retire at the Company’s annual general meeting in May 2024.

John Wallington will join the Company’s Board as an Independent Non-Executive Director effective from 1 

June 2024. John Wallington has over 40 years of experience in the mining industry, overseeing operations in 

South Africa, Australia, Colombia and Canada. His most notable role was Global CEO of Anglo Coal at Anglo 

American.

Completion of Mopani Transaction

On 21 March 2024, the Company noted the completion of the Mopani transaction. The total proceeds received 

by the Company (including the settlement of working capital facilities) were U.S.$411 million in cash on 

closing plus deferred consideration of U.S.$135 million which will be settled over approximately 4.5 years with 

interest and a royalty of 10 per cent. of the copper price above U.S.$12k/t from 2027 until 2035. See also 

“Business—Industrial Activities—Metals and Minerals—Copper—African Copper”.

Description of key line items 

The following discussion sets out the key line items in the results of the Group for the years ended 31 December 

2021, 2022 and 2023.

Revenues

The Group generates revenue from the sale of physical commodities and marketing advisory and related 

services. In most instances, sales revenue is recognised when title to the product passes to the customer, which 

could be delivery onto the vessel on which it is shipped, a destination port or the customer’s premises. 

For certain commodities, the sales price is determined on a provisional basis at the date of sale, as the final 

selling price is subject to movements in market prices up to the date of final pricing, normally ranging from 30 

to 180 days after initial booking. Revenue on provisionally priced sales is recognised based on the estimated 

fair value of the total consideration receivable. The revenue adjustment mechanism embedded within 

provisionally priced sales arrangements has the character of a commodity derivative. Accordingly, the fair value 

of the final sales price adjustment is re-estimated continuously and changes in fair value are recognised as an 

adjustment to revenue. In all cases, fair value is estimated by reference to forward market prices. The Group 

records revenues in its physical commodity marketing business on a gross basis, rather than on the basis of the 

net margin or premiums received. 

Cost of goods sold

Cost of goods sold primarily includes the following:

 cost of marketing inventories sold and related distribution and storage costs;

 cost of extracting, refining and processing products related to the consolidated industrial assets, 

including personnel costs and depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment and 

reserves;
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 unrealised gains and losses from changes in the fair value of marketing inventories;

 unrealised gains and losses from changes in the fair value of derivatives held to hedge movements in 

commodity prices; and

 other operating expenses.

Cost of goods sold also includes, as required, write-downs of inventories where such inventories are carried at 

the lower of cost or net realisable value. 

In the year ended 31 December 2023, net expected credit losses on financial assets at amortised cost were 

disaggregated from cost of goods sold.

Selling and administrative expenses

Selling and administrative expenses represent costs that are primarily semi-fixed in nature and attributable to 

the Group’s marketing activities, with the exception of the variable bonus pool. Payroll expenditure is the largest 

component of this line item, with the variable bonus pool generally constituting a sizeable part of the payroll 

expenditure. 

Share of income from associates and joint ventures

Share of income from associates and joint ventures represents income from associates and joint ventures in 

which the Group exercises significant influence or joint control that are accounted for using the equity method. 

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee 

but is not control over those policies. Significant influence is presumed if the Group holds between 20 per cent. 

and 50 per cent. of the voting rights, unless evidence exists to the contrary. Joint control is the contractually 

agreed sharing of control, an arrangement which exists only when decisions about relevant strategic and/or key 

operating decisions require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Equity accounting involves the 

Group recording its share of the entity’s net income and equity. The Group’s interest is initially recorded at cost 

and is subsequently adjusted for the Group’s share of changes in net assets of the entity less any impairment in 

the value of individual investments.

Other income/(expense) net

Together with foreign exchange gains/(losses) and mark to market movements on investments held for trading, 

other income/(expense)– net includes other significant items of income and expense which due to their nature 

and variable financial impact or infrequency of the events giving rise to these items, are reported separately 

from operating segment results. Other income/(expense)– net includes, but is not limited to, revaluation of 

previously held interests in business combinations, restructuring and closure costs.

Impairment of non-current assets

Impairment of non-current assets is determined by the Group on an annual basis. The Group conducts an internal 

review of asset values, which are determined by discounted cash flow techniques based on the most recently 

approved financial budgets and three-year business plans, which are underpinned and supported by life-of-mine 

plans of the respective operations. This information is used to assess if there are any indications of impairment 

or to determine whether a previously recorded impairment may no longer be required (except for goodwill 

impairments which cannot subsequently be reversed).

If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded in the 

consolidated statement of income/(loss) to reflect the asset at the lower amount.
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Impairment of financial assets

Impairment of financial assets represents a financial asset that the Group writes off when there is information 

that a debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. The Group enters into 

physical advances and prepayment agreements with certain suppliers and customers. The Group reviews these 

agreements regularly for evidence of default, which figures in the Group’s expected credit loss calculations.

Interest income

Interest income reflects interest received from cash deposits and loans extended by the Group. Interest income 

is recognised when a right to receive a payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits 

will flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time 

basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the applicable effective interest rate.

Interest expense

Interest expense comprises interest incurred on the Group’s fixed- and floating-rate borrowings.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense consists of current and deferred income taxes. Current taxes represent income taxes 

expected to be payable based on enacted or substantively enacted tax rates at the balance sheet date and expected 

current taxable income and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Deferred taxes are 

recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 

statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit, using enacted or 

substantively enacted income tax rates. 

The difference between the Group’s statutory and effective tax rates results primarily from the location of the 

Group’s operations in differing tax jurisdictions relative to the Group’s tax jurisdiction, Switzerland. The 

Group’s effective tax rate excludes income from associates and dividend income, which are recorded post tax. 

Intra-Group transactions are conducted on an arm’s length basis and incorporate all relevant terms and 

conditions. 

Volcan

In November 2017, the Group completed the acquisition of additional shares in Volcan, thereby increasing its 

total economic interest from 7.7 per cent. to 23.3 per cent. (compared to its 63.0 per cent. voting interest). This 

voting interest and certain governance provisions bring Volcan within the scope of consolidation, 

notwithstanding the 23.3 per cent. economic interest. As the Group holds the majority of the voting shares, 

providing it the ability to appoint a controlling number of directors to the board, the Group is required to account 

for Volcan using the full consolidation method in accordance with IFRS 10. However, for internal reporting and 

analysis, management evaluates the performance of Volcan under the equity method, due to the relatively low 

economic interest held by the Group. The impact is that the Group reflects 23.3 per cent. of Volcan’s net income 

in the Group’s Adjusted EBIT/EBITDA, rather than Volcan’s consolidated Adjusted EBIT/EBITDA, the 

difference between such being Volcan’s interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and the share of earnings 

attributable to non-controlling interests. Volcan’s results are excluded from all other adjusted performance 

measures including production data. In late 2022, the Group commenced a process to dispose of its 23.3 per 

cent. economic interest in Volcan, which is ongoing. As a result, the carrying amounts of Volcan assets and 

liabilities as at 31 December 2023 are classified as held for sale. Nevertheless, Volcan will continue to be 

evaluated under the equity method for internal reporting and analysis until and unless such sale is completed.
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Group results for the three years ended 31 December 2023

Adjusted EBIT

2023

Adjusted EBIT for the year ended 31 December 2023 was U.S.$10,392 million, a decrease of 61 per cent. over 

the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease was largely reflected the rebalancing and normalisation of 

international energy trade flows, with coal and LNG, and to a lesser extent, oil prices materially declining in 

2023. 

Adjusted EBIT for the year ended 31 December 2023 by business segment and division was as follows:

Marketing activities Industrial activities 2023 Adjusted EBIT

(U.S.$ million) 

Metals and minerals .................................... 1,714 1,551 3,265

Energy products .......................................... 1,708 6,132 7,840

Corporate and other(1) ................................. 28 (741) (713) 

Total ........................................................... 3,450 6,942 10,392

Note: 

(1) “Corporate and other” marketing activities includes U.S.$321 million (2022: U.S.$494 million) pre-significant items 

of the Group’s equity accounted share of Viterra. 

Marketing Adjusted EBIT for the year ended 31 December 2023 was U.S.$3,450 million, a decrease of 46 per 

cent. over the year ended 31 December 2022. This result reflected the more stable market environment, 

following the extreme market volatility levels, dislocations and complexities exhibited during 2022. Marketing 

Adjusted EBIT in the metals and minerals division for the year ended 31 December 2023 increased 5 per cent. 

over the year ended 31 December 2022, reflecting broadly consistent marketing conditions for many of the 

Group’s key commodities, offset in part by the challenging market backdrop for cobalt, nickel and lithium, 

characterised by extensive raw material production growth, resulting oversupply and significant price declines 

during the period. Marketing Adjusted EBIT for the energy products division for the year ended 31 December 

2023 decreased 67 per cent. over the year ended 31 December 2022, owing to a rebalancing and normalisation 

of international energy trade flows and concurrent reduction in gas and power prices from the extreme levels 

observed in 2022, which was characterised by extreme market volatility and dislocation. 

Industrial Adjusted EBIT for the year ended 31 December 2023 was U.S.$6,942 million, a decrease of 66 per 

cent. from U.S.$20,275 million in the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease was primarily driven by a 

lower contribution from coal operations, owing to the substantial year-on-year decreases in key pricing 

benchmarks, as well as markedly lower cobalt hydroxide realisations, and nickel and zinc pricing. 

2022

Adjusted EBIT for the year ended 31 December 2022 was U.S.$26,657 million, an increase of 84 per cent. over 

the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was largely due to the surge in energy prices and conducive 

market conditions. This was partially offset by the more challenging conditions for metals in the second half of 

2022 amid rising interest rates, recession fears and the effects of China’s zero-Covid policy as well as mixed 

production performance across the metals portfolio. 
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Adjusted EBIT for the year ended 31 December 2022 by business segment and division was as follows:

Marketing activities Industrial activities 2022 Adjusted EBIT

(U.S.$ million) 

Metals and minerals .................................... 1,640 5,082 6,722

Energy products .......................................... 5,199 15,850 21,049

Corporate and other(1) ................................. (457) (657) (1,114) 

Total ........................................................... 6,382 20,275 26,657

Note: 

(1) “Corporate and other” marketing activities includes U.S.$494 million (2021: U.S.$473 million) pre-significant items 

of the Group’s equity accounted share of Viterra. 

Marketing Adjusted EBIT for the year ended 31 December 2022 was U.S.$6,382 million, an increase of 73 per 

cent. over the year ended 31 December 2021. This result reflected successful navigation of the extraordinary 

global challenges faced during the period, including the extreme market imbalances, volatility and dislocation 

across crude oil, LNG, refined products, coal and logistics infrastructure. Marketing Adjusted EBIT in the 

metals and minerals division for the year ended 31 December 2022 decreased 34 per cent. over the year ended 

31 December 2021, due to more challenging market conditions arising from China’s prolonged COVID-19 

lockdowns as well as higher overall inflation, triggering tighter monetary conditions and demand uncertainty. 

Marketing Adjusted EBIT for the energy products division for the year ended 31 December 2022 increased 273 

per cent. over the year ended 31 December 2021, reflecting the significant market volatility in global energy 

markets following the Russian invasion of Ukraine, with prices in oil and gas markets reaching multi-year highs 

or records. 

Industrial Adjusted EBIT for the year ended 31 December 2022 was U.S.$20,275 million, an increase of 88 per 

cent. from U.S.$10,800 million in the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was primarily driven by the 

stronger average year-on-year commodity prices, particularly related to coal operations and the incremental 

contribution of the remaining 66.67 per cent. in Cerrejón acquired in January 2022.

2021

Adjusted EBIT for the year ended 31 December 2021 was U.S.$14,495 million. The increase was largely due 

to higher commodity prices. This was partially offset by cost inflation and the effects of a weaker US dollar 

against most producer country currencies as well as modestly lower production levels. 

Adjusted EBIT for the year ended 31 December 2021 by business segment and division was as follows:

Marketing activities Industrial activities 2021 Adjusted EBIT

(U.S.$ million) 

Metals and minerals .................................... 2,494 8,128 10,622

Energy products .......................................... 1,395 3,252 4,647

Corporate and other(1) ................................. (194) (580) (774) 

Total ........................................................... 3,695 10,800 14,495
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Note: 

(1) “Corporate and other” marketing activities includes U.S.$473 million pre-significant items of the Group’s equity 

accounted share of Viterra. 

Marketing Adjusted EBIT for the year ended 31 December 2021 was U.S.$3,695 million. This result reflected 

the scale of commodity demand recovery, which, by intersecting with numerous primary supply and supply 

chain shocks and constraints, resulted in elevated levels of market volatility and rapidly and materially changing 

underlying supply and demand scenarios. This backdrop provided overall supportive physical commodity 

marketing conditions. Marketing Adjusted EBIT in the metals and minerals division for the year ended 31 

December 2021 reflected improving market conditions. Marketing Adjusted EBIT for the energy products 

division for the year ended 31 December 2021 reflected the impact of the significantly lower oil contribution 

and partially offset by an improved coal contribution compared to the previous year.

Industrial Adjusted EBIT for the year ended 31 December 2021 was U.S.$10,800 million, primarily driven by 

stronger average year-over-year commodity prices, particularly copper, cobalt, ferrochrome, nickel and coal, 

driven by the recovery of global demand and various supply challenges, most notably seen across the energy 

spectrum (gas, coal and oil), impacting product availability and cost. 

Revenue

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 was U.S.$217,829 million, a 15 per cent. decrease from 

U.S.$255,984 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, primarily driven by the normalisation of energy 

market imbalances, volatility from the extreme levels seen in 2022 and concurrent reductions in gas and power 

prices.

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 was U.S.$255,984 million, a 26 per cent. increase from 

U.S.$203,751 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, primarily driven by energy commodity prices.

Cost of goods sold

Cost of goods sold for the year ended 31 December 2023 was U.S.$207,046 million, a 9 per cent. decrease from 

U.S.$228,467 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, mainly reflecting lower prices for commodities 

purchased for resale.

Cost of goods sold for the year ended 31 December 2022 was U.S.$228,467 million, a 19 per cent. increase 

from U.S.$191,370 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, reflecting higher prices for commodities 

purchased for resale.

Selling and administrative expenses

Selling and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023 were U.S.$2,105 million, a 13 per 

cent. decrease from U.S.$2,430 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, driven primarily by lower 

variable compensation arrangements.

Selling and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022 were U.S.$2,430 million, a 15 per 

cent. increase from U.S.$2,115 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, driven primarily by variable 

remuneration arrangements.

Share of income from associates and joint ventures

Share of income from associates and joint ventures for the year ended 31 December 2023 was U.S.$1,337 

million, a 42 per cent. decrease from U.S.$2,300 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. This reflected 

generally lower earnings of the underlying associates and joint ventures due to lower commodity prices.
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Share of income from associates and joint ventures for the year ended 31 December 2022 was U.S.$2,300 

million, a 12 per cent. decrease from U.S.$2,618 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. This reflected 

lower contributions from Antamina and Collahuasi, as well as consolidation of Cerrejón as a wholly owned 

subsidiary following the acquisition of the remaining 66.67 per cent. in January 2022.

Gain on acquisitions and disposals of non-current assets

Gain on acquisitions and disposals of non-current assets for the year ended 31 December 2023 was U.S.$850 

million, a decrease from a gain of U.S.$1,287 million in the year ended 31 December 2022. The gain on 

acquisitions and disposals in 2023 principally reflects the gains recognised on disposal of Cobar in June 2023 

and revaluation of the MARA Project.

Gain on acquisitions and disposals of non-current assets for the year ended 31 December 2022 was U.S.$1,287 

million, an increase from a loss of U.S.$607 million in the year ended 31 December 2021. The gain on 

acquisitions and disposals in 2022 principally reflects the “bargain purchase” gain recognised on acquisition at 

assessed fair value of the remaining 66.67 per cent. in Cerrejón and the gain recognised on disposal of Ernest 

Henry.

Other expense – net 

Other expense – net for the year ended 31 December 2023 was U.S.$1,091 million. This expense primarily 

comprised U.S.$503 million of closed site rehabilitation provisioning, U.S.$168 million relating to various legal 

matters and related costs (legal, expert and compliance), including in respect of the government investigations 

and monitorships, and U.S.$103 million of mark-to-market gains on equity investments and derivative positions 

accounted for as held for trading, including the commodity price linked deferred consideration related to the 

sale of Mototolo in 2018, the ARM Coal non-discretionary dividend obligation and long-term fixed priced 

forward physical energy contracts related to certain European smelters.

Other expense – net for the year ended 31 December 2022 was U.S.$911 million. This expense primarily 

comprised U.S.$302 million relating to various legal matters and related costs, U.S.$370 million movements in 

restoration, rehabilitation and decommissioning estimates related to sites that are no longer operational, 

U.S.$349 million of net foreign exchange losses and U.S.$106 million of mark-to-market losses on equity 

investments and derivative positions accounted for as held for trading, including the commodity price linked 

deferred consideration related to the sale of Mototolo in 2018. These expenses were partly offset by a U.S.$264 

million gain over a number of physically settled electricity contracts within the Group’s European metallurgical 

operations.

Impairment of non-current assets

The Group recorded impairments of non-current assets of U.S.$2,264 million, U.S.$3,285 million and 

U.S.$1,905 million for the years ended 31 December 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. For a discussion of 

these impairments, see “—Key factors affecting results of operations and financial condition—Significant 

items” above.

Reversal of impairments/impairment of financial assets

The Group recorded an impairment of financial assets of U.S.$220 million for the year ended 31 December 

2023, an impairment of financial assets of U.S.$52 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 and a reversal 

of impairments of financial assets of U.S.$67 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. For a discussion 

of these impairments, see “—Key factors affecting results of operations and financial condition—Significant 

items” above. 
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Interest income

Interest income for the year ended 31 December 2023 was U.S.$615 million, a 41 per cent. increase from 

U.S.$435 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, primarily due to higher average base rates.

Interest income for the year ended 31 December 2022 was U.S.$435 million, a 109 per cent. increase from 

U.S.$208 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, primarily due to the higher average floating base rates.

Interest expense

Interest expense for the year ended 31 December 2023 was U.S.$2,515 million, a 42 per cent. increase compared 

to U.S.$1,771 million in the year ended 31 December 2022, driven primarily by higher average base floating 

rates (mainly using SOFR).

Interest expense for the year ended 31 December 2022 was U.S.$1,771 million, a 31 per cent. increase compared 

to U.S.$1,348 million in the year ended 31 December 2021, due to higher average floating base rates (mainly 

SOFR).

Income tax expenses

An income tax expense of U.S.$2,207 million was recognised in the year ended 31 December 2023, compared 

to an income tax expense of U.S.$6,368 million in the year ended 31 December 2022. Adjusting for U.S.$37 

million of net income tax expense related to significant items (primarily impairments, foreign exchange 

fluctuations and tax losses not recognised), the 2023 pre-significant items income tax expense was U.S.$2,170 

million. The 2023 effective tax rate, pre-significant items, was 33.6 per cent., compared with 28.1 per cent. in 

2022.

An income tax expense of U.S.$6,368 million was recognised in the year ended 31 December 2022, compared 

to an income tax expense of U.S.$3,026 million in the year ended 31 December 2021. Adjusting for U.S.$199 

million of net income tax expense related to significant items (primarily impairments, foreign exchange 

adjustments and tax losses not recognised), the 2022 pre-significant items income tax expense was U.S.$6,169 

million. The 2022 effective tax rate, pre-significant items, was 28.1 per cent., compared with 33.5 per cent. in 

2021.

Liquidity and capital resources

Cash flow

The following table summarises the Group’s cash flow statement for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Cash generated by operating activities before working 

capital changes, interest and tax .......................................  16,725 32,915 15,117

Total working capital changes ..........................................  (5,125) (13,269) 3,752

Income taxes paid .............................................................  (1,837) (4,881) (6,503)

Net interest paid ...............................................................  (903) (1,106) (1,330)

Net cash generated by operating activities ...................  8,860 13,659 11,036

Net cash used by investing activities ................................  (541) (1,719) (3,555)
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Year ended 31 December

2021 2022 2023

(in U.S.$ millions)

Net cash used by financing activities ...............................  (6,520) (13,200) (7,486)

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents ........  1,799 (1,260) (5)

Cash balances held in currencies other than the U.S. dollar are also impacted by foreign exchange rate changes, 

the effects of which were not significant to the Group in the historical period.

Cash generated by operating activities before working capital changes

Cash generated by operating activities before working capital changes, interest and tax in the year ended 31 

December 2023 was U.S.$15,117 million, a decrease of 54 per cent. compared to U.S.$32,915 million in the 

year ended 31 December 2022, primarily reflecting lower commodity prices and production levels and the 

normalisation of energy market imbalances.

Cash generated by operating activities before working capital changes, interest and tax in the year ended 31 

December 2022 was U.S.$32,915 million, an increase of 97 per cent. compared to U.S.$16,725 million in the 

year ended 31 December 2021, primarily reflecting the materially stronger commodity price environment 

period-on-period.

Working capital changes 

Net working capital cash inflows were U.S.$3,752 million in the year ended 31 December 2023 compared to 

net outflows of U.S.$13,269 million in the year ended 31 December 2022. The release in the year ended 31 

December 2023 primarily reflected a reduction in net initial margin calls and lower net physical forward 

commodity contract valuations, both due to lower energy prices (oil, gas, coal), offset in part by the final 

U.S.$0.5 billion paid in respect of the DOJ investigations. 

Net working capital cash outflows were U.S.$13,269 million in the year ended 31 December 2022 compared to 

net outflows of U.S.$5,125 million in the year ended 31 December 2021. The higher outflow was driven 

primarily by: exchanges’ initial margining requirements (ultimately linked to the higher observed commodity 

prices); increases in net physical forward commodity-related contracts, which are not margined; changes in net 

trade receivables and payables following reduction in the Russian supply book; and settlement of various prior 

period liabilities.

Net cash used by investing activities

Net cash used by investing activities was an outflow of U.S.$3,555 million in the year ended 31 December 

2023, compared to an outflow of U.S.$1,719 million in the year ended 31 December 2022, primarily reflecting 

expenditures connected to the purchase of property, plant and equipment and purchase of investments, offset in 

part by dividends received from associates and joint ventures and net cash received on disposal of subsidiaries.

Net cash used by investing activities was an outflow of U.S.$1,719 million in the year ended 31 December 

2022, compared to an outflow of U.S.$541 million in the year ended 31 December 2021, primarily reflecting 

expenditures connected to the purchase of property, plant and equipment, purchase of investments and increase 

in long-term advances and loans. This was offset in part by dividends received from associates and joint 

ventures, as well as net cash received on disposal of subsidiaries.
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Net cash used by financing activities

Net cash used by financing activities was U.S.$7,486 million in the year ended 31 December 2023, compared 

to net cash used by financing activities of U.S.$13,200 million in the year ended 31 December 2022. This 

primarily reflected the Company’s distributions to shareholders, share buybacks and repayments of current 

borrowings and capital market notes, partly offset by the proceeds from the revolving credit facility and capital 

market notes issuances.

Net cash used by financing activities was U.S.$13,200 million in the year ended 31 December 2022, compared 

to net cash used by financing activities of U.S.$6,520 million in the year ended 31 December 2021. This 

primarily reflected share buybacks, repayments of capital market notes, margin payments for financing related 

hedging activities and the Company’s distributions to shareholders (announced in February 2022 and August 

2022), partly offset by the proceeds from current borrowings.

Capital resources

For discussion of the historical capital resources and indebtedness and the Group’s current capital resources and 

indebtedness position, please see “Description of Indebtedness”.

Balance sheet items

Total assets were U.S.$123,869 million as at 31 December 2023 compared to U.S.$132,583 million as at 31 

December 2022. Current assets decreased from U.S.$69,223 million as at 31 December 2022 to U.S.$64,042 

million as at 31 December 2023, primarily due to a decrease in trade receivables, including margin calls paid 

in respect of the Group’s hedging activities, and inventories on account of lower commodity prices at 31 

December 2023 relative to 31 December 2022. Non-current assets decreased from U.S.$63,360 million as at 31 

December 2022 to U.S.$59,827 million as at 31 December 2023, primarily due to the reclassification of the 

investment in Viterra (U.S.$3.7 billion) to assets held for sale, following the announcement of an agreed 

disposal of this business, and impairments to property plant and equipment (U.S.$1,710 million).

Total assets were U.S.$132,583 million as at 31 December 2022 compared to U.S.$127,510 million as at 31 

December 2021. Current assets increased from U.S.$57,776 million as at 31 December 2021 to U.S.$69,223 

million as at 31 December 2022, primarily due to an increase in trade receivables, including margin calls paid 

in respect of the Group’s hedging activities, as a result of higher energy commodity prices at 31 December 2022 

relative to 31 December 2021, as well as higher inventories, in part reflecting slower sales into China amid 

COVID-19 lockdowns and shipping bottlenecks and delays in respect of realignment of trade flows post the 

Ukraine war. Non-current assets decreased from U.S.$69,734 million as at 31 December 2021 to U.S.$63,360 

million as at 31 December 2022, primarily due to capital expenditure over the period being below depreciation 

and amortisation expense, U.S.$2,440 million of asset values reclassified to held for sale, U.S.$1,982 million 

of impairments to property, plant and equipment and mark-to-market losses recognised on other investments. 

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had U.S.$26,145 million of readily marketable inventories, comprising 

U.S.$14,441 million of inventories carried at fair value less costs to sell and U.S.$11,704 million carried at the 

lower of cost or net realisable value. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had U.S.$27,425 million of readily 

marketable inventories, comprising U.S.$15,608 million of inventories carried at fair value less costs to sell and 

U.S.$11,817 million carried at the lower of cost or net realisable value. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 

U.S.$24,795 million of readily marketable inventories, comprising U.S.$16,073 million of inventories carried 

at fair value less costs to sell and U.S.$8,722 million carried at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Total 

readily marketable inventories as at 31 December 2023 include U.S.$113 million (31 December 2022: U.S.$230 

million; 31 December 2021: U.S.$125 million) related to certain associates and joint ventures accounted under 

the proportionate consolidation method, comprising inventories carried at lower of cost or net realisable value. 
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Given the highly liquid nature of these inventories, which represent a significant share of current assets, the 

Group believes it is appropriate to consider them together with cash equivalents in analysing Group net debt 

levels and computing certain debt coverage ratios and credit trends.

The Group has a number of dedicated facilities which finance a portion of its inventories. In each case, the 

inventory has been retained on the Group’s balance sheet with the proceeds received recognised as either 

short-term debt, commodities sold with agreements to repurchase or trade advances from buyers, depending 

upon its funding nature.

In addition, accounts receivable form a significant portion of the Group’s assets. The Group has entered into 

certain arrangements to finance a portion of its receivables. Where appropriate, the receivable has been retained 

on the Group’s balance sheet with the proceeds received recognised as current borrowings. 

Similarly, the Group’s liabilities include accounts payable, of which trade payables form a significant portion. 

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods and services. Trade payables typically have maturities up to 90 

days depending on the type of material and the geographic area in which the purchase transaction occurs and 

the agreed terms. The carrying value of trade payables approximates fair value.

Transactions for the purchase of commodities may contain a financing element such as extended payment terms. 

Under such an arrangement, a financial institution may issue a letter of credit on behalf of the Group and act as 

the paying party upon delivery of product by the supplier and the Group will subsequently settle the liability 

directly with the financial institution, generally from 30 up to 120 days after physical supply.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had U.S.$29,289 million of accounts payable, of which U.S.$25,092 

million in total were trade payables, of which in turn U.S.$6,860 million were liabilities arising from supplier 

financing arrangements. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had U.S.$29,726 million of accounts payable, of 

which U.S.$25,123 million in total were trade payables, of which in turn U.S.$7,504 million were liabilities 

arising from supplier financing arrangements. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had U.S.$29,313 million of 

accounts payable, of which U.S.$24,203 million were trade payables, U.S.$8,565 million of such liabilities 

arising from supplier financing arrangements. 

Capital expenditure and contractual obligations/contingencies

Capital expenditure

Capital expenditure, defined as expenditure capitalised as property, plant, and equipment, together with 

additions to right-of-use-assets, in the year ended 31 December 2023 was U.S.$5,386 million, compared to 

U.S.$4,645 million in the year ended 31 December 2022, the increase mainly reflecting certain lease 

transactions in the Marketing segment.

Capital expenditure in the year ended 31 December 2022 was U.S.$4,645 million, largely in line with 

U.S.$4,708 million in the year ended 31 December 2021.

Future commitments

As at 31 December 2023, U.S.$1,433 million (31 December 2022: U.S.$1,295 million, 31 December 2021: 

U.S.$1,111 million), of which 94 per cent. (31 December 2022: 94 per cent., 31 December 2021: 86 per cent.) 

related to expenditure to be incurred over the next 12 months, was contractually committed for the acquisition 

of property, plant and equipment. Certain of the Group’s exploration tenements and licences require it to spend 

a minimum amount per year on development activities, a significant portion of which would have been incurred 

in the ordinary course of operations. As 31 December 2023, U.S.$187 million (31 December 2022: U.S.$118 

million, 31 December 2021: U.S.$118 million) for such development expenditures are to be incurred, of which 
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42 per cent. (31 December 2022: 20 per cent., 31 December 2021: 27 per cent.) are for commitments to be 

settled over the next 12 months. 

As part of the Group’s ordinary sourcing and procurement of physical commodities and other ordinary 

marketing obligations, the selling party may request that a financial institution act as either (a) the paying party 

upon the delivery of product and qualifying documents through the issuance of a letter of credit or (b) the 

guarantor by way of issuing a bank guarantee accepting responsibility for the Group’s contractual obligations. 

In addition, the Group is required to post rehabilitation and pension guarantees in respect of some of these future 

obligations. 

As at 31 December 2023, U.S.$7,207 million (31 December 2022: U.S.$7,965 million, 31 December 2021: 

U.S.$8,965 million) of procurement and U.S.$4,667 million (31 December 2022: U.S.$4,256 million, 31 

December 2021: U.S.$4,353 million) of rehabilitation and pension commitments have been issued on behalf of 

the Group, which will generally be settled simultaneously with the payment for such commodity and 

rehabilitation and pension obligations. 

Astron related commitments

As part of the regulatory approval process pertaining to the acquisition of a majority shareholding in Astron 

Energy, the Group and Astron Energy entered into certain commitments (subject to variation for good cause) 

with the South Africa Competition Tribunal and the South African Economic Development Department. These 

commitments include investment expenditure of up to ZAR 6.5 billion (U.S.$358 million) over the period to 

2024 to improve the performance of the Cape Town oil refinery, contribute to the rebranding of certain retail 

sites and establish a development fund to support small and black-owned businesses in Astron Energy’s value 

chain. In addition, the Group has agreed to increase the level of BEE shareholding in Astron Energy from 25 

per cent. on acquisition to 35 per cent. by 2026. A 3 per cent. shareholding in Astron Energy was transferred to 

the employee stock ownership plan in 2021. 

EVR commitments

In November 2023, the Group entered into an agreement with Teck for the acquisition of a 77 per cent. effective 

interest in the entirety of Teck’s steelmaking coal business, EVR, for U.S.$6.93 billion in cash, on a cash-free 

debt-free basis, subject to a normalised level of working capital. At closing, the Group will also acquire from 

Teck and the other partners in EVR their attributable share of a shareholder loan from Teck to EVR which is 

repayable out of EVR’s cash flows. The amount payable for this portion of the loan is expected to be around 

U.S.$250-U.S.$300 million on closing.

The transaction is subject to mandatory regulatory approvals, being Investment Canada Act and competition 

approvals. While closing could occur earlier, it is expected no later than the third quarter of 2024.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

The Group has no off-balance sheet entities or off-balance sheet arrangements.

Contingent liabilities 

Legal and regulatory proceedings 

Under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, a provision is recognised when the 

Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive), as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an 

outflow of resources embodying economic benefits, that can be reliably estimated, will be required to settle the 

liability. A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from a past event and whose existence will be 

confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within 

the control of the Group. If it is not clear whether there is a present obligation, a past event is deemed to give 
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rise to a present obligation if, taking account of all available evidence, it is more likely than not that a present 

obligation exists at the end of the reporting period. When a present obligation arises but it is not probable that 

an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of 

the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability, a contingent liability is disclosed.

The Group is subject to various legal and regulatory proceedings as detailed below. The facts and circumstances 

of these proceedings are assessed on a regular basis to determine if the criteria for recognising a provision in 

accordance with IAS 37 are met. At 31 December 2023, the Group had concluded that the recognition criteria 

have not been met and, as such, no liability has been recognised in relation to these matters in the consolidated 

statement of financial position at the end of the reporting periods. The nature of these contingent liabilities is 

disclosed below.

Investigations by regulatory and enforcement authorities

The Group is currently subject to certain investigations by enforcement authorities. The OAG of Switzerland is 

investigating Glencore International AG for failure to have the organisational measures in place to prevent 

alleged corruption. The Dutch authorities are conducting a criminal investigation into Glencore International 

AG related to potential corruption pertaining to the DRC. The scope of the Dutch investigation is similar to that 

of the OAG investigation. The Dutch authorities are coordinating their investigation with the OAG of 

Switzerland and the Group would expect any possible resolution to avoid duplicative penalties for the same 

conduct. The timing and outcome of the OAG and Dutch investigations remain uncertain. The Group is 

continuing to cooperate with these authorities. 

At 31 December 2023, taking account of all available evidence, the Investigations Committee concluded that, 

with respect to the OAG and Dutch investigations, it is not probable that a present obligation existed at the end 

of the reporting period. In addition, the timing and amount, if any, of the possible financial effects (such as 

fines, penalties or damages, which could be material) or other consequences, including external costs, from the 

OAG and Dutch investigations and any change in their scope are not currently possible to predict or estimate. 

The Group notes that other authorities may commence investigations against the Group in connection with the 

resolved investigations or the matters under investigation. Taking into account all available evidence, the 

Investigations Committee does not consider it probable that a present obligation existed in relation to these 

potential additional investigations or claims as at 31 December 2023, and the amount of any financial effects, 

which could be material, is not currently possible to predict or estimate.

Claims in connection with investigation by regulatory and enforcement authorities

Claims are being pursued against the Group in the United Kingdom in connection with the various government 

investigations, constituting claims on behalf of approximately 350 current and former shareholders. The claims 

are, inter alia, made under section 90 of FSMA relating to prospectus liability, while certain claimants currently 

include section 90A FSMA claims relating to misstatements in other information by the Company, and/or 

dishonest delay in publishing information. The bases for the claims are that the prospectuses issued in 2011 and 

2013 and other published information by the Company were untrue, misleading or contained omissions. 

The Group may be the subject of further legal claims brought by other parties in connection with the government 

investigations, including collective, group or representative actions. In respect of these claims, taking into 

account all available evidence, the Investigations Committee does not consider it probable that a present 

obligation existed in relation to these claims or potential claims as at 31 December 2023, and the amount of any 

financial effects, which could be material, is not currently possible to predict or estimate.
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Claims in respect of Horne Smelter

In October 2023, the Horne Plaintiffs filed Motion for Authorization of a Class Action and to Obtain the Status 

of Representatives against the Horne Defendants regarding the Group’s Horne Smelter situated in the city of 

Rouyn-Noranda, in the Province of Québec, Canada. The Plaintiffs allege that the Group caused prejudice to 

the proposed class by releasing contaminants into the environment, while fully aware of the risks and dangers 

to public health. The Plaintiffs also allege that the Québec Government committed a fault and caused prejudice 

to the proposed class in that it tolerated and authorised these emissions. The claims are at an early stage. Taking 

into account all available evidence, the Company does not consider it probable that a present obligation existed 

as at 31 December 2023 in relation to this claim, and the amount of any financial effects, which could be 

material, is not currently possible to predict or estimate.

Other legal proceedings

Other claims, potential claims and unresolved disputes are pending against the Group, however, based on the 

Group’s current assessment of these matters and any future individually material financial obligations are 

considered to be remote.

Environmental contingencies

The Group’s operations are subject to various environmental laws and regulation and is not aware of any 

material non-compliance with those laws and regulations. The Group accrues for environmental contingencies 

when such contingencies are probable and reasonably estimable. Such accruals are adjusted as new information 

develops or circumstances change. Recoveries of environmental remediation costs from insurance companies 

and other parties are recorded as assets when the recoveries are virtually certain. At this time, the Group is 

unaware of any material environmental incidents at its locations. Any potential liability arising from 

environmental incidents in the ordinary course of the Group’s business would not usually be expected to have 

a material adverse effect on its consolidated income, financial position or cash flows.

Tax disputes

The Group assesses its liabilities and contingencies for all tax years open to audit based upon the latest 

information available. Inherent uncertainties exist in estimates of tax contingencies due to complexities of 

interpretation and changes in tax laws. For those matters where it is probable that an adjustment will be made, 

the Group records its best estimate of these tax liabilities, including related interest charges. Other than as set 

out below, the current open tax matters are spread across numerous jurisdictions and consist primarily of legacy 

transfer pricing matters that have been open for a number of years and may take several more years to resolve, 

none of which are individually material. During 2018, the DRC parliament adopted a revised mining code (the 

“2018 Mining Code”) introducing wide ranging reforms including the introduction of higher royalties, a new 

Super Profits Tax regime and further regulatory controls. This triggered a reassessment of the Group’s tax 

positions in the DRC. Based on the potential challenges of historical tax positions and uncertainties of the 2018 

Mining Code, specifically, the application and interpretation of the Super Profits Tax, which cannot be offset 

by carry forward income tax losses, consideration was given to the range of possible outcomes to determine the 

expected value of the tax losses available for future offset, including to what extent previously incurred tax 

losses would be available to offset future taxable profits. Various tax authorities in the DRC have issued draft 

assessments adjusting revenue and denying costs and other items, along with customs related claims for alleged 

non-compliance or incorrect coding on certain filings. Upon receipt of such draft assessments, the Group 

engages with the tax authorities to defend its filing positions. As at 31 December 2023, there are various ongoing 

technical discussions and challenges, the ultimate outcome of which remains uncertain, and therefore there 

remains a risk that the outcome could materially impact the recognised balances within the next financial year.

In previous periods, HMRC have issued formal transfer pricing, unallowable purposes and diverted profits tax 

assessments for the 2008-2019 tax years, amounting to U.S.$912 million as at 31 December 2023. The Group 
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has appealed against and continues to vigorously contest these assessments, following, over the years, various 

legal opinions received and detailed analysis conducted, supporting its positions and policies applied. The 

matter is now proceeding through the Mutual Agreement Process pursuant to article 24 of the Switzerland-

United Kingdom Income Tax Treaty 1977. Therefore, the Group has not fully provided for the amount assessed. 

The Group does not anticipate a significant risk of material changes in estimates in this matter in the next 

financial year.

Financial risk management 

Commodity price risk

The Group is exposed to price movements for the inventory it holds and the products it produces which are not 

held to meet priced forward contract obligations and forward priced purchase or sale contracts. The Group 

manages a significant portion of this exposure through futures and options transactions on worldwide 

commodity exchanges or in over the counter markets, to the extent available. Commodity price risk 

management activities are considered an integral part of the Group’s physical commodity marketing activities 

and the related assets and liabilities are included in other financial assets from and other financial liabilities to 

derivative counterparties, including clearing brokers and exchanges. Whilst it is the Group’s policy to 

substantially hedge its commodity price risks, there remains the possibility that the hedging instruments chosen 

may not always provide effective mitigation of the underlying price risk. The hedging instruments available to 

the marketing businesses may differ in specific characteristics to the risk exposure to be hedged, resulting in an 

ongoing and unavoidable basis risk exposure. In addition, certain commodities do not have a liquid derivative 

market and thus price risk is not able to be fully hedged through derivative instruments. Residual basis risk 

exposures represent a key focus point for the Group’s commodity department teams who actively engage in the 

management of such.

Value at Risk (VaR)

One of the tools used by the Group to monitor and limit its primary market risk exposure, namely commodity 

price risk related to its physical marketing activities, is the use of a VaR computation. VaR is a risk measurement 

technique which estimates the potential loss that could occur on risk positions as a result of movements in risk 

factors over a specified time horizon, given a specific level of confidence. The VaR methodology is a 

statistically defined, probability-based approach that takes into account market volatilities, as well as risk 

diversification by recognising offsetting positions and correlations between commodities and markets. In this 

way, risks can be measured consistently across all markets and commodities and risk measures can be 

aggregated to derive a single risk value.

The Group uses a one-day VaR approach based on Monte Carlo simulations at a 95 per cent. confidence level 

and using a weighted data history for a one-day time horizon. The Group has historically had a consolidated 

VaR limit (one-day 95 per cent.) of U.S.$100 million representing some 0.2 per cent. of total equity. As part of 

its annual review process in the first half of 2021, the Board approved an increase in the VaR limit from 

U.S.$100 million to U.S.$150 million, with effect from 1 January 2022, which represented approximately 0.3 

per cent. of total equity. Around the time of the Russian invasion of Ukraine, the Group’s VaR spiked due to the 

unprecedented levels of volatility in commodity markets (primarily energy but also certain metals), rather than 

due to any change in the Group’s marketing positions or trading strategies. Given the market backdrop, prior to 

any likely breach, the Board approved a temporary waiver from the application of a Group VaR limit. In mid-

May 2022, as some non-energy markets started to normalise, the temporary waiver was rescinded and replaced 

with a VaR limit of U.S.$200 million, to account for the statistically elevated energy market risk environment. 

Similarly, prior to any breach, a temporary waiver was approved in mid-August 2022 due to increasing LNG 

volatilities as the European gas market was under significant pressure. As part of its annual review process in 

the second half of 2022, the Board approved a Group VaR limit (excluding LNG) of U.S.$150 million, while 
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maintaining a separate multipronged LNG risk reporting and control structure, including the continued 

calculation and highlighting of VaR outcomes. As market volatility somewhat normalised in the second half of 

2023, following a comprehensive review, the Board determined that it was appropriate to revert to a VaR limit 

that includes LNG of U.S.$200 million.

The Group’s market risk VaR (one day 95 per cent.) as at 31 December 2023 was U.S.$42 million (including 

LNG) or U.S.$46 million (excluding LNG). Average Group VaR, excluding LNG, was U.S.$74 million. 

Including LNG, average market risk VaR (one day 95 per cent.) during the year ended 31 December 2023 was 

U.S.$92 million, representing 0.2 per cent. of equity (year ended 31 December 2022: U.S.$158 million, 31 

December 2021: U.S.$54 million). There were no limit breaches during the period.

Whilst it is the Group’s policy to substantially hedge its commodity price risks, there remains the possibility 

that the hedging instruments chosen may not always provide effective mitigation of the underlying price risk. 

The hedging instruments available to the marketing businesses may differ in specific characteristics to the risk 

exposure to be hedged, resulting in an ongoing and unavoidable basis risk exposure. Residual basis risk 

exposures represent a key focus point for the Group’s commodity division teams who actively engage in the 

management of such.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to various risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of 

market interest rates on its assets and liabilities and cash flows. Matching of assets and liabilities is utilised as 

the dominant method to hedge interest rate risks; other methods include the use of interest rate swaps and similar 

derivative instruments. Floating-rate debt which is predominantly used to fund fast turning working capital 

(interest is internally charged on the funding of this working capital) is primarily based on SOFR plus an 

appropriate premium. Accordingly, prevailing market interest rates are continuously factored into transactional 

pricing and terms.

Assuming the amount of floating rate liabilities at the reporting period end were outstanding for the whole year, 

interest rates were 100 basis points higher/lower and all other variables held constant, the Group’s income for 

the year ended 31 December 2023 would decrease/increase by U.S.$226 million (2022: U.S.$188 million). 

Currency risk

The U.S. dollar is the predominant functional currency of the Group. Currency risk is the risk of loss from 

movements in exchange rates related to transactions and balances in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Such 

transactions include operating expenditure, capital expenditure and to a lesser extent purchases and sales in 

currencies other than the functional currency. Purchases or sales of commodities concluded in currencies other 

than the functional currency, apart from certain limited domestic sales at industrial operations which act as a 

hedge against local operating costs, are hedged through forward exchange contracts. Consequently, foreign 

exchange movements against the U.S. dollar on recognised transactions would have an immaterial financial 

impact. The Group enters into currency hedging transactions with leading financial institutions.

The Group’s debt-related payments (both principal and interest) are denominated in or swapped using hedging 

instruments into U.S. dollars. The Group’s operating expenses, being a small portion of its revenue base, are 

incurred in a mix of currencies of which the U.S. dollar, Swiss franc, pound sterling, Canadian dollar, Australian 

dollar, euro, Kazakhstani tenge, Colombian peso and South African rand are the predominant currencies.

Interest rate benchmark reform

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had completed its transition to the new interest rate benchmarks. For 

interest rate hedging arrangements, all USD LIBOR derivative contracts transitioned to the SOFR upon 

cessation date and in accordance with the terms of the ISDA Fallback Protocol. For other financial and non-
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financial assets and liabilities, the Group adopted a combination of Term SOFR, daily SOFR compounded in 

arrears, and the cost of funds quoted by the bank (if any) involved in such financing.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the possibility that counterparties may not be able to settle obligations due to the Group 

within their agreed payment terms. Financial assets which potentially expose the Group to credit risk consist 

principally of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and advances, derivative instruments and non-current 

advances and loans. The Group’s credit management process includes the assessment, monitoring and reporting 

of counterparty exposure on a regular basis. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are placed overnight with 

a diverse group of highly credit rated financial institutions. Credit risk with respect to receivables and advances 

is mitigated by the large number of customers comprising the Group’s customer base, their diversity across 

various industries and geographical areas, as well as the Group’s policy to mitigate these risks through letters 

of credit, netting, collateral and insurance arrangements where appropriate. Additionally, it is the Group’s policy 

that transactions and activities in trade-related financial instruments be concluded under master netting 

agreements or long form confirmations to enable offsetting of balances due to/from a common counterparty in 

the event of default by the counterparty. The Group actively and continuously monitors the credit quality of its 

counterparties through internal reviews and a credit scoring process, which includes, where available, public 

credit ratings. Balances with counterparties not having a public investment grade or equivalent internal rating 

are typically enhanced to investment grade through the extensive use of credit enhancement products, such as 

letters of credit or insurance products. The Group has a diverse customer base, with no customer representing 

more than 8.5 per cent. (2022: 7.1 per cent.) of its trade receivables (taking into account credit enhancements) 

or accounting for more than 3.3 per cent. of its revenues over the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 3.2 per 

cent.).

Critical accounting policies

The preparation of the financial information contained in the Group’s annual Financial Statements required 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, as well as the disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities as at the date of the Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues 

and expenses during the reporting period. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 

experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual outcomes could differ from those 

estimates.

The Group has identified several areas as being critical to understanding the financial position, as they required 

its directors to make complex and/or subjective judgments and estimates about matters that are inherently 

uncertain. An explanation of significant accounting estimates and their principal accounting policies are 

disclosed in Note 1 to the 2023 Financial Statements incorporated by reference into this Offering Circular. 
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DESCRIPTION OF INDEBTEDNESS 

Indebtedness and capital resources

The Group’s business requires high levels of working capital funding and significant liquidity. The Group’s 

funding requirements are generally correlated with movements in commodity prices and the extent of business 

opportunities. Increasing commodity prices primarily lead to increased funding requirements for the Group’s 

marketing activities, but may also lead to increased funding associated with acquisitions and/or capital 

expenditures in the Group’s industrial activities as it looks to increase production in a higher commodity price 

environment. In a falling commodity price environment, the Group will generally generate less cash flow from 

its industrial activities but will also require lower working capital funding in its marketing activities. In these 

circumstances, it may also choose to defer discretionary capital expenditure and shut or curtail production of 

certain assets. The Group’s primary financial objective is to maintain a strong financial profile in line with an 

investment grade rating, including having access to sufficient amounts of liquidity to finance its operations and 

planned growth. In 2021, the Board made the first tranche of a 2021 base distribution of U.S.$0.06 per share 

(U.S.$794 million) in May 2021 and the second tranche plus a further distribution of U.S.$0.04 per share 

(together, U.S.$1,321 million) was made in September 2021. In 2022, the Board made the first tranche of a 

2022 base distribution of U.S.$0.13 per share (U.S.$1,707 million) in May 2022 and the second tranche of 

U.S.$0.13 per share plus an additional distribution of U.S.$0.11 per share (together, U.S.$3,125 million) was 

made in September 2022. In 2023, the Board made the first tranche of a 2023 base distribution of U.S.$0.22 

per share (U.S.$2,750 million) and the second tranche of U.S.$0.22 per share plus an additional distribution of 

U.S.$0.08 per share (together, U.S.$3,700 million) was made in September 2023. At 31 December 2021, the 

Group’s net funding was U.S.$30,837 million and net debt was U.S.$6,042 million. At 31 December 2022, the 

Group’s net funding was U.S.$27,500 million and net debt was U.S.$75 million. At 31 December 2023, the 

Group’s net funding was U.S.$31,062 million and net debt was U.S.$4,917 million.

The Group uses short- and medium-term debt to finance its current assets, comprising inventories and trade 

receivables, which are either self-liquidating or otherwise subject to a high rate of turnover. The Group meets 

these financing requirements by maintaining appropriate levels of cash reserves and/or ensuring that it has 

sufficient headroom under its committed revolving credit facilities. Against a backdrop where near-term debt 

maturities and investment commitments are deemed “normal”, it is the Group’s policy to maintain a minimum 

level of committed liquidity headroom of U.S.$3 billion to meet all expected and unexpected cash requirements 

of its business. The liquidity headroom is provided in the form of cash, undrawn committed revolving credit 

facilities and marketable securities. 

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had available committed liquidity and cash amounting to U.S.$12.9 billion. 

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had available committed liquidity and cash amounting to U.S.$ 13.0 billion. 

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had available committed liquidity amounting to U.S.$10.3 billion. The 

Group has alternative sources of headroom which are not included in these figures (e.g. liquidity can be raised 

quickly through undrawn uncommitted credit facilities which are not included in the reported headroom). 

During the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023, the Group complied with the requirements of its 

borrowing arrangements. None of the Group’s credit facilities or funding programmes include rating triggers 

which would accelerate repayment obligations in the event of a credit rating downgrade.

Following the acquisition of Xstrata, a cross-guarantee structure was implemented such that (i) existing rated 

external debt providers to the Group received a Glencore Schweiz guarantee, (ii) existing rated external debt 

providers to Xstrata received a guarantee from GIAG and the Company and (iii) future unsecured debt raised 

by the Group in public or international banking markets (including the Notes) is expected to benefit from a 

guarantor group comprising the Company, GIAG and Glencore Schweiz.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group had the following principal indebtedness outstanding:

Amount issued or 

outstanding as at 

31 December 2023

(U.S.$ million)  

Non-current borrowings 

Capital market notes ......................................................................................................................... 18,587

Amount drawn under revolving credit facilities ............................................................................... 1,306

Lease liabilities ................................................................................................................................. 961

Other bank loans ............................................................................................................................... 421

Total non-current borrowings ....................................................................................................... 21,275

Current borrowings 

Secured inventory/receivables/other facilities .................................................................................. 2,680

Amount drawn under revolving credit facilities ............................................................................... 150

U.S. commercial paper...................................................................................................................... 1,044

Capital market notes ......................................................................................................................... 2,823

Lease liabilities ................................................................................................................................. 547

Other bank loans ............................................................................................................................... 3,722

Total current borrowings ............................................................................................................... 10,966

Total borrowings ............................................................................................................................. 32,241

Proportionate adjustment – net funding(1) ......................................................................................... 746

Less: cash and cash equivalents ........................................................................................................ (1,925)

Net funding ...................................................................................................................................... 31,062

Less: readily marketable inventories ................................................................................................. (26,145)

Net debt............................................................................................................................................ 4,917

Note: 

(1) Comprises U.S.$746 million of net funding at Collahuasi and Antamina. 

Committed syndicated revolving credit facilities 

The Group’s revolving credit facilities are for general corporate purposes and comprise (i) a U.S.$9.06 billion 

12-month revolving credit facility (originally maturing May 2024, but which the banking syndicate have agreed 

(effective May 2024) to extend to May 2025 with a reduced facility amount of not less than U.S.$8.68 billion), 

with a 12-month term-out option at the borrower’s discretion, and (ii) a U.S.$3.9 billion medium term revolving 

credit facility maturing in May 2029. These committed unsecured facilities contain no financial covenants, no 

rating triggers, no material adverse change clauses and no external factor clauses.

U.S. commercial paper

The Group has in place a standalone U.S. commercial paper programme, rated A2 and P2 by Standard & Poor’s 

and Moody’s, respectively. The notes issued under this U.S.$4 billion programme, carry interest at fixed market 

rates and generally mature not more than 100 days from the date of issue. 
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Capital markets notes 

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had the following capital markets notes outstanding: 

Maturity

Amount 

outstanding as 

at 31 December

2023(1)(2)

(U.S.$ million) 

Euro 750 million 1.750% coupon bonds ...................................................................................  Mar 2025 799 

Euro 500 million 3.750% coupon bonds ...................................................................................  Apr 2026 534 

Euro 500 million 1.50% coupon bonds .....................................................................................  Oct 2026 512 

Euro 950 million 1.125% coupon bonds ...................................................................................  Mar 2028 1,050 

Euro 600 million 0.750% coupon bonds ...................................................................................  Mar 2029 570

Euro 500 million 1.250% coupon bonds ...................................................................................  Mar 2033 421

Eurobonds ...............................................................................................................................  3,886

GBP 500 million 3.125% coupon bonds ...................................................................................  Mar 2026 596 

CHF 250 million 0.350% coupon bonds ...................................................................................  Sep 2025 297

CHF 225 million 1.00% coupon bonds .....................................................................................  Mar 2027 268

CHF 150 million 0.50% coupon bonds .....................................................................................  Sep 2028 167

Swiss franc bonds ...................................................................................................................  732

U.S.$625 million non-dilutive convertible bonds .....................................................................  Mar 2025 596 

U.S.$500 million 4.000% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  Apr 2025 481 

U.S.$1,000 million 1.625% coupon bonds ...............................................................................  Sep 2025 997 

U.S.$600 million 1.625% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  Apr 2026 554 

U.S.$1,000 million 4.000% coupon bonds ...............................................................................  Mar 2027 945 

U.S.$50 million 4.000% coupon bonds ....................................................................................  Mar 2027 50 

U.S.$500 million 3.875% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  Oct 2027 470 

U.S.$500 million 5.400% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  May 2028 492 

U.S.$750 million 6.125% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  Oct 2028 773 

U.S.$750 million 4.875% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  Mar 2029 709 

U.S.$1,000 million 2.500% coupon bonds ...............................................................................  Sep 2030 994 

U.S.$750 million 6.375% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  Oct 2030 781 

U.S.$600 million 2.850% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  Apr 2031 514 

U.S.$750 million 2.625% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  Sep 2031 638 

U.S.$500 million 5.700% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  May 2033 485 

U.S.$1,000 million 6.500% coupon bonds ...............................................................................  Oct 2033 1,059 

U.S.$250 million 6.200% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  Jun 2035 267 

U.S.$500 million 6.900% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  Nov 2037 575 

U.S.$497 million 6.000% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  Nov 2041 533 

U.S.$468 million 5.530% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  Oct 2042 473 
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Maturity

Amount 

outstanding as 

at 31 December

2023(1)(2)

(U.S.$ million) 

U.S.$500 million 3.875% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  Apr 2051 496

U.S.$500 million 3.375% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  Sep 2051 491

U.S.$ bonds.............................................................................................................................. 13,373

Total non-current bonds ........................................................................................................ 18,587

U.S.$974 million 4.125% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  Mar 2024 974 

U.S.$990 million 4.625% coupon bonds ..................................................................................  Apr 2024 981 

Euro 600 million 0.6250% coupon bonds .................................................................................  Sep 2024 663 

CHF 175 million 1.250% coupon bonds ...................................................................................  Oct 2024 205 

Total current bonds ................................................................................................................ 2,823

Notes: 

(1) As at 31 December 2023, the book value (U.S.$363 million) of Volcan’s U.S.$365 million 4.375% coupon bonds 

due February 2026 are classified as liabilities held for sale. 

(2) On 18 January 2024, the Group also issued CHF 150 million 2.215 per cent. Notes due 2030. 
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Board of Directors  

The Directors of the Company are as follows and their profiles are set out below: 

Name Age Role

Kalidas Madhavpeddi 68 Non-Executive Chairman

Gary Nagle 49 CEO

Gill Marcus 74 Senior Independent Director

Martin Gilbert 68 Independent Non-Executive Director

Cynthia Carroll 67 Independent Non-Executive Director

Peter Coates AO 78 Non-Executive Director

David Wormsley 63 Independent Non-Executive Director

Liz Hewitt 67 Independent Non-Executive Director

Kalidas Madhavpeddi, age 68 (Non-Executive Chairman)

Kalidas Madhavpeddi has over 40 years of experience in the international mining industry, including being 

CEO of CMOC International, the operating subsidiary of China Molybdenum Co Ltd (China Moly), from 2008-

2018. He started his career at Phelps Dodge, where he worked from 1980 to 2006, ultimately becoming senior 

vice president and was responsible for the company’s global business development, acquisitions and 

divestments, as well as its global exploration programmes, and president of its international operations.

Mr Madhavpeddi is currently a director of Novagold Resources and Dundee Precious Metals Inc. He was 

formerly director and chair of the governance committee of Capstone Mining.

He holds degrees from the Indian Institute of Technology, Madras, India and the University of Iowa and has 

completed the Advanced Management Program at Harvard Business School.

Gary Nagle, age 49 (CEO)

Gary Nagle joined Glencore in 2000 in Switzerland as part of the coal business development team. He was 

heavily involved in seeding a portfolio of assets to Xstrata in 2002, in conjunction with its initial listing on the 

London Stock Exchange. Mr Nagle worked for five years (2008-2013) in Colombia as CEO of Prodeco. He 

then moved to South Africa to be Head of Glencore’s Ferroalloys assets (2013-2018). Following that he was 

the Head of Glencore’s Coal Assets based in Australia. He was a non-executive director of Lonmin plc from 

2013-2015 and has represented Glencore on the Minerals Councils of Australia and Colombia.

Mr Nagle has commerce and accounting degrees from the University of the Witwatersrand and qualified as a 

Chartered Accountant in South Africa in 1999. 

Gill Marcus, age 74 (Senior Independent Director)

Gill Marcus worked in exile for the African National Congress from 1970 before returning to South Africa in 

1990. In 1994 she was elected to the South African Parliament. In 1996 she was appointed as the Deputy 

Minister of Finance and from 1999-2004 was the Deputy Governor of the Reserve Bank. She was Governor of 

the South African Reserve Bank from 2009-2014.

Ms Marcus was the non-executive chair of the Absa Group from 2007-2009 and has been a non-executive 

director of Gold Fields Ltd and Bidvest. She has acted as chair of a number of South African regulatory bodies.
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From 2018 to 2019, she was appointed to the Judicial Commission of Inquiry into allegations of impropriety at 

the Public Investment Corporation.

Ms Marcus is a graduate of the University of South Africa. 

Martin Gilbert, age 68 (Independent Non-Executive Director) 

Martin Gilbert co-founded Aberdeen Asset Management in 1983, leading the company for 34 years and 

overseeing its 2017 merger with Standard Life, when he was made co-CEO. 

Mr Gilbert is currently chairman of AssetCo plc, Revolut Limited and Toscafund. He was formerly deputy chair 

of the board of Sky PLC until 2018. 

Mr Gilbert is a member of the International Advisory Board of British American Business. 

Mr Gilbert was educated in Aberdeen. He has an LLB, an M.A. in Accountancy and is a Chartered Accountant.

Cynthia Carroll, age 67 (Independent Non-Executive Director) 

Cynthia Carroll has over 30 years of experience in the resources sector. She began her career as an exploration 

geologist at Amoco before joining Alcan. She held various executive roles there culminating in being CEO of 

the Primary Metal Group, Alcan’s core business. From 2007 to 2013 she served as CEO of Anglo American 

plc.

Ms Carroll is currently a non-executive director of Hitachi, Ltd, Baker Hughes Company and Pembina Pipeline 

Corporation.

Ms Carroll holds a Bachelor’s degree in Geology from Skidmore College (NY), a Master’s degree in Geology 

from the University of Kansas and an MBA from Harvard University. She is a fellow of the Royal Academy of 

Engineers and a Fellow of the Institute of Materials, Minerals and Mining.

Peter Coates AO, age 78 (Non-Executive Director)

Peter Coates worked in senior positions in a range of resource companies before joining Glencore’s coal unit 

as a senior executive in 1994. When Glencore sold its Australian and South African coal assets to Xstrata in 

2002, he became CEO of Xstrata’s coal business, stepping down in December 2007. 

He is currently a non-executive director of Event Hospitality and Entertainment Ltd.

He was non-executive chairman of Xstrata Australia from 2008-2009, Minara Resources Ltd from 2008-2011 

and Santos Ltd from 2009-2013 and 2015-2018. 

Mr Coates holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Mining Engineering from the University of New South Wales. 

He was appointed as an Officer of the Order of Australia in June 2009 and awarded the Australasian Institute 

of Mining and Metallurgy Medal for 2010.

David Wormsley, age 63 (Independent Non-Executive Director)

David Wormsley worked in investment banking for 35 years. His last position at Citigroup was Chairman, UK 

banking and broking when he retired in March 2021. Mr Wormsley led a wide variety of corporate transactions 

in the UK and internationally, including IPOs and equity fundraising, both public and private, mergers and 

acquisitions and debt financing. During his period of management, Citigroup successfully acquired and 

integrated the majority of ABN Amro’s broking business. Under his leadership, the Citigroup UK M&A 

franchise was ranked between number one and five in the market.

Mr Wormsley is currently a non-executive director of Stanhope plc and a Governor of the Museum of London. 

He holds an economics degree from Downing College, Cambridge.
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Liz Hewitt, age 67 (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Liz Hewitt has over 30 years’ business experience in executive and non-executive positions. She began her 

career as a qualified chartered accountant with Arthur Andersen & Co. She held various executive positions in 

private equity companies including 3i Group plc, Gartmore Investment Management Limited and Citicorp 

Venture Capital Ltd. At 3i Group plc, she was a private equity investor and then director of corporate affairs. 

She also worked for Smith & Nephew plc as group director of corporate affairs.

Liz Hewitt is currently a non-executive director of Kerry Group plc. She was previously non-executive director 

of National Grid plc from 2020-2024, Melrose Industries plc from 2013-2022, Novo Nordisk from 2012- 2021 

Savills plc from 2014-2019 and Synergy Health plc from 2011-2014.

Ms Hewitt holds a bachelor’s degree in Economics from University College London.

Senior Manager

Steven Kalmin, age 53 (CFO) 

Steven Kalmin has been CFO since June 2005.

Mr Kalmin joined the Group in September 1999 as general manager of finance and treasury functions at the 

Group’s coal industrial unit in Sydney. He moved to the Group’s head office in 2003 to oversee the Group’s 

accounting function, becoming CFO in June 2005. From November 2017 to June 2020 he was a director of 

Katanga Mining Limited. 

Mr Kalmin holds a Bachelor of Business (with distinction) from the University of Technology, Sydney and is a 

member of the Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand and the Financial Services Institute of 

Australasia. Before joining the Group, Mr Kalmin worked for nine years at Horwath Chartered Accountants. 

Corporate governance

The Board structure

As at the date of this Offering Circular, the Board consists of one Executive Director and seven Non-Executive 

Directors, of whom six are independent. Peter Coates is not considered as independent, due to his employment 

by the Group in 2013 and since he was first appointed to the Board in 2011. Kalidas Madhavpeddi was 

considered as independent up to his appointment to the role of Chairman.

The Company is committed to high standards of corporate governance. In accordance with the UK Listing 

Rules, the Company states every year in its annual report whether it has complied in full with the UK Corporate 

Governance Code. The statement sets out the reason for any non-compliance under the ‘Comply or Explain’ 

principles. As at the date of this Offering Circular, the Company believes that it complies with all provisions of 

the UK Corporate Governance Code.

Board committees

The Board has established the following permanent committees:

Audit committee

The audit committee meets not less than three times a year and has responsibility for, among other things, 

monitoring the integrity of the Group’s financial statements. It oversees the Group’s relationship with its 

external auditors and reviews the effectiveness of the external audit process. The committee also has 

responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management 

framework. The ultimate responsibility for reviewing and approving the interim and annual financial statements 
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remains with the Board. The current members of the audit committee are Liz Hewitt (Chair), Martin Gilbert, 

David Wormsley and Gill Marcus. 

Ethics, compliance and culture committee

The ethics, compliance and culture committee meets not less than twice a year and is responsible for overseeing 

key ethics and compliance matters and the Group’s culture. The committee oversees the implementation of the 

Group Ethics and Compliance Programme including Group policies, procedures, systems and controls for the 

prevention of unethical business practices and misconduct. It also reviews and reports to the Board on the 

Group’s ‘Raising Concerns’ programme available for employees to raise, in confidence, any possible 

wrongdoing in matters within the committee’s remit. This committee currently comprises Cynthia Carroll 

(Chair), Gill Marcus and Peter Coates. 

Health, safety, environment and communities committee

The health and safety, environment and communities committee meets not less than once a year and is 

responsible for monitoring the Group’s policies and performance on health and safety, environmental and local 

community issues as they affect the Group’s operations. The current members of the health and safety, 

environment and communities committee are Peter Coates (Chair), Kalidas Madhavpeddi and Cynthia Carroll.

Nomination committee

The nomination committee meets not less than once a year and has responsibility for making recommendations 

to the Board on the composition of the Board and its committees and on retirements and appointments of 

additional and replacement Directors and ensuring compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code in 

these matters. The current members of the nomination committee are Kalidas Madhavpeddi (Chair), Cynthia 

Carroll, Peter Coates, Martin Gilbert, Gill Marcus, David Wormsley and Liz Hewitt.

Remuneration committee

The remuneration committee meets not less than once a year and has responsibility for making 

recommendations to the Board (i) on the Group’s policy on the remuneration of senior management and (ii) for 

the determination, within agreed terms of reference, of the remuneration of the Chairman and of specific 

remuneration packages for each of the executive Directors and the members of management, including pension 

rights and any compensation payments. The remuneration committee also ensures compliance with the UK 

Corporate Governance Code in this respect. The current members of the remuneration committee are Martin 

Gilbert (Chair), Kalidas Madhavpeddi, Cynthia Carroll and David Wormsley. 

The board has established the following ad-hoc committee:

Investigations Committee 

A Board committee was established in July 2018 for the purpose of overseeing the Group’s response to a United 

States Department of Justice investigation. This committee has subsequently assumed oversight and decision 

making over the various government investigations that are set out in “Business—Legal and Regulatory – 

Government Investigations”. It also monitors the Group’s exposure arising from these investigations and 

concludes on the appropriate disclosure in the financial statements. This committee currently comprises Kalidas 

Madhavpeddi (Chair), Martin Gilbert and Liz Hewitt. 

Board compensation

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total emoluments for the Directors of the Company serving during 

2023 (being Cynthia Carroll, Peter Coates, Martin Gilbert, Kalidas Madhavpeddi, Gill Marcus, Patrice Merrin, 

Gary Nagle, David Wormsley and Liz Hewitt) were U.S.$8,737,000. These include contributions made in 

respect of a pension plan for the Executive Director.
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SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDERS

Interests of significant shareholders 

Taking into account the information available to the Company as at 29 February 2024, the table below shows 

the Company’s understanding of the interests in 3 per cent. or more of the total voting rights attaching to its 

issued ordinary share capital: 

Shareholder

Number of 

Shares

Percentage of 

Total Voting 

Rights

Ivan Glasenberg ......................................................................................................... 1,211,957,850 9.93

Qatar Holding LLC .................................................................................................... 1,046,550,951 8.57

BlackRock, Inc .......................................................................................................... 889,638,286 7.29

The Capital Group Companies, Inc. .......................................................................... 643,190,076 5.27

GQG Partners, LLC ................................................................................................... 504,330,746 4.13

At 29 February 2024, the Company’s issued ordinary share capital was 13,550,000,000, comprising 

12,166,724,097 shares with voting rights and 1,383,275,903 shares held in treasury and employee benefit trusts.

Save as disclosed above, the Company was not aware of any person who, as at 29 February 2024, directly or 

indirectly, has a holding which exceeds the threshold of 3 per cent. of the total voting rights attaching to the 

issued ordinary share capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 29 February 2024, the Company was not aware of any person or persons who 

directly, indirectly, jointly or severally exercise or could exercise control over the Company, nor is it aware of 

any arrangements the operation of which may, at a subsequent date, result in a change in control of the Group.

None of the Company’s major shareholders have, nor is this any proposal for them to have, different voting 

rights attached to the ordinary shares they hold.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES AND GUARANTEES

The following is a summary of the material provisions of the Notes, the Guarantees and the Indenture. This 

summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to all of the provisions 

of the Notes, the Guarantees and the Indenture. Copies of the Indenture will be available for inspection or 

collection during normal business hours by a Noteholder upon reasonable request at any time after 4 April 

2024 (the “Closing Date”) at the offices of the Trustee or the Registrar currently located at Citigroup Centre, 

Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London E14 5LB or may be provided by email to a Noteholder following 

their prior written request to the Trustee or the Registrar and provision of proof of holding and identity (in 

a form satisfactory to the Trustee or the Registrar, as the case may be. Any capitalized term used herein but 

not defined shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the Notes, the Guarantees or the Indenture.

General

The Notes and the Guarantees will be issued pursuant to the Indenture to be dated as of the Closing Date, 

among the Issuer, the Company, GIAG and Glencore Schweiz, as Guarantors, Citibank, N.A., London Branch, 

as Trustee, and Citibank, N.A., London Branch, as Registrar, Paying Agent, Calculation Agent and Transfer 

Agent.

The Notes will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be sold or otherwise transferred 

except pursuant to registration under the Securities Act or in accordance with Rule 144A or Rule 904 of 

Regulation S thereunder or in a resale transaction that is otherwise exempt from such registration 

requirements, and will bear a legend to this effect.

The Indenture is not required to be nor will it be qualified under the United States Trust Indenture Act of 

1939, as amended (the “Trust Indenture Act”) and will not incorporate by reference all of the provisions 

of the Trust Indenture Act.

References to the “Notes” include the Guarantees. References to the “Noteholders” are to the registered 

holders of the Notes. The Notes are not listed.

The Notes will be in registered form in denominations of U.S.$2,000 and integral multiples of U.S.$1,000 

in excess thereof. The Notes will be issued in the form of Global Notes in registered form and may be 

exchanged into Definitive Notes only in the circumstances described in the Indenture and Global Notes.

Principal, maturity and interest

Principal and maturity on the Notes 

The Notes will be unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and will be unconditionally 

guaranteed on a senior, unsecured and joint and several basis by the Guarantors. The 2027 Notes are initially 

issuable in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed U.S.$800,000,000 and will mature on 4 April 2027. 

The 2029 Notes are initially issuable in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed U.S.$1,100,000,000 

and will mature on 4 April 2029. The 2034 Notes are initially issuable in an aggregate principal amount not 

to exceed U.S.$1,250,000,000 and will mature on 4 April 2034. The 2054 Notes are initially issuable in an 

aggregate principal amount not to exceed U.S.$500,000,000 and will mature on 4 April 2054. The Floating 

Rate Notes are initially issuable in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed U.S.$350,000,000 and will 

mature on 4 April 2027.

Interest on the Fixed Rate Notes

The 2027 Notes will bear interest at 5.338 per cent. per annum, the 2029 Notes will bear interest at 5.371 

per cent. per annum, the 2034 Notes will bear interest at 5.634 per cent. per annum and the 2054 Notes will 
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bear interest at 5.893 per cent. per annum, all from the date of the initial issue of the Notes or from the most 

recent interest payment date to which interest has been paid or provided for, payable semi-annually in arrear 

on 4 April and 4 October of each year commencing on 4 October 2024 for the 2027 Notes,  4 April and 4 

October of each year commencing on 4 October 2024 for the 2029 Notes, 4 April and 4 October of each year 

commencing on 4 October 2024 for the 2034 Notes and 4 April and 4 October of each year commencing on 

4 October 2024 for the 2054 Notes to the Person in whose name the relevant Note is registered at the close 

of business on the day one Business Day prior to each respective interest payment date, notwithstanding 

any transfer or exchange of such Notes subsequent to the record date and prior to such interest payment 

date. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of 12 30-day months. If the date 

on which any interest payment or principal payment is to be made is not a Business Day, such payment will 

be made on the next day which is a Business Day in New York City and the place of payment of such 

interest or principal without any further interest or other amounts being paid or payable in connection 

therewith.

Interest on the Floating Rate Notes

The Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a floating rate (reset quarterly on each Floating Rate Interest 

Payment Date) equal to Compounded SOFR, plus 1.060 per cent. In no event will the interest on the Floating 

Rate Notes be less than zero. Interest on the Floating Rate Notes will be payable quarterly on 4 January, 4 April, 

4 July and 4 October of each year, commencing on 4 July, 2024, and at maturity (each a “Floating Rate Interest 

Payment Date”), to holders of record on the date that is 15 calendar days prior to each Floating Rate Interest 

Payment Date.

Interest on the Floating Rate Notes will accrue from and including the most recent Floating Rate Interest 

Payment Date or, if no interest has been paid, from the Closing Date. If the 4 January, 4 April, 4 July or 4 

October of any year is not a Business Day, then the next succeeding Business Day will be the applicable Floating 

Rate Interest Payment Date and interest on the Floating Rate Notes will be paid on such next succeeding 

Business Day (unless such next succeeding Business Day falls in the succeeding calendar month, in which case 

the applicable Floating Rate Interest Payment Date will be the Business Day immediately preceding such 4 

January, 4 April, 4 July or 4 October, and interest on the Floating Rate Notes will be paid on such immediately 

preceding Business Day). If the maturity date of the Floating Rate Notes is not a Business Day, the payment of 

principal of, and interest on, the Floating Rate Notes will be made on the next succeeding Business Day, and 

no interest will accrue for the period from and after the maturity date.

The “initial Interest Period” means the period from and including the Closing Date to, but excluding, the first 

Floating Rate Interest Payment Date. Thereafter, each “Interest Period” means the period from and including a 

Floating Rate Interest Payment Date to, but excluding, the immediately succeeding Floating Rate Interest 

Payment Date (such succeeding Floating Rate Interest Payment Date, the “Latter Floating Rate Interest Payment 

Date”); provided that the final interest period for the Floating Rate Notes will be the period from and including 

the Floating Rate Interest Payment Date immediately preceding the maturity date of the Floating Rate Notes to, 

but excluding, the maturity date, or, in the case of an offer to repurchase upon a Change of Control Repurchase 

Event, from and including the Floating Rate Interest Payment Date immediately preceding the payment date in 

connection therewith to, but excluding, the payment date in connection therewith. Interest on the Floating Rate 

Notes will be computed on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed over a 360-day year.

The interest rate for the initial Interest Period will be Compounded SOFR determined on 2 July 2024, plus a 

margin of 1.060 per cent. Thereafter, the interest rate for any Interest Period will be Compounded SOFR, as 

determined on the applicable date that is the second U.S. Government Securities Business Day (as defined 

below) preceding such Floating Rate Interest Payment Date (the “Interest Determination Date”), plus a margin 

of 1.060 per cent. 
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Citibank, N.A., London Branch, or its successor appointed by the Issuer, will act as calculation agent.

The amount of interest accrued and payable on the Floating Rate Notes for each Interest Period will be equal to 

the product of (i) the outstanding principal amount of the Floating Rate Notes multiplied by (ii) the product of 

(a) the Interest Rate for the relevant Interest Period multiplied by (b) the quotient of the actual number of 

calendar days in such Interest Period divided by 360. In no event will the interest rate on the Floating Rate 

Notes be less than zero.

As used herein the following terms have the meanings assigned to them:

“Compounded SOFR” means, with respect to any Interest Period, the rate computed in accordance with the 

following formula set forth below (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one 

hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (e.g., 9.753973 per cent. (or .09753973) being rounded down to 

9.75397 per cent. (or .0975397) and 9.753978 per cent. (or .09753978) being rounded up to 9.75398 per cent. 

(or .0975398)):

(
𝑆𝑂𝐹𝑅 𝐼𝑛𝑑𝑒𝑥𝐸𝑛𝑑

𝑆𝑂𝐹𝑅 𝐼𝑛𝑑𝑒𝑥𝑆𝑡𝑎𝑟𝑡

− 1)  × (
360

𝑑𝑐

)

where:

“SOFR IndexStart” is the SOFR Index value for the day that is two U.S. Government Securities Business Days 

preceding the first date of the relevant Interest Period;

“SOFR IndexEnd” is the SOFR Index value for the day that is two U.S. Government Securities Business Days 

preceding the Latter Floating Rate Interest Payment Date relating to such Interest Period; and

“dc” is the actual number of calendar days from (and including) SOFR IndexStart to (but excluding) SOFR 

IndexEnd (the actual number of calendar days in the applicable Observation Period).

For purposes of determining Compounded SOFR, “SOFR Index” means, with respect to any U.S. Government 

Securities Business Day:

(1) the SOFR Index value as published by the New York Federal Reserve as such index appears on the 

New York Federal Reserve’s Website at 3:00 p.m. (New York time) on such U.S. Government 

Securities Business Day (the “SOFR Determination Time”); provided that:

(2) if a SOFR Index value does not so appear as specified in clause (1) above at the SOFR Determination 

Time, then:

a. if a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date (each as 

defined below) have not occurred with respect to SOFR, then Compounded SOFR shall be 

the rate determined pursuant to the “SOFR Index Unavailable” provisions described below; 

or

b. if a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred 

with respect to SOFR, then Compounded SOFR shall be the rate determined pursuant to the 

“Effect of a Benchmark Transition Event” provisions described below.

“New York Federal Reserve” means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the 

Secured Overnight Financing Rate).

“New York Federal Reserve’s Website” means the website of the New York Federal Reserve, currently at 

http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source.
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“Observation Period” means, in respect of each Interest Period, the period from and including two U.S. 

Government Securities Business Days preceding the first date of such relevant Interest Period to but excluding 

two U.S. Government Securities Business Days preceding the Latter Floating Rate Interest Payment Date for 

such Interest Period; provided that the first Observation Period shall be the period from and including two U.S. 

Government Securities Business Days preceding the Closing Date to, but excluding, the two U.S. Government 

Securities Business Days preceding the first Floating Rate Interest Payment Date.

“Secured Overnight Financing Rate” means the daily secured overnight financing rate as provided by the New 

York Federal Reserve on the New York Federal Reserve’s Website.

“U.S. Government Securities Business Day” means any day except for a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which 

the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of 

its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in U.S. government securities.

SOFR Index Unavailable

If a SOFR IndexStart or SOFR IndexEnd is not published on the associated Interest Determination Date and a 

Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have not occurred with respect to 

the Secured Overnight Financing Rate, “Compounded SOFR” means, for the applicable Interest Period for 

which such index is not available, the rate of return on a daily compounded interest investment calculated in 

accordance with the formula for SOFR Averages, and definitions required for such formula, published on the 

New York Federal Reserve’s Website at https://www.newyorkfed.org/markets/treasury-repo-reference-rates-

information. For the purposes of this provision, references in the SOFR Averages compounding formula and 

related definitions to “calculation period” shall be replaced with “Observation Period” and the words “that is, 

30-, 90-, or 180-calendar days” shall be removed. If the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFRi”) 

does not so appear for any day, “i” in the Observation Period, SOFRi for such day “i” shall be SOFR published 

in respect of the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which the Secured Overnight 

Financing Rate was published on the New York Federal Reserve’s Website.

Effect of a Benchmark Transition Event

If the Issuer or its designee determine on or prior to the relevant Reference Time that a Benchmark Transition 

Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the then-current Benchmark, 

the Benchmark Replacement will replace the then-current Benchmark for all purposes relating to the Floating 

Rate Notes in respect of all determinations on such date and for all determinations on all subsequent dates.

In connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Issuer or its designee will have the 

right to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time.

Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Issuer or its designee pursuant to this section, 

including a determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of 

an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection:

(1) will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error;

(2) will be made in the Issuer’s or its designee’s sole discretion; and

(3) notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the documentation relating to the Floating Rate Notes, 

shall become effective without consent from the holders of the Floating Rate Notes or any other party.

As used herein the following terms have the meanings assigned to them:

“Benchmark” means, initially, Compounded SOFR, as such term is defined above; provided that if the Issuer 

or its designee determine on or prior to the Reference Time that a Benchmark Transition Event and its related 

Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to Compounded SOFR (or the published daily SOFR 
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Index used in the calculation thereof) or the then-current Benchmark, then “Benchmark” means the applicable 

Benchmark Replacement.

“Benchmark Replacement” means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the 

Issuer or its designee as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

(1) the sum of (i) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant 

Governmental Body as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark and (ii) the Benchmark 

Replacement Adjustment;

(2) the sum of (i) the ISDA Fallback Rate and (ii) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; or

(3) the sum of (i) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected by the Issuer or its designee as the 

replacement for the then-current Benchmark giving due consideration to any industry-accepted rate of 

interest as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark for U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate notes at 

such time and (ii) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

“Benchmark Replacement Adjustment” means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be 

determined by the Issuer or its designee as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

(1) the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment (which may be a 

positive or negative value or zero), that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental 

Body for the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement;

(2) if the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is equivalent to the ISDA Fallback Rate, the ISDA 

Fallback Adjustment; or

(3) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the 

Issuer or its designee giving due consideration to any industry-accepted spread adjustment, or method for 

calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of the then-current Benchmark with 

the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate notes at such 

time.

“Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes” means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement, any 

technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the definition of the Interest Period, 

timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, rounding of amounts or tenors and 

other administrative matters) that the Issuer or its designee decide may be appropriate to reflect the adoption of 

such Benchmark Replacement in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Issuer or its 

designee decide that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the 

Issuer or its designee determine that no market practice for use of the Benchmark Replacement exists, in such 

other manner as the Issuer or its designee determine is reasonably necessary).

“Benchmark Replacement Date” means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-

current Benchmark (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

(1) in the case of clause (1) or (2) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the later of (i) the date 

of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (ii) the date on which the 

administrator of the Benchmark permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide the Benchmark (or such 

component); or

(2) in the case of clause (3) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the date of the public statement 

or publication of information referenced therein.
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For the avoidance of doubt, if the event that gives rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same 

day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any determination, the Benchmark Replacement Date 

will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination.

For the avoidance of doubt, for purposes of the definitions of Benchmark Replacement Date and Benchmark 

Transition Event, references to Benchmark also include any reference rate underlying such Benchmark.

“Benchmark Transition Event” means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the 

then-current Benchmark (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof): 

(1) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the Benchmark (or 

such component) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark 

(or such component), permanently or indefinitely; provided that, at the time of such statement or 

publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such 

component);

(2) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the 

Benchmark (or such component), the central bank for the currency of the Benchmark (or such component), 

an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component), a 

resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component) or a 

court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Benchmark, 

which states that the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to 

provide the Benchmark (or such component) permanently or indefinitely; provided that, at the time of such 

statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark 

(or such component); or

(3) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the 

Benchmark announcing that the Benchmark is no longer representative.

“ISDA Definitions” means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and Derivatives 

Association, Inc. or any successor thereto, as amended or supplemented from time to time, or any successor 

definitional booklet for interest rate derivatives published from time to time.

“ISDA Fallback Adjustment” means the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) 

that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be determined upon the 

occurrence of an index cessation event with respect to the Benchmark.

“ISDA Fallback Rate” means the rate that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA 

Definitions to be effective upon the occurrence of an index cessation date with respect to the Benchmark for 

the applicable tenor excluding the applicable ISDA Fallback Adjustment.

“Reference Time” with respect to any determination of the Benchmark means (1) if the Benchmark is 

Compounded SOFR, the SOFR Determination Time, and (2) if the Benchmark is not Compounded SOFR, the 

time determined by the Issuer or its designee after giving effect to the Benchmark Replacement Conforming 

Changes.

“Relevant Governmental Body” means the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New 

York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve 

Bank of New York or any successor thereto.

“Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement” means the Benchmark Replacement excluding the Benchmark 

Replacement Adjustment.
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The interest rate and amount of interest to be paid on the Floating Rate Notes for each interest period will be 

determined by the Calculation Agent. All determinations made by the Calculation Agent shall, in the absence 

of manifest error, wilful misconduct or gross negligence, be conclusive for all purposes and binding on the 

Issuer and the holders of the Floating Rate Notes. In no event will the rate of interest on the Floating Rate Notes 

be higher than the maximum rate permitted by applicable law. So long as Compounded SOFR is required to be 

determined with respect to the Floating Rate Notes, there will at all times be a calculation agent. If any then-

acting calculation agent shall be unable or unwilling to act, or if such calculation agent shall fail to duly establish 

Compounded SOFR for any Interest Period, or if the Issuer proposes to remove such calculation agent, the 

Issuer shall appoint another calculation agent. None of the Trustee, the Paying Agent nor the Calculation Agent 

shall have any duty or liability in connection with the determination of any Benchmark Transition Event, 

Benchmark Replacement, Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, or any other related matter as 

provided in this section. If the Calculation Agent at any time or times determines in its reasonable judgment 

that guidance is needed to perform its duties, or if it is required to decide between alternative courses of action, 

the Calculation Agent may (but is not obligated to) reasonably request guidance in the form of written 

instructions (or, in its sole discretion, oral instruction followed by written confirmation) from the Issuer or its 

designee on which the Calculation Agent shall be entitled to rely without liability. The Calculation Agent shall 

be entitled to refrain from action pending receipt of such instruction.

Certain Other Considerations Relating to Floating Rate Notes

None of the Trustee, the Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent shall be under any obligation to (i) monitor, 

determine or verify the unavailability or cessation of SOFR or the SOFR Index or any other Benchmark, or 

whether or when there has occurred, or to give notice to any other transaction party of the occurrence of, any 

Benchmark Transition Event or related Benchmark Replacement Date, (ii) select, determine or designate any 

Benchmark Replacement, or other successor or replacement benchmark index, or whether any conditions to the 

designation of such a rate or index have been satisfied, (iii) select, determine or designate any Benchmark 

Replacement Adjustment, or other modifier to any replacement or successor index, or (iv) determine whether 

or what Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes are necessary or advisable, if any, in connection with 

any of the foregoing. In connection with the foregoing, each of the Trustee, the Paying Agent and the Calculation 

Agent shall be entitled to conclusively rely on any determinations made by the Issuer or its designee without 

independent investigation, and none will have any liability for actions taken at the Issuer’s direction in 

connection therewith.

None of the Trustee, the Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent shall be liable for any inability, failure or delay 

on its part to perform any of its duties set forth in this Offering Circular as a result of the unavailability of 

SOFR, the SOFR Index or other applicable Benchmark Replacement, including as a result of any failure, 

inability, delay, error or inaccuracy on the part of any other transaction party in providing any direction, 

instruction, notice or information required or contemplated by the terms of this Offering Circular and reasonably 

required for the performance of such duties. In connection with any determination made hereunder, none of the 

Trustee, the Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent shall be responsible or liable for the Issuer’s actions or 

omissions or those of its designee, or for any failure or delay in the performance by the Issuer or its designee, 

nor shall any of the Trustee, the Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent be under any obligation to oversee or 

monitor the Issuer’s performance or that of its designee.

Payment of default interest

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if and to the extent the Issuer shall default in the payment of the interest 

due on an interest payment date and the applicable grace period shall have expired, such defaulted interest 

may at the option of the Issuer be paid to the Persons in whose names the Notes are registered at the close 

of business on a subsequent record date (which shall not be less than five days which are Business Days in 
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New York City prior to the date of payment of such defaulted interest) established by notice given as 

provided in the Notes by or on behalf of the Issuer to the Noteholders not less than 15 days preceding such 

subsequent record date.

Further issuances

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders issue further securities having 

identical terms and conditions as any of the series of Notes described herein, in all respects except for the 

first payment of interest on such further securities so that any further issue is consolidated and forms a 

single series of securities with such Notes. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Issuer shall not issue any 

further securities intended to be consolidated and form a single series of securities with the Notes unless 

such issuance would constitute a “qualified reopening” as defined for U.S. federal income tax purposes or 

otherwise forms part of a single issue with the Notes for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Status of the Notes and the Guarantees

The Notes will be unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer. Upon issue, the Guarantors will 

unconditionally guarantee, on a senior, unsecured and joint and several basis, the due and punctual payment 

(and not collectability) of the principal of and interest on the Notes (and the payment of additional amounts 

described below in “—Payment of Additional Amounts”) when and as the same shall become due and 

payable, whether at stated maturity, by declaration of acceleration, call for redemption or otherwise. The 

obligations of a Guarantor are limited to the maximum amount that will result in its obligations under the 

relevant Guarantee not constituting a fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer under applicable law. 

Each Guarantee will be an unsecured and unsubordinated obligation of the relevant Guarantor and will rank 

pari passu in right of payment with other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of such Guarantor 

except that any liability of GIAG and Glencore Schweiz with respect to any obligations of the Company 

under any Guarantee is limited as described below.

Ranking and other indebtedness

As at 31 December 2023, the total borrowings of the Group were U.S.$32,241 million.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had U.S.$1,508 million lease liabilities effectively secured on the related 

lease assets and U.S.$2,680 million of secured financial indebtedness which effectively ranks senior to the 

Notes and the Guarantees. Substantially all remaining financial indebtedness of the Group has either been 

issued or guaranteed by the Issuer and the Guarantors on a senior basis and therefore ranks pari passu with 

the Notes and the Guarantees except that any liability of GIAG and Glencore Schweiz with respect to any 

guarantee, indemnity or other benefit, as well as any other undertaking having the same or a similar effect, 

such as, but not limited to, the waiver of set-off or subrogation rights or the subordination of intra-group 

claims, granted by Glencore Schweiz and/or GIAG for their Up-stream/Cross-stream Obligations are 

subject to certain restrictions as described under “Risk Factors—There are limitations in respect of Glencore 

Schweiz’s and/or GIAG’s liability with respect to its obligations under the Guarantee, the Indenture or 

otherwise in connection with the Notes”.

For further information in relation to the Group’s outstanding indebtedness, see “Description of 

Indebtedness”.
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Payment of Additional Amounts

All payments by the Issuer in respect of the Notes and by the Guarantors under the Guarantees will be made 

without withholding or deduction for or on account of any and all present or future tax, levy, impost or other 

governmental charge whatsoever (“Taxes”) imposed, assessed, levied or collected by or for the account of 

the Relevant Jurisdiction (as defined below) unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. See 

“Taxation”.

If such a withholding or deduction is required by the law of a Relevant Jurisdiction, the Issuer and the 

Guarantors (pursuant to the terms of the applicable Guarantee) will pay, in respect of any payment on the 

Notes or any payment pursuant to the applicable Guarantee, to a Noteholder or beneficial owner of a Note 

such additional amounts (“Additional Amounts”) as may be necessary so that the net amount received by 

such Noteholder or beneficial owner, after deduction or withholding for any Taxes whatsoever imposed, 

assessed, levied or collected by or for the account of or as a result of such payment by the Relevant 

Jurisdiction, will not be less than the amount such Noteholder would have received if such Taxes had not 

been withheld or deducted; provided, however, that none of the Issuer or the Guarantors shall be required 

to pay any Additional Amounts for or on account of:

(i) any Taxes that would not have been so imposed, assessed, levied or collected but for the fact that the 

registered holder of the Note or Guarantee (or a fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member or shareholder 

of, or possessor of a power over, such Noteholder, if such Noteholder is an estate, trust, partnership or 

corporation) is or has been a domiciliary, national or resident of, or engaging or having been engaged in 

a trade or business or maintaining or having maintained a permanent establishment or being or having 

been physically present in the jurisdiction by which such Taxes have been imposed, assessed, levied or 

collected, or otherwise having or having had some connection with such jurisdiction, other than the mere 

holding or ownership of, or the collection of principal of, and interest on, an applicable Note or the 

enforcement of the applicable Guarantee, as the case may be;

(ii) any Taxes that would not have been so imposed, assessed, levied or collected but for the fact that the 

registered holder of the applicable Note or Guarantee at any time did not deal at arm’s length with 

the Issuer or such Guarantor;

(iii) any Taxes, to the extent it would not have been so imposed, assessed, levied or collected but for the 

fact that, where presentation is required in order to receive payment, the applicable Note or Guarantee 

was presented more than 30 days after the date on which such payment became due and payable or was 

provided for, whichever is later;

(iv) any estate, inheritance, gift, transfer, personal property or similar Tax;

(v) any Taxes that are payable otherwise than by deduction or withholding from payments on or in respect 

of the applicable Note or Guarantee;

(vi) any Taxes that would not have been so imposed, assessed, levied or collected but for the failure by the 

Noteholder or the beneficial owner of the applicable Note or Guarantee to comply (following a 

written request addressed to the Noteholders or beneficial owner, as applicable) with any certification, 

identification or other reporting requirements concerning the nationality, residence or identity of such 

Noteholder or beneficial owner or its connection with the Relevant Jurisdiction if compliance is 

required by statute, regulation or administrative practice of the Relevant Jurisdiction, as a condition 

to relief or exemption from such Tax;

(vii) any withholding or deduction imposed on a payment to a Noteholder that is required to be made pursuant 

to laws enacted by Switzerland providing for the taxation of payments according to principles similar to 
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those laid down in the draft legislation proposed by the Swiss Federal Council on 17 December 2014 or 

otherwise changing the Swiss Withholding Tax (Verrechnungssteuer) system from an issuer-based 

system to a paying agent-based system pursuant to which a person in Switzerland other than the Issuer 

is required to withhold tax on any interest;

(viii) any withholding or deduction that is imposed on the applicable Note or Guarantee that is presented 

for payment, where presentation is required, by or on behalf of a Noteholder who would have been 

able to avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting the applicable Note or Guarantee to 

another paying agent;

(ix) of any payment under a Guarantee by a Guarantor, if such payment would become subject to Swiss 

Withholding Tax (Verrechnungssteuer) (the present rate of which is 35 per cent.) because such 

payment by a Guarantor has to be regarded as deemed dividend distribution; or

(x) any combination of the Taxes or circumstances described in paragraphs (i) through (ix) above,

nor will Additional Amounts be paid in respect of any payment to any Noteholder or beneficial owner of 

the applicable Notes or Guarantees that is a fiduciary or partnership or any Person other than the sole beneficial 

owner of such payment to the extent such payment would be required by the laws of the Relevant 

Jurisdiction to be included in the income for tax purposes of a beneficiary or settlor with respect to such 

Noteholder or a beneficial owner and such beneficiary or settlor would not have been entitled to such 

amounts had such beneficiary or settlor been the holder of such Notes or Guarantees.

Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein, any amounts to be paid by the Issuer or any Guarantor 

on the Notes will be paid net of any deduction or withholding imposed or required pursuant to Sections 1471 

through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”), as amended, any current or future regulations or 

official interpretations thereof, any agreement entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b) of the Code, or any 

fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or practices adopted pursuant to any intergovernmental agreement entered 

into in connection with the implementation of such Sections of the Code (or any law implementing such an 

intergovernmental agreement) (a “FATCA Withholding Tax”), and neither the Issuer nor any Guarantor will be 

required to pay additional amounts on account of any FATCA Withholding Tax.

“Issuer Jurisdiction” means any of the jurisdictions of incorporation or residence for tax purposes of the Issuer 

or any successor entity, or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein.

“Guarantor Jurisdiction” means any of the jurisdictions of incorporation or residence for tax purposes of a 

Guarantor or any successor entity, or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein.

“Relevant Jurisdiction” means an Issuer Jurisdiction and/or a Guarantor Jurisdiction.

If the Issuer or a Guarantor becomes subject at any time to any taxing jurisdiction other than an Issuer 

Jurisdiction or a Guarantor Jurisdiction, as the case may be, references to “Issuer Jurisdiction” or 

“Guarantor Jurisdiction”, as the case may be, shall for these purposes be construed as references to the 

Issuer Jurisdiction or Guarantor Jurisdiction, as the case may be, and such other jurisdiction.

Optional redemption

The Fixed Rate Notes may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at the Issuer’s option, at any time prior to the 

applicable Par Call Date at a redemption price (expressed as a percentage of principal amount and rounded 

to three decimal places) equal to the greater of (i) 100 per cent. of the principal amount of the Fixed Rate 

Notes to be redeemed and (ii) the sum of the present values of the Remaining Scheduled Payments of 

principal and interest thereon discounted to the redemption date (the “Redemption Date”) (assuming the 

Notes matured on the Par Call Date) on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of 12 30-
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day months or in the case of an incomplete month, the number of days elapsed) at the Treasury Rate plus 

15 basis points in the case of the 2027 Notes, plus 20 basis points in the case of the 2029 Notes, plus 25 

basis points in the case of the 2034 Notes and plus 25 basis points in the case of the 2054 Notes, together 

with accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on the principal amount of the relevant Notes to be redeemed to, 

but excluding, the Redemption Date. The Fixed Rate Notes may also be redeemed at any time on or after 

the applicable Par Call Date, in whole or in part, in each case at the option of the Issuer, on at least 10 

days’, but not more than 60 days’, prior notice at a redemption price equal to 100 per cent. of the principal 

amount of the Fixed Rate Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on the principal 

amount of the Fixed Rate Notes to be redeemed to, but excluding, the Redemption Date. In connection 

with such optional redemption of the Fixed Rate Notes, the following defined terms apply:

 “Par Call Date” means 4 April 2027 for the 2027 Notes, 4 March 2029 (one month prior to maturity) 

for the 2029 Notes, 4 January 2034 (three months prior to maturity) for the 2034 Notes and 4 October 

2053 (six months prior to maturity) for the 2054 Notes;

 “Treasury Rate” means, with respect to any Redemption Date, the yield determined by the Issuer in 

accordance with the following two paragraphs.

The Treasury Rate shall be determined by the Issuer after 4:15 p.m., New York City time (or after such 

time as yields on U.S. government securities are posted daily by the Board of Governors of the Federal 

Reserve System), on the third business day preceding the redemption date based upon the yield or yields 

for the most recent day that appear after such time on such day in the most recent statistical release 

published by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System designated as “Selected Interest 

Rates (Daily) - H.15” (or any successor designation or publication) (“H.15”) under the caption “U.S. 

government securities–Treasury constant maturities–Nominal” (or any successor caption or heading). In 

determining the Treasury Rate, the Issuer shall select, as applicable: (1) the yield for the Treasury 

constant maturity on H.15 exactly equal to the period from the Redemption Date to the Par Call Date 

(the “Remaining Life”); or (2) if there is no such Treasury constant maturity on H.15 exactly equal to 

the Remaining Life, the two yields – one yield corresponding to the Treasury constant maturity on H.15 

immediately shorter than and one yield corresponding to the Treasury constant maturity on H.15 

immediately longer than the Remaining Life – and shall interpolate to the Par Call Date on a straight-

line basis (using the actual number of days) using such yields and rounding the result to three decimal 

places; or (3) if there is no such Treasury constant maturity on H.15 shorter than or longer than the 

Remaining Life, the yield for the single Treasury constant maturity on H.15 closest to the Remaining 

Life. For purposes of this paragraph, the applicable Treasury constant maturity or maturities on H.15 

shall be deemed to have a maturity date equal to the relevant number of months or years, as applicable, 

of such Treasury constant maturity from the Redemption Date.

If on the third business day preceding the redemption date H.15 is no longer published, the Issuer shall 

calculate the Treasury Rate based on the rate per annum equal to the semi-annual equivalent yield to 

maturity at 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the second business day preceding such Redemption 

Date of the United States Treasury security maturing on, or with a maturity that is closest to, the Par Call 

Date, as applicable. If there is no United States Treasury security maturing on the Par Call Date but there 

are two or more United States Treasury securities with a maturity date equally distant from the Par Call 

Date, one with a maturity date preceding the Par Call Date and one with a maturity date following the 

Par Call Date, the Issuer shall select the United States Treasury security with a maturity date preceding 

the Par Call Date. If there are two or more United States Treasury securities maturing on the Par Call 

Date or two or more United States Treasury securities meeting the criteria of the preceding sentence, the 

Issuer shall select from among these two or more United States Treasury securities the United States 

Treasury security that is trading closest to par based upon the average of the bid and asked prices for 
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such United States Treasury securities at 11:00 a.m., New York City time. In determining the Treasury 

Rate in accordance with the terms of this paragraph, the semi-annual yield to maturity of the applicable 

United States Treasury security shall be based upon the average of the bid and asked prices (expressed 

as a percentage of principal amount) at 11:00 a.m., New York City time, of such United States Treasury 

security, and rounded to three decimal places; and 

 “Remaining Scheduled Payments” means, with respect to the Fixed Rate Notes to be redeemed, the 

remaining scheduled payments of the principal thereof and interest thereon that would be due from the 

related Redemption Date to the applicable Par Call Date but for such redemption, provided that if 

that Redemption Date is not an interest payment date with respect to such Fixed Rate Notes, the amount 

of the next succeeding scheduled interest payment thereon will be reduced by the amount of interest 

accrued thereon to that Redemption Date.

The Issuer’s actions and determinations in determining the redemption price shall be conclusive and 

binding for all purposes, absent manifest error. The Issuer shall notify the redemption price to the Trustee 

and the Paying Agent no later than 2 (two) business days prior to the Redemption Date.

Notice of any redemption will be given at least 10 days but not more than 60 days before the Redemption 

Date to each registered holder of any Fixed Rate Notes to be redeemed. On and after any Redemption 

Date, interest will cease to accrue on the Fixed Rate Notes or any portion thereof called for redemption.

Any redemption and notice may, in the Issuer’s discretion, be subject to the satisfaction of one or more 

conditions, which shall be set out in the notice of redemption.

Upon presentation of any Fixed Rate Note redeemed in part only, the Issuer will execute and the Trustee, 

an authentication agent on its behalf or the Registrar will authenticate and deliver to or on the order of the 

Noteholder thereof, at the expense of the Issuer, a new Fixed Rate Note or Fixed Rate Notes, of authorised 

denominations, in principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the Fixed Rate Note so presented.

On or before any Redemption Date, the Issuer shall deposit with the Paying Agent money sufficient to pay 

the redemption price of and accrued interest and Additional Amounts, if any, on the Fixed Rate Notes to 

be redeemed on such date. If less than all of a series of Fixed Rate Notes are to be redeemed at any time, 

subject to the requirements of DTC, the Paying Agent or the Registrar will select Fixed Rate Notes for 

redemption as follows:

(1) if such series of Fixed Rate Notes are listed on any securities exchange, in compliance with the 

requirements, if any, of the securities exchange on which such series of Fixed Rate Notes are listed as 

certified to the Trustee by the Issuer; or

(2) if the exchange on which such series of the Fixed Rate Notes are listed prescribes no method of 

selection (or if such series of Fixed Rate Notes are not listed on any securities exchange and the Fixed 

Rate Notes are not held through DTC or DTC prescribes no method of selection), on a pro rata pass through 

distribution of principal basis by use of pool factor. 

Neither the Paying Agent nor the Registrar shall be liable for selections made by it in accordance with this 

paragraph.

Maturity Dates

Unless previously purchased or redeemed by the Issuer or the Guarantors or any of their Subsidiaries, (i) 

the principal amount of the 2027 Notes will mature and become due and payable on 4 April 2027 with 

accrued and unpaid interest to such date, (ii) the principal amount of the 2029 Notes will mature and 

become due and payable on 4 April 2029 with accrued and unpaid interest to such date, (iii) the principal 
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amount of the 2034 Notes will mature and become due and payable on 4 April 2034 with accrued and 

unpaid interest to such date, (iv) the principal amount of the 2054 Notes will mature and become due and 

payable on 4 April 2054 with accrued and unpaid interest to such date and (v) the principal amount of the 

Floating Rate Notes will mature and become due and payable on 4 April 2027 with accrued and unpaid 

interest to such date.

Reacquisition

There is no restriction on the ability of the Issuer or the Guarantors or any of their Subsidiaries to purchase 

or repurchase Notes.

Redemption for tax reasons

The Notes are also redeemable by the Issuer, in whole but not in part, in an amount equal to their respective 

principal amounts with accrued and unpaid interest to the applicable Redemption Date without reduction 

for any applicable withholding taxes imposed by the Relevant Jurisdiction, at the Issuer’s option at any 

time prior to their maturity if, due to a Change in Tax Law (as defined below): (i) the Issuer or a Guarantor, 

in accordance with the terms of the Notes or the Guarantees, respectively, has, or would, become obligated 

to pay to the Noteholder or beneficial owner of any Note any Additional Amounts; (ii) in the case of a 

Guarantor, (A) such Guarantor would be unable, for reasons outside its control, to procure payment by the 

Issuer or (B) the procuring of such payment by the Issuer would be subject to withholding taxes imposed 

by the Relevant Jurisdiction; and (iii) such obligation otherwise cannot be avoided by the Issuer or such 

Guarantor taking reasonable measures available to it. In such case, the Issuer may redeem the Notes as a 

whole but not in part, upon not less than 10 nor more than 60 days’ notice in accordance with the 

requirements for notice as set forth in the Indenture, in an amount equal to their respective principal 

amounts with accrued and unpaid interest to the Redemption Date without reduction for any applicable 

withholding taxes imposed by the Relevant Jurisdiction; provided that, (1) no such notice of redemption 

shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer or such Guarantor would 

be obligated to pay any such Additional Amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes or the Guarantees, 

as applicable, then due and (2) at the time such notice is given, such obligation to pay such Additional 

Amounts remains in effect. The Issuer’s right to redeem the Notes shall continue as long as the Issuer or 

a Guarantor, as the case may be, is obligated to pay such Additional Amounts, notwithstanding that the 

Issuer or such Guarantor shall have made payments of Additional Amounts. Prior to the giving of any such 

notice of redemption, the Issuer must deliver to the Trustee (a) a certificate stating that the Issuer is entitled 

to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to 

the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred and (b) an opinion of independent counsel of recognised 

standing selected by the Issuer or the Guarantors, as applicable, to the effect that the Issuer or the 

Guarantors have, or would, become obligated to pay such Additional Amounts as a result of such Change 

in Tax Law.

For purposes hereof, “Change in Tax Law” shall mean (i) any change in, or amendment to, any law of an 

Issuer Jurisdiction or a Guarantor Jurisdiction (including any regulations or rulings promulgated 

thereunder) or any amendment to or change in the application or official interpretation (including judicial 

or administrative interpretation) of such law, which change or amendment is announced, if applicable, and 

becomes effective on or after the Closing Date or (ii) if the Issuer or a Guarantor consolidates or merges 

with, or transfers or leases its assets substantially as an entirety to, any Person that is incorporated or tax 

resident under the laws of any jurisdiction other than an Issuer Jurisdiction or a Guarantor Jurisdiction, 

respectively, and as a consequence thereof such Person becomes the successor obligor to the Issuer or such 

Guarantor in respect of Additional Amounts that may become payable (in which case, for purposes of this 
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redemption provision, all references to the Issuer or such Guarantor hereunder, as applicable, shall be 

deemed to be and include references to such Person), any change in, or amendment to, any law of the 

jurisdiction of incorporation of such Person or any successor entity or any amendment to or change in the 

application or official interpretation (including judicial or administrative interpretation) of such law, which 

change or amendment becomes effective on or after the date of such consolidation, merger or other 

transaction.

Certain definitions

Set forth below is a summary of certain of the defined terms used in the Notes and the Indenture. You 

should refer to the Notes and the Indenture for the full definition of all defined terms.

“Business Day” means any day which is not, in London, England, New York City, or the place or payment 

of such interest or principal, a Saturday, Sunday, a legal holiday or a day on which banking institutions 

are authorised or obligated by law, regulation or executive order to close.

“Consolidated Assets” means all of the assets of the Group as reported in the latest audited consolidated 

financial statements of the Group.

“Consolidated Borrowing Costs” of the Group means all continuing, regular or periodic costs, charges and 

expenses (including, but not limited to, interest, whether capitalised or not and the interest element of 

Finance Leases) incurred by the Group in effecting, servicing or maintaining Financial Indebtedness, plus 

rent payments under operating leases, less interest received by the Group, all as reported in the latest 

audited consolidated financial statements of the Group.

“Consolidated Income/(Loss)” means income for the year less attribution to minorities, each as reported 

(or as comprised by those items having a substantially similar description) in the latest audited annual 

consolidated financial statements of the Group or any Subsidiary, as the case may be.

“Consolidated Income (or Loss) before Borrowing Costs and Tax” means Consolidated Income/(Loss) 

adjusted by adding back minority interests, taxes, extraordinary items and Consolidated Borrowing Costs 

for the period, all by reference to the latest audited annual consolidated financial statements of the Group.

“Financial Indebtedness” of any Person, means (without duplication and excluding trade credit in the 

ordinary course of the Group’s business on the Group’s normal commercial terms):

(i) all obligations of such Person for monies borrowed and its redemption obligations in respect of 

mandatorily redeemable preferred stock (being any class of capital stock of a corporation that is preferred 

over any other class of capital stock of such corporation as to the payment of dividends or the payment 

for any amounts upon liquidation or dissolution of such corporation);

(ii) all obligations of such Person evidenced by any debenture, bond, note, loan, stock, commercial paper or 

other similar security;

(iii) all actual (as opposed to contingent) reimbursement and other payment obligations of such Person (other 

than accounts payable) in respect of any acceptance of financial letters of credit or instruments serving 

similar functions;

(iv) all obligations of such Person in respect of capitalised rentals or Finance Leases;

(v) all guarantees by such Person of Financial Indebtedness of third parties; and

(vi) the remaining recourse element of receivables sold by such Person or any of its Subsidiaries in a 

jurisdiction where such receivables financing is not a usual and customary financing transaction,



143

but with respect to the Group shall exclude monies borrowed or raised by any entity within the Group from any 

other entity within the Group.

“Finance Lease” as applied to any Person means any lease of any property (whether real, personal or 

mixed) by such Person as lessee which would, in accordance with IFRS, be required to be classified and 

accounted for as a finance lease in the financial accounts or statements of such Person.

“Government Obligations” means money or obligations issued by the United States government. 

“Group” means, at any time, the Company and its Subsidiaries (including the Issuer), through which the 

Company may own its assets and conduct operations indirectly.

“IFRS” means (together) International Financial Reporting Standards: (i) as adopted by the United 

Kingdom; and (ii) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

“Material Subsidiary” means:

(i) any Subsidiary of the Company where (A) the Subsidiary Income (or Loss) before Borrowing Costs and 

Tax in respect of such a Subsidiary during the immediately preceding complete financial year of such 

Subsidiary exceeded 10 per cent. of the Consolidated Income (or Loss) before Borrowing Costs and Tax 

of the Group during the immediate preceding complete financial year of the Company or (B) the 

Subsidiary Assets in respect of such Subsidiary during the immediately preceding complete financial 

year of such Subsidiary exceeded 10 per cent. of the Consolidated Assets of the Group as at the end of 

the immediately preceding complete financial year of the Company; or

(ii) any other Subsidiary of the Company which has been designated by the Company to the Trustee in 

writing to constitute a “Material Subsidiary”, provided that, subject to paragraph (i) above, the Company 

may, by notice in writing to the Trustee, specify that a Subsidiary previously designated to be a “Material 

Subsidiary” pursuant to this provision shall no longer be treated as a “Material Subsidiary”; or

(iii) any other Subsidiary of the Company held directly or indirectly which owns, directly or indirectly, a 

Subsidiary which is a Material Subsidiary in accordance with paragraph (i) or (ii) above,

provided that no Subsidiary of the Group that has common stock listed on a public securities exchange, 

nor any of their respective direct or indirect Subsidiaries, shall be deemed to be a Material Subsidiary. In 

addition, Viterra Ltd. shall not be deemed to be a Material Subsidiary.

“Mortgage” means any mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, hypothecation, lien, encumbrance, charge or 

security interest of any kind.

“Non-recourse Indebtedness” means Financial Indebtedness of a Project Company, none of which retains 

the benefit of any guarantee, bond, security (other than third party security over shares in or debts or other 

obligations of a Project Company solely to secure that Financial Indebtedness), indemnity or other 

commitment from another member of the Group to assure the repayment of, or indemnify against loss in 

respect of non-payment of, that Financial Indebtedness.

“Permitted Securitisation Transaction” means a sale of receivables, inventories or other assets by a member 

of the Group to a special purpose entity, whereby either (i) the sale does not meet the derecognition 

requirements of, or (ii) the special purpose entity is required to be consolidated under, IFRS such that the 

assets and related liabilities appear on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

“Permitted Security Interest” means:

(i) any Security Interest over property or assets of a Person which becomes a Subsidiary after the Issue Date 

(and at the same time or subsequently becomes a Material Subsidiary), but only if:
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(A) the Security Interest (1) was in existence prior to the date of the Person concerned becoming a 

Subsidiary and (2) was not created in contemplation of such Person becoming a Subsidiary; and

(B) the principal or nominal amount secured by the Security Interest as at the date the Person became 

a Subsidiary is not subsequently increased; and

(ii) any Security Interest on accounts receivable, inventory or other assets in connection with Permitted 

Securitisation Transactions.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, limited liability 

company, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated organisation or government or any agency or political 

subdivision thereof.

“Project Company” means any member of the Group (which is not the Issuer or a Guarantor) whose sole 

activity is or will be the ownership and development and/or operation of a project, including, without 

limitation:

(i) the discovery, mining, extraction, transportation or development (in each case whether directly or 

indirectly) of metals or minerals, energy products or agricultural products; or

(ii) the development or operation of processing facilities (in each case whether directly or indirectly) 

related to natural resources or agriculture, including, without limitation, metals smelting, processing 

and refining.

“Relevant Indebtedness” means (i) any present or future indebtedness (whether being principal, premium, 

interest or other amount) in the form of, or represented or evidenced by, notes, bonds, debentures, debenture 

stock, loan stock or other securities which are, or are intended to be, with the consent of the person issuing the 

same, quoted, listed or ordinarily traded on any stock exchange or recognised over the counter or other securities 

market, and (ii) any guarantee or indemnity in respect of any such indebtedness.

“Security Interest” means any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other security interest, including, without 

limitation, anything analogous to any of the foregoing under the laws of any jurisdiction.

“Subsidiary” means, in relation to any Person, any corporation, association or other business entity more 

than 50 per cent. of the Voting Shares of which is at the time owned, directly or indirectly, by such Person. 

Unless otherwise specified, any reference to a Subsidiary is intended as a reference to a direct or indirect 

Subsidiary of the Company.

“Subsidiary Assets” means the total assets of a Subsidiary of the Company, excluding all intercompany 

assets and liabilities, all as reported in the latest consolidated financial statements of that Subsidiary (or, 

in relation to a Subsidiary of the Company that does not have any Subsidiaries, the latest non-consolidated 

financial statements of such Subsidiary).

“Subsidiary Borrowing Costs” of any Subsidiary of the Company means all continuing, regular or periodic 

costs, charges and expenses (including, but not limited to, interest, whether capitalised or not, and the 

interest element of Finance Leases) incurred by such Subsidiary in effecting, servicing or maintaining 

Financial Indebtedness plus rent payments under operating leases, less interest received by such 

Subsidiary, all as reported in the latest consolidated financial statements of such Subsidiary (or, in relation 

to a Subsidiary of the Company, which does not have any Subsidiaries, the latest non-consolidated 

financial statements of such Subsidiary).

“Subsidiary Income (or Loss) before Borrowing Costs and Tax” means the Consolidated (Loss)/Income of 

any Subsidiary of the Company (or, in relation to such a Subsidiary which does not have any Subsidiaries, 

the non-consolidated income), adjusted by adding back any cumulative effect of changes in accounting 
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policy, minority interests, income taxes, extraordinary items and Subsidiary Borrowing Costs for the year, 

but excluding all inter-Subsidiary transactions such as, but not limited to, dividends, commissions and 

management fees all as reported in the latest consolidated financial statements of such Subsidiary (or, in 

relation to a Subsidiary of the Company that does not have any Subsidiaries, the latest non-consolidated 

financial statements of such Subsidiary).

“Voting Shares” means, with respect to any person, the securities of any class or classes of such person, 

the holders of which are ordinarily, in the absence of contingencies, entitled to elect a majority of the 

corporate directors (or persons performing similar functions) of such person.

Repurchase on Change of Control Repurchase Event

Unless the Notes are otherwise subject to redemption as described under “—Optional redemption” or “—

Redemption for tax reasons” and the Issuer has elected to exercise its right to redeem the Notes, if a Change 

of Control Repurchase Event occurs, the Issuer will make an offer to each Noteholder to repurchase all or 

any part of such Noteholder’s Notes (in minimum denominations of U.S.$2,000 and integral multiples of 

U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof) at a repurchase price in cash equal to 101 per cent. of the aggregate principal 

amount of Notes repurchased plus any accrued and unpaid interest on the principal amount of the Notes 

repurchased to the date of repurchase.

Within:

 30 days of a Change of Control Repurchase Event; or

 at the Issuer’s option, prior to a Change of Control,

but after the public announcement of an impending Change of Control, the Issuer shall give notice to each 

Noteholder, with a copy to the Trustee, describing the transaction or transactions that constitute or may 

constitute the Change of Control Repurchase Event and offering to repurchase Notes on the payment date 

specified in the notice (the “Repurchase Payment Date”), which date will be no earlier than 10 days and 

no later than 60 days from the date on which such notice is dispatched. The notice shall, if given prior to 

the Change of Control, state that the offer to repurchase is conditional on the Change of Control 

Repurchase Event occurring on or prior to the Repurchase Payment Date.

The Issuer shall comply with the requirements of Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act and any other 

securities laws and regulations thereunder to the extent those laws and regulations are applicable in 

connection with the repurchase of the Notes as a result of a Change of Control Repurchase Event. To the 

extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with the “Repurchase on Change 

of Control Repurchase Event” provision in the Indenture, the Issuer shall comply with the applicable 

securities laws and regulations and shall be deemed not to have breached its obligations under the “Change 

of Control Repurchase Event” provision by virtue of such conflict.

On the Repurchase Payment Date, the Issuer shall, to the extent lawful:

 accept for payment all Notes or portions of Notes (in minimum denominations of U.S.$2,000 and integral 

multiples of U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof) properly tendered pursuant to its offer;

 deposit with the Paying Agent money sufficient to pay the repurchase price of and accrued interest on 

the Notes or portions of Notes so properly tendered; and

 deliver or cause to be delivered to the Trustee an officers’ certificate stating the aggregate principal 

amount of Notes being purchased by it.
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Upon presentation of any Note repurchased in part only, the Issuer will execute and the Trustee, an 

authentication agent on its behalf or the Registrar will authenticate and deliver to or on the order of the 

Noteholder thereof, at the expense of the Issuer, a new Note or Notes, of authorised denominations, in 

principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the Note so presented.

The Issuer shall not be required to make an offer to repurchase the Notes upon the occurrence of a Change 

of Control Repurchase Event if a third party makes an offer in the manner, at the times and otherwise in 

compliance with the requirements for an offer made by the Issuer, and such third party purchases all Notes 

properly tendered, and not withdrawn, under its offer.

In connection with such repurchase of Notes, the following defined terms apply:

 a “Below Investment Grade Rating Event” occurs once the Notes are rated below Investment Grade 

by each Rating Agency on any date from 30 days prior to the date of the public notice of an 

arrangement that could result in a Change of Control until the end of the 60-day period following 

public notice of the occurrence of a Change of Control (which period shall be extended so long as 

the rating of the Notes is under publicly announced consideration for possible downgrade by a 

Rating Agency);

 each of the following constitutes a “Change of Control”:

(i) the direct or indirect sale, transfer, conveyance or other disposition (other than by way of 

consolidation, amalgamation or merger), in one or a series of related transactions, of the Group’s 

properties or assets as an entirety or substantially as an entirety to any “person” (as that term is 

used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), other than to a member of the Group; 

(ii) the consummation of any transaction (including, without limitation, any consolidation, 

amalgamation or merger) the result of which is that (A) any “person” (as that term is used in 

Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 

more than 50 per cent. of the then outstanding number of shares of the Voting Stock or (B) any 

of the outstanding Voting Stock is converted into or exchanged for cash, securities or other 

property, other than any such transaction where the shares of the Voting Stock outstanding 

immediately prior to such transaction constitute, or are converted into or exchanged for, a 

majority of the aggregate voting power of the Voting Stock of the surviving Person 

immediately after giving effect to such transaction; or

(iii) the first day on which a majority of the members of the Board of Directors are not Continuing 

Directors;

 a “Change of Control Repurchase Event” occurs once a Change of Control and a Below Investment 

Grade Rating Event have both occurred;

 “Continuing Directors” means, as of any date of determination, any member of the Board of 

Directors:

(i) who was a member of such Board of Directors on the date of the issuance of the Notes; or

(ii) who was nominated for election or elected to the Board of Directors with the approval of a 

majority of the Continuing Directors who were members of the Board of Directors at the time 

of such nomination or election;

 “Investment Grade” means a rating of Baa3 or better by Moody’s (or its equivalent under any 

successor rating categories of Moody’s) and a rating of BBB- or better by S&P (or its equivalent 
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under any successor rating categories of S&P); or the equivalent investment grade credit rating 

from any additional Rating Agency or Rating Agencies selected by the Issuer;

 “Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.;

 “Rating Agency” means:

(i) each of Moody’s and S&P; and

(ii) if any of Moody’s or S&P ceases to rate the Notes or fails to make a rating of the Notes publicly 

available, a “nationally recognized statistical rating organization” (as such term is defined in 

Section 3(a)(62) of the Exchange Act) selected by the Issuer as a replacement agency for 

Moody’s or S&P, as the case may be;

 “S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLP, a division of S&P Global; and

 “Voting Stock” means the Company’s issued ordinary share capital.

Covenants of the Issuer and the Guarantors

Negative pledge

None of the Issuer and the Guarantors will, and the Guarantors will not permit any Material Subsidiary to, 

directly or indirectly, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Security Interest, except for Permitted 

Security Interests, on or with respect to any property or assets of the Issuer, any Guarantor or any Material 

Subsidiary (whether held on the date hereof or hereafter acquired) or any interest therein or any income or 

profits therefrom to secure any Relevant Indebtedness unless, at the same time or prior thereto, the Issuer’s 

obligations under the Notes, or the Guarantors’ obligations under the Guarantees, are secured equally and 

ratably therewith or benefit from another arrangement (whether or not comprising a Security Interest) as 

the Trustee deems is not materially less beneficial to the interests of the Noteholders or as approved with 

the consent of the Noteholders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes of the 

affected series then outstanding.

Provision of annual reports and financial information

For so long as the Notes are outstanding, the Company shall deliver to the Trustee (i) upon the request of 

the Trustee as soon as practicable after their date of publication and in any event not more than 180 days 

after the end of each financial year, two copies of its annual reports. And (ii) upon the request of the Trustee 

as soon as practicable after their date of publication, half year result announcements and other filings it 

forwards to the FCA.

Consolidation, amalgamation and merger and sale of assets

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantors may not consolidate or amalgamate with or merge into with any other 

Person, or, directly or indirectly, convey, transfer or lease their respective properties and assets as an entirety 

or substantially as an entirety to any Person, unless:

 the Person formed by or continuing from such consolidation or amalgamation or into which the 

Issuer or such Guarantor is merged or the Person which acquires or leases the Issuer’s or such 

Guarantor’s properties and assets as an entirety or substantially as an entirety is organised and existing 

under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia, the United Kingdom 

or Switzerland or any other country that is a member of the Organization for Economic Cooperation 

and Development or, if such consolidation, amalgamation, merger or other transaction would not 

impair the rights of the Noteholders under the Indenture, in any other country, provided that, if such 
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successor Person is organised under the laws of a jurisdiction other than the United States, any state 

thereof or the District of Columbia, the United Kingdom or Switzerland or any other country that is 

a member of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development the successor Person 

assumes the Issuer’s or such Guarantor’s obligations under the Notes and the Indenture to pay 

Additional Amounts (as defined above under the section headed “—Payment of Additional 

Amounts”);

 the successor Person expressly assumes or assumes by operation of law all of the Issuer’s or such 

Guarantor’s obligations under the Notes and under the Indenture;

 immediately before and after giving effect to such transaction, no Event of Default (as defined below) 

and no event which, after notice or lapse of time or both, would become an Event of Default will 

have happened and be continuing; and

 certain other conditions are met.

If, as a result of any such transaction, any of the Issuer’s or such Guarantor’s property or assets becomes 

subject to a Mortgage, then, unless such Mortgage could be created pursuant to the Indenture provisions 

described above in the section headed “—Covenants of the Issuer and the Guarantors—Negative pledge” 

without equally and ratably securing the Notes, the Issuer or such Guarantor, simultaneously with or prior 

to such transaction, will cause the Notes to be secured equally and ratably with or prior to the Financial 

Indebtedness secured by such Mortgage.

The Notes will not contain covenants or other provisions to afford protection to Noteholders in the event of 

a highly leveraged transaction or a change in control of the Issuer or the Guarantors except as provided 

above.

Upon certain mergers or consolidations involving the Issuer or the Guarantors, or upon certain sales or 

conveyances of the respective properties of the Issuer or the Guarantors as an entirety or substantially as an 

entirety, the obligations of the Issuer or the Guarantors, as the case may be, under the Notes or the 

Guarantees, as the case may be, shall be assumed by the Person formed by such merger or consolidation or 

which shall have acquired such property and upon such assumptions such Person shall succeed to and be 

substituted for the Issuer or the Guarantors, as the case may be, and then the Issuer or the Guarantors, as 

the case may be, will be relieved from all obligations under the Notes and the Guarantees, as the case may 

be. The terms “Issuer”, “Guarantor” and “Guarantors”, as used in the Notes and the Indenture, also refer to 

any such successors or assigns so substituted.

Events of Default

The following will be Events of Default (each an “Event of Default”) with respect to any series of Notes:

(i) default in the payment of any instalment of interest (excluding Additional Amounts) upon any series of 

Notes as and when the same shall become due and payable, and continuance of such default for 30 

days;

(ii) default in the payment of the Additional Amounts as and when the same shall become due and payable, 

and continuance of such default for a period of 30 days;

(iii) default in the payment of all or any part of the principal of or premium, if any, on any series of Notes 

as and when the same shall become due and payable either at maturity, upon any redemption, by 

declaration or otherwise;
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(iv) default in the performance or breach of any covenant or warranty of the Issuer or the Guarantors in 

respect of any series of Notes or the Indenture (other than those described in paragraphs (i), (ii) and (iii) 

above), and continuance of such default or breach for a period of 60 days after there has been given 

written notice to the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Trustee by the registered holders of at least 25 per 

cent. in principal amount of such series of Notes, provided however, that failure to provide the certificate 

set out under Section 10(a) of the Indenture within 120 days after the end of each financial year shall not 

constitute an Event of Default;

(v) any present or future Financial Indebtedness of the Issuer, the Guarantors or any Material Subsidiary 

other than (A) Non-recourse Indebtedness of the Issuer, a Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary, (B) 

intra-Group indebtedness, (C) indebtedness of Viterra Ltd. and (D) trade credit incurred in the ordinary 

course and on standard commercial terms, other than the Notes, having a then outstanding principal 

amount in excess of U.S.$100,000,000 being accelerated by any holder or holders thereof or any trustee 

or agent acting on behalf of such holder or holders in accordance with any agreement or instrument 

evidencing such indebtedness;

(vi) the Issuer, a Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary admits in writing that it is unable to pay its debts 

generally; or a resolution is passed by the board of directors of the Issuer or a Guarantor to be wound 

up or dissolved; or

(vii) certain events in bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganisation involving the Issuer, a Guarantor or any 

Material Subsidiary.

If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, then and in each and every such case (other than the Events 

of Default specified in paragraph (vii) above), unless the principal of such series of Notes shall have already 

become due and payable, the Noteholders of not less than 25 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of 

such series of Notes then outstanding (each such series voting as a separate class), by notice in writing to 

the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Trustee, may declare the entire principal amount of such series of Notes 

and interest accrued and unpaid thereon, if any, to be due and payable immediately, and upon any such 

declaration the same shall become immediately due and payable. If an Event of Default described in 

paragraph (vii) above occurs and is continuing, the principal amount of and accrued and unpaid interest on 

all the Notes shall become immediately due and payable, without any declaration or other act on the part of 

any Noteholder. Under certain circumstances, the Noteholders of a majority in aggregate principal amount 

of the Notes of a series affected by the default, each series voting as a separate class, by written notice to 

the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Trustee, may waive defaults and rescind and annul declarations of 

acceleration and its consequences, but no such waiver or rescission and annulment shall extend to or shall 

affect any subsequent default or shall impart any right consequent thereon.

Defeasance

The Issuer will have the option either (i) to be deemed (together with the Guarantors) to have paid and 

discharged the entire indebtedness represented by, and obligations under, the Notes and the Guarantees and 

to have satisfied all the obligations under the Indenture, the Notes and the Guarantees (except for certain 

obligations, including those relating to the defeasance trust and obligations to register the transfer or 

exchange of the Notes, to replace mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Notes and to maintain paying agencies) 

on the 91st day after the conditions described below have been satisfied or (ii) to cease (together with the 

Guarantors) to be under any obligation to comply with the covenants described above in the sections headed 

“—Covenants of the Issuer and the Guarantors—Negative pledge” and “—Covenants of the Issuer and the 

Guarantors—Provision of annual reports and financial information” and the condition relating to the 

absence of any events of default above in the section headed “—Consolidation, amalgamation and merger 

and sale of assets” under the Notes, and non-compliance with such covenants and the occurrence of certain 
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events described above in the section headed “—Events of Default” will not give rise to any Event of Default 

under the Notes, at any time after the conditions described below have been satisfied.

In order to exercise either defeasance option, the Issuer must: (a) deposit with a defeasance agent, 

irrevocably in trust, money or Government Obligations for the payment of principal and interest on the 

outstanding Notes to and including the Redemption Date irrevocably designated by the Issuer on or prior 

to the date of deposit of such money or Government Obligations; (b) comply with certain other conditions, 

including delivering to a defeasance agent either an opinion of U.S. counsel or a ruling received from or 

published by the United States Internal Revenue Service, to the effect that Noteholders will not recognise 

income, gain or loss for United States federal income tax purposes as a result of the exercise of such option 

and will be subject to United States federal income tax on the same amount and in the same manner and at 

the same time as would have been the case if such option had not been exercised and which, in the case of 

(a) above, is based on a change of law after the Closing Date; and (c) pay in full all other amounts due and 

owing under the Indenture.

Modification and waiver

Without consent of Noteholders

The Issuer, the Guarantors and the Trustee may, without the consent of the Noteholders, from time to time 

and at any time, amend the Indenture or the Notes or enter into an agreement:

 to convey, transfer, assign, mortgage or pledge to the Trustee as security for the Notes any property or 

assets;

 to evidence the succession of another Person to the Issuer or the Guarantors, as the case may be, or 

successive successions, and the assumption by the successor Person of the covenants, agreements and 

obligations of the Issuer or the Guarantors, as the case may be, pursuant to the Indenture;

 to evidence and provide for the acceptance of appointment of a successor Trustee, Paying Agent, 

Calculation Agent, Registrar or Transfer Agent, as the case may be;

 to add to the covenants of the Issuer and the Guarantors, as the case may be, such further covenants, 

restrictions, conditions or provisions as the Issuer and the Guarantors, as the case may be, shall certify 

to be for the protection of the Noteholders, and to make the occurrence, or the occurrence and 

continuance, of a default in any such additional covenants, restrictions, conditions or provisions an 

Event of Default permitting the enforcement of all or any of the several remedies provided in the Notes 

or Guarantees; provided that, in respect of any such additional covenant, restriction, condition or 

provision, the relevant agreement may provide for a particular period of grace after default (which 

may be shorter or longer than that allowed in the case of other defaults) or may provide for an 

immediate enforcement upon such an Event of Default or may limit the right of the Noteholders of 

a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes to waive such an Event of Default;

 to modify the restrictions on, and procedures for, resale and other transfers of the Notes pursuant to law, 

regulation or practice relating to the resale or transfer of restricted securities generally;

 to cure any ambiguity or to correct or supplement any provision contained in the Notes which may 

be defective or inconsistent with any other provision contained therein or to make such other 

provision in regard to matters or questions arising under the Notes as the Issuer or Guarantors may 

deem necessary or desirable and which will not adversely affect the interests of the Noteholders in any 

material respect; and
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 to issue further securities having identical terms and conditions in all respects (or in all respects except 

for the first payment of interest on such further securities) as the Notes so that the further issue is 

consolidated and forms a single series with the Notes and would be treated as fungible with the Notes 

for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

In connection with any amendment or supplement pursuant to the foregoing, the Trustee shall be entitled to 

receive and rely on an opinion of counsel and a certificate from an authorised representative of the Issuer 

as to the permissibility of the entry into such amendment.

With consent of Noteholders

The Issuer, the Guarantors and the Trustee may, with the consent of the Noteholders of not less than a majority 

in aggregate principal amount of the Notes of all series affected by the amendment or modification at the 

time outstanding (voting as one class) (including consents obtained in connection with a tender offer or 

exchange offer for such Notes), from time to time and at any time, enter into an agreement to add any 

provisions to or change in any manner or eliminate any of the provisions of the Notes or the Indenture or 

to modify in any manner the rights of the Noteholders; provided that no such amendment of the Notes or 

the Indenture may, without the consent of the registered holders of 90 per cent. of the Notes so affected:

 change the stated maturity of the principal of or the date for payment of any instalment of interest on 

such series of Notes;

 reduce the principal amount of or interest on such series of Notes or Additional Amounts payable with 

respect thereto or reduce the amount payable thereon in the event of redemption or default;

 change the currency of payment of principal of or interest on such series of Notes or Additional 

Amounts payable with respect thereto;

 change the obligation of the Issuer or any Guarantor, as the case may be, to pay Additional Amounts;

 impair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or with respect to such 

series of Notes; or

 reduce the above-stated percentage of aggregate principal amount of such series of Notes outstanding 

necessary to modify or amend the Indenture or any such series of Notes or to waive any future 

compliance or past default or reduce the percentage of the aggregate principal amount of such series 

of Notes outstanding necessary to rescind or annul any declaration of the principal of and all accrued 

and unpaid interest on such series of Notes to be due and payable,

provided that no consent of any Noteholder shall be necessary to permit the Trustee, the Issuer and the 

Guarantors to execute a supplemental Indenture described above in the section headed “—Without consent 

of Noteholders”.

Any modifications, amendments or waivers to the Indenture or to any series of Notes will be conclusive 

and binding on all Noteholders of such series of Notes, whether or not they have consented to such action, 

and on all future Noteholders of the affected series, whether or not notation of such modifications, 

amendments or waivers is made upon such Notes. Any instrument given by or on behalf of any Noteholder 

of such a Note in connection with any consent to any such modification, amendment or waiver will be 

irrevocable once given and will be conclusive and binding on all subsequent registered Noteholders.

Consent to service

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantors will accept service of process in any legal suit, action or proceeding 

arising out of or relating to the performance of its obligations under the Notes or the Guarantees brought in 
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any state or federal court in the Borough of Manhattan, the City of New York, by, among other methods, 

mail or facsimile, and will irrevocably submit (but for those purposes only) to the non-exclusive jurisdiction 

of any such court in any such suit, action or proceeding.

Governing law

The Notes and the Indenture shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State 

of New York. The Guarantee provided by the Company will be governed by English law. The Guarantees 

provided by GIAG and Glencore Schweiz will be governed by Swiss law.

The Indenture also contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from 

responsibility, including provisions relieving it from taking action unless indemnified or secured to its 

satisfaction.
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BOOK-ENTRY, DELIVERY AND FORM

The Notes are being offered and sold within the United States initially to qualified institutional buyers in 

reliance on Rule 144A (the “Rule 144A Notes”) and outside the United States initially to, or for the account or 

benefit of, persons other than U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S (the “Regulation S Notes”). Except as 

set forth below, the Notes will be issued in registered, global form in minimum denominations of U.S.$2,000 

and integral multiples of U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof. 

Each series of the Notes will initially be represented by one or more Notes in global form that together will 

represent the aggregate principal amount of such series of Notes. Rule 144A Notes will be represented by one 

or more global notes in registered form without interest coupons attached (collectively the “Rule 144A Global 

Notes”). Regulation S Notes will be represented by one or more global notes in registered form without interest 

coupons attached (collectively, the “Regulation S Global Notes”). Following the expiration of the 40-day 

distribution compliance period, the Rule 144A Global Notes will be deposited on or about the Closing Date 

with a custodian for DTC, and registered in the name of, Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC, in each case, for 

credit to an account of a participant in DTC, as described below. The Regulation S Global Notes will also be 

deposited with a custodian for DTC, and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC, for credit 

to the respective accounts of beneficial owners of such Notes (or to such other accounts as they may direct) at 

DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

The Rule 144A Global Notes and the Regulation S Global Notes together comprise the “Global Notes”. 

Beneficial interests in the Rule 144A Global Notes may not be exchanged for beneficial interests in the 

Regulation S Global Notes at any time, except in the limited circumstances described below. See “—Exchanges 

between Regulation S Global Notes and Rule 144A Global Notes”.

Beneficial interests in the Global Notes may not be exchanged for definitive registered Notes in certificated 

form (the “Definitive Registered Notes”) except in the limited circumstances described below. See “—Definitive 

Registered Notes”. Except in the limited circumstances described in “—Definitive Registered Notes”, owners 

of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will not be entitled to receive physical delivery of Notes in certificated 

form.

Beneficial interests in the Global Notes may only be held through DTC at any time. Any person wishing to own 

a beneficial interest in the Global Notes must do so indirectly by virtue of an account with a broker, bank or 

other financial institution that in turn has an account with DTC (including through Euroclear and Clearstream, 

Luxembourg).

By acquisition of a beneficial interest in a Regulation S Global Note, the purchaser thereof will be deemed to 

represent, among other things, that it is not a U.S. person, and that, if it determines to transfer such beneficial 

interest prior to the expiration of the 40-day distribution compliance period, it will transfer such interest only 

to a person whom the seller reasonably believes (a) to be a non-U.S. person in an offshore transaction in 

accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S or (b) to be a person who takes delivery in the form of 

an interest in a Rule 144A Global Note (if applicable). See “Transfer Restrictions”.

By acquisition of a beneficial interest in a Rule 144A Global Note, the purchaser thereof will be deemed to 

represent, among other things, that it is a QIB and that, if in the future it determines to transfer such beneficial 

interest, it will transfer such interest in accordance with the procedures and restrictions contained in the relevant 

agency agreement. See “Transfer Restrictions”. Except as described in “—Definitive Registered Notes”, owners 

of interests in the Global Notes will not have Notes registered in their names, will not receive physical delivery 

of Notes in certificated form and will not be considered the registered owners or “holders” thereof under the 

Indenture for any purpose.
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Payments on Global Notes

Payments in respect of the principal of, and interest and premium, if any, on, a Global Note registered in the 

name of DTC or its nominee will be payable to DTC or its nominee in its capacity as the registered holder under 

the Indenture. Under the terms of the Indenture, the Issuer and the Trustee and any agent of the Issuer or the 

Trustee will treat the persons in whose names the Notes, including the Global Notes, are registered as the owners 

of the Notes for the purpose of receiving payments and for all other purposes. Consequently, neither the Group, 

the Trustee nor any of the Group’s or the Trustee’s respective agents has or will have any responsibility or 

liability for:

 any aspect of the accuracy of DTC’s records or any participant’s or indirect participant’s records 

(including those of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) relating to or payments made on account of 

beneficial ownership interest in the Global Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any of 

DTC’s records or any participant’s or indirect participant’s records (including those of Euroclear or 

Clearstream, Luxembourg) relating to the beneficial ownership interests in the Global Notes; or

 any other matter relating to the actions and practices of DTC or any of their participants or indirect 

participants (including Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg).

DTC has advised the Issuer and the Guarantors that its current practice, upon receipt of any payment in respect 

of securities, such as the Notes (including principal and interest), is to credit the accounts of the relevant 

participants with the payment on the payment date unless DTC has reason to believe that it will not receive 

payment on such payment date. Each relevant participant is credited with an amount proportionate to its 

holdings of the relevant security as shown on the records of DTC. Payments by the participants and the indirect 

participants (including Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) to the beneficial owners of Notes will be 

governed by standing instructions and customary practices and will be the responsibility of the participants or 

the indirect participants and will not be the responsibility of DTC, the Trustee or the Group. Neither the Group 

nor the Trustee, nor any of their respective agents, will be liable for any delay by DTC or any of the participants 

or the indirect participants (including Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) in identifying the beneficial 

owners of the Notes, and the Group and the Trustee may conclusively rely on and will be protected in relying 

on instructions from DTC or its nominee for all purposes. Subject to the procedures and limitations described 

herein, transfers of beneficial interests within a Global Note may be made without delivery to the Issuer, the 

Guarantors, the Trustee or any of their respective agents of any written certifications or other documentation by 

the transferor or transferee.

Currency of payment for the Global Notes

The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on, and all other amounts payable in respect of, the Global Notes 

will be paid to holders of interests in such Notes in U.S. dollars.

Payments will be subject in all cases to any fiscal or other laws and regulations (including any regulations of 

the applicable clearing system) applicable thereto. Neither the Group nor the Trustee nor the Paying Agents nor 

the Initial Purchasers nor any of their respective agents will be liable to any holder of a Global Note or any 

other person for any commissions, costs, losses or expenses in relation to or resulting from any currency 

conversion or rounding effected in connection with any such payment.

Action by owners of beneficial interests in the Global Notes

DTC has advised the Group that they will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of Notes only at the 

direction of one or more participants to whose account DTC has credited the interests in the Global Notes and 

only in respect of such portion of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes as to which such participant or 

participants has or have given such direction. However, if there is an Event of Default under the Notes, DTC 
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reserves the right to exchange the Global Notes for legended Definitive Registered Notes, and to distribute such 

Definitive Registered Notes to their participants.

Transfers

Subject to the transfer restrictions set forth under “Transfer Restrictions”, transfers between the participants 

will be effected in accordance with DTC’s procedures, and will be settled in same-day funds, and, in the case 

of Regulation S Global Notes held through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as participants to DTC, in 

accordance with the respective rules and operating procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The 

rules and operating procedures of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg may change from time to 

time.

Definitive Registered Notes

Under the terms of the Indenture, owners of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will receive Definitive 

Registered Notes if:

 DTC (a) notifies the Issuer that it is unwilling or unable to continue as depositary for the Global Notes 

or (b) has ceased to be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act and, in either case, the Issuer 

fails to appoint a successor depositary;

 the Issuer, at its option, notifies the Trustee in writing that it elects to cause the issuance of the Definitive 

Registered Notes; or

 there has occurred and is continuing a default or Event of Default with respect to the Notes and the 

Trustee receives a written request for Definitive Registered Notes from a holder of Notes.

In addition, beneficial interests in a Global Note may be exchanged for Definitive Registered Notes upon prior 

written notice given to the Trustee by or on behalf of DTC in accordance with the Indenture. In all cases, 

Definitive Registered Notes delivered in exchange for any Global Note or beneficial interests in Global Notes 

will be registered in the names, and issued in any approved denominations, requested by or on behalf of the 

depositary (in accordance with its customary procedures) and will bear the applicable restrictive legend set forth 

in “Transfer Restrictions”, unless that legend is not required by applicable law.

Definitive Registered Notes may not be exchanged for beneficial interests in any Global Note unless the 

transferor first delivers to the Trustee a written certificate (in the form provided in the Indenture) to the effect 

that such transfer will comply with the appropriate transfer restrictions applicable to such Notes. See “Transfer 

Restrictions”.

Exchanges between Regulation S Global Notes and Rule 144A Global Notes

Prior to the expiration of the Restricted Period, beneficial interests in a Regulation S Global Note may be 

exchanged for beneficial interests in a Rule 144A Global Note only if:

 such exchange occurs in connection with a transfer of the Notes pursuant to Rule 144A; and

 the transferor first delivers to the Trustee a written certificate (in the form provided in the Indenture) to 

the effect that the Notes are being transferred to a person: (a) who the transferor reasonably believes to 

be a qualified institutional buyer within the meaning of Rule 144A; (b) purchasing for its own account 

or the account of a qualified institutional buyer in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A; 

and (c) in accordance with all applicable securities laws of the states of the United States and other 

jurisdictions.

Beneficial interests in a Rule 144A Global Note may be transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form 

of an interest in the Regulation S Global Note, whether before or after the expiration of the Restricted Period, 
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only if the transferor first delivers to the Trustee a written certificate (in the form provided in the Indenture) to 

the effect that such transfer is being made in accordance with Rule 903 or 904 of Regulation S or Rule 144 

under the Securities Act (if available).

Any beneficial interest in one of the Global Notes that is transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form 

of an interest in the other Global Note will, upon transfer, cease to be an interest in such Global Note and will 

become an interest in the other Global Note and, accordingly, will thereafter be subject to all transfer restrictions 

and other procedures applicable to beneficial interests in such other Global Note for so long as it remains such 

an interest. The policies and practices of DTC and its participants (including Euroclear or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg) may prohibit transfers of beneficial interests in the Regulation S Global Note prior to the 

expiration of the Restricted Period.

Settlement

Settlement and transfer of Notes

Subject to the rules and procedures of each applicable clearing system, purchases of Notes held within a clearing 

system must be made by or through participants, which will receive a credit for such Notes on the clearing 

system’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each such Note, or the beneficial owner, 

will in turn be recorded on the participants’ and indirect participants’ records. Beneficial owners will not receive 

written confirmation from any clearing system of their purchase, but beneficial owners are expected to receive 

written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from 

the participant or indirect participant through which such beneficial owner entered into the transaction.

Transfers of ownership interests in Notes held within the clearing system will be affected by entries made on 

the books of participants acting on behalf of beneficial owners. Beneficial owners will not receive certificates 

representing their ownership interests in such Notes, unless and until interests in any Global Note held within 

a clearing system are exchanged for Definitive Notes.

No clearing system has knowledge of the actual beneficial owners of the Notes held within such clearing system 

and their records will reflect only the identity of the participants to whose accounts such Notes are credited, 

which may or may not be the beneficial owners. The participants will remain responsible for keeping account 

of their holdings on behalf of their customers. Conveyance of notices and other communications by the clearing 

systems to participants, by participants to indirect participants, and by participants and indirect participants to 

beneficial owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory 

requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

The laws of some jurisdictions may require that certain persons take physical delivery in definitive form of 

securities. Consequently, the ability to transfer interests in a Global Note to such persons may be limited. 

Transfers of ownership or other interest in a Global Note may be made only through a participant in DTC. 

Because DTC can only act on behalf of participants, who in turn act on behalf of indirect participants, the ability 

of a person having an interest in a Global Note to pledge such interest to persons or entities that do not participate 

in DTC, or otherwise take actions in respect of such interest, may be affected by a lack of physical certificate 

in respect of such interest. Neither the Group, the Trustee, the Paying Agent, the Transfer Agent, the Registrar 

nor any of their respective agents will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC or its participants 

or indirect participants (including Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) of their respective obligations under 

the rules and procedures governing their operations.

Information concerning DTC 

The following description of the operations and procedures of DTC is provided solely as a matter of 

convenience. These operations and procedures are solely within the control of DTC and are subject to changes 
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by them. Neither the Issuer nor the Initial Purchasers take any responsibility for these operations and procedures 

and investors are urged to contact the system or their participants directly to discuss these matters.

DTC is a limited purpose trust company organised under the laws of the State of New York, a member of the 

Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial 

Code and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act. DTC 

has advised the Group that DTC was created to hold securities for its participants and to facilitate the clearance 

and settlement of transactions in those securities between its participants through electronic book-entry changes 

in accounts of its participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates. 

The participants include securities brokers and dealers (including the Initial Purchasers), banks, trust 

companies, clearing corporations and certain other organisations. Access to DTC’s system is also available to 

other entities, or indirect participants, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or 

maintain a custodial relationship with a participant, either directly or indirectly. Persons who are not participants 

may beneficially own securities held by or on behalf of DTC only through the participants or the indirect 

participants. The ownership interests in, and transfers of ownership interests in, each security held by or on 

behalf of DTC are recorded on the records of the participants and indirect participants. DTC has also advised 

us that, pursuant to procedures established by it:

 upon deposit of the Global Notes, DTC will credit the accounts of the participants designated by the 

Initial Purchasers with portions of the principal amount of the Global Notes; and

 ownership of these interests in the Global Notes will be shown on, and the transfer of ownership of these 

interests will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC (with respect to the participants) or 

by the participants and the indirect participants (with respect to other owners of beneficial interest in the 

Global Notes).

Investors in the Global Notes who are participants may hold their interests therein directly through DTC. 

Investors in the Global Notes who are not participants may hold their interests therein indirectly through 

organisations (including Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg) which are participants. As participants in 

DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will hold interests in the Regulation S Global Notes on behalf 

of their participants through customers’ securities accounts in their respective names on the books of their 

respective depositories. All interests in a Global Note, including those held through Euroclear or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg as participants in DTC, are subject to the procedures and requirements of DTC. Those interests 

held through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as participants in DTC, may also be subject to the 

procedures and requirements of such systems. 
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TAXATION

Certain U.S. federal income tax considerations

The following discussion is a summary based on present law of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations 

relevant to the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Notes by a U.S. Holder (as defined below). This 

discussion addresses only U.S. Holders who purchase Notes in the original offering at the issue price (defined 

below), hold the Notes as capital assets (generally, property held for investment) and use the U.S. dollar as their 

functional currency. This discussion is not a complete description of all U.S. tax considerations that may be 

relevant to, or the actual tax effect that any of the matters described herein will have on, the purchase, ownership 

or disposition of the Notes by particular investors (including consequences under the alternative minimum tax 

or net investment income tax), and does not address U.S. state, local, non-U.S. or other tax laws (such as estate 

and gift tax laws). It does not address the tax treatment of prospective purchasers that will hold the Notes in 

connection with a permanent establishment or other qualified business unit outside of the United States. It also 

does not address all of the tax considerations that may be relevant to prospective purchasers who are subject to 

special rules under the U.S. federal income tax laws, such as banks or other financial institutions, dealers, traders 

that elect to mark to market, insurance companies, individual retirement accounts and other tax-deferred 

accounts, entities treated as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes or partners in such entities, U.S. 

expatriates, tax-exempt entities, persons that have ceased to be U.S. citizens or lawful permanent residents of 

the United States, persons using the accrual method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes and 

who are required to recognise income for such purposes no later than when such income is taken into account 

in an applicable financial statement or persons that will hold the Notes as part of a hedge, straddle, conversion 

or other integrated financial transaction.

For purposes of this discussion, a “U.S. Holder” is a beneficial owner of Notes that is, for U.S. federal income 

tax purposes, (i) a citizen or individual resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation created or organised 

under the laws of the United States or any state thereof or the District of Columbia, (iii) a trust subject to the 

control of one or more U.S. persons and the primary supervision of a U.S. court, or a trust that has validly 

elected to be treated as a domestic trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes or (iv) an estate the income of 

which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source.

If an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes acquires or holds the 

Notes, the tax treatment of a partner in such entity or arrangement generally will depend upon the status of the 

partner and the activities of the partnership. A prospective purchaser that is an entity or arrangement treated as 

a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes should consult its own tax advisers concerning the U.S. 

federal income tax consequences to them and their partners of the purchase, ownership and disposition of Notes 

by the partnership.

This summary is based on the tax laws of the United States, including the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 

amended, its legislative history, existing and proposed regulations thereunder, published rulings and court 

decisions, all as of the date hereof and all subject to change at any time, possibly with retroactive effect.

This summary assumes that the Notes will have an “issue price” (the first price at which a substantial amount 

of the Notes is sold to the public for cash, excluding sales to underwriters, placements agents or wholesalers) 

equal to their stated redemption price at maturity or will be issued with less than a statutorily defined de minimis

amount of original issue discount (“OID”) and, as such, assumes that the Notes will be considered to be issued 

without OID for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which the Issuer expects to be the case.

THE SUMMARY OF U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES SET OUT BELOW IS FOR 

GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY. ALL PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS SHOULD CONSULT 

THEIR TAX ADVISERS AS TO THE PARTICULAR TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THEM OF 
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PURCHASING, OWNING AND DISPOSING OF THE NOTES, THE APPLICABILITY AND EFFECT 

OF U.S. STATE, LOCAL, NON-U.S. AND OTHER TAX LAWS AND POSSIBLE CHANGES IN TAX 

LAW.

Interest

Interest on the Notes, including any additional amounts, generally will be includible in the gross income of a 

U.S. Holder in accordance with its regular method of tax accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The 

interest paid by the Issuer on the Notes generally will be ordinary income from sources outside the United 

States. Prospective purchasers should consult their tax advisers concerning the applicability of the foreign tax 

credit and source of income rules to income attributable to the Notes.

Sale, redemption or other taxable disposition

A U.S. Holder generally will recognise gain or loss on the sale, redemption or other taxable disposition of a 

Note in an amount equal to the difference between the amount realised (less any accrued but unpaid interest, 

which will be taxable as ordinary interest income to the extent not previously included in income) and such 

U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis in the Note. A U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis in a Note generally will be the 

cost of the Note.

Gain or loss on the sale, redemption or other taxable disposition of a Note generally will be treated as capital 

gain or loss from U.S. sources. Capital gain or loss will be long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. Holder has 

held the Note for more than one year. As a result of recent changes to the foreign tax credit rules, any 

withholding tax imposed on the sale or retirement of the Notes by a U.S. Holder is unlikely to be treated as a 

creditable tax for the U.S. Holder. Deductions for capital losses are subject to limitations. 

Reporting and backup withholding

Payments of principal and interest on, and proceeds from the sale, redemption or other taxable disposition of, a 

Note by a U.S. paying agent or other U.S. intermediary will be reported to the U.S. Internal Revenue Service 

(the “IRS”) and to the U.S. Holder unless such holder establishes a basis for exemption. Backup withholding 

may apply to amounts subject to reporting if the U.S. Holder fails to provide an accurate taxpayer identification 

number or certification of exempt status or fails to comply with applicable certification requirements. A U.S. 

Holder generally can claim a credit against its U.S. federal income tax liability for the amount of any backup 

withholding and a refund of any excess, provided that the required information is timely furnished to the IRS. 

Certain U.S. Holders are not subject to backup withholding. Prospective investors should consult their tax 

advisers as to their qualification for exemption from backup withholding and the procedure for establishing an 

exemption, as well as about any other reporting obligations that may apply to the ownership or disposition of 

Notes, including requirements related to the holding of certain “specified foreign financial assets”. 

United Kingdom taxation

The comments below are of a general nature based on current United Kingdom law as applied in England and 

Wales and HMRC practice (which may not be binding on HMRC), in each case at the latest practicable date 

before the date of this document. They are not intended to be, nor should they be construed to be, legal or tax 

advice and are included below solely for information purposes. They are not intended to be exhaustive. They 

assume that neither the Issuer nor any of the Guarantors is United Kingdom resident or acts through a permanent 

establishment in the United Kingdom in relation to the Notes and that no other nexus with the United Kingdom 

results in either interest on the Notes or payments in respect of the Guarantees having a United Kingdom source. 

They relate only to the position of persons who hold their Notes and coupons as investments (regardless of 

whether the holder also carries on a trade, profession or vocation through a permanent establishment, branch or 

agency to which the Notes are attributable) and are the absolute beneficial owners thereof. In particular, 

Noteholders holding their Notes via a depositary receipt system or clearance service should note that they may 
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not always be the beneficial owners thereof. The comments do not relate to any further issuances of the same 

series of Notes. The comments may not necessarily apply where the income is deemed for tax purposes to be 

the income of any other person and they further may not apply to certain classes of persons such as dealers or 

certain professional investors or persons who are connected with the Issuer. Prospective Noteholders should 

consult their own professional advisers as to the United Kingdom tax consequences of holding and disposing 

of Notes and receiving payments of interest or principal under the Notes, as well as if they are in any doubt as 

to their own technical position.

Interest withholding 

Payments of interest on the Notes made by the Issuer may be made without any withholding or deduction for 

or on account of United Kingdom income tax. Any payments in respect of the Guarantees may be made without 

withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax.

Corporate Noteholders within the charge to United Kingdom corporation tax

The tax treatment of Noteholders within the charge to United Kingdom corporation tax (including non-resident 

Noteholders whose Notes are used, held or acquired for the purposes of a trade carried on in the United Kingdom 

through a permanent establishment) will generally be in accordance with their respective statutory accounting 

treatment so long as such accounting treatment is in accordance with IFRS or UK generally accepted accounting 

practice. The accounting treatment will affect the tax treatment of holding or disposing of the Notes. Such 

Noteholders will generally be charged in each accounting period by reference to interest and other amounts 

which, in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice, are recognised in determining the 

Noteholder’s profit or loss for that period. Fluctuations in value relating to foreign exchange gains and losses 

in respect of the Notes will be brought into account as income. Noteholders within the charge to United 

Kingdom corporation tax should therefore consult their own accounting and tax advisers concerning the tax 

liabilities that may arise in respect of the Notes.

Other UK taxpayers

On the date of issue of the Notes, it is not expected that the Notes will constitute “Deeply Discounted Securities” 

within the meaning of Chapter 8 of Part 4 of the Income Tax (Trading and Other Income) Act 2005. Noteholders 

who are either individuals or trustees and are resident for tax purposes in the United Kingdom or who carry on 

a trade, profession or vocation in the United Kingdom through a branch or agency to which the Notes are 

attributable will generally be liable to United Kingdom tax on the amount of any interest received in respect of 

the Notes.

A disposal of a Note by a Noteholder who is either an individual or a trustee and is resident for tax purposes in 

the United Kingdom or, in the case of individuals, who cease to be resident in the United Kingdom for a period 

of five years or less, may give rise to a chargeable gain or allowable loss for the purposes of United Kingdom 

taxation of capital gains. In calculating any gain or loss on disposal of a Note, sterling values are compared at 

acquisition and transfer. Accordingly, a taxable profit can arise even where the foreign currency amount 

received on a disposal is less than or the same as the amount paid for any Note. Any accrued interest at the date 

of disposal may be taxed under the provisions of Chapter 2 of Part 12 of the Income Tax Act 2007.

Stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax

No United Kingdom stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax should be payable on the issue of the Notes.

Swiss taxation

The following statements contain an overview of the Swiss tax implications resulting from the Notes. The 

following statements are based upon Swiss tax laws and administrative practices as currently in force. 

Modifications of the applicable legal regulations may necessitate a re-evaluation of the tax consequences. The 
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summary below is not a substitute for legal or tax advice sought by interested parties. Prospective investors 

should seek advice of their tax advisers to clarify any tax implications resulting from an investment in the Notes.

Swiss income tax

Swiss Resident Private Noteholders: For private Noteholders resident in Switzerland who hold the Notes as 

private assets (Privatvermögen), the interest payments are treated as taxable interest and, thus, subject to Swiss 

federal income and cantonal and municipal income taxes. 

Swiss Resident Business Noteholders: Swiss residents who hold the Notes as business assets and foreign 

residents who hold the Notes through a permanent establishment or a fixed place of business 

(Geschäftsvermögen) are in general taxed according to Swiss statutory accounting principles 

(Massgeblichkeitsprinzip) for purposes of Swiss federal income and cantonal and municipal income taxes. 

Interest payments are in general part of the taxable business profit. Capital gains realised on the sale or 

redemption of the Notes are part of their taxable business profit subject to Swiss federal income and cantonal 

and municipal income taxes. This provision also applies to individuals who qualify as so-called professional 

securities dealers (gewerbsmässige Wertschriftenhändler) for tax purposes. 

Swiss Withholding Taxes

According to the current practice of the Swiss Federal Tax Administration, payments by the Issuer or any 

Guarantor in respect of interest due in connection with the Notes should not be subject to Swiss Withholding 

Taxes (Verrechnungssteuer), provided that the proceeds of the Offering will be either (i) used outside of 

Switzerland (as interpreted by the Swiss tax authorities) or (ii) used in Switzerland (as interpreted by the Swiss 

tax authorities) as it is permitted under Swiss tax laws in force from time to time without payments in respect 

of interest due in connection with the Notes becoming subject to withholding or deduction for Swiss 

Withholding Tax as a consequence of such use of proceeds in Switzerland (as interpreted by the Swiss tax 

authorities). On 5 February 2019, the Swiss Federal Tax Administration published the practice note 010-DVS-

2019 outlining its new practice regarding the treatment of bonds issued by non-Swiss subsidiary issuers under 

a guarantee from a Swiss (tax resident) parent company with respect to Swiss Withholding Tax.

Irrespective of the foregoing, any payment made by GIAG or Glencore Schweiz pursuant to its Guarantee or 

under the Indenture may be subject to Swiss Withholding Taxes (the present rate of which is 35 per cent.) if 

such payments have to be regarded as a deemed dividend distribution. 

Under Swiss law, the obligation to gross-up, indemnify or otherwise hold harmless the beneficiaries of a 

payment for the deduction of Swiss Withholding Tax is void and, thus, may prejudice the enforceability of 

anything to the contrary contained in the Guarantees, the Indenture, the Notes or any other document or 

agreement.

Stamp duties 

No Swiss stamp duties will be imposed in connection with the issuance or redemption of the Notes. The transfer 

of the Notes will be subject to the Swiss Transfer Stamp Duty (Umsatzabgabe) if (i) such transfer or sale is 

made by or through the intermediation of a securities dealer resident in Switzerland or Liechtenstein, as defined 

in the Swiss Stamp Tax Act (Bundesgesetz über die Stempelabgaben), and (ii) no exception applies.

Jersey taxation

The following summary of the anticipated tax treatment in Jersey of Noteholders (other than residents of Jersey) 

is based on Jersey taxation law as it is understood to apply at the date of this document. It does not constitute 

legal or tax advice. Noteholders should consult their professional advisers on the implications of acquiring, 

buying, holding, selling or otherwise disposing of Notes under the laws of the jurisdictions in which they may 
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be liable to taxation. Noteholders should be aware that tax rules and practice and their interpretation may 

change.

Given that the Company is managed in Switzerland and hence the Company is tax resident in Switzerland, the 

Company will be entitled to make payments in respect of the Guarantee without any withholding or deduction 

for or on account of Jersey income tax. For the avoidance of doubt, on the basis that the Company is tax resident 

in Switzerland and not in Jersey, the Taxation (Companies-Economic Substance) (Jersey) Law 2019 will not 

apply to the Company.

Drawing extensively on the intergovernmental approach to implementing the United States Foreign Account 

Tax Compliance Act, the OECD developed the Common Reporting Standard (“CRS”) to address the issue of 

offshore tax evasion on a global basis. Aimed at maximising efficiency and reducing cost for financial 

institutions, the CRS provides a common standard for due diligence, reporting and exchange of financial 

account information. Pursuant to the CRS, participating jurisdictions will obtain from reporting financial 

institutions, and automatically exchange with exchange partners on an annual basis, financial information with 

respect to all reportable accounts identified by financial institutions on the basis of common due diligence and 

reporting procedures. Jersey has committed to implement the CRS. As a result, the Company is required to 

comply with the CRS due diligence and reporting requirements, as adopted by Jersey. Broadly, these are that 

the due diligence requirements under the CRS framework as adopted by Jersey commenced on 1 January 2016, 

with information to be reported to the Jersey Taxes Office from 30 June 2017. Information exchange between 

the Jersey Taxes Office and partner jurisdictions is automatic and has commenced.

Noteholders may be required to provide additional information to the Company to enable the Company to 

satisfy its obligations under the CRS. Failure to provide requested information may subject an investor to 

liability for any resulting penalties or other charges and/or mandatory redemption of Notes.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement dated 26 March 2024, the Initial Purchasers (who are named below) have 

severally agreed with the Issuer, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, to purchase the principal 

amount of Notes set forth opposite their names below: 

Principal 

amount of 

2027 Notes

Principal 

amount of

2029 Notes

Principal 

amount of

2034 Notes

Principal 

amount of

2054 Notes

Principal 

amount of

Floating Rate

Notes

Initial Purchaser

BBVA Securities Inc. .........................  U.S.$128,000,000 U.S.$176,000,000 U.S.$200,000,000 U.S.$80,000,000 U.S.$56,000,000

J.P. Morgan Securities LLC ...............  U.S.$128,000,000 U.S.$176,000,000 U.S.$200,000,000 U.S.$80,000,000 U.S.$56,000,000

Mizuho Securities USA LLC .............  U.S.$128,000,000 U.S.$176,000,000 U.S.$200,000,000 U.S.$80,000,000 U.S.$56,000,000

Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC ...............  U.S.$128,000,000 U.S.$176,000,000 U.S.$200,000,000 U.S.$80,000,000 U.S.$56,000,000

SMBC Nikko Securities America, 

Inc. ..................................................... U.S.$128,000,000 U.S.$176,000,000 U.S.$200,000,000 U.S.$80,000,000 U.S.$56,000,000

Commerz Markets LLC .....................  U.S.$40,000,000 U.S.$55,000,000 U.S.$62,500,000 U.S.$25,000,000 U.S.$17,500,000

ING Financial Markets LLC. .............  U.S.$40,000,000 U.S.$55,000,000 U.S.$62,500,000 U.S.$25,000,000 U.S.$17,500,000

Standard Chartered Bank ...................  U.S.$40,000,000 U.S.$55,000,000 U.S.$62,500,000 U.S.$25,000,000 U.S.$17,500,000

UBS Securities LLC ..........................  U.S.$40,000,000 U.S.$55,000,000 U.S.$62,500,000 U.S.$25,000,000 U.S.$17,500,000

Total ..................................................  U.S.$800,000,000 U.S.$1,100,000,000 U.S.$1,250,000,000 U.S.$500,000,000 U.S.$350,000,000

BBVA Securities Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Mizuho Securities USA LLC, Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC,  

SMBC Nikko Securities America, Inc., Commerz Markets LLC,  ING Financial Markets LLC, Standard 

Chartered Bank and UBS Securities LLC are acting as Joint Book-Running Managers for the Offering.

The Purchase Agreement entitles the Initial Purchasers to terminate the issue of the Notes in certain 

circumstances prior to payment to the Issuer. The Issuer and the Guarantors have agreed to indemnify the Initial 

Purchasers against certain liabilities in connection with the Offering and may be required to contribute to 

payments the Initial Purchasers may be required to make in respect thereof.

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Purchase Agreement, the Initial Purchasers have agreed, 

severally and not jointly, to purchase all of the Notes sold under the Purchase Agreement if any of these Notes 

are purchased. If an Initial Purchaser defaults, the Purchase Agreement provides that the purchase commitments 

of the non-defaulting Initial Purchasers may be increased or the Purchase Agreement may be terminated.

The Initial Purchasers initially propose to offer the Notes at the offering prices set forth on the cover page 

hereof. After the initial Offering, the offering prices may from time to time be varied by the Initial Purchasers. 

The Initial Purchasers reserve the right to reject, cancel or modify an order of Notes in whole or in part.

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantors has agreed with the Initial Purchasers that neither it nor any person acting 

on its behalf will, without the prior written consent of the Initial Purchasers, for the period from and including 

the date of the Purchase Agreement through and including the date that is one day after the Closing Date, offer, 

sell, contract to sell or otherwise dispose of any debt securities (other than the Notes) of, or guaranteed by, the 

Issuer or the Guarantors and having a tenor of more than one year.

The Notes are new issues of securities with no established trading market.
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The Initial Purchasers are not obligated to make a market in the Notes, and, accordingly, no assurance can be 

given as to the liquidity of, or trading market for, the Notes.

In connection with the Offering, the Initial Purchasers may over-allot or effect transactions with a view to 

supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail for a limited 

period after the date of issue of the Notes. However, there may be no obligation on the Initial Purchasers to do 

this. Such stabilisation, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

No action has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction that would permit a public offering of the Notes or the 

possession, circulation or distribution of any material relating to the Issuer or the Guarantors in any jurisdiction 

where action for such purpose is required. Accordingly, the Notes and the Guarantees may not be offered or 

sold, directly or indirectly, nor may any offering material or advertisement in connection with the Notes and the 

Guarantees (including this Offering Circular and any amendment or supplement hereto) be distributed or 

published in or from any country or jurisdiction, except under circumstances that would result in compliance 

with any applicable rules and regulations of any such country or jurisdiction.

To the extent any Initial Purchaser that is not a U.S. registered broker-dealer intends to effect any offers or sales 

of any Notes in the United States or to U.S. persons, it will do so through one or more U.S. registered broker-

dealers in accordance with the applicable U.S. securities laws and regulations.

Certain of the Initial Purchasers and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment 

banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform services for, the Issuer and its affiliates 

in the ordinary course of business. In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Initial 

Purchasers and their affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity 

securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own 

account and for the accounts of their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve 

securities and/or instruments of the Issuer or the Issuer’s affiliates (including the Notes). Certain of the Initial 

Purchasers or their affiliates that have a lending relationship with the Issuer or its affiliates have hedged and 

certain other of those Initial Purchasers or their affiliates may hedge, their credit exposure to the Issuer and/or 

affiliates consistent with their customary risk management policies. Typically, such Initial Purchaser and its 

affiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the purchase of credit 

default swaps or the creation of short positions in securities (including potentially the Notes). Any such credit 

default swaps or short positions could adversely affect future trading prices of the Notes. The Initial Purchasers 

and their affiliates may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research 

views in respect of such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they 

acquire, long and/or short positions in such securities and instruments. The Group will use the net proceeds of 

the Offering for general corporate purposes. Some of the Initial Purchasers and/or their affiliates may be lenders 

under the Group’s indebtedness and may accordingly receive a portion of the proceeds from the Offering.

Pre-issue trades settlement

It is expected that delivery of Notes will be made against payment therefor on the Closing Date, which is 

expected to be on or around the fifth business day following the date of pricing (such settlement being referred 

to as “T+5”). Under Rule 15c6-l under the Exchange Act, trades in the United States secondary market generally 

are required to settle in two business days (“T+2”), unless the parties to any such trade expressly agree 

otherwise. Accordingly, purchasers who wish to trade Notes in the United States on the date of pricing or the 

next three succeeding business days will be required, by virtue of the fact the Notes will initially settle in T+5, 

to specify an alternate settlement cycle at the time of any such trade to prevent a failed settlement. Settlement 

procedures in other countries may vary and purchasers of Notes may be affected by such local settlement 

practices. Purchasers of Notes who wish to trade the Notes on the date of pricing or the next three succeeding 

business days should consult their own adviser.
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United States

The Notes and the Guarantees have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be 

offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, except in certain 

transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have 

the meanings given to them by Regulation S.

Each Initial Purchaser has agreed that, except as permitted by the Purchase Agreement, it will not offer or sell 

the Notes and the Guarantees (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the 

later of the commencement of the Offering and the Closing Date, within the United States or to, or for the 

account or benefit of, U.S. persons, and it will have sent to each Initial Purchaser to which it sells Notes and 

the Guarantees during the distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the 

restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes and the Guarantees within the United States or to, or for the account 

or benefit of, U.S. persons. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S.

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the Offering of the Notes and the Guarantees, an offer or 

sale of Notes or Guarantees within the United States by any dealer that is not participating in the Offering may 

violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

Prohibition of sales to EEA retail investors 

Each Initial Purchaser has represented and agreed that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and 

will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes to any retail investor in the European Economic Area. 

For the purposes of this provision:

(i) the expression “retail investor” means a person who is one (or more) of the following:

(a) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or

(b) a customer within the meaning of the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer 

would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or

(c) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation; and

(ii) the expression “offer” includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient 

information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to 

purchase or subscribe for the Notes.

Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors

Each Initial Purchaser has represented and agreed that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and 

will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes to any retail investor in the UK. For the purposes of 

this provision:

(iii) the expression “retail investor” means a person who is one (or more) of the following:

(a) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part 

of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or

(b) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made 

under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify 

as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 

as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or

(c) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of the UK Prospectus Regulation, and
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(iv) the expression “offer” includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient 

information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to 

purchase or subscribe for the Notes.

United Kingdom

Each Initial Purchaser has represented and agreed with the Issuer and the Guarantors that:

 it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be 

communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of 

Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (“FSMA”)) received by it in 

connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA 

does not apply to the Issuer or the Guarantors; and

 it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything 

done by it in relation to the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Canada

The Notes may be sold only to purchasers purchasing, or deemed to be purchasing, as principal that are 

accredited investors, as defined in National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions or subsection 73.3(1) of 

the Securities Act (Ontario), and are permitted clients, as defined in National Instrument 31-103 Registration 

Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations. Any resale of the Notes must be made in 

accordance with an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the prospectus requirements of applicable 

securities laws.

Securities legislation in certain provinces or territories of Canada may provide a purchaser with remedies for 

rescission or damages if this Offering Circular (including any amendment thereto) contains a misrepresentation, 

provided that the remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit 

prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory. The purchaser should refer to 

any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory for particulars of 

these rights or consult with a legal advisor.

Pursuant to section 3A.3 of National Instrument 33-105 Underwriting Conflicts (NI 33-105), the Initial 

Purchasers are not required to comply with the disclosure requirements of NI 33-105 regarding underwriter 

conflicts of interest in connection with this offering.

Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan 

(Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended, the “Financial Instruments and Exchange Act”). Accordingly, each Initial 

Purchaser has represented and agreed that it has not, directly or indirectly, offered or sold and will not, directly 

or indirectly, offer or sell any Notes in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (which term as 

used herein means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under the 

laws of Japan), or to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, 

any resident of Japan, except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in 

compliance with, the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act and other relevant laws and regulations of Japan.

Jersey

Each Initial Purchaser has represented and agreed that it has not circulated in Jersey any offer for subscription, 

sale or exchange of the Notes and will not circulate in Jersey any offer for subscription, sale or exchange of the 

Notes except in compliance with all applicable Jersey laws, orders and regulations, including, without 

limitation, the Control of Borrowing (Jersey) Order 1958.
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Hong Kong

Each Initial Purchaser has represented and agreed with the Issuer and the Guarantors that (i) it has not offered 

or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document, any Notes other than (A) to 

“professional investors” as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong (the 

“SFO”) and any rules made under the SFO or (B) in other circumstances which do not result in this Offering 

Circular being a “prospectus” as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) 

Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong (the “C(WUMP)O”) or which do not constitute an offer to the public within 

the meaning of the C(WUMP)O and (ii) it has not issued or had in its possession for the purpose of issue, and 

will not issue or have in its possession for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any 

advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Notes, which is directed at, or the contents of which are 

likely to be accessed or read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws 

of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons 

outside Hong Kong or only to “professional investors” as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the 

SFO.

Singapore

Each Initial Purchaser has acknowledged that this Offering Circular has not been registered as a prospectus with 

the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each Initial Purchaser has represented, warranted and agreed 

that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for 

subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Notes or cause the Notes to be made the subject of an 

invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, 

this Offering Circular or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for 

subscription or purchase, of the Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than (i) 

to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 (2020 Revised 

Edition) of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the “SFA”)) pursuant to Section 274 of the 

SFA, (ii) to a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA) pursuant to Section 275(1) of the SFA, 

or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the SFA, and in accordance with the conditions specified in 

Section 275 of the SFA, or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other 

applicable provision of the SFA.

Where the Notes are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant person which is:

(a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) the sole business 

of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, 

each of whom is an accredited investor; or

(b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and 

each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor,

securities or securities-based derivatives contracts (each term as defined in Section 2(1) of the SFA) of that 

corporation or the beneficiaries’ rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred 

within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Notes pursuant to an offer made under 

Section 275 of the SFA except:

(1) to an institutional investor or to a relevant person, or to any person arising from an offer referred to in 

Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(i)(B) of the SFA;

(2) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;

(3) where the transfer is by operation of law;

(4) as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or
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(5) as specified in Regulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Securities and 

Securities-based Derivatives Contracts) Regulations 2018.

Singapore Securities and Futures Act Product Classification – Solely for the purposes of its obligations pursuant 

to sections 309B(1)(a) and 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289 of Singapore) (the 

“SFA”), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A of the 

SFA) that the Notes are “prescribed capital markets products” (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital 

Markets Products) Regulations 2018) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-

N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on 

Investment Products).

South Africa

The Notes may not be offered for sale or subscription or sold, directly or indirectly, within South Africa or to 

any person or corporate or other entity resident in South Africa except (a) in accordance with the exchange 

control regulations of South Africa and (b) to any entity resident or within South Africa in accordance with (i) 

the Banks Act, 1990 and any regulations promulgated thereunder, including the Commercial Paper regulations, 

(ii) the Companies Act 2008; (iii) the Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services Act 2002; (iv) the JSE 

Listings Requirements and/or (v) any other applicable laws or regulations of South Africa in force from time to 

time. This Offering Circular will not be registered as a prospectus in terms of the Companies Act 2008 in South 

Africa.

Switzerland

Each Initial Purchaser has represented and agreed with the Issuer and the Guarantors that:

This Offering Circular is not intended to constitute, and does not constitute, an offer to the public or solicitation 

to purchase or invest in the Notes described herein. 

The Notes have not been and will not be publicly offered, directly or indirectly, in Switzerland, within the 

meaning of the Swiss Financial Services Act (“FinSA”) except (i) to any investor that qualifies as a professional 

client within the meaning of the FinSA, and (ii) in any other circumstance qualifying as an exemption within 

the meaning of article 36 para. 1 of the FinSA, provided, in each case, that no such offer of Notes referred to in 

(i) and (ii) above shall require the publication of a prospectus for offers of the Notes in Switzerland pursuant to 

FinSA. 

The Notes have not been and shall not be admitted to any trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading 

facility) in Switzerland.

Neither this Offering Circular nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the Notes (x) constitutes 

a prospectus pursuant to article 35 of the FinSA for a public offering of the Notes in Switzerland and no such 

prospectus has been or will be prepared for or in connection with the offering of the Notes in Switzerland or (y) 

has been or will be filed with or approved by a Swiss review body (Prüfstelle) pursuant to article 52 of the 

FinSA. 

In accordance with article 59 para. 1 FinSA, no key information document according to the FinSA or any 

equivalent document under the FinSA needs to be prepared for Notes which do not have a derivative character 

within the meaning of article 86 para. 3 Swiss Financial Services Ordinance (“FinSO”). For Notes with a 

derivative character within the meaning of article 86 para. 2 of the FinSO, a key information document 

according to the FinSA or an equivalent document will be required if the Notes are offered to “retail clients” in 

the sense of the FinSA in Switzerland, unless an exemption applies. No such key information document has 

been prepared for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to “retail clients” in the 
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sense of the FinSA in Switzerland and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available 

to any “retail clients” in the sense of the FinSA in Switzerland may be unlawful under the FinSA.

Neither this Offering Circular nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the Notes may be publicly 

distributed or otherwise made publicly available in Switzerland. 

Taiwan

The Securities have not been and will not be registered or filed with, or approved by, the Financial Supervisory 

Commission of Taiwan and/or other regulatory authority of Taiwan pursuant to relevant securities laws and 

regulations of Taiwan and may not be issued, offered or sold within Taiwan through a public offering or in 

circumstances which constitute an offer within the meaning of the Securities and Exchange Act of Taiwan that 

requires a registration, filing or approval of the Financial Supervisory Commission of Taiwan and/or other 

regulatory authority of Taiwan. No person or entity in Taiwan has been authorised to offer or sell the Securities 

in Taiwan. The Securities may be made available outside Taiwan for purchase outside Taiwan by Taiwan 

resident investors, but may not be offered or sold in Taiwan.
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TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

The following restrictions will apply to the Notes (including the Guarantees). Prospective Noteholders are 

advised to consult legal counsel prior to making any offer, sale, resale, pledge or transfer of the Notes offered 

hereby.

The Notes and the Guarantees have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be 

offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, except pursuant to 

an effective registration statement or an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration 

requirements of the Securities Act. Accordingly, the Notes are being offered and sold only (i) to persons 

reasonably believed to be QIBs in accordance with Rule 144A and (ii) to persons other than U.S. persons (each 

a “Foreign Purchaser”, which term shall include dealers or other professional fiduciaries in the United States 

acting on a discretionary basis for non-U.S. beneficial owners (other than an estate or trust)) in offshore 

transactions meeting the requirements of Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S. As used herein, the terms 

“offshore transactions”, “United States” and “U.S. person” have the respective meanings given to them in 

Regulation S.

In addition, until 40 days after the later of the commencement of the Offering and the Closing Date, an offer or 

sale of the Notes within the United States by a dealer (not participating in the Offering) may violate the 

registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than pursuant to Rule 

144A.

Each purchaser of the Notes offered hereunder (other than each of the Initial Purchasers) will be deemed to 

have represented and agreed as follows (terms used in this section that are defined in Rule 144A or Regulation 

S are used herein as defined therein):

(a) it is purchasing the Notes (including the Guarantees) for its own account or an account with respect to 

which it exercises sole investment discretion, and it and any such account (1) is a QIB and is aware that 

the sale to it is being made in reliance on Rule 144A or (2) is a Foreign Purchaser and is aware that the 

sale is being made in accordance with Regulation S;

(b) it understands that the Notes (including the Guarantees) have not been and will not be registered under 

the Securities Act and may not be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred, except (1) in 

accordance with Rule 144A to a person that it and any person acting on its behalf reasonably believe is 

a QIB purchasing for its own account or for the account of a QIB, (2) in an offshore transaction in 

accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S, pursuant to an exemption from registration under 

the Securities Act provided by Rule 144 thereunder (if available) or (3) pursuant to an effective 

registration statement under the Securities Act, in each case in accordance with any applicable securities 

laws of any state of the United States; 

(c) it agrees on its own behalf and on behalf of any investor account for which it is purchasing the Notes, 

and each subsequent holder of the Notes by its acceptance thereof will agree, to offer, sell or otherwise 

transfer such Notes prior to (1) the date which is one year after the later of the date of the original issue 

of the Notes and the last date on which the Issuer or any of its affiliates were the owner of such Notes or 

(2) such later date, if any, as may be required by applicable law (the “Resale Restriction Termination 

Date”) only: (A) to the Issuer or any subsidiary thereof; (B) pursuant to a registration statement which 

has been declared effective under the Securities Act; (C) for so long as the Notes are eligible for resale 

pursuant to Rule 144A, to a person it reasonably believes is a QIB that purchases for its own account or 

for the account of another QIB to whom you give notice that the transfer is being made in reliance on 

Rule 144A; (D) pursuant to offers and sales to non-U.S. persons occurring outside the United States 
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within the meaning of Regulation S; or (e) pursuant to any other available exemption from the 

registration requirements of the Securities Act;

(d) it agrees to, and each subsequent Noteholder is required to, notify any purchaser of the Notes from it of 

the resale restrictions referred to in paragraph (b) above, if then applicable;

(e) if it is a person other than a Foreign Purchaser, it understands and agrees that Notes initially offered to 

QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A will be represented by the Rule 144A Global Note;

(f) if it is a Foreign Purchaser, it understands and agrees that the Notes initially offered in offshore 

transactions under Regulation S will be represented by the Regulation S Global Note;

(g) it understands that the Rule 144A Global Notes will bear a legend to the following effect:

NONE OF THIS NOTE, THE GUARANTEES OR ANY BENEFICIAL INTEREST HEREIN HAS 

BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED 

(THE “SECURITIES ACT”), OR WITH ANY REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OR 

OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES. THE HOLDER HEREOF, BY PURCHASING 

THIS NOTE, AGREES FOR THE BENEFIT OF GLENCORE FUNDING LLC (THE “ISSUER”), 

AND GLENCORE PLC, GLENCORE INTERNATIONAL AG AND GLENCORE (SCHWEIZ) AG 

(TOGETHER THE “GUARANTORS”), AND ANY OF THEIR SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST, THAT 

THIS NOTE MAY BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED ONLY (1) 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT (“RULE 144A”), TO A 

PERSON THAT THE HOLDER AND ANY PERSON ACTING ON ITS BEHALF REASONABLY 

BELIEVE IS A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A 

PURCHASING FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OF ONE OR MORE 

QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYERS WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A (“QUALIFIED 

INSTITUTIONAL BUYER”), (2) IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

RULE 903 OR RULE 904 OF REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT (“REGULATION 

S”), (3) PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES 

ACT PROVIDED BY RULE 144 THEREUNDER (IF AVAILABLE) OR (4) PURSUANT TO AN 

EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, IN EACH CASE IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH ANY APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED 

STATES. THE HOLDER HEREOF, BY PURCHASING THIS NOTE, REPRESENTS AND AGREES 

FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE ISSUER AND THE GUARANTORS, AND ANY OF THEIR 

SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST, THAT (A) IT WILL NOTIFY ANY PURCHASER OF THIS NOTE 

FROM IT OF THE RESALE RESTRICTIONS REFERRED TO ABOVE AND (B) IT IS A 

QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER PURCHASING THIS NOTE FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT 

OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OF ONE OR MORE QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYERS. NO 

REPRESENTATION CAN BE MADE AS TO THE AVAILABILITY OF THE EXEMPTION 

PROVIDED BY RULE 144 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT FOR RESALES OF THIS NOTE.”;

(h) it understands that the Regulation S Global Notes will bear a legend to the following effect:

“NONE OF THIS NOTE, THE GUARANTEES OR ANY BENEFICIAL INTEREST HEREIN HAS 

BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED 

(THE “SECURITIES ACT”), OR WITH ANY REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OR 

OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES. THE HOLDER HEREOF, BY PURCHASING 

THIS NOTE, AGREES FOR THE BENEFIT OF GLENCORE FUNDING LLC (THE “ISSUER”), 

AND GLENCORE PLC, GLENCORE INTERNATIONAL AG AND GLENCORE (SCHWEIZ) AG 

(TOGETHER THE “GUARANTORS”) AND ANY OF THEIR SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST, THAT 

PRIOR TO 40 CALENDAR DAYS AFTER THE ISSUE DATE OF THIS NOTE, THIS NOTE MAY 



172

BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED ONLY (1) IN ACCORDANCE 

WITH RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT (“RULE 144A”) TO A PERSON THAT THE 

HOLDER AND ANY PERSON ACTING ON ITS BEHALF REASONABLY BELIEVE IS A 

QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A (“QUALIFIED 

INSTITUTIONAL BUYER”) PURCHASING FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR FOR THE ACCOUNT 

OF ONE OR MORE QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYERS, (2) IN AN OFFSHORE 

TRANSACTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 903 OR RULE 904 OF REGULATION S UNDER 

THE SECURITIES ACT, (3) PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER 

THE SECURITIES ACT PROVIDED BY RULE 144 THEREUNDER (IF AVAILABLE) OR (4) 

PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, 

IN EACH CASE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY 

STATE OF THE UNITED STATES.”;

(i) it acknowledges that prior to any proposed transfer of Notes or beneficial interests in Global Notes (in 

each case other than pursuant to an effective registration statement), the Noteholders or beneficial 

interests in Global Notes may be required to provide certifications and other documentation relating to 

the manner of such transfer and submit such certifications and other documentation as provided in the 

Notes; and

(j) it acknowledges that the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Initial Purchasers, the Trustee and others will rely 

upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgments, representations and agreements and 

agrees that if any of the acknowledgments, representations or agreements deemed to have been made by 

it by virtue of its purchase of Notes is no longer accurate, it shall promptly notify the Issuer, the 

Guarantors, the Initial Purchasers and the Trustee. If it is acquiring any Notes as a fiduciary or agent for 

one or more investor accounts, it represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each 

such account and that it has full power to make the foregoing acknowledgments, representations and 

agreements on behalf of each such account.

The foregoing restrictions on resale will not apply subsequent to the Resale Restriction Termination Date. For 

further information in relation to the requirements (including the presentation of transfer certificates) under the 

Notes and the Indenture to effect exchanges or transfer of interests in Global Notes, see “Book-Entry, Delivery 

and Form”.

No representation can be made as to the availability of the exemption provided by Rule 144 for resale of the 

Notes.
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VALIDITY OF THE NOTES AND GUARANTEES

The validity of the Notes and Guarantee provided by the Company and certain other matters governed by U.S. 

federal, New York State and English law will be passed upon for the Group, the Issuer and each of the 

Guarantors by Linklaters LLP. The validity of the Guarantees provided by GIAG and Glencore Schweiz and 

certain other matters governed by Swiss law will be passed upon for GIAG and Glencore Schweiz by Niederer 

Kraft Frey AG. Certain matters governed by U.S. federal and New York State law will be passed upon for the 

Initial Purchasers by Clifford Chance LLP.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group as of 31 December 2023 and 2022, and for the years then 

ended, incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular, have been audited by Deloitte LLP, independent 

auditors, as stated in their reports appearing therein.
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

The definitions set out below apply throughout this Offering Circular, unless the context requires otherwise.

2022 Financial Statements has the meaning given to it in “Presentation of Information and 

Incorporation by Reference” of this Offering Circular;

2023 Financial Statements has the meaning given to it in “Presentation of Information and 

Incorporation by Reference” of this Offering Circular;

Antamina means Compañía Minera Antamina S.A.;

bbls means barrels of oil;

BEE means Black Economic Empowerment;

Board means the board of Directors of the Company;

Calculation Agent means Citibank, N.A., London Branch;

Century Aluminum means Century Aluminum Company, an entity in which the 

Group has a 46.1 per cent. economic interest;

Cerrejón means Carbones del Cerrejón Limited;

Collahuasi means Compañía Minera Dona Inés de Collahuasi SCM;

CIM means the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and 

Petroleum;

CIM Council means the council of the CIM;

CIM Definition Standards means standards for the classification of mineral resources and 

reserves into various categories as approved by CIM on 20 

August 2000, and updated on 14 November 2004, for reporting 

of exploration information, mineral resources and mineral 

reserves in Canada, adopted by the CIM Council on 11 

December 2005, and are incorporated by reference in NI 43-

101;

CIM Estimation Guidelines means guidelines intended to assist a Qualified Person, as 

defined in NI 43-101, in the planning, supervision, preparation 

and reporting of mineral resources and mineral reserves 

estimates in accordance with NI 43-101, as presented in the 

report “Estimation of Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves 

Best Practice Guidelines” dated 30 May 2003 by CIM, adopted 

by the CIM Council on 23 November 2003;

Clearstream, Luxembourg means Clearstream Banking, SA;

Closing Date expected to be on or about 4 April 2024;

CO means the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong;

COMEX or NYMEX means the Commodity Exchange division of the New York 

Mercantile Exchange;

Company means Glencore plc (previously known as Glencore 

International plc and Glencore Xstrata plc);

Definitive Notes has the meaning given to it in “Book-Entry, Delivery and 

Form” of this Offering Circular;
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Definitive Registered Notes has the meaning given to it in “Book-Entry, Delivery and 

Form” of this Offering Circular;

Directors or Board of Directors means the directors of the Group, whose names appear in the 

section headed in “Directors and Senior Management—Board 

of Directors” of this Offering Circular;

Disclosure and Transparency Rules means the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the FCA;

DRC means the Democratic Republic of the Congo;

DTC means The Depository Trust Company;

EEA means the European Economic Area;

EU means the European Union;

Euroclear means Euroclear Bank SA/NV;

EVR Means Elk Valley Resources;

FCA means the Financial Conduct Authority;

Financial Instruments and Exchange 

Act

means the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan 

(Act No. 25 of 1948 as amended);

Financial Statements has the meaning given to it in “Presentation of Information and 

Incorporation by Reference” of this Offering Circular;

Foreign Purchaser has the meaning given to it in “Transfer Restrictions” of this 

Offering Circular, and “Foreign Purchaser” means any one of 

them;

FSMA means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000;

Gécamines means La Générale des Carrières et des Mines;

Glencore means Glencore plc (previously known as Glencore 

International plc and Glencore Xstrata plc);

Glencore International or GIAG means Glencore International AG, a company incorporated in 

Switzerland and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company;

Glencore Schweiz means Glencore (Schweiz) AG, formerly known as Xstrata 

(Schweiz) AG, a company incorporated in Switzerland and an 

indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

Global Notes has the meaning given to it in “Book-Entry, Delivery and 

Form” of this Offering Circular;

Group means the Company and its subsidiaries and any subsidiary 

thereof from time to time;

Guarantee means the guarantees relating to the Notes;

Guarantors means the Company, GIAG and Glencore Schweiz and 

“Guarantor” means any one of them;

HMRC means HM Revenue & Customs;

IAS 34 means International Accounting Standard 34 Interim Financial 

Reporting as issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board;
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IFRIC means International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee;

IFRS means (together) International Financial Reporting Standards: 

(i) as adopted by the United Kingdom; and (ii) as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board;

Indenture means the indenture governing the Notes among the Issuer, the 

Guarantors, the Paying Agent, Transfer Agent, Calculation 

Agent and the Trustee, expected to be dated on or about 4 April 

2024;

Indirect Participant means the banks, brokers, dealers, trust companies and other 

entities that have access to DTC’s system that clear through or 

maintain a custodial relationship with a Participant either 

directly or indirectly;

Initial Purchasers means the persons who are named in “Plan of Distribution” of 

this Offering Circular;

Issuer means Glencore Funding LLC, a company incorporated in 

Delaware and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company;

Johannesburg Stock Exchange or JSE means the Johannesburg Stock Exchange;

JORC Code means the 2004 Australasian Code for Reporting of 

Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves;

Katanga means Katanga Mining Limited, the 75% shareholder of KCC;

Kazzinc means Kazzinc LLP;

KCC means Kamoto Copper Company SARL, the operating 

company of Katanga;

Koz means thousand ounces; 

Kt means kilotonnes;

Listing Rules means the rules and regulations made by the FCA, and 

contained in the FCA’s publication of the same name;

LME means the London Metals Exchange;

London Stock Exchange means London Stock Exchange plc;

MAC means Metals Acquisition Corp.;

Moody’s means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.;

Mopani means Mopani Copper Mines plc;

Mount Isa means Mount Isa Mines Limited;

Mutanda means Mutanda Ya Mukonkota Mining Sprl;

NI 43-101 means the Canadian National Instrument 43-101— “Standard 

Disclosure for Mineral Projects” of the Canadian Securities 

Administrators;

Noteholders means the holders of the Notes, and “Noteholder” means any 

one of them;
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Noteholder’s Currency means if a Noteholder’s financial activities are denominated 

principally in a currency or currency unit;

Notes has the meaning given to that term on the front page of this 

Offering Circular;

Offering means the offer and sale of the Notes;

Official List means the official list of the FCA;

Participants means the participating organisations of DTC, a limited 

purpose trust company that holds securities for the 

participating organisations;

Paying Agent means Citibank, N.A., London Branch;

Purchase Agreement means the agreement between the Initial Purchasers and the 

Issuer in relation to this Offering;

Registrar means Citibank, N.A., London Branch;

Regulation S Global Notes has the meaning given to it in “Book-Entry, Delivery and 

Form” of this Offering Circular;

Regulation S Notes has the meaning given to it in “Book-Entry, Delivery and 

Form” of this Offering Circular;

Restricted Period means through and including the 40th day after the later of the 

commencement of this Offering and the closing of this 

Offering;

Rule 144A Global Notes has the meaning given to it in “Book-Entry, Delivery and 

Form” of this Offering Circular;

Rule 144A Notes has the meaning given to it in “Book-Entry, Delivery and 

Form” of this Offering Circular;

SAMREC means the 2016 edition of the South African Code of Reporting 

of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral 

Reserves;

SEC means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission;

Securities Act means the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended;

SFA means the Securities and Futures Act 2001 (2020 Revised 

Edition) of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to 

time;

SHFE means Shanghai Futures Exchange;

Standard & Poor’s means Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC, a division 

of S&P Global;

Swiss GAAP means Swiss Generally Accepted Accounting Principles;

Swiss Withholding Taxes means the Swiss federal withholding tax (Verrechnungssteuer)

under Swiss tax law;

T, tonne or tonnes means 1,000 kilograms;

Teck means Teck Resources Limited;

Transfer Agent means Citibank, N.A., London Branch;
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Trustee means, Citibank, N.A., London Branch;

UK or United Kingdom means the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern 

Ireland;

UK Companies Act means the UK Companies Act 2006, as amended from time to 

time;

UK Corporate Governance Code means the UK Corporate Governance Code published by the 

Financial Reporting Council, as amended from time-to-time;

U.S. or United States or United States 

of America

means the United States of America, its territories and 

possessions, any State of the United States and the District of 

Columbia;

VaR means Value at Risk;

Viterra means Viterra Ltd (previously known as Glencore Agriculture 

Limited);

Volcan means Volcan Compania Minera S.A.A.; and

Xstrata means Xstrata Limited (previously known as Xstrata plc) and 

its subsidiaries and any subsidiary thereof as at 2 May 2013.
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